Ornette Coleman and Harmolodics

by

Matt Lavelle

A Thesis submitted to the

Graduate School-Newark

Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree

of Master of Arts

Graduate Program in Jazz History and Research

Written and approved under the direction of Dr. Henry Martin

Newark, New Jersey

May 2019

© 2019

Matt Lavelle

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Ornette Coleman stands as one of the most significant innovators in jazz history. The purpose of my thesis is to show where his innovations came from, how his music functions, and how it impacted other innovators around him. I also delved into the more controversial aspects of his music. At the core of his process was a very personal philosophical and musical theory he invented which he called Harmolodics. Harmolodics was derived from the music of Charlie Parker and Coleman's need to challenge conventional Western music theory in pursuit of providing direct links between music, nature, and humanity. To build a foundation I research Coleman's development prior to his famous debut at the Five Spot, focusing on evidence of a direct connection to Charlie Parker. I examine his use of instruments he played other than his primary use of the alto saxophone. His relationships with the piano, guitar, and the musicians that played them are then examined. I then research his use of the bass and drums, and the musicians that played them, so vital to his music. I follow with documentation of the string quartets, woodwind ensembles, and symphonic work, much of which was never recorded. I conclude with an examination of Coleman's impact on other masters and a discussion of Harmolodics itself, followed by musical analysis.

Having studied with Coleman personally, I hope to bring some clarity to the actual function of his music. I have interviewed Dave Bryant, Denardo Coleman,

and Kenny Wessel. In addition, for five years, I was in the band of guitarist Bern Nix (1947-2017) who played with Coleman from 1975-1987. Though a formal interview with Nix was scheduled before his death in 2017, I had discussed Coleman with Nix many times. My musical analysis includes investigation of Coleman's composition titled "Kathelin Gray," and in Section 1 part 3, my analysis of his improvisation on a Charlie Parker piece titled "Klactoveedsedstene." I hope to show that Coleman's music, while radical at the time, was steeped in a unique logic with the goal of opening doors to deeper levels of human expression, inside the context of seeking a deeper understanding of humanity overall

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Photographer John Rogers introduced me to Ornette Coleman in 2005 and my first acknowledgement must go to him. Like many others, I was instantly diagnosed upon my arrival as someone who would benefit from Harmolodics. I have been using Coleman's tools ever since. The late Bern Nix was essential to this process. Through countless hours of playing, Nix allowed me a safe space to develop my playing through actual Harmolodic practice, and I will forever be indebted to him. Coleman's son Denardo was especially generous, granting me an extensive interview. Prime Time members David Bryant and Kenny Wessel were willing to take me deeper inside Coleman's process. I would like to thank Dr. Henry Martin and Dr. Lewis Porter at Rutgers University for their openness to my researching what many consider an abstract concept, and their aid in deciphering the truth. As Coleman would say, "They're on the case." Finally, I must thank Ornette himself for having such an open door, an open mind, and an open heart. The greatest gift he gave me and so many others is a pathway to our own music.

CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
SECTION I: BACKGROUND	1
1. The Environment	1
2. Red Connors	10
3. Ornette and Charlie Parker	15
SECTION II: ORNETTE CREATES	28
4. Tenor	28
5. Trumpet	35
6. Violin	50
7. Piano	57
8. Guitar	71
9. Bass	84
10. Drums	104
11. Chamber and Orchestral Works	116
SECTION III: THEORY	127
12. Other Masters	127
13. Harmolodics	139

SECTION V: INTERVIEWS	150
14. Denardo Coleman	150
15: Kenny Wessel	177
Transcriptions and Analysis	187
16. Kathelin Gray	187
Kathelin Gray Lead Sheet from Coleman from David Bryant	192
Kathelin Gray A	193
Kathelin Gray B	194
Kathelin Gray C	195
Kathelin Gray D	196
Klactoveedsedstene	197
Bibliography	206
Jazzinstitut Darmstadt Bibliography	217
Discography: Commercial Albums	279

SECTION I: BACKGROUND

1. The Environment

"You can transcribe a solo, but you can't transcribe an environment." -Ornette Coleman

Ornette Coleman was born at 5am in Fort Worth, Texas at on March 9th, 1930.¹ He was one of four children. Allen Coleman died in the 1940's, and Vera Coleman was killed by a cattle truck when she was seventeen. Truvenza Coleman, also known as Trudy, was a trombonist, vocalist, and sometimes manager for Coleman's earliest jobs in music, such as his first band the Jam Jivers, or backing up the great blues singer Joe Turner for several months when he came through Fort Worth.² She recorded, and one song is available to be heard online today, "Come home, baby," released on the Manco label in 1962 as a 45.³ Coleman's parents were Rosa Rhodes, a seamstress, and Randolph, a mechanic.⁴ Coleman was close to his mother and he respected her perspectives on life. In his earliest days he was supporting the family playing rhythm and blues, but he became unhinged at

¹ Taylor, Art. *Notes and Tones: Musician-to-musician Interviews*. New York: Da Capo Press, 1993. 347.

² Litweiler, John. Ornette Coleman: A Harmolodic Life. New York: Da Capo Press, 1994. 21.

³ Glendoras. "Trudy Coleman - Come Home, Baby." YouTube. January 22, 2015. Accessed September 24, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8rNla9Jo-vk&t=28.

⁴ Spellman, A. B. Four Lives in the Bebop Business. New York: Limelight Editions, 1994. 83.

the violence he encountered in the clubs. He came home and told his mother that he thought that his music was influencing violence and she responded, "You want these people to pay you for your soul?" Coleman grew up during this moment and told the story throughout his life. Another story he told was that as a child he was always telling his mother who he was, telling her "I'm Ornette." She told him that he didn't have to worry, she knew who he was. She heard his music in the sixties, but it remains unclear what her personal thoughts were about it. Not much is known about Randolph Coleman. Ornette saw a picture of him playing baseball. Rosa said that Randolph could sing and did so around Fort Worth.⁶ Coleman didn't sing like his father and sister, but he did possess a very vocal sound on alto. Coleman also had a cousin named James Jordan, that he called Jordan. After Coleman died, Jordan wrote about their earliest days together learning saxophone in the first grade. Even then, Coleman felt a strong enough attraction to the horn that he would practice constantly, asking Jordan to practice with him twice in one day. Truvenza gave them a room to play and when it was late, Coleman would wait until the nearby train came through town that would drown out the saxophone. Coleman would be practicing past midnight on a regular basis. By the time he and Jordan left the fifth grade, they were playing as well as the kids in high school. There they formed a band with a trumpet player and a drummer and got work,

⁵ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 32.

⁶ Spellman, Four Lives in the Bebop Business, 32.

earning money. According to Jordan, Coleman already had, and was developing his own approach to music. In the sixties, Jordan left Texas to be Coleman's manager and during his six years he produced *Skies of America*. Denardo Coleman, Coleman's son born in 1956 is featured in an interview with the author later in the thesis.

The environment Coleman grew up in was very poor and segregated. He spoke of two experiences with white people that defined the times. On one occasion around 1948, playing in a white establishment lead by his mentor Red Connors, a white patron told him: "It's an honor to shake your hand because you're really a great saxophone player-but you're still a nigger to me." Coleman was forced to remain silent in the exchange, for fear of his life. In a second life threatening incident, a white woman cornered him in the kitchen during an intermission and raised her dress above her head. If a white man were to see them, once again the penalty could have been death. Coleman experienced the deepest levels of racism when he joined a minstrel troupe in 1949 called "Silas Green from New Orleans." Coleman toured the deep south with what he described as Uncle-Tom type minstrels playing tunes such as "Nacky Sacky." He was fired for teaching

__

⁷ Coleman, Ornette, performer. *Celebrate Ornette*. Recorded 2016. Denardo Coleman, 2016, Vinyl recording.

⁸ Spellman, A. B., Four Lives in the Bebop Business, 94.

the other tenor saxophone player bebop.9 Coleman spoke openly about the reality of his environment.

People in Texas, they're so wealthy, it's still like slavery. You had to be a servant. You had to be serving somebody to make some money. When I finished high school, all the kids I knew who'd been to college and came back, they had porter jobs. What's the reason of going to college? That's the reason I didn't go. You got to try and get a job in the colored school system, or that's it. People been teaching there for fifty years, you have to wait for them to die. I didn't come a poor family, I came from a *po*' family. Poorer than poor.¹⁰

After being fired by Green in Natchez Mississippi, Coleman was able to join blues singer Clarence Samuels who needed a tenor player. On a tour of the deep south during autumn of 1949 in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, he had an experience that most musicians never have, the kind of experience that would make most people give up playing music. At a dancehall with a tough crowd, he played some of his own ideas during a blues solo, which stopped the dance. After he was tricked to step outside by a woman, a group of six or seven men delivered a severe beating to Coleman and destroyed his horn. It was so severe that Coleman said they were beating him to death, adding that at the police station afterwards the police told

⁹ Ibid. 95.

¹⁰ Goldberg, Joe. Jazz Masters of the Fifties. New York (N.Y.): Da Capo Press, 1983. 233.

him that "if those other niggers didn't finish him off, they were going to." Coleman had additional experiences with the police, being jailed for having long hair. In Los Angeles he would be stopped by cops in white neighborhoods and told to assemble his horn and play it to prove he was a musician. He recorded a song called "Police People" on the album $Song\ X$ in 1986, but ironically the song swings with a country type positive feeling, feeding off the syncopation provided by Charlie Haden on bass.

After the beating, Coleman ended up in New Orleans playing with his friend, trumpet player Melvin Lastie. He received a draft notice but was rejected due to a collar-bone injury that didn't heal right. This old injury saved him from him from the Korean War, which could have prevented his eventual innovations in jazz from ever taking place. Coleman headed back to Fort Worth around this time in the mid 1950's. Red Connors then hired Coleman to head to Los Angeles with bluesman Pee Wee Crayton. Crayton dispelled the myth that he paid Coleman not to play, insisting that Coleman was a great blues player, and he insisted he play blues, as that's what he was hired to do. After the band broke up,

¹¹ Berry, Jason, Jonathan Foose, and Tad Jones. *Up from the Cradle of Jazz: New Orleans Music since World War II.* Lafayette: University of Louisiana at Lafayette Press, 2009.

¹² Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 42.

¹³ Ibid. 45.

¹⁴ Ibid. 29.

Coleman lived in a skid-row hotel called the Morris. 15 Coleman met drummer Ed Blackwell and they starved together, surviving on canned food sent from Rosa in Fort Worth. A low moment for Coleman occurred when Rosa sent him a birthday cake and the other musicians at the Morris not only seized it, they consumed it while Coleman was forced to watch. 16 Coleman ended up renting out the back part of a garage with no heat in exchange for taking care of kids at a nursery. After he wired her for help, Rosa sent him money to return to Fort Worth where he would rejoin Red Connors for the last time. In 1953 Coleman and Blackwell teamed up against poverty again and gave Los Angeles another chance, finding a house in Watts. The key word of this period for Coleman was rejection. He and Blackwell couldn't find paying work. Dexter Gordan ordered him off stage when he started playing with his rhythm section when he was late. Coleman went to a jam session at Eric Dolphy's house with Clifford Brown, the same age as Coleman. Coleman threw them off by playing "Donna Lee" but then soloing without the chord changes. Coleman had by this point started believing in his own approach. Dolphy didn't know how to respond to Coleman at first, as they were all studying bebop. 17 Roach and Brown disrespected him further by letting him sit in at a jam session last, then leaving the club when he started playing. The rhythm section then left

¹⁵ Ibid. 42.

¹⁶ Ibid. 42.

¹⁷ Feather, Leonard. "Interview Ornette Coleman." Downbeat, July 1981, pp. 16-93.

the stand offering a final humiliation.¹⁸ It would not be the last time Roach would react to Coleman in a negative way.

Coleman did make attempts to make sense of his outsider relationship with the world. He married Jayne Cortez, and they had a son, Denardo Coleman. Cortez was a poet who like Coleman, made her own clothes. After Denardo was born, Ornette was baptized as a Jehovah Witnesses. (He had been baptized as Methodist in his childhood) Coleman resonated with some of their beliefs, such as that no person shall do what they don't want to do forever. The strength of the religion was soon shattered when he was told to go to a colored Jehovah Witness Hall. He was quoted on this experience saying, "I found out that the church needs God just like the people." 19 He stayed with them until he had the fascinating experience of going door to door with the Bible, and when the person opened the door, they were playing one of his records. In that moment, his music became his religion, for better or for worse.²⁰ During this period Coleman famously took a job as an elevator operator at Bullock's department store for two and half years where he could secretly study music theory when there were no riders.²¹ By mid-1958, Cortez and Coleman were separated. Coleman told Nat Hentoff that Cortez told him that

¹⁸ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 46.

¹⁹ Ibid. 51.

²⁰ Ulmer, James Blood. *Celebrate Ornette*. Recorded 2016. Vinyl recording.

²¹ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 51.

people were saying he was crazy, and it sounded like she might think they were right.²² After recording two albums for Atlantic that would become future classics, The Shape of Jazz to come in May 1959 and Change of the Century in October 1959, Coleman received an advance from Atlantic and also borrowed money from his loyal bandmates at the time, Don Cherry, Charlie Haden, and Billy Higgins, and made the move to New York City for his legendary debut at the Five Spot where he was heralded as both a genius and a charlatan. After four more albums for Atlantic that would be future classics, *This Is Our Music* in July 1960, *Free Jazz* in December 1960, Ornette! in January 1961 and Ornette On Tenor in March 1961, Coleman chose to stop performing, at odds with the business side of jazz.²³ In February 1963, on a continued self-imposed exile, he was evicted from his apartment. All of his meager possessions, even horns, were not only placed on the street but were removed by the department of sanitation. He slept in a friend's pottery studio at night and roamed art museums by day. In 1964 he got by the entire year on five hundred dollars, working on a book explaining his music and learning the violin with one he acquired from a pawn shop for fifteen dollars. He referred to this two-year period as "hard and hungry." In an article in Time magazine in January 1965 he spoke about the eviction and added: "There's a lot of insanity in loneliness. I've got to get sane again. If you mop your wounds, it takes away from the depth of your

²² Ibid. 60.

²³ Ibid. 99.

playing."²⁴ Coleman did eventually find some stability, receiving a Guggenheim fellowship.²⁵ The blues come from life experience, and Coleman spent the formative years of his life on an intimate basis with them. When you're so broke that you can't eat, the experience makes an imprint on your soul that never really leaves. Louis Armstrong never forgot about pushing his coal cart all day long and going through the trash for food in his early days in New Orleans. Coleman never forgot the environment of starving, racism, eviction, violence, and widescale rejection of his music. He survived it all on his quest to become himself.

²⁴ "Back from Exile." *Time*, January 22, 1965, 43. Author unknown

²⁵ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 123.

2. Red Connors

The tradition of mentorship in jazz was still very much in place in the 1940's, even for an iconoclast like Coleman. By his own accounts, while he had a different way to relate to music seemingly from his very first notes on alto, he still had a lot to learn about music in his early days. While working as a rhythm and blues tenor saxophonist, and having been not yet been exposed to jazz, he was still a serious student, listing several players he studied to John Litweiler. Bobby Bradford witnessed Coleman playing Rhythm and Blues tenor and said he was screaming and lying on his back, as was the standard practice. Coleman listened to Lynn Hope who played blues for dancing with titles like "Shocking." On this number, Hope plays the traditional fat low Bb honks bouncing to escalatory extreme high register screams that are the trademarks of the rhythm and blues tenor saxophone style. Hope also scored a hit with "Tenderly" in 1950 playing the melody straight, with no improvisation, but a huge sound. Arnett Cobb was more

²⁶ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life,31.

²⁷ Ibid. 44.

²⁸ Paultunesmarsh. "Lynn Hope Shocking." YouTube. February 10, 2013. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pc]NJy1XnQg.

²⁹ RAJintheUK. "Lynn Hope Quintet Tenderly 1950." YouTube. July 02, 2012. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=X3NcArw6VjY.

into improvisation inside of a blues context. In 1947 his "Arnett blows for 1300"30 is a good example of music that contains a similar drive to Coleman's music in the early 50's at times, as well as a good example of why Cobb was known as the Wild Man of the Tenor Sax. Big Jay McNeely impressed Coleman with the power of one-note riffing and crowd pleasing techniques such as heard on "Nervous Man Nervous" in 1953.³¹ The whole rhythm and blues tenor saxophone style had been created by Illinois Jacquet when he was nineteen in Lionel Hampton's band, and brought the house down with his solo on "Flying Home," the first time anyone had honked on record.³² Coleman was making good money for his family playing this style and backing up lots of blues singers when he started to spend time with a tenor and alto man based in Fort Worth named Red Connors. Throughout his life he referred to Connors as a pivotal influence.

Coleman told Art Taylor in the later part of the 1960's that he first heard Red Connors in 1943, before bebop, when he was thirteen. Why he was called Red remains unknown. I could not locate any pictures or recordings of Connors.

Coleman spoke about him with a reverence, calling him the greatest sax player he ever heard in his life. At Connors house the usual method was Connors playing

³⁰ OnlyJazzHQ. "Arnett Cobb - Arnett Blows for 1300." YouTube. January 04, 2013. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3WxyItz5Hwk.

³¹ "Big Jay McNeely - Nervous Man Nervous - Federal 1953." YouTube. August 02, 2015. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.voutube.com/watch?v=rlrFy6epHTs.

³² Biography of Illinois Jacquet. Accessed October o6, 2018. https://illinoisjacquetfoundation.org/ijf_biography/.

bop records for Coleman stressing the serious nature of the music as a path away from rock and roll.³³ Coleman was quoted in Esquire saying Connors was Sonny Rollins before Sonny Rollins. He added that Connors came from a holy church, and when he went to visit him at his house that became his church.³⁴ Coleman went further in deepening the legend, telling A.B. Spellman that Connors was playing was like 1960's Coltrane, but in a gutbucket style.35 Even further, Coleman witnessed what he believed was Connors cutting Lester Young. While passing through Fort Worth, Young encountered Connors on jam session, and instead of constructing ideas on a blues, Young chose to play the same note for forty or fifty bars, and Connors destroyed him.³⁶ Connors may have been local but was known to consume stars. King Curtis, on his way to becoming very popular had reason to fear Connors. Connors would tell him to get off the bandstand, as the heavy guys were coming on.³⁷ Two of Coleman's friends in Fort Worth continued the accolades for Connors. Saxophonist Prince Lasha called him the greatest inspiration in the Southwest. Saxophonist Dewey Redman furthered the Coltrane

³³ Taylor, *Notes and Tones*, 349.

³⁴ Warren, Mark. "Ornette Coleman: What I've Learned." Esquire. October 09, 2017. Accessed October 09, 2018. https://www.esquire.com/entertainment/interviews/a6766/ornette-coleman-interview-0110/.

³⁵ Spellman, Four Lives in the Bebop Business, 90.

³⁶ Ibid. 91.

³⁷ Wilmer, Valerie. *As Serious as Your Life: John Coltrane and beyond.* London: Serpents Tail, 1992.

comparison calling him the John Coltrane of the time. Redman described his tone as a Gene Ammons, Wardell Gray, Dexter Gordon type sound. Drummer Charles Moffett played trumpet with Connors. Coleman also mentions a saxophonist named Weldon Haggen that he heard who he believed to be Red's mentor.³⁸

What happened between Coleman and Connors? It seems that this was a rare occasion in Coleman's early days where he was supported by an older musician. Connors was four or five years older than him. When they met, bebop was just becoming popular, and Connors often worked with a band geared towards white audiences. In time, Connors developed a strong bebop fluency and repertoire and introduced Coleman to the music. Coleman said Connors book had every bebop song recorded between 1943-1950, and whenever possible he played with him. Connors was also the first musician to get Coleman to consider the legitimacy of writing music down.³⁹ One of Coleman and Connors meeting places to work on bebop and tenor playing was a jam session held at the Jim Hotel and whorehouse in Fort Worth. It was a during a job with Connors playing "Stardust" for a white audience that Coleman had a breakthrough moment, not unlike the one Charlie Parker had, with however, a far different result.⁴⁰

³⁸ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 27.

³⁹ Spellman, Four Lives in the Bebop Business, 90.

⁴⁰ "His Blues to Be Somebody: Charlie Parker's Early Years." The Critical Flame. January 19, 2014. Accessed March 12, 2019. http://criticalflame.org/his-blues-to-be-somebody-charlie-parkers-early-years/.

In that situation, it's like having to know the results of all the changes before you even play them, compacting them all in your mind. So, once I did that, I just literally removed it all and just played.⁴¹

Seventeen-year-old Coleman was fired by the venue for having this experience, despite pleas of "Give em' vanilla!" The dance stopped as people were drawn to listen instead. Connors did not fire Coleman, who continued to work with him whenever possible, through all of 1949. Connors hired Coleman in 1950 as previously mentioned when Bluesman Pee Wee Crayton needed an alto player for a pickup band. After struggling in Los Angeles, Coleman ended up back in Fort Worth where he would play with Connors for the last time. What happened to Red Connors after this period remains unknown, as he joins the ranks of the greats whose sound we may never hear such as Buddy Bolden.

⁴¹ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 33.

3. Ornette and Charlie Parker

Charlie Parker and Ornette Coleman will forever be linked in the history of jazz. Parker as the progenitor and architect of bebop and modern jazz, as well as being the consummate master at improvising within the idiom he co-created. Coleman as the man who invented a pathway away from Parker's evolution, that has been accepted as either the final step in jazz where the music became itself, versus the heretical work of a charlatan not to be taken seriously. Today in 2019, Coleman has been accepted and even presented as the "proper Avant-Garde," or in other words, he has been given permission to be a part of jazz history by the establishment attempting to define and own the narrative of jazz history. At the start of a tribute to Coleman at Lincoln Center, saxophonist and arranger Ted Nash called Coleman "both primitive and sophisticated." Wynton Marsalis sanctioned Coleman by saying that his improvisations were based on the blues and is quick to mention that his father Ellis played with Coleman. When Coleman was asked by Nash what he thought of the Jazz at Lincoln Center arrangements of his music he responded, "You can transcribe a solo, but you can't transcribe an environment."42 The deeper reality is that Coleman's music began with a

⁴² As told to the author

foundation based on bebop methodology. Coleman revered Parker and told me himself that before he could invent Harmolodics, he had to master Parker's music.

The first place to look at the connection between Parker and Coleman is through their compositional practices. On Coleman's first record Something Else, a cautious debut tempered by working with two musicians grounded in tradition, Walter Norris on piano and Don Payne on bass, he played an original composition titled "Jayne," that is a contrafact of the standard "Out Of Nowhere." In the liner notes Coleman told Nat Hentoff that he felt that Charlie Parker had the best diatonic ear in jazz, and Thelonious Monk had the most complete harmonic ear. Coleman may have been referring to Parker's ability to improvise melodically and his uncanny ability to always play notes from the chord at the perfect time and place, even at fast tempos. "Out Of Nowhere" was written by Johnny Green and recorded by Bing Crosby in 1931, and the harmonic progression was popular with jazz musicians such as Fats Navarro and Gigi Gryce. "Jayne" has the same thirtytwo bar structure and key as "Out Of Nowhere," as well as the same key, G Major. Coleman switches between eight bars of Latin and Swing with a syncopated, belop type melody. The piece was a portrait and dedication to Coleman's wife Jayne Cortez and was written five or six years before the recording. Charlie Parker recorded "Out Of Nowhere" in November of 1947 for Dial records as a ballad. Parker briefly engages the melody while focusing on incredible double time runs in one full chorus, before young Miles Davis plays a chorus using the cup mute. Parker gently improvises on the melody on the final eight bars and they end with

Davis holding the note A a minor third above an F-Sharp held out by Parker. The use of a minor third between an alto and trumpet is something Coleman was interested in. On "Jayne," Walter Norris and Don Payne make some alterations of the original changes that work better with Coleman's melody. In measure 3 Bb 7 becomes a D7 flat 9 over G to accommodate the melody. In measure seven B-7 becomes Ab major 7 flat 5, though the B-7 would have worked. In measures 13-16 and 24-29 additional chords are added that are implied by the melodic line. During Coleman's solo on "Jayne" it is clear that he was both aware of the changes and used them as the underlying foundation of his solo.

Compositionally both Parker and Coleman were fond of using the blues form. They were both adept and writing and soloing on music that stemmed from the blues. In Dr. Henry Martin's forthcoming book on the compositions of Charlie Parker he has identified that, including unrecorded pieces, forty-nine of Parker's eighty-four pieces were blues, a staggering amount of fifty-eight percent! Dr. Lewis Porter has identified sixteen pieces that Coleman recorded that contain what he called blues Connotations, which in fact is the title of one of Coleman's greatest recorded blues compositions and solos. Parker could play blues from virtually every perspective. From the slow "Funky Blues" where he follows a Johnny Hodges solo with folk-like preacher blues that morph into classic Parker double time but still with blues expression, to "Blues for Alice" where despite all the substitute chords he retains the blues feeling. Folk like preacher blues expression is a trademark that seems to seep into all of Coleman's music. Porter has identified

several instances that bear out the Parker-Coleman connection. At a Carnegie Hall concert in 1947, on the last A section of Parker's first chorus of "A Night In Tunisia," Parker releases what could be a Coleman field cry on alto saxophone. Coleman plays a Parker-like solo on "When Will The Blues Leave?" from his first recording *Something Else* without playing any Parker licks. On "Giggin" from Coleman's recording *Tomorrow Is The Question*! Coleman begins the third chorus with a direct Parker line played through the Coleman lens. Coleman would eventually move past Parker's influence where he would climb into raw vocal blues expression such as what we hear on his tune "Ramblin" and the fore mentioned "Blues Connotations."

In early 1958, Coleman was captured live at the Hillcrest Club in October of 1958 before he recorded *Tomorrow Is the Question* in early 1959. At the Hillcrest, Billy Higgins on drums and Don Cherry on pocket trumpet were present from the first Contemporary session, though Charlie Haden wouldn't formally record with Coleman playing bass until *Shape of Jazz to Come*, recorded in May of 1959 on Atlantic in Hollywood. Of important significance at the Hillcrest, is the presence of pianist Paul Bley. According to the Tom Lord Jazz Discography, the Hillcrest recording was even issued at one point as the *The Fabulous Paul Bley Quintet*." At

⁴³ Porter, Lewis. "The "Blues Connotation" In Ornette Coleman's Music - And Some General Thoughts On The Relation Of Blues To Jazz." *Annual Review Of Jazz Studies 1994-95* 7 (March 01, 1996): 75-97.

the Hillcrest Coleman played a standard recorded by Parker, "How Deep Is The Ocean," composed by Irving Berlin, as well as a Parker original mysteriously titled "Klactoveedsedstene."

On "How Deep Is The Ocean" Coleman does not solo, as the piece features

Don Cherry, but he does write an introduction as Parker was known to do such as
the famous beginning to Parker's "Ko-Ko." Parker recorded "How Deep Is The

Ocean" for Dial records in 1947 on December 17th with the classic quintet of Miles

Davis, Duke Jordan on piano, Tommy Potter on bass, with the addition of J.J.

Johnson on trombone. Parker plays the piece as a ballad and virtually ignores the
melody. Coleman's introduction is approximately ten bars. Although "How Deep Is
The Ocean" was written in Eb major and shifts between different major and minor
centers, Coleman's introduction is mostly in F Melodic minor. The focus is a
dramatic use of an ascending flat five that occurs twice at the end of a phrase in
measures three and eight. I once walked in on Coleman composing at a desk with
only a piece of paper and a pencil, dressed like he was going to perform. He was
surprised to see me and declared "Start on the flat five!"

Charlie Parker recorded "Embraceable You" by George Gershwin again in 1947 for Dial with the classic quintet. In his famous version, he improvises straight though one chorus before handing it over to Miles Davis with the cup mute. In a three-bar arranged ending Parker harmonizes a reference to the melody with he and Davis playing apart by major and minor thirds and ending on a sustained minor third of E and G. Coleman recorded "Embraceable You" in 1960 for Atlantic

on the album *This Is Our Music*. He composed a dramatic, almost regal seven-bar introduction with Don Cherry playing the trumpet written above the alto as Davis was above Parker, though without the mute. Coleman and Cherry are an octave apart for the first three bars. Bars four and five contain Cherry embellishment while Coleman sustains a C and then a B for four beats. The next four beats Coleman and Cherry are separated by a minor third, a minor third, a major third, a minor third, and then end on half notes separated by a flat five and ending on a flat six. The introduction is repeated at the end of the piece, but Coleman plays his part an octave higher, above the trumpet creating another flat five and ending on a major third. In the beginning Cherry starts the introduction on the tonic of the original recording, G, and Coleman ends on it. Coleman enjoyed disguising who was playing lead and who was playing harmony. During the improvisation Coleman does reference the original melody, but like Parker it is only touched on briefly. Charlie Haden does play the changes at first before they shift into more open interpretation. Coleman is patient and bluesy for the most part, not pursing the endless invention of Parker. Coleman's version contains both similarity and contrast with the Parker version. In the liner notes to This Is Our Music Coleman said that he played "Embraceable You" as a standard, the way standards are played. He also called Charlie Parker the great seer of Modern Jazz.44 It is notable that three of these pieces that Parker played and then Coleman played were recorded

⁴⁴ Coleman, Ornette, Something Else!!! the Music of Ornette Coleman, Contemporary, 1958.

by Parker in 1947 when Coleman was seventeen and studying bebop, while Parker was in top form at twenty-seven years old. In addition, two of the songs that Coleman claimed defined Bebop were contrafacts. "Donna Lee" based on "Indiana," and "Little Willie Leaps," based on "All Gods Chillun Got Rhythm." "Donna Lee" and "Little Willie Leaps" were both composed by Miles Davis, Coleman giving him far more influence within the movement as a composer rather than just as a participant as Parker's student. Coleman also considered pianist Bud Powell quintessential within bebop and claimed that Powell's piece "John's Abbey" to be the best example of a bebop bridge.⁴⁵

Parker recorded "Klactoveedsedstene" on November 4th, 1947 for Ross Russell's Dial label. In Russell's book "Bird Lives!" he explains that Parker wrote the title on the back of a minimum charge card and offered no clues as to its meaning. Dean Benedetti suggested to Russell that it was sound. ⁴⁶ Parker recorded the piece with Miles Davis on trumpet, Duke Jordan on piano, Tommy Potter on bass, and Max Roach on drums. Parker based "Klactoveedsedstene" on the changes to Juan Tizol's "Perdido" in the A section and the bridge appears to be a variation of the bridge of George Gershwin's "Lady Be Good," also in Bb, which Parker played famously in 1946 at Jazz at the Philharmonic. The piece begins with an

-

⁴⁵ Coleman told keyboardist David Bryant (interviewed by the author) about the three pieces and why he felt they defined bebop.

⁴⁶ Russell, Ross. *Bird Lives! The High Life and Hard times of Charlie (Yardbird) Parker*. New York: Da Capo Press, 1996.

introduction that deserves more attention. Parker harmonized the alto a minor third below Davis cup muted trumpet. Fred Parcell's transcription uses chords apparently based on the bass line. The bass is the only thing that saves the intro from harmonic ambiguity as in the famous "Ko-Ko." The melody is played in unison and is more about the Parker syncopation than eighth notes. Parker only takes one solo chorus using his own rhythmic devices that he may have extracted as a reaction to Tizol's original motif, with the tempo increased, bending the piece to his will. During Parker's solo flat fives are casually added in measures 9, 11, 24, and 31. Flat 9's are stitched in on measures 3, 7, 23, 27, 31, and 33. As per his usual method, the notes connect his lines to the notes that define the harmony. Parker uses a Db on a Bb major chord three times before he reaches the bridge. In measure 26, two of Thomas Owens-discovered Parker devices are used.

Looking at Coleman's solo on the same piece at the Hillcrest (see page 197)

Coleman and Cherry play the introduction and the melody straight, though Bley is mostly Inaudible. Haden is muffled but he seems to be aware of the form but already following Coleman as his prime directive. Reaching the bridge on the melody at measure 24, Coleman plays phrases as if the changes were taking place, but no harmony is suggested by him or Bley. On the last measure of the bridge, 31, Coleman plays a phrase that Parker would never play and offers no resolution or signpost to the form. At measure 40 Coleman begins the solo suggesting the sound of Parker but without using his devices. In measure 43 he does outline a D minor chord in ascending root position exactly where it should be if he were playing the

piece totally straight. At the first pass through the bridge both Coleman and Bley suggest the form transition and play phrases in time as if changes were taking place, but do not play any actual changes. The key of the piece seems to be more relevant. At D, Coleman suggests Parker using a high long tone during a turnaround. At measure 113 he continues the motif, but changes the pitch, a function of Coleman's language, and not Parker's. Measure 144 sounds like Parker again without a direct reference. During measures 152-159, where a bridge should be, Coleman strings together eighth notes and triplets like Parker but with no implication of harmony. By the time we reach G Coleman doesn't abandon the key of the piece but is now truly concerned with his own ideas more than anything else. At measure 168 we hear a phrase played 4 times that is pure Coleman. Measure 184 contains improvisation that could be related to "Donna Lee." From G to H Coleman may have broken free from changes and form entirely. In measure 235 Coleman plays a phrase and then repeats it a whole step up that is not related to any clear harmony. At letter I we hear Coleman modulate through where the bridge used to be using minor thirds as his focus suggesting an entirely new way of thinking. During measures 287-293 at letter J, the note D is the foundation as Coleman seems to explore just how many ways, he can play off one note. In a bold finishing move, Coleman and Cherry play an original transition in unison to set up Paul Bley's solo. Higgins slows to repeat the figure at 8 bars, but Coleman and Cherry miss it, playing it afterwards. Bley suggests movement through a bridge but also uses Coleman's transitional figure as a source of improvisation. The band

eventually lays out giving Bley a solo all by himself. Haden and Higgins try to bring form back to an extent to set up Cherry. Haden is far more aggressive in using the form and changes behind Cherry, but Bley lays out and Cherry seems to suggest playing through a bridge at random times and is mostly playing free. Cherry could play changes but chose not to. Haden follows with a solo continuing to walk in time. His sound and style are present. Coleman returns with more improvisation playing free until Cherry brings back the melody where he thinks it should be but it's clear that Coleman could have continued. Higgins takes the bridge, the melody is restated, and finally the intro is played as a coda with a short free vamp. Coleman played ideas with beginnings and endings and resolved them melodically. He may have mastered Parker's style as he claimed,⁴⁷ but by this period he had already moved quite far into his own concept, though he was still wrestling with a piano being present. Coleman simply related to music differently than Parker. Parker had a genius level ability to play fluidly through harmonic progressions with incredible accuracy. Coleman did not possess this gift, but rather the ability to construct ideas free of the harmony. Both Parker and Coleman were adept at constructing ideas on their own terms in the environment of fast and very fast tempos. Parker was a master at every tempo he ever encountered.

Coleman also assimilated Charlie Parker to an extent by direct use of Parker's unique rhythm and syncopation, most obvious in Parkers compositions.

⁴⁷ As told to the author

The clearest example is his composition "Bird Food" from the album *Change of the Century* recorded in Hollywood in 1959. In this piece Coleman overtly uses Parkers eighth rest, quarter note, eighth note rhythm most famous as Parkers core rhythmic motif from "Moose the Mooch," also recorded in California in 1946 for Dial by Parker. Coleman was able to capture the sound of Parker's music though the composition, based on rhythm changes. The bridge and solo are completely improvised free of changes and any reference to Parker.

Incredibly, the idea of playing free of harmony was presented to Charlie Parker by John T. Fitch in an interview in 1953. Fitch asks if playing without changes is possible using Lennie Tristano as a reference point.

Parker: Those are mostly improvisations, and if you listen closely enough you can find the melody traveling along with any chord structure. Rather than make the melody predominant in the music, with Lennie it's more or less heard or felt.

Fitch: On "Intuition" they start off with no key or changes.

Parker: There must be a buildup to the key signature and the chords that create the melody. 48

Parker was open to all music, but the concept of playing free seems to be one he never considered. Coleman attempted to sit in with and meet Parker to show him what he was doing, as revealed in an interview with Leonard Feather in

 48 Woideck, Carl. The Charlie Parker Companion: Six Decades of Commentary. New York: Schirmer Books, 1998.

Downbeat in 1981. He did hear Parker play in person but attempts to play with him never resulted in them getting to play together.

Coleman: I didn't want him (Parker) to hear how I play, I wanted him to hear *what* I was trying to play, because I figured he would understand.⁴⁹

In the end we have evidence that Coleman took belop seriously, as his mentor Red Connors instructed him to. Before Coleman sought to invent a path to what he believed would set himself free, he sought to understand where he and jazz were at. He practiced the bebop methodology of using contrafacts as we have seen with his piece "Jayne." He studied Charlie Parker's writing and solo style, being influenced by both in his own compositions and improvisation. Perhaps the most striking similarity between Parker and Coleman can be found within their unique gifts within their environments. Within an environment that he himself had an enormous part in creating, Parker possessed a fluidity and dexterity in his improvisations that is almost superhuman in ability. He remains the consummate master of bebop improvisation at all tempos, thriving where most musicians simply cannot venture. Coleman, like Parker, virtually created the environment that he was the master of. Coleman had a deep belief in spontaneous invention, an almost urgent need to create something profound with himself as the primary source. It is here in this self-created realm, that he felt most at home. Coleman's

⁴⁹ Feather, Leonard. "Interview Ornette Coleman." *Downbeat*, July 1981, 16.

legacy is not only how he effected the entire perception of the music, but his ability to do it through composition and improvisation. Both Parker and Coleman practiced the tradition in jazz of studying and learning from those that proceeded them. They were both African-American. They were both master alto saxophonists who at times played tenor saxophone. They were both masters at playing the blues. They were both no strangers to adversity. They both had little to no relationship with their fathers. They were both two of the most significant innovators in jazz. Charlie Parker and Ornette Coleman forever linked.

SECTION II: ORNETTE CREATES

4. Tenor

"You'll attract some strange women with that horn." -Ornette Coleman to David Murray

I asked Ornette in 2005 if he would ever play the tenor saxophone again. I didn't see one in his music room. He said that it was over and didn't elaborate. We've discussed his early years playing rhythm and blues on the horn, and his mentor Red Connors mostly playing tenor. Coleman spoke about the tenor to Joe Goldberg.

The tenor is a rhythm instrument, and the best statements negroes have made about what their soul is have been on tenor. The tenor has that thing, that honk, and you can get to people with it. Sometimes you can be playing tenor, and I'm telling you, the people want to jump across the rail. Especially the Db blues, you can really reach their souls with a Db blues.⁵⁰

Coleman was playing mostly tenor in his early years, when he was getting more extreme reactions and playing more extreme environments. The tenor seems to turn up the volume and raise the intensity of emotions and sexual desire.

Perhaps Stanley Crouch said it best.

⁵⁰ Goldberg, Jazz Masters of the Fifties, 231-232.

The tenor contains a subtle identity that can be as low down as the killing floor of sweet and erotic facts as it can be altissimo lofty and clean as an archangel's underwear.⁵¹

In March of 1961, Coleman recorded his last album for Atlantic, and one of his most well-known, *Ornette on Tenor*. Don Cherry played pocket trumpet, Ed Blackwell was on drums, and Jimmy Garrison played bass. I examine Garrison more closely later in the thesis. The alto, trumpet, and violin are not present. At no other time did Coleman draw attention to his work on one specific instrument. Atlantic may have asked Coleman to play tenor so they could sell the concept, but that remains unknown. Coleman did make the creative decision to play tenor explicitly this one time. He may have been pursuing a resolution of sorts, by using a horn he played in his early days with his updated and far-reaching conception. After this recording, the bebop front line of saxophone and trumpet would no longer be a primary focus for him. Charlie Parker played tenor when the job called for it, or when it was the only horn available to him, but never made a record as a leader only playing it.

The album begins with "Cross Breeding." Coleman experiments with silence between stating the fast bop line and taking an immediate, completely alone solo for over a full minute. Garrison and Blackwell enter in a very conversational manner before playing time at three minutes. Coleman solos aggressively all the

⁵¹ Crouch, Stanley. "Tale of the Tenor." *The Village Voice*, 16 Apr. 1986, p. 63.

way to seven minutes and twenty seconds. His playing contains grit and blues and he ends with a boppish figure. Cherry stands his ground for two minutes, and after a short drum solo they both solo. Throughout his solo Coleman still has the urgency and yearning, almost pleading that you associate with the alto. The final bop line to close lasts a mere twenty seconds. "Mapa" is next and always looking for a new path, Coleman's arrangement calls for a ninety percent four-way independent group improvisation. With all four members playing separately together, the cohesion occurs in that they all agree to hold their own space. Coleman's tenor is not that different from the alto here. "Enfant" is more traditional in Coleman's world as after the short head, Blackwell and Garrison start walking. Garrison is aggressive with his rubbery sounding swing, seemingly going his own way and very strong in the mix. Coleman plays in time for the most part. Blackwell is very aggressive, seeking and getting interaction with Coleman. As with most of Coleman's bass players, Garrison comes more in to support Don Cherry, who was easier to follow harmonically. Coleman returns for more improvisation before the head returns, based on interaction with Blackwell. "EOS" is next, and on this one you can really hear the pots boil. The opening melody lasts all of fifteen seconds. Coleman is more relaxed and, in the pocket, and he's hooked up more with Garrison. At the opening Coleman cycles through a one, three, four, (or five, seven, one) ascending motif that is infectious. Moving through harmony like this, it could be three different keys or chords, and imbued with blues feeling, this is classic Coleman. In this moment, the tenor comes alive as a unique entity in

Coleman's musical world as he exploits the sound of the instrument. At 1:03 Coleman escapes a pattern with genuine blues tenor expression but without crossing the line into rhythm and blues. Throughout, he and Blackwell have a shared telepathy. At 2:28 Coleman leaves space and Garrison sets up a vamp that he releases at 2:40 creating group interaction that continues a fully realized threeway conversation. Coleman doubles down on blues phrases and Blackwell finishes them. Coleman ends the solo in a perfect transition to Cherry who then leaves off in another direction, but by first picking up right where Coleman left off. "Ecars" continues the success of "EOS" with more speed, and more urgency. Coleman plays strong blues phrases without dropping the tempo. He uses this effect to culminate a group interaction such as at 1:40. "Ecars" is the full realization of the group, the last recorded piece on the record. "Harlem's Manhattan" was an out take from this band and the Ornette on Tenor recording that surfaced on Art of the Improvisors from Atlantic in 1970, without Coleman's permission. Cherry uses a cup mute. The piece sounds like the other pieces on the original and picks up after "Ecars" with another notch up in speed and urgency. The cup mute is an odd choice in this fiery environment and Cherry plays a short solo. Garrison follows with a thirty second solo that foreshadows his work with Coltrane, displaying that his sound and style were already intact.

Drummer Ronald Shannon Jackson told guitarist Jack DeSalvo that throughout the early seventies Coleman played tenor saxophone during long Prime Time rehearsals but simply didn't want to carry the extra horn to

performances.⁵² Prime Time with Coleman on tenor may have been a different energy entirely that we will never hear unless future unknown recordings surface. Coleman would not return to the tenor again on recordings until 1977 on a duo album titled *Soapsuds*, *Soapsuds* for John Snyder's label Artists House. Coleman took a break from his electric band Prime Time to make a series of acoustic duets with Charlie Haden. On Haden's piece "Human Being" Coleman plays the tenor with all of his alto technique, and the special connection he shared with Haden is on full display. Coleman reaches up into the tenor range as if he was hearing alto. "Sex Spy" is a Coleman ballad, and you can hear the alto inside the tenor. By this point Coleman's horns were simply him, regardless of tuning, range, and sound properties that draw out a particular human response. The music here is all about the relationship of Coleman and Haden. The one difference is how Coleman sings on the closing melody revealing a tenor voice that wasn't heard previously in any of his recorded work. It remains a door he opened, and a room he only stayed in briefly. His gentle nature and vulnerability came through on a horn that as noted previously, could also cause people to jump the rails.

Coleman's last known recorded moment on tenor came ten years later on "Feet Music" from the album *In All Languages*. The album reunited the original Coleman classic quartet with Cherry, Haden, and Higgins. "Feet music" sounds like the quartet dabbling in a Prime Time vibe, but Higgins doesn't surrender to the

⁵² As told to the author by DeSalvo.

funk. Haden is very aggressive, almost playing independently. Coleman is in a very straight blues space in an almost final return to his roots on the horn, completing the cycle and thus achieving a final resolution of his relationship with the horn.

Dewey Redman (1931-2006) grew up in Fort Worth like Coleman, and after a chance meeting in 1965 driving a taxi in San Francisco and picking up Coleman at an airport just back from Japan, he ended up playing with and then joining Coleman's bands on tenor saxophone and recording seven albums. ⁵³ Redman was influenced by Coleman's melodic approach more than anything else, and found it daunting to share the stage with him.

Some nights he'd just be on fire, you know? He'd be playing his ass off, and he always took the first solo, and when he got through playing sometimes there would be nothing left to play. He played everything, the bebop, the avant-garde, whatever. And I said, what the hell am I going to do, I play the saxophone too.⁵⁴

Redman continued playing music written and inspired by Coleman recording four albums with the band Old and New Dreams, with Don Cherry, Charlie Haden, and Ed Blackwell from 1976 to 1987. Redman's son Joshua shared the stage with Coleman at the North Sea Jazz Festival in 2010 playing "Lonely

_

⁵³ "Dewey Redman." The Independent. October 23, 2011. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/obituaries/dewey-redman-414684.html.

⁵⁴ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 129.

Woman."55 Joe Lovano played with Coleman at his Chelsea Loft.56 Lovano went too far however at a Coleman European concert, walking onstage and playing without discussing it prior, so that he could be seen playing with him.57 David Murray, Ravi Coltrane, Antoine Roney, Branford Marsalis, and Henry Threadgill all joined Coleman on stage in June 2014 at a celebration of his music.58

⁵⁵ Videoservices, Gilaworks Internet- &. "Ornette Coleman Quartet - North Sea Jazz 2010 (part 1-5)." YouTube. July 05, 2011. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IqAxizXEIrw.

⁵⁶ Rogers, John. "My Friend, Ornette Coleman." NPR. June 15, 2015. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.npr.org/sections/ablogsupreme/2015/06/15/414007418/my-friend-ornette-coleman.

⁵⁷ As told to the author.

⁵⁸ Mandel, Howard, Bob Gluck, John Litweiler, and Howard Mandel. "Ornette Honored and Playing in Prospect Park June 2014." Jumper. March 09, 2015. Accessed January 21, 2019. http://www.artsjournal.com/jazzbeyondjazz/2015/03/ornette-honored-and-playing-in-prospect-park-june-2014.html.

5. Trumpet

"The saxophone is flawed in that it's built like a scale. By its very design it leads the person playing it into theory before ideas. Not the trumpet. The trumpet is pure melody."

Ornette Coleman

It's important to note that as Coleman instructed me, part of Harmolodics requires that as a horn player, you should play instruments tuned in Bb, Eb, and in concert. The trumpet, alto saxophone, and violin matched his self-requirement. It was during his retreat during 1963-1964 that he studied the trumpet and violin, completely on his own and without any formal training. He formally played trumpet in his return from self-imposed exile in 1965 with three weeks at the Village Vanguard. Coleman's use of the trumpet remains one of the most controversial aspects of his career. For many musicians and listeners Coleman's moves out of bounds were something to be considered, and he was a fantastic alto saxophonist and composer. The expansion to trumpet without formal training, however, was crossing the line. Even today in 2019 people say they're OK with Coleman, except for the trumpet playing. There also remain Coleman loyalists,

⁵⁹ Litweiler, A *Harmolodic Life*, 110-118.

musicians and others that feel quite the opposite and are genuinely touched by Coleman's work on trumpet. Nevertheless, the Coleman trumpet was derided from the top down. Hearing Coleman in 1968 on "Freeway Express" from the album *The Empty Foxhole* in a blindfold with Leonard Feather, Freddie Hubbard said:

I could have done what Ornette was doing when I was five. Why should a guy study for years -*study*- trumpet, then see a guy come out on trumpet, and he gets a lot of popularity, like this, it doesn't make sense.⁶⁰

Miles Davis is well known for his condemnation of the Coleman trumpet, citing Coleman as being jealous.

Ornette's a jealous kind of dude. Jealous of another musician's success. I don't know what's wrong with him. For him- a sax player- to pick up a trumpet and violin like that and just think he can play them with no kind of training is disrespectful toward all the people that play them well. And then to sit up and pontificate about them when he doesn't know what he's talking about is not cool man.⁶¹

Both Hubbard and Davis felt *disrespected* by Coleman's trumpet work. As a trumpet player myself, I have always had to move past my initial reaction to hearing it. The reality is that without formal training, Coleman often missed notes and had a general instability on the instrument. The core issue is hearing music as a technical act versus hearing it as music. By playing trumpet, Coleman doubled

61 Davis, Miles, and Quincy Troupe. *Miles the Autobiography*. Miles Davis with Quincy Troupe. Simon & Schuster Paperbacks, 1989, 250.

_

⁶⁰ Feather, Leonard, and Ira Gitler. *The Encyclopedia of Jazz in the Seventies*. Da Capo press, 1987, 30.

down on his personal concept for better or for worse. He made a choice based on his personal beliefs and relationship with music.

Coleman's trumpet playing was formally introduced on record in 1965 at a concert in Croydon England and appears on thirty-one recordings. Coleman never played an entire record on trumpet, except for ionically one of his few appearances as a sideman, on *New And Old Gospel* with Jackie Mclean, which I will fully explore. As Ekkehard Jost explained, the Coleman trumpet started off as a "sound tool" and gradually transitioned to a melody instrument. The trumpet came close to sharing the stage with the alto on live bootlegs in Europe in the late 60's but eventually took its place as a secondary instrument that would be used on one or two pieces, or as brief interludes in the middle of alto solos. When I studied with Coleman there was a Jupiter brand trumpet in his music room, but I never saw him play it or asked him about it. Over the course of his discography, there are several notable Coleman trumpet moments of musical significance.

At the live Croydon concert, the trumpet's first hearing on record comes on "Falling Stars" with Coleman's trio with David Izenzon on bass and Charles Moffett on drums. After a blistering tempo is established and a violin solo (the violin's first appearance as well) Coleman starts off in the upper register at 3:50 quickly establishing his peculiar articulation and seems to be more focused on trio

⁶² Jost, Ekkehard. Free Jazz. Da Capo Press, 1994, 64.

interaction than anything else, and the drums take over at 4:40. At 5:22 he returns again focusing on rhythmic hits until 5:44 when a mournful melodic mood suddenly occurs that Izenzon immediately matches on bow. A melodic phrase launches the trio back into fast swing at 6:11. The drums again take over at 6:32. Coleman never plays a direct conventional solo from beginning to end with the trumpet, as he seems to seek a different relationship between horn and rhythm section, an effective assault on what he believed were the restrictions of role playing. The trumpet makes only one appearance on the record. "Falling Stars" is recorded again on the next two live dates in Europe.

Coleman next plays trumpet on a movie soundtrack he wrote called *Who's Crazy*? The soundtrack was recorded as Coleman and his trio watched the 1966 film, about insane asylum inmates that escape their confinement and hole up in a deserted Belgian farm house. On "Changes" he opens with trumpet and plays a three-minute solo that vacillates between melodic phrases you might expect on the alto, to rhythmic hits, to other random phrases that sound to me not extracted from his world of melodic ideas. These moments sound like the alto melodic content is knocking on the door but cannot get inside. The issue here in not about Coleman's ability to play the trumpet, it's what he's choosing to do with it. The effect is not unlike someone with different personalities battling for dominance, which certainly works with the theme of the film. In this context, the alto was always the dominant personality that ruled the others. The music also confirms that when the rhythm section is playing this well, the horn player can do just

about anything. When I played my trio recording *Spiritual Power* for Coleman, he said "One of the reasons you sound so good is the high quality of your environment." On the second LP of *Who's Crazy?* on "The Poet" Coleman improvises on trumpet from 14:00-19:00, and here is where the criticism from trumpet players would lie. Throughout, Coleman pushes into the upper registers of the horn where the trumpet is especially difficult, and Coleman lacks control. Combined with excessive saliva which creates a gurgling sound effect, the technical effect is someone trying to play something they cannot. The musical effect however could be someone trying to exist on their own terms in a society where they cannot relate. During these five minutes, Coleman asks the listener who is crazy, thus you could say achieving his musical goal. Here we find the kind of music that defines much of the free playing happening today, both in New York City and around the world.

Coleman's next recording is a live date with his trio, the classic *The Ornette Coleman Trio at the Golden Circle, Stockholm*. On "Snowflakes and Sunshine" he trades with himself on violin and trumpet with Izenzon and Moffett switching the improvised tempo into a different feeling each time. There is no discernable melody present. Izenzon and Moffett play throughout and while Coleman switches instruments, they fill in the space. Coleman charts himself the following course, the timing being the amount of time he spends on the instrument improvising aggressively.

Violin 1:30

Trumpet :40

Violin :40

Trumpet:30

Violin :40

Trumpet :60

Violin:60

Trumpet :60

Violin:60

Listening to the piece one can hear the influence on future musicians Roy

Campbell Jr. and William Parker. While Ray Nance played cornet and violin as a

double before Coleman, nobody prior had thought to switch back and forth

between instruments so rapidly. On this piece the improvisation is extended to

include the use of the instruments themselves. Without stating a melody, Coleman

advances his idea that would later manifest formally as part of his philosophy of

Harmolodics, that the improvisation *is* the melody.

In 1966, Coleman returned to the studio for the first time in four years, now formerly presenting the trumpet and violin on Blue Note with *The Empty Foxhole*. On the title piece, Coleman records one of his most significant moments on the trumpet. With the still controversial decision to have his ten-year-old son Denardo on drums, and Charlie Haden on bass, Coleman plays a short ballad and plays a

melody with no improvisation. The simple melody combined with a march figure from Denardo evokes a haunting feeling that takes the listener right to source of the music's title and conception. Here, Coleman connects the trumpet to brass instrument use in the military as an instrument associated with war. At the same time, he evokes the human tragedy within that reality. In the liner notes, Coleman adds a poem to complete an almost perfect artistic statement.

The empty foxhole

men sleeping in the ground

hoping to escape death

thinking of their children

and loved ones

bury not the soul

in a hole,

whose life has yet

to exist

Coleman also plays a piece titled "Freeway Express" using the trumpet. Like the live material in Europe, this is full bore improvisation but Coleman constructs ideas and uses space very effectively. Denardo and Haden fill in the space. Ornette adds a Harmon mute halfway through the 8-minute piece unexpectedly, then removes it to close, continuing his experiment in sound.

The trumpet was clearly on Coleman's mind during this period. In 1967 he composed and recorded Forms and Sounds, a piece for woodwind quintet. In the recording with the Philadelphia Woodwind Quintet, Coleman plays solo trumpet interludes that he says were written, but certainly contain elements of solo improvisation. "Forms and Sounds" contains seven different completely solo interludes that connect a ten-section piece. The interludes are short ranging in length from twenty to ninety seconds. They often sound composed initially before opening up. Section six contains an alto like virtuosity, and section seven is all blues. Coleman only joins the ensemble for the final seconds. He describes the piece as using a technique he devised called improvised reading, allowing for octaves to be selected by the musicians. The piece most often features what sounds like independent movement by the voices, but a commonality and unity in a shared structure. The piece may have had its origin in an international union negotiation between American and British musicians where Coleman agreed to use non "dance" musicians. Regardless, Coleman once again did something that was never done before and took the trumpet to a place it had never been.

Next, we come to one of the most interesting moments of Coleman's career, a call from alto player Jackie McLean to join him on the Blue Note release *New And Old Gospel*, recorded in March of 1967. When I asked him about this date, he told me it meant a great deal to him that McLean called him. Coleman had been ridiculed, vilified, and even condemned by fellow jazz musicians, but McLean not only believed in his contributions as an innovator, but went a step further to

record and collaborate with him. The still remaining controversy is that Coleman played trumpet. Who made this decision, or took responsibility for it? McLean first addressed the issue in the liner notes by Nat Hentoff.

When they heard about the date, a lot of trumpet players asked me why I used Ornette on that instrument. Actually, he was willing to use any of his instruments, but it seemed to me as we talked about the session, that we would complement each other if Ornette focused on trumpet. It's amazing how far Ornette has gone in the last three years on that horn. I'm not about to compare him technically to anybody, because that isn't the point in Ornette's case. The point is how much he plays and the fact that what he plays is entirely him! If you put on a record of Ornette playing trumpet, I could tell immediately that it's him.⁶³

Twenty-three years later, McLean revealed more to Kevin Whitehead in *Downbeat*. He stated that he originally did want a two-alto date for the contrasting styles, but that Coleman was focusing on trumpet. He still liked the recording, but that week he had fights with trumpet players. Lee Morgan said to him "You want a trumpet player? I'm a trumpet player." McLean said it was Coleman's concept that attracted him more than his alto. McLean had a high compliment for Coleman calling him a hero, because he took a stand for something and stood his ground, taking all the pies that were thrown at him."⁶⁴

Musically, Coleman is placed in a different position on the album. McLean called Billy Higgins to play drums who knew Coleman well. Lamont Johnson on piano

See Discography: New and Old Gospe

⁶⁴ Whitehead, Kevin. "Back On Earth." Downbeat, Oct. 1990, pp. 21–22.

⁶³ See Discography: New and Old Gospel

and Scott Holt on bass fully supported him in their playing. Coleman is effective on "Lifeline" where McLean plays some of the most intense alto of his career. In a free ballad section of the suite. Coleman has a solo where he discovers a completely new sound using a harmon mute. Coleman's embouchure is not stable, but the effect draws you into the heart of the sound of the free jazz movement. "Lifeline" ends with a truly haunting free duo between McLean and Coleman. Coleman's exuberant "Old Gospel" follows, a rollicking piece that stands on its own as a unique piece in the Coleman canon. Coleman also wrote the last piece "Strange as it seems" which Coleman describes as like being in love with someone who doesn't agree with your philosophy. McLean plays the lead melody and solo and is clearly playing through a set of chord changes. Coleman uses the harmon mute again and plays through the changes. Johnson and Holt support him but listen closely for ways to interact with him by any means. New and Old Gospel is the kind of album that needs to be listened to many times to fully digest and remains a singular unique moment in Coleman's career, the only time he played trumpet exclusively.

Coleman would continue to use the trumpet as an effective supplement to his music overall, though the alto saxophone remained dominant. His use of the horn seemed to have more impact when used less. He led the way on trumpet on "Love Call" from The Blue Note album of the same name with Jimmy Garrison on bass and Elvin Jones on drums less than a year after the death of John Coltrane in 1967, with Dewey Redman on tenor saxophone. Coleman again uses a harmon

mute. He also plays a ballad he originally played with Don Cherry titled "Just For You." Both Coleman and Cherry were not technical masters of the trumpet, but here the mood and feeling are conveyed as only Coleman could. Garrison accompanies him with improvised arco. In 1968 Coleman recorded a ballad on trumpet titled "Forgotten Children" live in Rome in February released on *The Unprecedented Music Of Ornette Coleman*, with Ed Blackwell on drums and both Haden and Izenzon on bass. Izenzon plays arco and Haden plays pizzicato. After a lovely theme statement and Izenzon solo, Coleman again plugs in the harmon and plays like his work with McLean. Like the trio had done, Blackwell, Haden, and Izenzon continually hand the baton off to each other, continually coming up with new ways to play as a group.

Haden, Redman, and Denardo, who was playing with more strength and confidence. As was evident from *The Empty Foxhole*, Denardo had an almost symbiotic rhythmic relationship with his father, able to shadow him extremely closely. Coleman plays trumpet on "Rainbows," with his established trumpet style, with a solo that contained flashes of the clarity and coherence often conveyed on also saxophone. The next trumpet recording took place at Coleman's Prince Street Loft on "Let's Play" from the album *Friends and Neighbors*, with Haden, Redman, and Ed Blackwell behind the kit. Coleman is strong here, leading the band with the trumpet as the dominant voice. He sings with the horn here, loud and in the higher range of the horn.

Fast forward to December 1976 and Coleman recorded two duets on trumpet with Charlie Haden on bass. Many Coleman fans consider these duets to be some of the brightest moments of his career, and perhaps the apex of his work on trumpet. Coleman recorded "The Golden Number" on the album of the same name for Horizon, an album of Haden playing duets with different musicians. The piece is a ballad and speaks to the unique musical bond shared between them. Without drums, it's clear that Haden could support Coleman like nobody else having such a deep, intrinsic relationship with his process. Coleman's technique hadn't changed, but his sound is clearer, and he plays with a vulnerable lyricism. The piece lasts a full twelve and half minutes with the heart-felt melody played at both bookends. In January 1977 on Artists House, Coleman continued the conversation with a full album of duets with Haden on the album Soap Suds. He plays trumpet on the final piece, a ballad titled "Some Day." Coleman is as expressive here as he is an any of his alto ballads. The sound of the music could have only come from him. Again, Haden instinctively knows when to change the tempo, as if they shared one musical mind. Coleman makes his final argument for the trumpet and proves his case here. It was never about the technique, but always about the music itself, and the humanity within.

Coleman's trumpet would not appear again for a full eight years. In 1985 the trumpet made a brief appearance at the end of an album *Opening the Caravan of Dreams* with Coleman's free funk fusion unit Prime Time on a track titled "Compute." His technique is intact, but the different environment doesn't change

his trumpet style in a short solo. On *Virgin Beauty* in 1987, the trumpet is used sparingly on two tracks. It serves an ensemble function, overdubbed on "3 Wishes," and again as an overdub improvisation during an alto solo on "Desert Players." Again in 1987, Coleman was in Hamburg for a reunion concert with Cherry, Haden, and Higgins. On the opening piece "Chanting" Cherry and Coleman both play trumpet, trading a melodic line back and forth in a fascinating contrast of their sounds and styles. The track only lasts two and half minutes, but Coleman again found something artistic to do beyond just he and Cherry both playing the same horn. Coleman continued to use the horn in brief interludes, sometimes during the middle of alto solos as he did on *Sound Grammar* in 2005. The horn was last recorded live in Genoa, Italy in 2010 in this capacity.

Focusing on Coleman's relationship with the trumpet must of course also include his collaboration with Don Cherry and Bobby Bradford. Cherry will forever be associated with Coleman after starting to play with him in 1958, and then playing on the classic Atlantic albums on pocket cornet. Cherry originally was mentored by Clifford Brown in Los Angeles and was playing straight ahead before he became a student and ally of Coleman. ⁶⁵ Cherry plays on fifteen albums with Coleman plus several bootlegs. His playing with him and unique style led him to be the first call trumpet player of the avant-garde period of the sixties. Cherry recorded with every major tenor saxophone player of the period, recording with

⁶⁵ Silsbee, Kirk. "Don Cherry Interview." *Cadence*, 25 Apr. 1984, pp. 5–11.

John Coltrane, Pharoah Sanders, Albert Ayler, Sonny Rollins, and Archie Shepp.

Bradford had a harder time connecting with Coleman, recording on cornet on two albums that *also* have Cherry, *Broken Shadows*, and *Science Fiction*. Coleman wrote a full symphonic work that featured Bradford called *Sun Suite of San Francisco* that was not recorded.⁶⁶ It is my hope that both Cherry and Bradford will be fully researched.

Coleman also composed for the trumpet, specifically a chamber ensemble piece titled The Sacred Mind of Johnny Dolphin, written in honor of John Allen, also known as Johnny Dolphin, who formed and ran the organization Caravan of Dreams.⁶⁷ The piece has been performed at least four times featuring Wilmer Wise in 1974⁶⁸, Wallace Roney, who spent some time with Coleman directly, replacing Don Cherry after his death for a period, in 1984,⁶⁹ Lew Soloff in 1987,⁷⁰ and Seneca

_

⁶⁶ Litweiler, a Harmolodic Life, 130.

⁶⁷ Ibid, 189.

⁶⁸ "Wilmer Wise: Be Sure Brain Is Engaged before Putting Mouthpiece in Gear. *Greenleaf Music - Dave Douglas Jazz Blog and Store*, 4 Jan. 2010, Greenleafmusic.com/wilmer-wise-be-sure-brain-is-engaged-before-putting-mouthpiece-in-gear/.

⁶⁹ Holloway, Keenan. "Wallace Roney - Biography." *Wallace Roney: The Official Site About*, www.wallaceroney.com/bio.php.

⁷⁰ Holland, Bernard. "JAZZ: ORNETTE COLEMAN AT WEILL HALL." The New York Times. March 18, 1987. Accessed December 30, 2018. https://www.nytimes.com/1987/03/18/arts/jazz-ornette-coleman-at-weill-hall.html.

Black in 2017 after Coleman's death.⁷¹ There has been no formal recording. In addition, trumpeter John Marshall spent time studying with trumpet with Coleman in the 70's.⁷² Trumpeter R.J. Avallone spent three years studying and playing trumpet with Coleman, six to eight hours a day, five days a week, for three years, though they never recorded.⁷³ The author does not consider trumpeter Jordan McLean's trumpet playing on the unauthorized release with Coleman titled *New Vocabulary* relevant to the discussion. On a final note, Coleman also recorded one time with a suona, a kind of wooden oboe with a distinctive loud and high-pitched sound and could possibly be a musette. The piece was called "Buddha Blues" from the album Love Revolution, live music recorded in Italy in 1958.⁷⁴

⁷¹ "Lincoln Center Festival: Ornette Coleman's Chamber Music at Stanley H. Kaplan Penthouse." ZEALnyc. May 30, 2017. Accessed December 30, 2018. https://zealnyc.com/lincoln-center-festival-ornette-colemans-chamber-music-at-stanley-h-kaplan-penthouse/.

⁷² As told to the author by saxophonist Daniel Carter, who was present.

⁷³ As told to the author by Avallone. I met him at Coleman's Chelsea loft in 2005.

⁷⁴ "Ornette Coleman - Buddha Blues." YouTube. November 17, 2010. Accessed January 03, 2019. www.youtube.com/watch?v=BJePdnUbwc.

6. Violin

During the period Coleman developed his trumpet playing, He undertook teaching himself violin as well. His violin playing remains controversial, but not as much as the trumpet. Coleman's use of the instrument was even further from conventional use to the point that it was difficult to perceive in any standard way. Coleman almost always played the violin with an almost frenetic assault of sound. After he returned from his self-imposed exile and played the Village Vanguard in January 1965, now with the trumpet and violin in tow, Dan Morgenstern from *Downbeat* was present and offered his perspective.

Coleman attacks (there is no better word) the violin with intense concentration. His bowing technique is unorthodox. A rapid, circular arm motion that almost enables him to touch all four strings simultaneously. Coleman rarely plays one string at a time. He produces a cascade of sound, sometimes surprisingly pleasing to the ear, sometimes almost abrasive, but never with the scratchy uncertainty of incompetent violinists. He seems to have tuned the instrument in his own manner.⁷⁵

Coleman provided more insight on his decision to develop the trumpet and violin in the process of his construction of his most well-known symphonic work,

⁷⁵ Litweiler, A *Harmolodic Life*, 113.

Skies of America. Coleman was having trouble with classical musicians playing certain passages. He decided to get a trumpet and violin to see if he could play what he was hearing and would then play parts to show that they were possible. Coleman may have played some bassoon and guitar with this goal in mind but didn't develop on them enough to formerly use them in action. Coleman played bassoon at Avery Fisher Hall in 1978. He also played it at the Newport Jazz Festival in the mid-seventies as witnessed by saxophonist Tim Price. No known recordings exist.

Further perspective on the Coleman violin comes from John Litweiler, seeing that Coleman was not just bypassing jazz tradition at this point, but was also moving beyond Western musical traditions overall. Here Coleman could attempt true spontaneous playing, or Coleman as would say, music played without memory. Coleman elaborated that the concern musicians have for proper intonation can restrict you from emotions available to non-tempered instruments. Coleman told legendary saxophone repair man Robert Romeo that the reason he liked a Bundy stock mouthpiece was that it was both flat and sharp at the same time.

_

⁷⁶ Ibid, 164.

⁷⁷ As told to the author.

⁷⁸ Ibid, 118.

⁷⁹ As told to the author.

Critic Max Harrison went further in his perception of the Coleman violin:

He sounds less civilized, more complex, showers of notes well up with little conscious supervision. Like Charles Ives and John Cage, the music appears to mirror life's flux rather than subject it to a personal and arbitrary order. Coleman's violin may represent an indeterminacy as drastic as Cage.⁸⁰

Coleman is listed as playing violin on twenty-two recordings in the Tom Lord Jazz Discography. He used it less frequently than the trumpet, and never featured the instrument exclusively. Unlike the trumpet, there are no moments that stand out with melodies written with the instrument in mind. During 1965 the violin was played live in Europe in much the same way as the trumpet from the *Croydon concert, Who's Crazy? and Live at the Golden Circle* in Stockholm. 1966 brought the official first studio focus on the violin on a piece titled "Sound Gravitation" from *The Empty Foxhole*. In the liner notes Coleman wrote:

Sound Gravitation

Hear a sound-feel a sound

Speak a sound-play a sound,

All the gravitation of

Silence

⁸⁰ Ibid, 118.

After a spacious entry Coleman begins his assault. Within the first two minutes it's impossible not to hear his influence on most violin players engaged in improvisation in 2019. As with his trumpet playing, Coleman's violin gives him a new way to relate to the musicians he is playing with. For seven minutes he engages Denardo and Haden, almost like a game to see how close they can follow him. The improvisation ends abruptly with no reference to a melody or ending, Coleman having dipped his toe into the abyss. In 1968 Coleman featured the violin on "Bells and Chimes" for seven minutes with Denardo and Haden again, along with Dewey Redman on *Ornette at 12* on Impulse. Coleman increases tension by floating in and out of higher ranges, getting Redman to join him in an almost ecstatic but nervous expression. The rhythmic pace is relentless with little or no space except to continue to dare Redman to join him on the outside. Coleman ends the piece by repeating a note several times as a simple way to exit. In 1970, Coleman launched into a violin improvisation with an urgent sustain and zero use of space that sounds like a hoe-down in space over a seventies type groove following a street type choir singing his piece "Friends and Neighbors" from his loft at 131 Prince Street. After an eleven-year break Coleman returned with the violin in Prime Time in 1985 on "Compute" from the album *Opening at the caravan of Dreams*. The violin solo mid-way sounds like an electric model. Prime Time brings an entirely different environment with multiple grooves, but Coleman plays almost entirely the way he's always played it. The effect is startling, and the audience

certainly enjoyed it based on the response audible on the recording. The violin returned to another unique environment in 1985 on "Mob Job" from the album Song X with Pat Metheny. Over a relaxed, loping groove, Coleman again plays sawing textures with some unusual simultaneous plucking for a minute and thirty seconds. Metheny stayed out of the way for the most part. He uses the alto to play the opening and closing melody. In 1986 Coleman can be seen playing both violin and trumpet with Prime Time at the Live Under the Sky Festival. 81 In 1987 during the fore mentioned quartet reunion concert The 1987 Hamburg Concert on "The Sphinx" Coleman played an unlisted violin improvisation that Don Cherry floated over with a Harmon mute with a restrained spacious improvisation creating an interesting effect in contrast to the Coleman wall of sound. The moment sounds spontaneous. In 2005 on Coleman's Sound Grammar on "Song X" to close the live concert in Germany at six minutes in, Coleman summons the violin and plays over two bass players, Greg Cohen and Tony Falanga. With Denardo establishing an almost Prime Time type groove, the string players launch into a very aggressive group improvisation. Coleman seems to be soloing on top more than creating a group sound improvisation and the crowd loves it. Closing the concert this way, Coleman appears as a magician who could summon another instrument and play it

⁸¹ LightningTrident. "Ornette Coleman - Dancing In Your Head (live)." YouTube. January 25, 2008. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=72SVN9sO4P4.

at will. The Coleman violin made its last official appearance on a non-official recording live in Genoa Italy in 2010.

While Coleman never played straight melodies on the violin, he would write them for the instrument. His symphonic work *Skies of America* of course contains violin parts. His string quartet piece Prime Design/Time Design in 1985 opens with a Coleman melody for violin as clear, haunting, and heartfelt as anything he ever composed. Coleman collaborated with violinist Tom Chiu who assisted Coleman as a self-described musical director for work with strings for 12 years, though they never recorded together. 82 Coleman composed a violin fantasy specially for his friend Malcolm Goldstein titled "Trinity," recorded by Goldstein and Jennifer Koh. The piece contains three sections, the last titled swing, and lasts six and half minutes. The music sounds like the Coleman melody that many people always wished he would have always played on violin himself. The music is so well thought out that it could be considered a form of classical perfection, another singular unique moment in Coleman's career. The music is simply stunning when hearing Koh play the piece with genuine emotional honesty and vulnerability. In this way, Coleman may have planted the seeds for future deepening intimate levels of emotional expression in classical music that have seemed out of reach prior to his arrival. Coleman opened the door to abstract improvisation on the violin inspiring countless musicians on the instrument ever since.

⁸² As told to the author by Mr. Chiu.

At the author's request, violinist and composer Jason Kao Hwang, one of the leading improvisors worldwide on violin for many years now in 2019, provided his thoughts on Coleman's violin.

I am grateful to Ornette for his passionate, life affirming music. As a violinist, I'm inspired by his fantastic imagination and individualism that was rooted in culture and history. Unconcerned with the European classical tradition, he brought the sound of the violin into his personal voice. I think that because he was able to resonate such a cornucopia of overtones within a single note of his alto, he must have enjoyed how easily the violin offered him all the microtonal vibrations between those overtones. As a great blues musician, his horn would sing all the notes and all the notes between the notes. The violin, unimpeded by a Boehm keyboard, must have felt like a great gateway to his infinite harmolodic continuum. I met Ornette in his loft around 1982. He told me how much he enjoyed playing the violin. 83

⁸³ As written to the author in March 2019.

7. Piano

Coleman and his relationship with the piano have long been a reference point for understanding his relationship with music overall. Most scholars agree that when he dispatched with it on his second album as a leader for Contemporary Tomorrow Is The Question! he took a huge step forward towards his own music, free from the piano establishing chord progressions. On this album, Coleman is not yet playing entirely free harmonically. Red Mitchell and Percy Heath on bass (on different pieces) are playing distinct harmony. The absence of the piano creates more room to move, and on the improvisations, Coleman seems almost restless, knocking on the door to his next album *The Shape of Jazz to Come* on Atlantic where his concept to improvise harmony as well as melody came together. Coleman himself played piano and had a keyboard in his music room when I studied with him. He was recorded playing solo piano in 1971 at Jazz Stage Berlin.⁸⁴ In a 5:30 improvisation, Coleman sounds like he's improvising Thelonious Monk harmony, with occasional right-hand flurries that move from Cecil Taylor type improvising to textures like his violin work.

⁸⁴ Guy, Jazz Video. "Ornette Coleman Solo - Rare!" YouTube. November 28, 2015. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=czS2RlmsGY4&t=324s.

Research on Coleman and the piano begins with pianist Walter Norris (1931-2011) from Coleman's first album as a leader on Contemporary, *Something Else!!!!*The Music Of Ornette Coleman. At 28 years old, Coleman was still tied to chord changes and playing in environments where the idea of harmonic freedom was not something anyone had fully pursued or was entirely comfortable with. Norris explained what happened on this recording to Ted Gioia:

I read this book that suggested that I was forcing Ornette to play changes on this session. But in fact, this was what we had agreed on at the rehearsals, two or three times a week for six months. For example, we agreed on using "I Got Rhythm" changes-Ornette was used to playing over those changes, and he was able to be very free in that setting. I was listening to what he was doing and opened my comping in response. 85

Coleman confirmed in the liner notes to the album telling Nat Hentoff how he writes the melodic line first as several different chords can fit any melodic line. Coleman went further saying he preferred new changes on every chorus. On the recording the chords were some of his and some of Norris and Don Payne on bass. At issue is the practice of comping. How can a pianist provide a harmonic outline or blueprint so organically? Coleman always fought against role playing in his music, and the piano was the first instrument under assault to find a different relationship. Music based on group intuition removed the piano's expected role and function, forcing every pianist to play with Coleman to find a new

⁸⁵ Gioia, Ted. *West Coast Jazz: Modern Jazz in California, 1945-1960*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1998.

⁸⁶ Gioia, West Coast Jazz, 354.

relationship. They all seem to take a slightly different position. Norris, sitting directly on the line that Coleman was crossing, handles this challenge not only amicably but with a fair amount of strident, committed work. He sounds like he should be there as Coleman was beginning his eventual transition to working without a piano for the majority of his work.

Paul Bley (1932-2016) was next to play piano with Coleman on the *Live at the* Hillcrest recording in 1958. On this live recording Coleman is much more aggressive in his concept. Bley often suggests form and harmonic structure where it would or *should* be, though Coleman is not adhering to strict form. The feeling he and Charlie Haden create is playing as if changes are there, though they are not being played. The music is not an imitation, but like playing with the safety net removed. In Bley's solo on "Klactoveedsedstene" he constructs lines freely that work in the context, at times sounding like Coleman. Haden and Higgins drop out leaving Bley alone where he continues the feeling and seems to veer off into his own song. Bley does suffer during horn solos from poor audio. On Coleman's "The Blessing" both Coleman, Bley, and Haden sound like they're playing Coleman's original changes. After Bley lays out, Coleman ventures outside and Haden walks the line between the original source and organic intuition as only he could. During Cherry's solo, Bley and Haden seem to create new changes before going back to the original ones. On his solo, Bley goes his own way leaving Haden left to hold on to the form, who eventually lays out. Bley starts playing the melody in different

keys to bring everyone back. Bley was not only ready to work with Coleman, he was an ally, co collaborator if not conspirator.

Next in 1959, Coleman was captured at the Lenox School of jazz. On a tight arrangement of Coleman's "The Sphinx" pianist Steve Kuhn (1938-) maintains the opening thirty-two bar rhythm changes structure, but plays modally on the A sections, and plays alternate changes on the bridge. On his solo, Kuhn plays a static, repeated harmony on the bridge, and sounds like Bud Powell comping on the bridge, and does not construct lines. The bass player Larry Ridley plays a loose version of rhythm changes, choosing to follow Kuhn more than Coleman. Coleman next plays on a tune with chord changes that he did not write titled "Inn Tune." He takes a brief solo and plays the changes by pianist Ron Brown, yet still sounds like himself. In a straight-ahead big band arrangement of a piece titled "To Thee, O Asphodel" Coleman solos briefly with pianist David McKay. Coleman plays in harmony and context at the start of his solo, and as he starts to veer off the path, McKay takes what Coleman plays and follows him with it, ready to jump off the cliff with him, another ally who was using a technique Butch Morris taught as part of his live conduction process many years later. On "Blue Grass" Coleman takes four choruses dipping into his rhythm and blues sound, and McKay stays on form, but is a busy player more interested in playing with Coleman than for him.

Bill Evans (1929-80) played piano with Coleman on a Gunther Schuller arrangement of Thelonious Monk's "Criss Cross" in December 1960. After Coleman solos for one minute, Evans joins with dissonant out of time comping and even

adds in Monk's "Misterioso." Evans chords do not appear related to Coleman and do not have definitive tonal centers. They could both be playing off the melody simultaneously. Eric Dolphy follows on bass clarinet and he and Coleman briefly play together. Evans expands and tries to comp for Dolphy with irregular and extended dissonant tonal implication. In the end the piece sounds more like Schuller music than Monk or Coleman as they are consumed by the arrangement. Lamont Johnson (1941-1999) was next in 1967 in the record discussed previously with Jackie McLean *New and Old Gospel*. Next in 1972 Cedar Walton (1934-2013) appeared on Coleman's Columbia album Science Fiction. Walton comps on a crowded harmolodic blues titled "Good Girl Blues," a vocal sang by Webster Armstrong with Jim Hall on guitar and even an added woodwind quintet. Walton is more prominent on a ballad vocal featuring Armstrong that Coleman wrote titled "Is It Forever," with the same personal. The piece seems to be fully arranged with Coleman chord changes that Haden and Walton adhere too, but Coleman and Dewey Redman are very free on top of everything happening. Walton fully participates and sounds like himself but is hard to hear and is given little space. Throughout the 1980's no piano is heard in Coleman's world on recordings. Pianist and keyboardist David Bryant joined Prime Time during the 8o's and recorded on Tone Dialing in September 1995. Bryant was an avid student of Coleman and was featured to great effect on a piece titled "Kathelin Gray," fully discussed later in the thesis. In a solo opening feature on a keyboard with a piano sound, Bryant plays both the melody and chords in a way that demonstrate he was the first pianist to

fully embrace Coleman's concepts and then apply it the keyboard. With a prodigious technique, Bryant fearlessly finds a way to partially bring the piano back to its supporting original role, but with Coleman's relationship to harmony as a basis. To achieve this, Bryant spent countless hours playing with Coleman, though they did not get to record more often. Bryant continues to play this way today in 2019. I spoke to him about Coleman's relationship with harmony.

Ornette didn't like smooth voice leading. So not only did he not feel a need to practice smooth voice leading by way of theory rules or just by ear resolution, Ornette didn't *like* it, had an aversion to it, wasn't concerned with it, or more likely was interested in what was there if you didn't do it. Sometimes Ornette would simply suggest a triad with a melody note on top and would say he didn't want chord progressions, he wanted sounds.

He never spoke of scale degrees past a 7th and would juxtapose chords with the two guitar players in Prime Time playing different chords at the same time. He would continue his attack in rehearsals asking, "What's a passing tone?" and exclaiming that "There's no such thing." Ornette would say "If I want to go somewhere, I just do, I don't need a connection." He would also say "Chords are just notes. Any two triads have a common tone or are separated by a half step.

Bryant added that in his improvisation, Coleman practiced a fearless modulation based on trust and intuition. He was methodical in working out these musical relationships. There were 20-25 takes of "Tone Dialing" before Coleman was satisfied. He did have rules of what did work and what didn't. He didn't like weak phrases and believed certain intervals had more power. At times Coleman told Bryant that what he was playing was Harmolodic but was weak. To work out these issues, 12-14 hours a day of playing together as a group were required. As mentioned earlier in the chapter on Charlie Parker and Coleman, Coleman also told Bryant that he believed three compositions gave you everything you needed to

know about Bebop. Bryant said that Coleman spoke more about Bud Powell than Thelonious Monk. ⁸⁷ In regard to Monk, the author sat with Coleman and listened to a Thelonious Monk birthday radio broadcast on WKCR for several hours without speaking. Peter Katz told the author he saw Monk and Coleman attending a concert together in the early 70's. Finally, photographer Dee Kalea told the author that when she was young, Coleman was seeing her mother and at her house they had a piano. Monk arrived at 3am and woke them all so that he could play it!

Fast forward to 1996, the most significant year of Coleman's career regarding the piano. Coleman recorded two CDs of the same compositions sounding differently, *Three Women* and *Hidden Man* on Harmolodic/Verve. He used the same band, featuring Geri Allen on piano, with Charnett Moffett, the virtuosic son of the drummer Charles Moffett from his great trio, on bass, and Denardo on drums. Allen was given the rare distinction to play with Coleman in this context. She abandons any notion of the piano doing any role playing and plays without trying to dictate or establish any specific harmony. She is not comping in any sense but plays in the ensemble as an equal member as Coleman explained in the liner notes. Allen's playing doesn't sound intrusive or in conflict. Moffett plays with the group with more technique than any previous bass player and doesn't hold back, improvising constantly, but always within the context of

⁸⁷ The author interviewed Dave Bryant by phone in September 2017 following with a live performance in Cambridge, Massachusetts in November 2017

the piece. On "Home Grown" from *Three Woman* Allen enters what might have been a solo but becomes three simultaneous improvisations happening together without Coleman. On the same piece on *Hidden Man*, Moffett walks and Allen constructs lines freely. Coleman's concept of equality is maintained as his alto feels more like he's participating than soloing. Allen plays without Coleman for the opening of "Mob Job" and plays for several minutes with Moffett and Denardo playing very aggressively but very differently on both CDs, both times shattering the idea of a role-playing completely. Coleman's violin appears on "Sound Museum" and the trumpet appears on "Women of The Veil." Throughout, Allen and Coleman are never engaged in true solos. Coleman took what he was doing during the sixties and pushed it further, while adding the piano into an environment that it hadn't been prior. Coleman also guested on two fantastic duos with Allen on her own album Eyes...In The Back Of Your Head. They played two pieces, "The Eyes Have It," and "Vertical Flowing," continuing the exchange they shared during Coleman's records on a more musically intimate basis. In the duo environment, Allen establishes the melodic space while simultaneously improvising with and without Coleman at the same time.

In the same year Coleman recorded the live album *Colors* with German pianist Joachim Kuhn. He had planned a duo album with a pianist much earlier in 1964 spending three days playing with pianist Jack Wilson, planning to only play

trumpet and violin, but the album never came together. ⁸⁸ Kuhn, fourteen years younger than Coleman, met him in Paris in the early nineties. Coleman flew him from Ibiza to New York several times a year, renting a Steinway grand piano. They would play for a whole week, fourteen hours a day. Kuhn combined a system of his own called "diminished-augmented" with Harmolodics. Coleman was quoted as saying "He doesn't come from jazz; he comes from music." Kuhn was interviewed in 2019.

From 1995 to 2000 I was able to play 16 concerts with Ornette. Before each concert, he wrote ten new songs, which we had worked out and recorded in his Harmolodic studio in Harlem for a whole week. Since he wanted me to supply the, as he called it, cards (sounds) for his melodies, I was directly involved in the composition process. After the concert, these pieces were never played again. Now I am the only one who has all the recordings and the sheet music of the 170 pieces. ⁸⁹

For *Colors*, Coleman wrote twelve and recorded eight new compositions for the concert. Throughout the live concert recorded in Kuhn's hometown of Leipzig, Germany, Coleman and Kuhn often do not directly interact harmonically but are on separate melodic improvisational paths. Kuhn often takes on the role of playing somewhat extended solo sections, as the two-way independence seemed more difficult to sustain. On "Refills" Kuhn used his right and left hands somewhat

⁸⁸ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 113.

⁸⁹ ACT Music - In the Spirit of Jazz. "Joachim Kühn." ACT Music. Accessed February 18, 2019. https://www.actmusic.com/en/Artists/Joachim-Kuehn/Melodic-Ornette-Coleman/Melodic-Ornette-Coleman.

independent of each other, working on two not completely related ideas at the same time. The trumpet appears for some brief spacious call and response, then after total silence the alto erupts. On "Story Writing" the violin appears. Coleman plays melodically with the nature of the piece as written at times but stays within his usual violin sound methodology. On both instruments he responds differently as Kuhn suggests an entire alternate harmolodic universe. "Night Plans" is a slower and heartfelt ballad with more space than the rest of the music. Kuhn follows Coleman here more, instead of speaking at the same time, though that's not necessarily a bad thing in Coleman's world. *Colors* stands as a unique document. Kuhn's dense, more orchestral approach contrasts Geri Allen's work. He is also the only person to record a full duo album with Coleman other than Charlie Haden. In February of 2019, Kuhn will release a solo recording of the pieces he used to play with Coleman that were never recorded called *The Melodic Ornette Coleman*. 90

Beyond *Colors* are more piano players that worked with Coleman but were never recorded. Kenny Barron joined Coleman in 1997 at Lincoln Center, looking for a way into his world. Wallace Roney also played with Coleman in this group. ⁹¹ Don Friedman played with Coleman in back in Los Angeles, though the exact time is unclear. Friedman considered Coleman a natural or ear player not interested in

90 Ibid

⁹¹ Ginell, Richard S. "Ornette Coleman." Variety. July 15, 1997. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://variety.com/1997/music/reviews/ornette-coleman-1200450526/.

the intellectual world of chord progressions. 92 In the mid 50's He spent a week playing with Coleman at club in Vancouver, Canada on a gig that that Don Cherry originally acquired. When pressed by Dr. David Schroeder at NYU about Coleman, Friedman almost seemed agitated by the question. He claimed Walter Norris told him he had to rewrite Colemans music in order to play it and was especially harsh on Denardo's playing. Friedman said Coleman's music was written wrong so he would spend a whole day teaching Cherry the music by ear. A devout practitioner of playing straight Western harmony, he said Coleman wrote weird music and spoke in strange ways adding that "he did what he was capable of." ⁹³ In the liner notes to Soap Suds Coleman speaks of an all-night session where he played with both Cecil Taylor and Bud Powell switching off at the piano bench, and even mentions playing with Eubie Blake! Regarding Powell we have more evidence from a story that Coleman knocked on his door and said 'Good morning, Mr. Powell. My name is Ornette Coleman. I'm a saxophonist and all my music is based on the intervals and changes of the sevenths in your left hand."

⁹² ArtistsHouseMusic. "Jazz Pianist Don Friedman on Playing With Ornette Coleman and Chet Baker." YouTube. September 13, 2011. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CZPbv5_gVeo.

⁹³ Studies, NYU Steinhardt Jazz. "Conversations with Don Friedman." YouTube. September 23, 2016. Accessed January 13,2019 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NRgSqW-VxOA&feature=voutu.be.

⁹⁴ "For Bud Powell's 87th Birthday, A 2004 Bud Powell Homage in Jazziz." Today Is The Question: Ted Panken on Music, Politics and the Arts. June 16, 2014. Accessed January 03, 2019.

Charles Farrell is a boxing promoter and avant-garde piano player known for working with Evan Parker. He became friends with Coleman and attempted collaboration with him but was frustrated by the experience. He wrote openly about his experience online. Farrell takes the unusual perspective of drawing attention to his perception of Coleman's inadequacies, citing difficulty in connecting with him musically. He claims the music often didn't function and that he walked out of a session with bassist Henry Grimes based on the musical tension. Farrell couldn't comprehend Coleman's musical theories but was able to connect when he sought out a more musical human connection through the blues. In an odd experiment Coleman and Farrell attempted to play like a duet record that Farrell did with Evan Parker so that Coleman could explore his own boundaries. Farrell is an unusual person and their friendship displayed Coleman's humbleness and desire to explore his own practice even in his later years. 95

Ellis Marsalis played with Coleman in his formative days in his 1956, driving Ed Blackwell to New Orleans and spending two months with Coleman. 96 While

https://tedpanken.wordpress.com/2011/09/27/for-bud-powells-87th-birthday-a-2004-bud-powell-homage-in-jazziz/.

⁹⁵ Farrell, Charles, and Charles Farrell. "Playing With Ornette." The Concourse. June 16, 2015. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://theconcourse.deadspin.com/playing-with-ornette-1711507776.

⁹⁶ Mandel, Howard. "Reasons to Be Cheerful: Wynton Books Ornette." Jumper. April 28, 2011. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.artsjournal.com/jazzbeyondjazz/2009/03/reasons_to_be_cheerful_wynton.html.

trying to adapt to the concept, he recalled a moment where they came together.

Alvin Batiste was also trying his hand at playing piano with Coleman.

Both of us were playing piano. I started a cycle of seventh chords, just moving them up the scale, up the piano chromatically, and Ornette said, 'That's it! That's it! Keep playing that!' I didn't really understand what I was doing, but Ornette related to it. I had forsaken the rhythmic responsibilities of the group in favor of trying to play harmonically what Ornette was hearing and trying to hear myself what was going on.⁹⁷

Adam Holzman played probable overdubbed keyboard with Coleman on three tracks on a recording that was made in 2009 titled *New Vocabulary*. The recording was in legal dispute as the Coleman estate was never consulted about the legitimacy of its making. The musical exchange is inconsequential. Finally, I know three pianists who played with Coleman in his music room in Chelsea, Manhattan in the early 2000's. Dr. Lewis Porter, Casimir Liberski, and Joel Lacardi. Porter met with Coleman several times in his Chelsea loft and used his digital keyboard in his music room. Liberski spent a great deal of time studying and playing with Coleman during the last decade of his life, but like R.J. Avallone, was a serious student but did not record. Lacardi was present when the author

⁹⁷ Wilmer, Valerie. ""Alvin Batiste and Elvin Marsalis"." Coda, June 1980.

⁹⁸ Tsioulcas, Anastasia. "Update: Suit Over Ornette Coleman's 'New Vocabulary' Dismissed." NPR. May 27, 2015. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.npr.org/sections/therecord/2015/05/27/410065414/ornette-coleman-sues-over-new-vocabulary.

⁹⁹ As told to the author.

¹⁰⁰ As told to the author.

arrived at a Coleman study and practice session in 2005. He seemed to know all of Coleman's music by memory and played with incredible fluency. They clearly had an established musical history and relationship. Finally, pianist Yoichi Uzeki played with Coleman on a session led by bassist Jamaaladeen Tacuma, and said he felt he could play freely and not worry about whether his notes were right or wrong. Tot Bobby Zankel told the author that pianist Joanne Brakeen spent time with Coleman in Los Angeles, though it remains unclear what the nature was of their exchange. In all of Coleman's time spent with pianists, he confronted his relationship with harmony in the extreme, no different than a scientist trying to cure a disease. Coleman was in a sense, an experimental music scientist who never stopped looking for evidence of his own musical truth. In playing with pianists, he created an environment within his own musical world where he sought out direct confrontation between himself and the function of sound on multiple levels.

¹⁰¹ As told to the author.

8. Guitar

Coleman's first known collaboration with guitar in his own music first appeared on "Blues Misused" an unissued piece from his self-produced Town Hall Concert in 1962. Written for alto saxophone, guitar, piano, two basses, and drums we only have a review from Bill Coss in *Downbeat* to describe the music. Coss described it as "a sometimes historical, sometimes satirical, sometimes plain funny piece that exhibited the best and worst of rhythm and blues." The pianist, guitarist, and second bassist remain unknown. Coleman explained some of his perspective on guitar to John Litweiler.

Guitar has a very wide overtone. One guitar might sound like ten violins in terms of strength. You know, like in a symphony orchestra two trumpets are equivalent to twenty-four violins. So, when I found that out, well, I'm going to see if I can orchestrate this music that I'm playing and see if I can have a larger soundand it surely did. So, about 1975 I started orchestrating the same music that I was playing, that I've always written, for the kind of instrumentation that I was using. 103

Guitarist Jim Hall (1930-2013) was present on "Variants on a Theme of Thelonious Monk (Criss-Cross)" arranged by Gunther Schuller from *Jazz Abstractions* recorded in 1961. In the final minute of the arrangement Hall is

_

¹⁰² Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 104.

¹⁰³ Ibid. 157.

present for a group improvisation where Coleman and Eric Dolphy are present. He returned to record two pieces with Coleman on "Good Girl Blues" and "Is It Forever" in September 1972, released in 1982 on Columbia on *Broken Shadows*. His unique sound is present improvising throughout "Good Girl Blues," though he gets no official solo time. Hall plays a very short introduction and improvises throughout "Is It Forever," without an arranged solo as well, in a type of precursor to the role of the guitar later in Prime Time.

James Blood Ulmer (1940-) truly brought the guitar into Coleman's musical universe and made a tremendous impact. Ulmer moved to New York City in 1971 and met Coleman through Billy Higgins. Ulmer moved in with Coleman and spent several years studying with him before Coleman formed a quartet with bassist Norris Jones, known as Sirone, and Higgins on drums. Coleman held six months of rehearsals before the group went to Europe. Ulmer went deep into finding a place for the guitar in Harmolodics.

He never had a guitar before me. I was orchestrating his improvised parts as he played them. Instead of setting up sounds for him to play, I would play where he went to. It's different from following the patterns of chord changes. In Ornette's music, *the change comes after the phrase*. It allows the soloist to make whatever phrase he wants. I got a chance to solo. I think the guitar worked more with his music than anyone else. I had to learn instant modulation and orchestration, which are now important parts of my conception.¹⁰⁴

¹⁰⁴ Bourne, Michael. "Ornette's Interview." Downbeat, 22 Nov. 1973.

He loved that sound that didn't have no changes, didn't have no chords. I dreamt a tuning that didn't have chords and scales to it, and he said, "Oh my God, Blood you just came up with the real Harmolodic transposed notes." We patented the Harmolodic Scale, and the Harmolodic Clef. Harmolodic music isn't free at all. Coleman told me it had to have composition and improvisation. 105

Ulmer's harmolodic tuning for the guitar is a unique creation. In rehearsals, Coleman would call out random and unusual chords to see if Ulmer could keep up. Ulmer dreamed the harmolodic tuning as a solution by tuning all six strings to the same note. Coleman then called out chords that Ulmer could no longer access, so they just started playing and discovered Harmolodic guitar. Ulmer has gone as far as to explain and demonstrate harmolodic tuning on Vimeo. From the bottom up, the A tuning is E A E A A A. The E tuning is E B E E E E. 107

A bootleg of a complete live concert of the Coleman quartet with Ulmer, Sirone, and Higgins on Padua in Italy, 4 May 1974 exists on YouTube. 108 Though

¹⁰⁵ Ulmer, James. "To Be A Harmolodic Player, You Have To Be A Harmolodic Person" Celebrate Ornette! CD Box Set. June 2016.

¹⁰⁶ Himes, Geoffrey. "James "Blood" Ulmer and Vernon Reid: Harmolodic Blues." JazzTimes. Accessed January 28, 2019. https://jazztimes.com/features/james-blood-ulmer-and-vernon-reid-harmolodic-blues/.

¹⁰⁷ "The Unwritten Theory: Guitar Harmolodic." Vimeo. January 27, 2019. Accessed January 28, 2019. https://vimeo.com/94781026.

¹⁰⁸ Zechberger, Paul. "Ornette Coleman in Concert Feat. James 'Blood' Ulmer." *YouTube*, YouTube, 23 Apr. 2014, www.youtube.com/watch?v=x54nuTXSZEc. Accessed 28 Jan. 2019.

the sound quality is poor, Sirone and Ulmer are audible. Ulmer's approach is startling in its effectiveness as he orchestrates Coleman in a way that only he could achieve and has never been duplicated. At 56 minutes in, Ulmer plays a blues connotated harmolodic solo that lifts the entire group. In 1978 Ulmer was in Germany with Prime Time, in a transitionary band with Bern Nix on guitar. Ulmer and Nix play a stunning harmolodic guitar duet At 6:22 on a video of this group on YouTube. In December of 1978 Coleman played the rare role of a sideman in a quartet album led by Ulmer and released on Artists House called *Tales of Captain* Black with Jamaaladeen Tacuma on bass and Denardo on drums. Ornette also produced the record. In a Prime Time type of quartet with simultaneous occurring improvisations, Ulmer becomes the central voice with Coleman recorded on one channel much the way he would have placed one of his two guitars. Coleman's voice and sound are stronger than this position usually calls for. Ulmer is the leader, taking solos with Coleman laying out. Denardo is extremely aggressive, borderline soloing throughout, pushing Tacuma into overdrive. The entire album has a hyper blues laced urgency. Ulmer did not join Prime Time.

Ulmer spoke about some of the more human aspects of having a musical relationship with Coleman.

Well, when you're working with someone close, like the way me and Coleman was, the thought is never what you're doing for each other. The thought is what you're doing for what you're trying to do. Coleman always worked on something specifically and tried to take it to the highest level there is. So, when you get through doing that, you ain't got time to be thinking about influencing somebody. You're trying to finish that

piece of work. The coolest thing he told me (was) that I was a natural harmolodic player. He was one of the persons who could make you feel like what you were doing was so important. That's another thing that I got from Coleman- it's like someone who makes you feel that what you do is good. That's what he done. I think the people that Coleman has been playing with have been changing, not the music. Coleman plays the same music, the same way. The only reason that he sounds different now is because of the people he plays with. ¹⁰⁹

Bern Nix (1947-2016) was right out of the Berklee College of music when his father arranged an audition with Coleman in 1975. He joined the original Prime Time with guitarist Charles Ellerbee. Nix had studied traditional jazz guitar, but fully embraced Harmolodics, moving in with Coleman to focus on the process. He was in Prime Time for twelve years from 1975-1987. He recorded with Coleman eight times, often doubling the melody and playing what he saw as improvised counterpoint. Nix still used parts of traditional harmony though he always looked for new ways to open it up. His sound had no pedals or distortion, as he became the bridge between jazz guitar from Charlie Christian to Harmolodics. On *Body Meta*, the second Prime Time album, Nix plays an opening introduction and solo that define what Coleman called the clearest tone of a guitarist for playing Harmolodics, though Nix didn't completely agree. ¹¹⁰ In an interview at *All About Jazz*, Nix offered rare insight into Harmolodics from the front line with Coleman.

¹⁰⁹ "JAMES BLOOD ULMER." Miles Davis- The Electric Years- Perfect Sound Forever. Accessed January 28, 2019. https://www.furious.com/perfect/bloodulmer.html.

¹¹⁰ As told to the author.

It's a different approach to playing. I listened to Ulmer to see what was going on with Harmolodics and Coleman's sound. I needed to listen to him play. Harmolodics is like playing a standard jazz guitar, but only more contemporary, it's a fresh approach to playing jazz guitar, just a way of looking at music. It's not a system. It's a way of handling the difficulty of dealing with melody, rhythm and harmony by way of utilizing melodic variables. It's exploratory. The harmony doesn't dictate the direction, the melody does. I see it like counterpoint. I said to Ornette that it seemed like counterpoint. He said, 'Well, it's not exactly counterpoint, it's something else.' You shouldn't have to think in terms of the traditional role on your instrument. The guitarist can be thinking like a drummer, or a bassist. You can change at any given minute. It's like an organic kind of music-making. The whole idea is to keep it changing, trying to avoid making it sound too formulaic or predictable. Ornette gave us all these notebooks. We had to write out ideas in the notebooks. I've had these things for years and use them for my own composition.

I listened to some of that music in North Africa when Ornette went there. Sometimes the way the drummers play, something about Prime Time reminds me of the playing in Joujouka, Morocco. I hear that similarity. Ornette spent some time in North Africa hanging out with these guys and playing the music. It's almost like what we were doing is kind of like what they do. There are similarities between how they played and how Prime Time played. It's like everyone is playing a separate melody or a unison but everyone's got... everyone's playing, like, an independent lead.¹¹¹

To me, it's like Zen. There are no exact answers. It's all enigmatic and contradictory. Ornette speaks in puzzles and riddles; you just have to figure it out. It's a metaphysical inquiry into the nature of music. But the whole idea is you can start from whatever your favorite type of music is, and mine is jazz guitar.¹¹²

After Nix left Coleman, he pursued his own music and continued to work with Coleman's ex-wife Jayne Cortez recording a total of seven times. He found it increasingly hard to find work though never gave up, recording a trio record, a solo, and finally forming a dedicated quartet with the author, bassist Francois Grillot, and drummer

¹¹¹ AAJ. "Bern Nix: A History In Harmolodics." *All About Jazz*, 24 Aug. 2009, www.allaboutjazz.com/bern-nix-a-history-in-harmolodics-bern-nix-by-aaj-staff.php?pg=4. Accessed 10 Jan. 2019.

¹¹² Kanzler, George. "Guitarist Enjoys Untying Chords." *The Star-Ledger*, 5 Sept. 1997, pp. 26–26.

Reggie Sylvester in 2010. This group rehearsed weekly and performed more than fifty times including a concert only two days before Nix's death. The author spent many hours on the phone with Nix and was the person who discovered he had died. The Bern Nix quartet recorded one album titled *Negative Capability*. Nix would occasionally play music written by Coleman such as "European Echoes." His written work was influenced by Coleman but the major difference, and what made Nix so unique, is that he applied Harmolodics to a straight-ahead jazz guitar context in a type of coinciding reversal and evolution. Nix would find chords that were derived from a combination of Harmolodics and traditional harmony that had never been heard before and haven't been heard since. When speaking of Harmolodics, Nix would often joke that he was a member of a twelve-step program called Harmolodics anonymous, but that unfortunately, there was no known cure once one had fully engaged the process. Denardo Coleman considered Nix to be a brother, and Nix was booked to play a Prime Time reunion at Lincoln Center scheduled just weeks after his death. The author organized a memorial.¹¹³

Charles Ellerbee joined Coleman with Nix but was coming from a different world. He and Nix formed a partnership of very different perspectives. Of Ellerbee, Nix stated:

¹¹³ O'Haire, Robert. "BERN NIX Memorial 7-8-17 Korean Cultural Center, NYC." YouTube. July 11, 2017. Accessed January 30, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FD7b8pjaUoM&t=66s.

Charlie Ellerbee was more of a rock player. He used a lot of things rock guitarists use, like the effects and the pedals. He was listening more to rock than he was to jazz. One thing he told me once he said that the only jazz he's ever been digging was McCoy Tyner because the music McCoy Tyner played reminded him of acid rock! 114

Observing a Prime Time rehearsal, writer Howard Mandel noted that Coleman was focused on a point of theory with Ellerbee. Bern Nix was attentive while Ellerbee, who was at that moment missing a job with the disco band Tramps at a record company promo party on a boat in the East River, looked bored. Ellerbee recorded eight times with Coleman, and with Nix on every occasion. Robert Palmer reviewed a Prime-Time performance in 1982.

The band includes two guitarists, Charles Ellerbee and Bern Nix, neither of whom plays conventional lead or rhythm guitar. Mr. Ellerbee has been in commercial funk bands and is good at terse scratch-rhythms, but on several tunes from the new album - "Jump Street," "Love Words" - he thickens the texture of the music with boiling, distorted-sounding improvisations that bring Jimi Hendrix to mind. Mr. Nix's guitar is often voiced with Mr. Coleman's alto saxophone for harmony or unison passages; in the improvisations, which are dominated by the saxophone, his principal function seems to be melodic counterpoint. 116

¹¹⁴ AAJ. "Bern Nix: A History In Harmolodics." *All About Jazz*, 24 Aug. 2009, www.allaboutjazz.com/bern-nix-a-history-in-harmolodics-bern-nix-by-aaj-staff.php?pg=4. Accessed 10 Jan. 2019.

¹¹⁵ Mandel, Howard. *Miles, Ornette, Cecil: Jazz beyond Jazz*. London: Routledge, 2015.

¹¹⁶ Palmer, Robert. "ORNETTE COLEMAN'S PROPHETIC JAZZ." The New York Times. March 14, 1982. Accessed January 30, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/1982/03/14/arts/ornette-coleman-s-prophetic-jazz.html.

Ellerbee stayed in the Prime-Time family and in 2017 in a reunion concert, two years after Coleman's death, he said it felt like they hadn't missed a day, stating that the occasion was not "oldies but goodies" 117

Pat Metheny (1954-) recorded one album with Coleman, *Song X* in 1985 on Geffen Records. He claims the unique position of a guitarist who shared an equal amount of solo space with Coleman much like Don Cherry had on trumpet. Metheny went even further as a contributor and is co-listed in the album credits on four of the eight pieces as composer. Charlie Haden had pushed Coleman for years to collaborate with Metheny who was well-established at the time. He brought Coleman to the Vanguard to hear a trio he was in with Metheny, introduced them, and Coleman and Metheny found they had common ground. Metheny was not new to Harmolodics, having recorded and toured with Haden and Dewey Redman, along with Jack DeJohnette on drums on a project titled 80/81 on ECM records during 1980-81. In typical Coleman fashion, Metheny and Coleman spent three weeks playing and rehearsing six to twelve hours a day in

¹¹⁷ "'Free Jazz' Visionary Ornette Coleman Is Ready for Prime Time." NBCNews.com. Accessed January 30, 2019. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/nbcblk/ornette-coleman-jazz-visionary-ready-prime-time-n779871.

¹¹⁸ Haden, Charlie, and Josef Woodard. *Conversations with Charlie Haden*. Silman-James Press, 2016, 79.

¹¹⁹ Pareles, Jon. "JAZZ'S ODD COUPLE JOIN FORCES TO MAKE SPLENDID MELODY." The New York Times. April 20, 1986. Accessed February 04, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/1986/04/20/arts/jazz-s-odd-couple-join-forces-to-make-splendid-melody.html.

preparation, attempting to invent a new vocabulary. ¹²⁰ After recording the band on *Song X*, Coleman, Metheny, Haden, DeJohnette, and Denardo Coleman played at the Caravan of Dreams on New Year's Eve under the name Endangered Species, Coleman wearing a purple cowboy hat and a blue suit. A tour commenced in the Spring of 1986 consisting of varying combinations of the group with Denardo playing very strongly as a full member of the ensemble. ¹²¹ Looking closely at the album, Metheny, while taking suggestions from Coleman, added additional chords that he felt we're substantial enough that he took credit, notably on "Kathelin Gray." In a fakebook he published of his own music, on "Kathelin Gray" Metheny added the notation "Chords by Pat Metheny." A full analysis of this piece is included in the thesis. In the liner notes to a 2005 twentieth anniversary release of the album Metheny wrote:

This release includes two pieces where I contributed some more conventional blowing changes for us to play on the improvised sections to go with Ornette's great melodies, how rare and beautiful to hear Ornette play on structures like that.

As it will be examined, Coleman may have re-recorded Kathelin Gray in 1995 with his own chord structure to reestablish his authorship of this tender ballad-like piece.

Regardless of this, Metheny was inspired by being able to collaborate with Coleman. In conversation with Haden and Josef Woodward he said:

To me, the most inspiring thing about Ornette is that he's somebody who's dedicated his whole musical life to defining his own language and making up his own

¹²⁰ "Lyle Mays / Pat Metheny - Interviews With Lyle Mays And Pat Metheny." Discogs. January 01, 1986. Accessed February 04, 2019. https://www.discogs.com/Lyle-Mays-Pat-Metheny-Interviews-With-Lyle-Mays-And-Pat-Metheny/release/1545687.

¹²¹ Litweiler, A *Harmolodic Life*, 190.

way of hearing. He's the only musician I can think of who has a complete musical universe at his fingertips at all times. He made up his own language, his own everything. 122

Song X opens with Haden playing a country-swing vibe that only he could create. The melody of "Police People" is then played in unison with Coleman and Metheny who has a processor that makes his sound voice like, and similar to Coleman. DeJohnette and Denardo on drums both fill up lots of space without getting in each other's way, while Haden grounds the entire ensemble. Metheny takes the first solo instantly demonstrating his ability to construct ideas and swing in his own unique way in a harmolodic environment. Coleman switches up "Song X" from playing heads with solos to full on full ensemble improvisation. Denardo's electronic drum processing adds an additional unique sound. The music on the record is more swing based than the funkiness happening in Prime Time. Nix told the author he was taken aback by Coleman's use of Metheny since he played in a similar manner and had been with Coleman for ten years when *Song* X was made. To make matters worse, Nix found out about the recording not from Coleman, but from the press. Reviews were positive, mostly focusing on Metheny's ability to adapt. The guitar would never again receive such a prominent role in role in Coleman's world. James Blood Ulmer had given Coleman a harmolodic environment but did not solo extensively. Metheny, by way of star power, and having a genuine gift for

¹²² Haden, Charlie, and Josef Woodard. *Conversations with Charlie Haden*. Silman-James Press, 2016.

improvising in a communicable way with large audiences, stands unique in Coleman's relationship with the guitar, participating more as an equal soloist.

In the fall of 1986 guitarist Chris Rosenberg found a message on his answering machine asking him if he would be interested in auditioning for Prime Time. At the audition in Harlem, only Coleman was present. When asked to play anything he wished, Rosenberg, who studied classical guitar played a movement from the J. S. Bach cello suite and Coleman improvised over it. This was a moment Coleman recreated with Prime Time on his 1995 recording *Tone Dialing* titled "Bach Prelude." After beating out a few remaining guitarists, Rosenberg joined Prime Time with his friend Kenny Wessel, whom he had recommended to Coleman. Rosenberg spoke about rehearsals for *Tone Dialing* with Michael Stephens.

Ornette had by this time built his studio on 125th street over the Metro Train Station, on the sixth floor of the building. For that recording, it took place over a fairly long period of time, and the recording sessions themselves were really long, like fifteen hours. There may have been fifteen versions of each song recorded. There were enough versions of each track to be their own albums. Early on the rehearsals were so long that you really had to put away a chunk of your life to make that commitment. A rehearsal was kind of a laboratory for the kind of music he wanted to make.¹²³

Kenny Wessel played guitar with Coleman from 1988-2000. Wessel and tabla player Badal Roy joined Coleman on the same day and have been close collaborators ever since. Wessel and Roy opened up a Prime Time concert

¹²³ Stephans, Michael. *Experiencing Ornette Coleman*. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 2017, 88-89.

available on YouTube in 1991 in Lugano playing duo.¹²⁴ Wessel was touring with Arthur Prysock when he got the call to audition after the recommendation of his friend Chris Rosenburg. As Wessel explains in the interview later in the thesis, he was permanently changed from the experience in what he feels was a positive way. Wessel is very active in 2019 as both a player and educator in New York City.

¹²⁴ Crownpropeller. "Ornette Coleman Prime Time Lugano 1991 (1/3)." *YouTube*, YouTube, 11 June 2015, www.youtube.com/watch?v=dHYFIXftopw. Accessed 10 Feb. 2019.

9. Bass

The bass in Coleman's world was vital and was almost always present throughout Coleman's entire career and discography. Jimmy Blanton and Charles Mingus had taken steps to free the bass from the role of harmonic and rhythmic support, but as early as 1958 Coleman and Charlie Haden were engaged in a new level of freedom for the instrument in jazz, in a more participatory and improvisational role. At least twenty different bass players crossed paths with Coleman. Charlie Haden and David Izenzon recorded with him more than more than any others, and from 1967-69 both of them were with him. Like the piano, every musician playing bass with Coleman looked for their own way inside, and almost every one that played with Coleman developed a personal approach.

In 1958's *Live At The Hillcrest*, Charlie Haden (1937-2014) had already begun to digest Coleman's approach and was supporting Coleman's step outside of form and traditional chord progressions with Paul Bley also adapting. Haden was present on the famous Coleman album in 1959, *The Shape of Jazz to Come* where Coleman's concept had taken shape into a new form of music. From the very first notes of Haden's bass on Coleman's standard "Lonely Woman" it's not a bass being heard, it's Haden playing his bass. Who he is and what he's playing are more relevant than the responsibility of the bass. Haden still took on the responsibility

of the harmonic gap, and even saw himself as taking over the role of the piano.

Haden explained his relationship to Josef Woodward.

I actually am glad, in a way, that we didn't have a pianist, because it gave me an opportunity to take that role, and I learned a lot from it. I had to play the chords for everyone. I thought that way for myself too, because I'm really a harmony person. I would make sure to lay them down for everyone. I need to hear the harmony man, If I can't hear the harmony, it's just not the same.¹²⁵

Haden didn't just lay down the harmony however, he added the element of swing, rhythmic interaction, and would respond to who was playing in distinct personal ways. A great example is how Haden handles the transition between Coleman and Cherry solos on "Congeniality" from *The Shape Of Jazz to Come*. Haden supports Cherry in a very different way as Cherry is more inclined to stay in certain harmonic areas and modulate less. At the core of Haden's craft is his ability to listen on an extremely deep level and then play in a way that compliments the soloist so effectively, almost instantly in a continual state of open renewal. In 2011 Haden reflected on his formative years with Coleman to Don Heckman.

There's a record we made with Paul Bley called *The Fabulous Paul Bley Quintet at the Hillcrest*. And we're playing tunes like "Klactoveedsedstene," and all those songs with chord changes. And Ornette is playing all the changes. You can hear them. And, man, he used to play chord changes with us all the time. We did it all by ear. At first when we were playing and improvising, we kind of followed the pattern of the song, sometimes. Then, when we got to New York, Ornette wasn't playing on the song patterns, like the bridge and the interlude and stuff like that. He would just play. And that's when I started just following him and playing the

_

¹²⁵ Haden, Woodard. Conversations with Charlie Haden, 19.

chord changes that he was playing on-the-spot new chord structures made up according to how he felt at any given moment. And Cherry was kind of playing like that, too, so Billy and I kind of followed it. The truth is that when we had first met, we were kind of all hearing that way already. We just happened to be at the right place at the right time, all together, to make this thing happen. And it just kept getting better and better.¹²⁶

The contradiction remains in that Coleman moved further and further away playing changes in a conventional way that can be followed. Chords are easier to follow in Coleman's compositions. In improvisations he might play three chords in one bar that don't voice-lead anywhere. Haden's gift was being able to follow Coleman that closely and play in way that made it work. He was the anchor, the tether, and that line that astronauts hold onto when they spacewalk so that they don't drift off into outer space. The primary source Haden and Izenzon used was the melody. As Stephen Rush theorized, the bass line was a result of the melody, and the melody was source code for all musical events, harmonic or contrapuntal. Many composition teachers believe the harmony should be written first when composing. Coleman wrote the melody first. He practiced motivic generation with no regard to tonal hierarchy, and Haden was able to join him on the never-ending adventure.¹²⁷

¹²⁶ Heckman, Don. "Charlie Haden: Everything Man." JazzTimes. Accessed January 14, 2019.

https://jazztimes.com/features/charlie-haden-everything-man/.

¹²⁷ Rush, Stephen. *Free Jazz, Harmolodics, and Ornette Coleman*. New York, NY: Routledge, 2017.

Haden was with Coleman on the next three classic albums on Atlantic before being derailed by a heroin addiction. He returned in 1966 to join Coleman on Blue Note with young Denardo, after a six-year hiatus. Coleman than brought Haden into his trio with Izenzon and Moffett through 1967, with Blackwell replacing Moffett in 1968. Haden recorded with Coleman seven more times before a five-year break in 1971. In 1977 they collaborated as a duo to incredible effect as previously discussed on Soap Suds and on "The Golden Number" in the most crystal-clear demonstration of their musical rapport. Eight years later Haden joined Coleman with Pat Metheny to great effect on *Song X*. See the chapter on "Kathelin Gray" for more analysis. The opening of "Police People" from the album features Haden's unique country blues rhythmic feel and sound. Haden was on a reunion of *The Shape Of Jazz To Come* guartet on the album *In All Languages* in 1987 and was on two more live recordings with the same group again in 1987, and then recorded with Coleman for the last time in 1990. Why Haden didn't record with Coleman during the last fifteen years of Coleman's life remains unclear, perhaps they had said everything that needed to be said by this point. Haden owns a unique place in the history of the bass as a master of the instrument and as a key member of Coleman's inner circle. The musical relationship they shared, based on intuition and trust, remains the benchmark example of Harmolodics, and of the

role the bass plays within. They still played together, as evidenced on YouTube at the North Sea Jazz Festival in 2010 on "Turnaround." ¹²⁸

Before we reach David Izenzon it's important to examine the bass players that preceded him. Don Payne (1933-2017) played with Coleman in Los Angeles and was a supporter and advocate. Payne got Downbeat to listen to a test pressing of Something Else!!!! He also got the Modern Jazz Quartet to listen to Coleman, two important connections. On his one early recording with Coleman, Payne played straight changes, and participated in a lot of preparation and rehearsal for the date. On his solo on "The Blessing" the changes are very clear. Red Mitchell (1927-1992) was an established and respected bop bassist in Los Angeles. Mitchell was a reference to Lester Koenig at Contemporary to consider Coleman as a composer. He was bassist on three pieces on Coleman's second Contemporary album Tomorrow Is The Question! He attempted to adapt to Coleman notably on "Lorraine" though he sounds tentative trying to hold on to the melody and changes during improvisations. On Coleman's classic blues "Turnaround" Mitchell is the first soloist. In a solo lasting until 3:43 he effectively uses space though continues playing straight time, opening considerably midway through the solo. On "Endless" Mitchell plays it straight though with a slightly elastic, rubbery feel.

¹²⁸ Videoservices, Gilaworks Internet- &. "Ornette Coleman Quartet - North Sea Jazz 2010 (part 4-5)." YouTube. July 05, 2011. Accessed January 18, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zSVMGoY-Dvs.

Coleman and Cherry felt he wasn't working, and they drove to San Francisco to persuade Percy Heath (1923-2005) to finish the date. The group does sound more relaxed with Heath on the final six tracks. Heath is more agreeable to the concept, less fearful, and trusted Coleman and Cherry more than the structure. Coleman is breaking free on "Mind and Time." Cherry was also recording with a Pakistani pocket trumpet for the first time. Heath was thirty-six to Coleman's twenty-nine and established with the Modern Jazz Quartet. His support was both musical and personal.¹²⁹

Scott LaFaro (1936-1961) replaced Haden in Coleman's working quartet on Haden's recommendation in January 1961 while Haden left to confront his addiction. LaFaro recorded with Coleman three times before his tragic death in July of the same year in a car accident at only twenty-five years old. LaFaro had also been Haden's roommate in Los Angeles. On December 20th, 1960, Lafaro was present with both his boss Bill Evans and Coleman under the baton of Gunther Schuller recording "Variants on a theme by Thelonious Monk." The very next day LaFaro and Haden played together on Coleman's seminal double quartet *Free Jazz* on December 21st of December of 1960, each finding their own space and having solo features while the other bassist provided support along with drummers Billy Higgins and Ed Blackwell. The bass solos are separated by a brief ensemble

¹²⁹ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 65-66.

moment. LaFaro is somewhat of a mythical figure from playing a central role in Bill Evans trio starting in 1959 and his short tenure with Coleman. Coleman said, "He felt superior not only to Negroes, but to whites as well." LaFaro would complain to Haden that he would never be good enough. 130 He was a brilliant technician who played more ornamental than integral, freeing Coleman to work more with Ed Blackwell on drums to great effect on the album *Ornette*! recorded in January 1961. LaFaro has an incredible solo ending "WRU" where he sounds more influenced by Coleman's horn playing than any other bassist. The solo sounds reactionary to the environment, a withheld amount of tension being released. LaFaro had the rare distinction of recording a piece named for him by Coleman titled "The Alchemy of Scott LaFaro," that was released in 1970 by Atlantic from unreleased sessions without Coleman's input or authorization on an album they titled *The Art Of The Improvisors.* The piece is extremely fast, and Coleman is on fire. Ironically LaFaro does not solo, though he maintains a burning 4/4 improvised line throughout. On "C & D" LaFaro opens with an arco solo displaying a classical sensibility, though not the unabashed virtuosity that would later arrive from Izenzon. His solo contains a vocal and exploratory nature and seems to short. He died in July of 1961, though Coleman had replaced him by March with Jimmy Garrison to record Ornette on Tenor.

¹³⁰ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 97.

Jimmy Garrison (1934-1976), recorded three albums with Coleman, before and after his trio with Izenzon and Moffett. He also appears on one unreleased piece from *Ornette on Tenor* that was released on *The Art of the Improvisors* titled "Harlem's Manhattan." Garrison's sound and musical personality that people associate from his work with John Coltrane were already present on *Ornette on Tenor*. He worked with drummer Ed Blackwell's aggressive interaction without any issues and created a space of support, that also contained great group interaction. He did, however, have a personal struggle with Coleman's ideas.

With Ornette I learned how to resolve notes instead of chords. Ornette writes phrases the way he feels them; If it comes out 3 and a half bars then that's it. His playing sometimes leaves you hanging the same way, he leaves you wanting more, leaves you thinking 'Is there more to come?' But it just means it's the end of the phrase and he's moved on.... He said, 'Well, James, just play, and listen, of course, and if there's anything you want to do, just ask. 'You can only go so far in his music without knowing about it, and one night I just exploded.¹³¹

Garrison did just that at the Five Spot, stopping the band and telling them they were all crazy in front of a packed house. Garrison left to join John Coltrane with Coleman's blessing and respect of his musical beliefs ¹³² Garrison returned to record twice with Coleman for Blue Note in April and May of 1968 after Coltrane's tragic passing in July of 1967. He was joined by his partner with Coltrane, Elvin Jones on drums, and tenor saxophonist Dewey Redman from Fort Worth. These

¹³¹ Heckman, Don. "Jimmy Garrison." *Downbeat*, March 9, 1967.

¹³² Spellman, Four Lives in the Bebop Business, 145.

two records, New York is Now, and Love Call are extraordinary in witnessing the power of drummer Elvin Jones, to be discussed in the following chapter. Critics were at a loss in reviewing these albums feeling Garrison was somehow out of place. Garrison simply plays himself on these sessions picking up where he left off and as he continued to find his own unique way to relate to the music. Group interaction was at a high level. Garrison and Jones switch up everything as much as Izenzon and Moffett did in their own way, building on their shared experience with Coltrane. Criticism of Garrison not following Coleman calls into question Coleman's own penchant to free the bass from role-playing. Garrison chose to follow Coleman more rhythmically than harmonically, perhaps still having the issue of not knowing exactly what harmony Coleman was playing. When he does walk in time it does feel almost like a release. When Garrison begins playing during Coleman improvisations in his own style, such as on "Airborne" from Love Call, or on "The Garden of Souls" from New York is Now! he is not only effective, but his honesty and strength of musical personality are tenets from the highest levels of the book of Harmolodics.

David Izenzon (1932-1979) was one of Coleman's greatest bass players, recording fourteen albums with him, and a member of the trio that some musicians today consider Coleman's greatest band. Izenzon played with the NBC orchestra and had classical technique and was a master of the bow. In a 1966 documentary from the filming of the soundtrack to *Who's Crazy*? Izenzon said he refused to sign a contract with NBC because that would that would in effect turn

him into a slave, as conductors force allegiance to them before the music. With Coleman, the music came first. Inside the trio. Izenzon spoke of the audience being first, but that they did have a devilish thing happening inside the group to one up each other through improvisation. Izenzon also spoke of staying inside the group for love of Coleman and Moffett though he had dreams of disappearing from the scene entirely. The documentary also has a clip of Coleman playing piano almost like Cecil Taylor in order to tune his violin. 133 Through 1965 Izenzon played on important Coleman albums. Live at Town Hall, The Croydon concert, The Chappagua Suite, and Who's Crazy? In 1965 Coleman's The Ornette Coleman Trio at the Golden Circle in Stockholm contained examples of some of Izenzon's best work with Coleman. Thom Jurek noted that no matter Coleman went, Izenzon was there at exactly the same time with an uncanny sense of counterpoint, and he often changed the harmonic mode by force, with either stunning arco or pizzicato work. 134 Izenzon plays an incredible arco solo on Coleman's ballad "Dawn" containing deep emotional expression as he also conveyed at Town Hall on Coleman's "Sadness." Coleman next had both Izenzon and Haden together on five live recordings through 1968. In February of 1968 two sets of Coleman with them

_

¹³³ NoteVerticali, Redazione. "Ornette Coleman Trio Performing The Soundtrack 1966 DVD Quality." YouTube. June 16, 2015. Accessed January 14, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GzoboHzKOGU.

¹³⁴ Jurek, Thom. "At the "Golden Circle" Stockholm, Vol. 1 - Ornette Coleman Trio, Ornette Coleman | Songs, Reviews, Credits." AllMusic. Accessed January 14, 2019. https://www.allmusic.com/album/at-the-golden-circle-stockholm-vol-1-mwoooo216128.

and Ed Blackwell were recorded in Italy that are available on a CD release titled *Ornette Coleman Quartet The Love Revolution*. On the first CD on "Lonely Woman," it's clear that Haden is playing pizzicato, and Izenzon arco, their two specialties in collaboration. This effect works especially well on Coleman's ballad that he performs on trumpet titled "Forgotten Children" where Izenzon doubles the melody on arco while Haden strums. Haden then continues in support of an Izenzon arco solo.

The next bassist to work with Coleman was Norris "Sirone" Jones (1940-2009). YouTube has one clip of this incredible band with Billy Higgins and James "Blood" Ulmer playing incredible Harmolodic guitar on Coleman's piece "Theme From A Symphony". Sirone's strong sound and personality are not easily heard, but his presence in the group is felt. Close-ups show both his eyes rolling to the back of his head in total surrender to the music. Sirone found the perfect balance of suggested role-playing by improvising with his own sound and style in this somewhat lost Coleman band.¹³⁵

Coleman heard of a nineteen-year-old electric bassist from Philadelphia named Rudy McDaniel from Miles Davis Guitarist Reggie Lucas and Davis percussionist James Mtume. In 1975 he invited him to come rehearse the early concept for Coleman's famous electric band Prime Time. After a month of

¹³⁵ P3ximus. "Ornette Coleman - Rome, Music Inn 1975." *YouTube*, YouTube, 24 Nov. 2013, www.youtube.com/watch?v=FlY8puv3-tw.

rehearsing, McDaniel, now named Jamaaladeen Tacuma went to France with Coleman and ended up rehearsing for four months. Tacuma recorded on both Dancing In Your Head and Body Meta in 1975. As soon as "Theme From A Symphony" begins on "Dancing In Your Head" Tacuma, on electric bass, plays high uneven lines that converse with Coleman providing a melodic counterpoint that sounds brand new and unique in Coleman's world. Tacuma at times plays the melody and modulates through several keys on his own. He also contributed to a seventies sound. In December 1978 he recorded with Coleman on an album by Guitarist James "Blood" Ulmer. In 1979 Tacuma recorded with Coleman on Of Human Feelings. Coleman had two guitarists and two drummers with Tacuma in the center almost playing like a third guitar, very prominent in the mix. With the different environment and electric bass Tacuma had by this point redefined the bass in Coleman's music. He improvised constantly in a very free manner, providing just enough bass conceptually, though he is often freer than Coleman himself, swirling around, stalking him. Tacuma next recorded with Coleman in 1985 on a live concert titled Opening The Caravan Of Dreams. Here Coleman added second bassist Al MacDowell, who provided a counterweight of sorts to Tacuma while making Coleman's music denser and more complicated. MacDowell slaps the bass more and with less room to operate, Tacuma slowed down somewhat as Prime Time swelled to a living orchestral mass of four electric lines intertwining while Coleman floated on top. On "Compute" Coleman and Tacuma have an

extreme duet with Coleman sawing away at the violin. In Downbeat, Tacuma explained his take on two bassists.

That was Ornette's plan, to make me freer. He could see that he created a monster and that I'm not going to be satisfied unless he opened other doors for me. So, the other bassist was added. Ornette paved a new way for me to play and not get in his way or anyone's way, and still express what I wanted to communicate and still be part of the organization. ¹³⁶

Tacuma's next recording with Coleman came in 1978 titled *In all Languages*, a double LP with the original quartet and Prime Time on separate LP's. "Story Tellers" opens with a Tacuma and MacDowell duet improvising on the melody. MacDowell plays in a more ensemble fashion keeping the group together while Tacuma improvises. Fast forward to 2010 and Tacuma produced a tribute album with Coleman present titled *For the Love of Ornette*. Tacuma picked up where he left off with Coleman playing free, but with more extreme melodicism. The album opens with Coleman instructing the band saying "Fellas, forget the notes and get to the idea." "Movement one" begins with a touching duet with Tacuma and Coleman, one that sounds almost like a private session from Coleman's music room in his Chelsea loft. In notes to the album, Tacuma revealed that at one point in his life, a spiritual path he was on caused him to consider stopping playing music. Coleman traveled to Philadelphia and met with Tacuma's mother, pleading

¹³⁶ Tinder, Cliff. "Electric Bass in the Harmolodic Pocket." *Downbeat*, Apr. 1982, pp. 19–71.

with her to urge him to rejoin music. Tacuma did, and on the album, he expresses gratitude and Love for Coleman.¹³⁷

In 1987 Coleman recorded Virgin Beauty with MacDowell and Chris Walker on bass. Walker was more conservative, and MacDowell slapped more aggressively on the date, filling some of the space previously held by Tacuma. MacDowell had more history with Coleman, first meeting him at only seventeen years old and appearing with him in 1976 at a live concert at Lincoln Centers Avery Fisher Hall. 138 "Honeymooners" features both bass players, Walker having a very fluid style and great technique. Both play a guitar-based style influenced from Jaco Pastorious and Stanley Clarke. MacDowell performed live with Coleman and recorded with him on *Tone Dialing* in 1995, a Prime Time album influenced by Hip Hop and Funk. Brad Jones also played bass on the album, his only documented work with Coleman. He played acoustic bass within all the electronics and opens "When Will I See You Again" with solo bass, then walking in time when the melody starts in a kind of quartet-Prime Time reverse methodology. The piece fades out unexpectedly halfway through. MacDowell played with Coleman on his last record, live in Genoa in 2010 on electric bass in tandem with Tony Falanga on acoustic bass. That same year they both played with Coleman at the North Sea

 $^{^{\}rm 137}$ "For The Love of Ornette." Atom, Jamaaladeenmusic.com/album/36564/for-the-love-of-ornette.

¹³⁸ "Al MacDowell." The City Boys Allstars. October 14, 2015. Accessed January 18, 2019. http://www.thecityboysallstars.com/the-musicians/al-macdowell/.

Festival with MacDowell representing Prime Time in a continued type of acoustic electric juxtaposition. MacDowell plays aggressive non-jazz rhythms, doubling the melody with Coleman and doesn't hold back.¹³⁹

Barre Phillips (1934-) crossed plays with Coleman as early as 1958 in Sauslito, California and said Coleman was already trying to impart the ideas of Harmolodics to other musicians, many of who were confused by it. In 1962 Coleman sat in with Phillips but then asked him why he was still playing "school music," which led Phillips to break up the group and move to New York City. In 1975 Phillips got the call to sub for Haden at the Bologna jazz festival in Italy and held his own. In 1991 Phillips was asked by Coleman to record with him on the Naked Lunch movie soundtrack with Howard Shore. Phillips recalled that at onepoint Coleman was asked to re-record a solo over the orchestra by Howard Shore because he was playing sharp. Coleman then played completely in the tempered scale, and then said to Shore: "You might like that, but that's not me, and it's not interesting." 140 The seven trio selections that Coleman composed for Phillips and Denardo were very effective. Phillips had an extremely personal sound and personal rhythm. His forward momentum, slightly different from both Ornette

__

¹³⁹ Videoservices, Gilaworks Internet- &. "Ornette Coleman Quartet - North Sea Jazz 2010 (part 3-5)." YouTube. July 05, 2011. Accessed January 18, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kaQHB3i3RzU.

¹⁴⁰ Phillips, Barre. "Ornette Coleman 1930–2015: Barre Phillips - The Wire." The Wire Magazine - Adventures In Modern Music. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://www.thewire.co.uk/in-writing/essays/ornette-coleman-1930-2015_barre-phillips.

and Denardo, created an interesting effect. "Intersong" is a tender ballad that is almost a duo with Coleman and Phillips. "Writeman" opens with aggressive bowing from Phillips who switches to pizzicato for extremely fast improvisation. Phillips interacts with both Coleman's simultaneously and sometimes modulates before Coleman.

I first met Charnett Moffett (1967-) at Coleman's Chelsea loft in 2005.

Besides the musical exchange and my witnessing that Moffett had completely absorbed Coleman's process, I was struck by Coleman's looking at him, then reaching out to grab him and hug him. Moffett is the son of Charles Moffett from Coleman's great trio during the sixties. Charnett possesses an incredible virtuosic technique. He recorded two albums in 1996 in Harlem with Coleman, the fore mentioned *Three Women* and *Hidden Man* with pianist Geri Allen and Denardo.

When asked about the role of the bass in Coleman's world Moffett said:

I was rehearsing with Ornette once and I asked him, 'What's the bass part?' and he said, 'You're already playing the bass; now play the *idea*.' When you improvise, it's all about the idea. And you're always discovering new ways to approach that idea.¹⁴¹

On *Hidden Man* and *Three Women*, Moffett begins "What reason" playing the melody on solo bass altering his sound on each take. Moffett is like Tacuma in

__

¹⁴¹ Randall, Mac. "Charnett Moffett - On Loss, Love & Vibrational Healing." JazzTimes. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://jazztimes.com/departments/overdue-ovation/charnett-moffett-overdue-ovation/.

his ability to play just enough in a supporting role but play mostly free, with an endless string of ideas in conversation with Coleman, Allen, and Denardo all at the same time. The differences being the acoustic bass, acoustic bass technique, and the more jazz-based environment. Moffett doesn't provide a walking bass line for a sustained period, preferring to play ideas in reaction to the music. On "European Echoes" from *Three Women*, Moffett's plays incredible pizzicato improvisation while Allen and Ornette play the melody in a stunning display of speed and dexterity.

Greg Cohen (1953-), known for his work with John Zorn and Woody Allen, handled the pizzicato bass roll on Coleman's Pulitzer Prize winning release *Sound Grammar* in 2005. Cohen's strategy was to construct a fast-up-tempo bass line throughout the record while Tony Falanga was free to soar with improvisations on his bow. The defined territorial strategy and boundaries worked. In 2006 at Carnegie hall, Coleman attempted adding Al MacDowell on electric as a third bassist with mixed results. Cohen and Falanga are featured together on *Sound Grammar* on a ballad titled "Once Only" that works extraordinarily well. Cohen left Coleman to focus on Zorn's Masada and was the person that introduced

¹⁴² Ratliff, Ben. "A Three-Bass Happening at Carnegie Hall." *The New York Times*, 19 June 2006, www.nytimes.com/2006/06/19/arts/music/19orne.html. Accessed 20 Jan. 2019.

photographer John Rogers to Coleman, which led to my meeting him. Falanga auditioned for Coleman in 2002.

Ornette started auditioning classical bassists. As he said at the time, 'I don't want anyone with a jazz influence—I want a new set of ideas.' He happened to audition my friend John Feeney, the Principal Bassist for the Orchestra of St. Luke's. John played a solo bass piece at his audition, and Ornette was very impressed. Then Ornette asked him to play free on the spot—any tempo, any key, whatever he wanted. But Feeney wasn't comfortable doing that; he didn't have a jazz background, and he didn't really know who Ornette was. John just couldn't hang with the free thing, but he told Ornette, 'I know somebody who would be perfect for this.'" I came in the next day and nailed the audition. "Ornette said, 'Just play,' and I was like, 'Yeah, let's go!' And he dug that. He asked me to join the band, and from there it was an ongoing process of studying his concept and working it out on the bandstand.¹⁴³

Coleman's last official recording in 2010, a live concert in Genoa Italy had Falanga and MacDowell both playing bass. Like he did with Cohen, Falanga claimed the bow territory while MacDowell on electric bass played chords and melodies like he did with Prime Time. Falanga spoke about his musical relationship with MacDowell.

We're not looking to out-do each other, we're looking to complement each other to make the music stronger. Ornette wants you to come up with new stuff all the time, and he wants it to happen on the bandstand, not in the practice room. That's where the ideas have to emerge—from the tune, from the audience, from us. And he wants each of your spontaneous ideas to trigger another new idea. If you play something that really works and you take that same idea to a concert the next day, Ornette will do everything he can to destroy it. It may have happened so well the night before—the audience is going nuts and everything—but he won't

¹⁴³ Milkowski, Bill. "Tony Falanga & Al MacDowell, Ornette Coleman's Two-Bass Tandem." BassPlayer.com. December 01, 2010. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://www.bassplayer.com/artists/tony-falanga-amp-al-macdowell-ornette-colemans-two-bass-andem.

want to repeat that idea. He'll say, 'I was hoping that you guys would find something better ... because it exists.' That's what's so special about him. He wants to keep it fresh, happening, and in-the-moment all of the time. In Ornette's band, you have to keep making it better—no ifs, ands, or buts.¹⁴⁴

In seeking out any other bassists to play with Coleman, Art Davis played with Coleman in a second attempt at a double quartet that was never recorded. Buster Williams subbed for Charlie Haden on occasion. ¹⁴⁵ Christian McBride played with Coleman when he sat in with Sonny Rollins at the Beacon theatre in September 2010. ¹⁴⁶ I have also witnessed bassist Hilliard Greene play with Coleman at his Chelsea loft. Greene went to study with Coleman on five occasions. ¹⁴⁷ There are undoubtedly others that crossed path with Coleman, including Shayna Dulberger, again initiated by John Rogers. ¹⁴⁸ The bass held a unique place in Coleman's music. With the eventual absence of the piano in most situations, the bass was the only connection to Coleman's approach to using harmony with another musician. Every person that took the space had to work with Coleman to

¹⁴⁴ Ibid.

¹⁴⁵ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 164.

¹⁴⁶ Carroll, Christopher. "The Singular Sound of Sonny Rollins." The New York Review of Books. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://www.nybooks.com/daily/2012/08/10/sonny-rollins-singular-sound/.

¹⁴⁷ As told to the author.

¹⁴⁸ Rogers, John. "My Friend, Ornette Coleman." *NPR*, NPR, 15 June 2015, www.npr.org/sections/ablogsupreme/2015/06/15/414007418/my-friend-ornette-coleman. Accessed 21 Jan. 2019.

find out how they could be themselves in Coleman's world. While Haden will always be known for a profound connection, David Izenzon, Sirone, Jamaaladeen Tacuma, Al MacDowell, Barre Phillips, Charnett Moffett, and Tony Falanga all shared a special musical and human exchange with Ornette Coleman.

10. Drums

Having examined Coleman's bass players, we have already begun to examine the drummers he played with as the bass and drums are so bonded. The striking difference is that there are far fewer musicians that held down this unique chair, with four specific drummers that are on the majority of Coleman's discography. Billy Higgins, Ed Blackwell, Charles Moffett, and Denardo Coleman adapted their own styles to embrace Coleman's concept more than any others.

Billy Higgins (1936-2001) was the first drummer to record with Coleman, and was a member of what people call the classic Coleman quartet with Don Cherry and Charlie Haden. Higgins is on thirteen Coleman recordings with Coleman, the majority with Charlie Haden on bass. Los Angeles was pivotal in the development of Coleman's long-term musical relationships, and that's where he met Higgins. Like Haden and Cherry, Higgins was into bebop, but willing to explore the new compositions and idea of improvisation presented by Coleman, six years his senior. Higgins plays the straight man on Coleman's first recording *Something Else*!! that was very thoroughly rehearsed by Coleman. His melodic ensemble playing on "The Blessing" and hitting on an arranged 4th beat on the super-fast "Chippie," stand out. Higgins was playing the role and swinging, though

Coleman would eventually attempt to get drummers to abandon form and roleplaying. His eventual goal for them became to "just be the drums." ¹⁴⁹ On Coleman's third record on Atlantic, *The Shape Of Jazz To Come*, Higgins sound is intrinsic to the music's success, notably on the classic "Lonely Woman." On the famous Coleman piece, Higgins plays a super-imposed double time that coincides with Haden playing a far slower melodic motif. The juxtaposition reveals a new way for the rhythm section to play. On "Congeniality" Higgins still plays melodic ensemble hits and swings when Haden walks, but the horn and bass are up front, both musically and dynamically. In 1960, while playing at the Five Spot, Higgins had his cabaret card revoked leading to a seven-year period playing without Coleman. 150 Higgins played a lot of hard bop during this period, leading to the call from Jackie McLean and reunion with Coleman on *Old and New Gospel* in 1967. In an environment where Mclean was stepping out and Coleman was stepping in, Higgins became the glue, working with bassist Scott Holt to hold it all together. Higgins old gospel beat on "Old Gospel" is infectious. As he did with the bass, Coleman used two drummers combining Higgins with Ed Blackwell both live and in the studio on the records Free Jazz, Broken Shadows, and Science Fiction. Higgins always maintained the classic sound from "The Shape Of Jazz To Come" on future recordings with Coleman, with a fast light touch on the cymbals still

¹⁴⁹ As told to the author.

¹⁵⁰ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 81.

allowing the bass and horns to play up front on *In All Languages* in 1987. On classic quartet reunion concerts in 1987 and 1990 Higgins sounds louder, possibly a result of the recording and the live situations. Higgins told Val Wilmer "You're not supposed to rape the drums; you make love to them as far as I'm concerned." Higgins will forever hold a place in Coleman's music. As a master of hard bop as well, he appears on more than seven-hundred recordings!

Ed Blackwell (1929-1992) played on nineteen recordings with Coleman, and they shared a deep history. They met in 1949 in New Orleans.

When I heard Ornette for the first time, I felt the happiness he generates. That was one of the main things I loved about his playing. It was so free, although he had so many terrible experiences behind him because of the way he played. I couldn't understand why people couldn't hear it.¹⁵²

In 1953 when Coleman tried Los Angeles for a second time, he roomed with Blackwell in Watts when they were both extremely broke. Ellis Marsalis mentioned a moment when Blackwell turned a song around on a thirty-two-bar structure, which stopped Coleman from finishing his phrase. Coleman stopped the group and suggested that his phrase was more important than the form- a key harmolodic and Coleman moment. ¹⁵³ Marsalis believed that the Blackwell-

Eleweller, 11 Tranmotodic Elje, 30

¹⁵³ Wilmer, As Serious as Your Life: John Coltrane and beyond, 60.

¹⁵¹ Fordham, John. "Obituary: Billy Higgins." The Guardian. May 07, 2001.Accessed January21, 2019.www.theguardian.com/news/2001/may/07/guardianobituaries.johnfordham.

¹⁵² Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 38.

Coleman connection was so strong that no other rhythm section players were necessary when they played together.

The things Blackwell and Ornette did together accentuate a certain kind of rhythmic importance and rhythmic emphasis that was in Ornette's music. Their teaming was sufficient without other rhythm section players. The harmony that comes from the piano, bass, or guitar, was not necessary ¹⁵⁴

Blackwell believed Coleman was trying to escape four-beat measures and that his own experiments in time-keeping helped them both break free. His debut recording with Coleman came in 1960 replacing Higgins on *This Is Our Music*. Blackwell interacts with the group in a much different way, breaking rolls, leaving phrases unresolved, and most noticeably, interacting with Coleman by shadowing almost every note he plays, sometimes even finishing his phrase for him. Blackwell's playing completely changes the dynamics of Coleman's music in this way, moving the drums from role-playing to active participation in the improvisation, a true Coleman innovation. Coleman's album *Ornette*! on Atlantic in 1961 contains a piece titled "T & T" where a melody is only used to introduce a long Blackwell solo, in a complete feature for the drums. On "Proof Readers" Blackwell almost replaces the bass played by Scott Lafaro as the instrument primarily interacting with Coleman, forcing Lafaro into role playing. Blackwell was very strong throughout this album, one of the highlights of his playing career with

¹⁵⁴ Ibid. 62.

¹⁵⁵ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 46-47.

Coleman. In 1961 Blackwell played on the fore-mentioned *Ornette on Tenor* and was more comfortable and aggressive in the environment, than bassist Jimmy Garrison. Besides the joint work with Higgins, Blackwell continued to work with Coleman into the early 1970's. He fought with kidney problems for most of his life and died in 1992. Coleman's *Free Jazz* on Atlantic with Higgins in the left channel and Blackwell on the right channel is the ultimate example of their contrasting styles in Coleman's world. Higgins light and fast cymbals alongside Blackwell's popping and rolling toms and snare have been a future clinic for drummers on how to work together ever since.

Incredibly, a surfaced bootleg cassette recording of a Coleman rehearsal of the band from the late sixties with both Haden and Izenzon on bass, contains several directives from Coleman to Blackwell. Even after years of collaboration, Coleman continues to try and break Blackwell free from role-playing. The following are from Coleman to Blackwell.

We're conditioned to sound like we're going somewhere rather than being where we are.

You played that idea like you had to play another idea behind it.

Whatever you play, see if you get a feeling that the bass or saxophone cause you to take an idea to a certain place rhythmically to you thinking that you have to complete it.

You're doing what I told you to avoid doing.

Blackwell: Play without thinking I have to complete it?

Coleman asks the bass players to not play 2 5 1 progressions and asks all of them not to be the background, calling them to reach for stone presence, even if they feel he's crazy.¹⁵⁶

Charles Moffett (1929-1997) went back the furthest with Coleman, all the way back to High School in Fort Worth. Moffett also played trumpet and played in a band with Coleman and Prince Lasha in high school called The Jam Jivers. Coleman was his best man and played at his wedding in 1953. In 1961 he moved to New York City to work with Coleman's new band with Jimmy Garrison and Bobby Bradford. Coleman had tried Pete LaRoca and Roy Haynes before settling on Moffett, and after several weeks of rehearsal they played the Five Spot. 157 Garrison was replaced by Izenzon and Bradford left in frustration because Coleman would work sporadically and turn down jobs unless the money was correct, leading to the Ornette Coleman Trio. Their first big concert was the famous self-produced Town Hall, released on ESP in 1962. Moffett's natural relationship to music was rooted more in swing. He and Izenzon would set up transitions with or without Coleman, and his drive brought Coleman slightly into more grounded improvisation on alto saxophone. At Town Hall they were starting to develop their group sound and relationship, with Izenzon's bow deep in the mix. After Coleman's sabbatical, he

¹⁵⁶ Music, We Should Share. "Ornette Coleman Rehearsal." YouTube. June 11, 2018. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=39CMByFGkas&t=9s.

¹⁵⁷ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 101.

reformed the trio to be featured on *The Chappaqua Suite* in 1965. For some listeners, Coleman has never had as much swing in his music as on this recording, reacting to Moffett's driving momentum. Moffett traveled to Europe for the Croydon concert, live recordings at the Tivoli and in Paris before working on another soundtrack with Coleman titled Who's Crazy? There's a telling moment in a documentary of the making of Who's crazy? when Moffett becomes angry with the producer and Coleman gets him to relax. 158 The famous Golden Circle concert in Sweden was next. Along the way Moffett and Izenzon took stronger positions within the trio moving far from role playing, but still swinging, and Izenzon sometimes improvising aggressively. Eventually in 1967 Haden joined. Coleman then added Blackwell. With the drums covered, Moffett returned to trumpet and added vibraphone. Moffett was fired without explanation, though he felt it might be due to so much doubling, and not playing the drums. He returned to public school teaching and still played music. 159 He recorded with Coleman nine times. He also had five children that became musicians, including Charnett on bass, and Cody on drums whom the author played with at jam sessions that Moffett ran at the Blue Note in New York City in the early 90's. Moffett had me improvise with

¹⁵⁸ NoteVerticali, Redazione. "Ornette Coleman Trio Performing The Soundtrack 1966 DVD Quality." YouTube. June 16, 2015. Accessed January 22, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GzoboHzKOGU&t=858s.

¹⁵⁹ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 125-126.

only him on drums playing very aggressively and explained that when it's just drums and a horn, that's when you *go for it*.

Denardo Coleman (1956-) ties Ed Blackwell, recording with Coleman nineteen times. Ornette's decision to record with Denardo on The *Empty Foxhole* at ten years old remains controversial. My full interview with him is included in the thesis. Ornette doubled down on his own philosophy when he chose to record with his ten-year-old son. He liked that Denardo was free of trying to please any critics and was too young to have any political agenda. Charlie Haden played bass and took more control over the tempo. Critic Pete Welding felt that Denardo's playing worked well, and he was responsive to his father's playing. Freddie Hubbard said the music sounded like a little kid fooling around. 160 Close listening shows that Denardo listened to and worked with his father quite well, and he contributes to the conversation musically as an important part of the group. He's not role-playing, or imitating. The blueprint of his future style was already present. His semi-broken march on the title tune contributes to the mood and the visual. Throughout the recording, while it's clear that the music was rehearsed, he made his own musical decisions. As he grew older Denardo strengthened his concept, recording on Ornette at 12 in 1968, and Crisis in 1969. A ten-year span then took place during which he took over more managerial tasks before he returned on Of *Human Feelings* in 1979 making him the only drummer to play in both Coleman's

¹⁶⁰ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 121.

acoustic and electric music. Denardo's concept works especially well in the Prime Time environment. In 1985 Coleman's string quartet with Denardo titled *Prime* Design / Time Design stands out. He plays very aggressively almost continually, making the piece sound like no other string quartet before or since. His thick and multi-textured playing suggested multiple time signatures and a unique technique and sound on the drums that is entirely original. One of his unique skills that I have experienced in person, is to create the feeling of unusual tempos and time signatures without explicitly playing them. I've heard Coleman play in a way that suggests possibly the fastest tempo of all time, but at a dynamic where you can still play over it in any time. 1985 also saw the release of Coleman's collaboration with guitarist Pat Metheny on Song X on which Denardo and Jack DeJohnette both play drums. Coleman played at times on a processed kit that played other sounds such a horse whinnying or a woman's ecstatic moan as heard on "Compute." Both drummers together create a wall of sound. "Endangered Species" takes the wall of percussive sound to the extreme, with urgent crashing sonic waves that never crest. From 1987-1988 Denardo shared the Prime-Time drum chair with Calvin Weston, who Coleman had started working with when Weston was nineteen. On the record In All Languages," Denardo plays a groove that could work fine in any eighties pop or rock song, giving the music the sound of the period in which it was made, possibly one of Coleman's goals. Later in 1995 Denardo gives the music a nineties feel, including a hip-hop orientation on "Search For Life." In 1996 Denardo was the only drummer in the quartet with Geri Allen and Charnett Moffett on

Sound Museum: Three Women, and Sound Museum: Hidden man. These two recordings may be the best example of his craft on the drums as an equal ensemble member where he is entirely himself, notably with the fast but light cymbal touch and the rolling toms. "City Living" is a good example, as well as Denardo's opening solo on "Stopwatch." Denardo's final triumph is being the only drummer on the Pulitzer Prize winning Sound Grammar in 2005. Working with the ensemble or shadowing his father, his propulsion of the two-bass ensemble is in perfect balance. The first piece "Jordan" displays the super-tempo described earlier.

Denardo is the definitive harmolodic drummer. He reflected on his father after his death in a very open piece titled "My Father Was Deep."

I spent a long time playing with my father, recording, traveling, managing, fighting, endlessly laughing, and going from one exhilarating experience to another. You had to be immersed in Ornette World to realize this wasn't merely his music — this was how he thought, how he lived. Back in the day we would go real late at night to his favorite Chinese restaurant, at 21 Mott Street, and he would order ten dishes even though there were only four of us. He liked to have lots of different dishes to taste and then to mix together. That's right, even our dinners were Harmolodic. And forget about giving away the extra food to a homeless person – Dad would see a homeless person on the way home and invite him to sleep at his house.

I started managing my father's career in the 80's, in my mid-20s. I had been out of college for a few years and playing with him. My father would enjoy a great run of activity and success and then shut it all down for a while, frustrated yet again by the music business. He always felt taken advantage of by managers, promoters, record companies. Finally, I couldn't sit by and watch the endless cycle of boom and bust any longer. One day I just said, "Let me manage you. You won't have to stop and wonder if you are being ripped off." He said okay, and for the next 30 years we did our best to turn ideas into projects.

My father was deep, meaning his way of thinking and intuition could not be tracked. But he always seemed to bring new insight, new logic to whatever he was contemplating. The sound of his horn reflected this depth, the depth of the

emotion of the raw soul. His concepts so advanced, so intellectual, yet his expression so human, so direct. He created and spoke his own language. For some his music was too complicated, too abstract, nothing to grab on to, just too out there. For others it was utterly profound because it spoke directly to the brain and to the soul simultaneously. As he would say, "It's about life. You can't kill life." He was obsessed with expressing life through sound. He went into its properties as scientists had explored genomes, discovering DNA. He called his science Harmolodic. Open thinking, equality, freedom, the pursuit of ideas, helping others all included. He would say, "It's about being as human as possible.¹⁶¹

Elvin Jones's (1927-2004) two records with Coleman on Blue Note, *New York Is Now* and *Love Call* in 1968 are a testament to his power. Even in an environment created by Coleman, Jones has tremendous influence on the music by way of his musical personality. He adapts to Coleman's compositions and concept on his own terms, and his high energy causes Coleman to raise his own playing level and urgency. "Round Trip," "Airborne," and "Check-Out Time" are all good examples where Jones up-tempo polyrhythms constantly boil over in wonderful tandem with Jimmy Garrison. During his improvisations Coleman is not leading Jones, rather he is adapting to where Jones takes him.

Ronald Shannon Jackson (1940-2013) also made two records with Coleman, having much the same effect as Jones, where his personality almost dominates the music, now with Prime Time. *Dancing In Your Head* and *Body Meta* from the midseventies are *all* Jackson. His Texas Blues based rhythms define the two albums.

¹⁶¹ "My Father Was Deep by Denardo Coleman." Ornette Coleman. Accessed January 22, 2019. www.ornettecoleman.con/father-deep-denardo-coleman/.

Like so many others in Coleman's universe, he came up in Fort Worth Texas.

Guitarist Jack DeSalvo who played with Jackson told the author that Coleman encouraged Jackson to play flute to compose, which Jackson did, embracing Harmolodics on his own terms. In an interview, Jackson revealed how he beat out seventeen other drummers auditioning for Coleman.

When I met Ornette that Sunday, he had already tried out seventeen drummers. The problem he was having was that he had this nineteen-year-old kid from Philadelphia playing electric bass. He was wanting to go electric. I had been practicing Buddhism and my attitude had changed a hell of a lot. I was trying to make everything positive and not dwell in the negative. What happened with the other drummers, because he told me, was after they got through playing, they all enjoyed playing with Ornette, but they would tell him that he needed to get an upright bass player and so he would never call them back. And when I went around there, he left us in the loft, Bern Nix, Jamaaladeen, and myself. He left us for about four hours, and he came back and asked Jamaaladeen and Bern how it was, and they said it was beautiful and so that is how I got the gig. 162

Ed Blackwell and Denardo both stand as the drummers that spent the most time with Coleman, both masters of Harmolodic rhythm with their own musical identities. Drummers had a unique power in Coleman's world, free of harmony, free from form, and free of role-playing to be who they truly were. Giving drummers that much space could be dangerous, but Coleman often had *two* drummers and still made it work. Like Denardo said, he had it all figured out.

¹⁶² "FIRESIDE CHAT WITH: RONALD SHANNON JACKSON." Interviews. Accessed

January 22, 2019. https://www.jazzweekly.com/1999/03/fireside-chat-with-ronald-shannon-jackson/.

11. Chamber and Orchestral Works

Coleman told John Litweiler that he had been trying to write classical music since 1950, but also added he did it to challenge the image of him as illiterate. ¹⁶³ In December 1962 Coleman self-produced a concert at Town Hall that was released on the ESP label. For this concert he premiered his new trio with David Izenzon and Charles Moffett and had a string quartet perform a nine-minute piece titled "Dedication to Poets and Writers." The piece starts in minor and ends in major and contains no detectable improvisation. ¹⁶⁴ The ensemble works through several different sections flawlessly, with slight variations of tempo and mood owing more to European models than Coleman's innovations in jazz. In the end, Coleman proves his case of literacy to his critics. The poets and writers were a clique of people that gathered at his New York City club appearances. ¹⁶⁵ Regarding the ESP label, when I asked Coleman about the owner of the label Bernard Stollman, he called him an assassin.

¹⁶³ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 104.

¹⁶⁴ Ibid. 105.

¹⁶⁵ Wilson, Peter Niklas. *Ornette Coleman: His Life and Music*. Berkeley Hills, 2000, 136.

Coleman's next orchestral work was for many on his most successful, Chappaqua Suite, recorded in June of 1965. Coleman was considering a move to Europe when a young filmmaker named Conrad Rooks offered him a five-figure sum to compose and record a soundtrack for his new movie *Chappaqua*. Though described as supposedly hesitant at first in the liner notes by Rafi Zabor from the unauthorized and edited release on CBS, Coleman accepted and spent three days in the studio with eleven classical musicians and arranger Joseph Tekula. It remains unclear what role Tekula played, though he may have been the conductor, as Coleman solos on alto through the entire eighty recorded minutes. 166 Rooks declined not to use the music citing it as "too beautiful" and instead commissioned and used music by Ravi Shankar. When the movie was released it was a flop and soon sank into the abyss. What makes Chappaqua unique in Coleman's amongst Coleman's orchestral work is the full inclusion of his trio, operating at full power. Moffett is aggressive enough that the ensemble is almost pushed to the back, though they stand their ground. The two groups almost appear to be separate at times with the trio improvising and *swinging*, for long stretches. The exact ensemble instrumentation remains unknown, but flute, clarinet, oboe, horn, trumpet and violin can be heard. The ensemble is *tutti* playing short passages and holding out dramatic and dissonant chords where they are most effective at entrances. Part one opens dramatically and moves into medium tempo free swing.

¹⁶⁶ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 113-114.

Part two begins with a blues connotation with the ensemble bringing in Coleman voiced chords. Part three contains more aggressive free playing. Part four has a definitive tempo increase with the ensemble playing big band hits and chords. Two short improvisations arise from tenor saxophonist Pharoah Sanders towards the close of the piece with an oboe solo and Coleman solo between them. Sanders plays briefly, almost coming from an ensemble function, but clearly is himself. 167 Coleman joins the ensemble in sustained pitches before they close the piece alone in a possible foreshadowing to the future *Skies of America*. On YouTube recently, an additional two hours of music from "Chappaqua" have been released, presumably the material removed by CBS. 168 The additional material features additional percussion from Moffett and more dissonant attempts at ensemble interaction that may have planted the seeds for William Parker's Little Huey Music Orchestra far in the future.

The very next month Coleman was in Croydon England, recording "Forms and Sounds" for a Woodwind quintet. Coleman was forced to compose to compose a classical piece in order to be reclassified as a concert artist in order to appease a British quota system. In two weeks, he composed the 10-movement piece for the Virtuoso ensemble, this time without the trumpet interludes discussed earlier in

¹⁶⁷ Wilson, Ornette Coleman: His Life and Music, 139-140.

¹⁶⁸ Yates, Jorge. "Ornette Coleman Chappaqua Suite (Full Album/Reissue)." YouTube. December 08, 2017. Accessed February 18, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NBKxSwPtyg4.

the 1965 recording. The music sounds like an atonal collective playing hopscotch. There is no detectable motif in the piece which produces the feeling of a sustained and controlled group improvisation, with virtually no tempo change. The individual voices are all treated as equals that operate individually with two voices at a time working together. Beginning and endings are vague. All these factors are Coleman's intention. In 1967 Coleman received the prestigious Guggenheim fellowship for composition which led to the rerecording of "Forms and Sounds" mentioned earlier with the trumpet interludes for RCA. 169 Coleman followed with the twenty-minute-long "Saints and Soldiers" with the Chamber Symphony of Philadelphia string quartet. The inspiration came from Coleman visiting churches in Rome in 1965 and discovering that the remains of both saints and soldiers were placed in jars. The piece contains an emotional urgency and maintains the unresolved dissonance derived from Coleman's Harmolodic theory. The equality suggested by the final resting place of saints and soldiers corresponds with how he viewed the different parts of music being from the same source with no need for separation by sound classification. Like any scientist, Coleman's chamber works are attempts to prove his theory, or perhaps the validity of it and or the process of its creation. The four voices work together and more closely than the woodwind quartet, applying more natural function based on range. Also recorded was "Space Flight," a turbulent, up-tempo piece that was a short three minutes and forty

¹⁶⁹ Wilson, Ornette Coleman: His Life and Music, 154-155.

seconds. Coleman was pleased with the performance by the quartet and how they were not totally restricted by the page. It's unclear how much freedom the musicians had. The opening sounds like a spacewalk or UFO sighting, but the tempo increases slightly suggesting what could have happened had Coleman orchestrated his work from his quartets with Don Cherry, though this door was never opened. What may have been missing was Coleman himself. In May 1967, Coleman composed and performed his first symphonic work, *Inventions of Symphonic Poems* at the UCLA Jazz Festival. The piece was conducted by clarinetist John Carter and Coleman played alto saxophone. Shockingly, no recording exists. ¹⁷⁰ In August of 1968, Coleman premiered *Sun Suite of San Francisco* for a thirty-five-piece orchestra, and quartet with soloist Bobby Bradford. Only short clips of the orchestral segments have survived in Shirley Clarke's documentary on Coleman in 1986 *Made In America*. ¹⁷¹

Coleman's journey with a large symphonic ensemble would reach an apex in April 1972 in London when he recorded *Skies of America* with the London Symphony Orchestra for Columbia Records. The piece was conducted by David Measham. Coleman plays alto on six of the twenty-one tracks, broken up from the original piece by Columbia to attempt radio accessibility. Coleman was forced to name all the tracks after the recording. The late alto saxophonist William Connell

¹⁷⁰ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 124.

¹⁷¹ Ibid. 130.

was the copyist and had a difficult time working with Coleman on the music. 172 Coleman's cousin James Jordan and Paul Myers from CBS were the producers. The British Musicians Union again blocked Coleman's quartet from playing, but Coleman's solo moments with the eighty-five-piece orchestra may have been a blessing in disguise. His emotional vulnerability within the symphony is striking, unlike anything ever heard before. The use of the drums is key to the sound of the music. Coleman had classical timpani with tom toms on the left and a traditional jazz kit on the right. 173 The album was done with two rehearsals and reported difficulty from the musicians being challenged with a new concept, as well as Columbia not willing to fund the project properly. Two months after the recording, the piece was performed at the Newport Jazz Festival in New York City by the American Symphony Orchestra with Leon Thompson conducting and included Coleman's quartet. The performance had an additional ten minutes than the edited forty-minute release. Coleman had a clear inspiration for the piece, spending the night on a Crow Indian Reservation in Montana and participating in sacred rites. To Coleman, the sky had witnessed everything ever done in America, and was a place of true natural equality, where nobody owns territory. 174 Coleman's heartfelt liner notes suggest that if the sky can do it, then so can we.

¹⁷² As told to the author.

¹⁷³ Wilson, Ornette Coleman: His Life and Music, 189.

¹⁷⁴ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 141.

While acknowledging the tragic past and reality of American culture, he seems to believe in an evolutionary narrative. Coleman introduced the idea of Harmolodics in the notes. Reviews of the piece range from "dangerous and rewarding" to "another grand mess, generously and boldly conceived but stifled by the grim playing of the LSO."176 Musically it's interesting to hear "The Good Life" which later became "Schoolwork," before it became "Dancing In Your Head." "All Of My Life," a beautiful vocal from *Science Fiction* recorded in 1971, becomes haunted when expanded into a harmolodic symphony. At times Coleman's titles validate the track separation. "Love Life" pitches his alto alone struggling against the cosmic force and weight of love. "The Military" contains war like posture. "Sunday in America" feels like a cumulative ending, grand in scope, and a unification of Coleman's concept including a musical resolution on his own terms. The long alto solo on "The Men Who Live In The White House" is beautiful and lyrical, making it difficult to unite with the frenetic opening. Overall, the music throughout is an evolution of all his chamber and string music up to that point.

Coleman next performed, but did not document, a piece for trumpet, percussion, and strings in 1974 titled *The Sacred Mind Of Johnny Dolphin*, as mentioned in the chapter on Coleman and the trumpet. The piece was written for

¹⁷⁵ Jurek, Thom. "Skies of America - Ornette Coleman | Songs, Reviews, Credits." *AllMusic*, www.allmusic.com/album/skies-of-america-mwooooo61385.

¹⁷⁶ Cook, Richard. The Penguin Guide to Jazz Recordings. Penguin Books, 1994, 277.

Coleman's friend Johnny Allen, leader of the group that formed and operated the cultural center called Caravan of Dreams.¹⁷⁷ An arrangement of the score now exists for college ensembles to perform. 178 As mentioned earlier, the piece has been performed at least four times, but has yet to be recorded. In 1985, Coleman composed and recorded *Prime Design*, *Time Design*, his last string quartet, in honor of Buckminster Fuller at a live concert. Coleman offered advice to listeners that conventional listening won't get you far in listening to this piece. The piece was performed by the Gregory Gelman Ensemble and begins with a heartfelt passing around of the phrase that is the same notes as the song "Moon River." Coleman had an architecture-like approach to his improvisational strategy on the piece. After a delicate opening, Denardo joins in and is very aggressive until the end of the piece, sounding like water that has instantly boiled. As Coleman suggested, trying to follow the individual lines proves difficult, while listening to the song as a mass entity can also be challenging to some. Coleman's arrangement calls for each musician to play in different time signatures at the same time. To close, the strings stop playing in the order that they started. Coleman attempts to replace harmonization with humanization.¹⁷⁹

¹⁷⁷ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 189.

¹⁷⁸ "Lincoln Center Festival: Ornette Coleman's Chamber Music at Stanley H. Kaplan Penthouse." ZEALnyc. May 30, 2017. Accessed December 30, 2018. https://zealnyc.com/lincoln-center-festival-ornette-colemans-chamber-music-at-stanley-h-kaplan-penthouse/.

¹⁷⁹ Wilson, Ornette Coleman: His Life and Music, 209-211.

In January 1987, the Kronos string quartet performed Coleman's "In Honor of NASA and Planetary Soloist" with guest Oboist Joseph Celli. The New York Times review described short, jazz-based movements. Movement one contrasted frenetic string scraping with a calm swing from Celli. In additional contrast, Celli also used an Indian instrument called the mukhaveena with aggressive vocal effects that held attention. ¹⁸⁰ In 1989 Coleman composed the never recorded *Freedom Symbol* for a large string and wind ensemble with the assistance of violinist Tom Chiu. *Freedom Symbol* was performed in Battery Park New York City in the shadow of the statue of Liberty in 2000 and was reviewed by the Chicago Tribune providing insight into the piece. The work was a tribute to the ideals of the French Revolution and performed by a 20-member Harmolodic Chamber ensemble containing timpani, strings, and winds. Howard Reich described blocks of sound, long extended solos, waves of dissonance, and long sinuous melodies, complete with a bold symphonic unified climactic finish. ¹⁸¹

In 1991 Howard Shore asked Coleman to collaborate with him on the soundtrack to *Naked Lunch*, a science fiction thriller. Shore composed and cocomposed the music and conducted the seventy-seven-member London

¹⁸⁰ Crutchfield, Will. "Concert: Kronos Quartet at Weill Hall." *The New York Times*, 18 Jan. 1987.

¹⁸¹ Reich, Howard. "ORNETTE COLEMAN MAINSTREAM SENSATION: HOW TIMES HAVE CHANGED." Chicago Tribune. August 28, 2018. Accessed January 13, 2019. https://www.chicagotribune.com/news/ct-xpm-2000-06-05-0006060055-story.html.

Philharmonic. In the liner notes, Coleman explains that the music is Harmolodic going into technical detail, seemingly having achieved a type of validation of his theory by its successful work in action through collaboration. Coleman solos at length over the orchestra backdrops and is inspired throughout. As stated earlier, the orchestra is offset by a Coleman trio with Denardo and bassist Barre Phillips to great effect. Coleman wrote new music for the trio. The Master Musicians of Joujouka make an appearance as well, superimposed on Shore's orchestral textures. Coleman displayed the deeper levels of his alto virtuosity throughout the soundtrack. His agility on the trio's "Bugpowder," naked emotion on the ballad "Intersong," and his playing over Shore's Mujahaddin" stand out. In 2017 at a Coleman celebration at Lincoln Center, *Naked Lunch* was revisited with Denardo, Charnett Moffett, Ravi Coltrane on tenor and Henry Threadgill on alto. *Forms and Sounds* was performed, as well as *In Honor of NASA and the Planetary Soloists* for string quartet and oboe. 183

Finally, we reach Coleman's dream symphonic work that unfortunately was never realized. Truly epic in scope, we are only left with Coleman's description.

The title is *The Oldest Language*. The piece was comprised of several ideas. It would be written for one hundred twenty-five people, two from each of the United

¹⁸² Wilson, Ornette Coleman: His Life and Music, 226.

¹⁸³ Russonello, Giovanni. "Ornette Coleman's Innovations Are Celebrated at Lincoln Center." *The New York Times*, The New York Times, 17 July 2017, www.nytimes.com/2017/07/17/arts/music/ornette-coleman-lincoln-center.html.

States. ¹⁸⁴ He wanted to use excerpts from as many different linguistics as possible, using all different tongues. ¹⁸⁵ Coleman also wanted one person from twenty-two different world cultures, the number being denoted with numerological and mystical power as he was taught by the Crow Indians. The piece would be two to three hours long. ¹⁸⁶ The Third World had to be included, and the greatest challenge: all the musicians must live together for six months and reconcile all cultural and linguistic differences before seeing the score. ¹⁸⁷ Producer and musician John Snyder has seen the first page of the score, and every note is in a different color. ¹⁸⁸

¹⁸⁴ Feather, Leonard. "Interview Ornette Coleman." Downbeat, July 1981, pp. 16-93.

¹⁸⁵ Mandel, Howard. "Ornette Coleman The Creator As Harmolodic Magician." *Downbeat*, 5 Oct. 1978, pp. 17–56.

¹⁸⁶ Rockwell, John. All American Music Composition in the Late Twentieth Century. New York, NY: Da Capo Press, 1997.

¹⁸⁷ Davis, Francis. *Jazz and Its Discontents: A Francis David Reader*. Cambridge: Da Capo Press, 2004.

¹⁸⁸ Coleman, Ornette, performer. *Celebrate Ornette*. Recorded 2016. Denardo Coleman, 2016, Vinyl recording.

SECTION III: THEORY

12. Other Masters

Coleman had definitive impact on several of his contemporaries. Miles Davis criticized him but was undeniably influenced by his work. John Coltrane openly embraced Coleman and studied with him. Sonny Rollins formed a similar band that adapted Coleman's concepts. Jackie McLean recorded with Coleman in the previously discussed *New And Old Gospel*. Roy Eldridge said in a well-known rebuke of Coleman, "I listened to him high and I listened to him cold sober. I even played with him. I think he's jiving, baby." By Charles Mingus, with a complicated relationship to the avant-garde, was unhinged by Coleman to a degree. Max Roach assaulted Coleman. Archie Shepp said of Coleman: "Call Ornette the shepherd and Cecil the seer," and also added "His tunes have about them the aura of a square dance telescoped through the barrel of a machine gun." Wayne Shorter added that Coleman was one of his favorite astronauts.

¹⁸⁹ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 82.

¹⁹⁰ Jost, Free Jazz, 56.

191 Weiner, Natalie. "Wayne Shorter Remembers Ornette Coleman: 'One of My Favorite Astronauts'." Billboard. June 12, 2015. Accessed February 10, 2019. https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/6598047/wayne-shorter-ornette-coleman-obituary-

memorial-remembers-homage.

In the Miles Davis autobiography, Davis stated that in 1960, a new black alto saxophonist named Ornette Coleman came and just turned the whole jazz world around. Pavis not only heard Coleman at the Five Spot but sat in several times. Pavis wasn't impressed with the playing but considered Coleman's liberation from form and structure to be important. Pavis quintet with Herbie Hancock, Wayne Shorter, Ron Carter, and Tony Williams contains this influence. Most people however point to a famous rebuke of Coleman when Davis said "Hell, just listen to what he writes and how he plays. If you're talking psychologically, the man is all screwed up inside." Pavis also felt that the "New Thing" designation of the avant-garde was an attempt by white critics to quickly own something that they weren't able to understand. Pavis came to slowly open to Coleman. He compared one of his compositional techniques as going back as far as Bach, that music could be played three or four different ways, independently of each other.

¹⁹² Davis, *Miles The Autobiography*, 249.

¹⁹³ Ibid. 250.

¹⁹⁴ Ibid. 251.

¹⁹⁵ "Factbox: Quotes by and about Saxophonist Ornette Coleman." Reuters. June 11, 2015. Accessed February 10, 2019. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-people-ornettecoleman-factbox/factbox-quotes-by-and-about-saxophonist-ornette-coleman-idUSKBNoOR23220150611.

¹⁹⁶ Davis, *Miles The Autobiography*, 251.

¹⁹⁷ Ibid. 322.

Time. Coleman also wrote music for Davis on occasion¹⁹⁸, though it doesn't appear to have been recorded. Coleman's manager Neil Blyden told the author he witnessed Davis at Coleman's loft trying out different tunes that Coleman had written, offering to buy the ones he liked with Coleman declining.¹⁹⁹ Davis wanted to have a public perception of his relationship with Coleman while at the same time incorporating ideas he could work with. When Coleman was asked about Davis in 1991 shortly after his death, his response contained a broad scope.

Miles was one of the first improvisors that had such an individual personality (musically and humanly) and philosophy, that because he was born in America, his concept of himself existed because there was a country called America that allowed him to be that way.²⁰⁰

John Coltrane was a humble man and profoundly interested in the deeper realities of music. When Coleman arrived in New York, Coltrane heard something that he felt he could directly apply in his own personal quest. Charlie Haden said that at the Five Spot "Coltrane used to come hear us every night. He would grab Ornette by the arm as soon after we got off and they would go off into the night talking about music." Coleman also came to see Coltrane perform and talk to

¹⁹⁸ Litweiler, A Harmolodic Life, 125.

¹⁹⁹ As told to the author by Blyden, now deceased.

²⁰⁰ Sobol, Aaron. "Ornette Coleman Discusses Alan Hovhaness and Miles Davis - 1991." YouTube. August 30, 2016. Accessed February 10, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=thHl]3 oqHw.

²⁰¹ Palmer, Robert. ""Charlie Haden's Creed"." *Downbeat*, July 20, 1972.

him between sets.²⁰² Coltrane sat in with Coleman during this period and said "I would like to make a record with Ornette Coleman. I've only played with him one time in my life; I went to hear him in a club, and he asked me to join him. We played two pieces-exactly twelve-minutes-but I think this was definitely the most intense moment of my life!"²⁰³ Coltrane was very open to Coleman's music, as documented by Dr. Lewis Porter. On Coleman, Coltrane spoke very highly.

I Love him. I'm following his lead. He's done a lot to open my eyes to what can be done. I feel indebted to him. When he came along, I was so far into Giant Steps chords that I didn't know where I was going to go next. I don't know if I would have thought about just abandoning the chord system or not. I probably wouldn't have thought of that at all. And he came along doing it, and I heard it, I said "Well, that must be the answer." Since we have a piano, we have to consider it, and that accounts for the modes that we play, but that's going to get monotonous after a while, so there probably will be some songs in the future that were going to play, just as Ornette does, with no accompaniment from the piano at all. Maybe on the melody, but as far as the solo, no accompaniment.²⁰⁴

Coltrane also told Tsujimoto in Japan that Coleman was a great leader, and that a leader was a great thing to be."205 During Coleman's self-exile in the early sixties, he emerged to sit in with Coltrane at the Half-Note in February 1964,

²⁰² Porter, Lewis. John Coltrane: His Life and Music. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press, 2008. 176.

²⁰³ Porter, John Coltrane: His Life and Music, 204.

²⁰⁴ Ibid. 203.

²⁰⁵ DeVito, Chris, and John Coltrane. *Coltrane on Coltrane: The John Coltrane Interviews*. Chicago, IL: Chicago Review Press, 2012.

playing trumpet, and in January,1965 he almost joined Coltrane's band, stopped only by an opening slot at the Vanguard.²⁰⁶

By 1965, Coltrane had moved on from pre-arranged chord progressions. Coleman spoke about his exchange with Coltrane noting that Coltrane was interested in non-chordal playing.²⁰⁷ Coltrane had, by the time he heard Coleman, extended and mastered the use of chords in jazz beyond what anyone else had previously thought possible. Martin Williams witnessed Coltrane in observation of a Coleman rehearsal as early as 1961 with Jimmy Garrison on bass. 208 Coleman told the author that after Coltrane died, he received a letter thanking him with money included for lessons, and that after receiving the letter he spent several days crying. Coltrane had experimented as early as the summer of 1960, a year after Giant Steps on the record The Avant-Garde with Don Cherry, Charlie Haden or Percy Heath, and Ed Blackwell, but was still hesitant at walking away from chordal playing completely. With his classic quartet, it was not uncommon for pianist McCoy Tyner to lay out at times during solos. "Chasing the Trane" from Live at *Village Vanguard* is a great example of extended improvisation with no piano support or restriction. Coltrane would go even further than Coleman on his duet album Interstellar Space with drummer Rashied Ali, removing the bass and leaving

²⁰⁶ Porter, John Coltrane: His Life and Music, 204.

²⁰⁷ Ibid. 204.

²⁰⁸ Ibid. 204.

him alone in a duo with drums, one of his favorite environments, with the right drummer.

Sonny Rollins was open to Coleman's innovations incorporated on his own terms. In a 1962 blindfold test with Leonard Feather he responded to hearing Coleman play a Coleman piece titled "Folk Tale" on Atlantic.

I'm in favor of Ornette and many of the things he has done. He does possess the basic elements that go to make up a jazz artist. A rhythmic drive. Qualities you can find in everybody since Louis Armstrong, all the good guys. I can still see in his figures a certain quality that was exemplified by Bird. Everybody says Ornette's playing sounds weird or so forth. But Ornette has the basic jazz essentials, drive and the rhythm. Rhythm is the most necessary part, the prerequisite, the positive element. But of course, harmony is the negative through which the positive must exert itself. ²⁰⁹

Rollins and Coleman went as far back as during Coleman's earlier days in Los Angeles. Rollins sought him out, as he told Scott Spencer.

When I used to go out to L.A. back then, there was something I could do you couldn't do today, says Rollins. I'd drive my car out toward Malibu, park it on the side of the road, and go down to the beach to practice. I invited Ornette to come with me and we'd play, just the two of us standing in the sand, putting our sound out over the ocean. I really liked what he was doing. A lot of the established musicians didn't like his playing, they were doing things like walking out on him, but I liked him.²¹⁰

²⁰⁹ Feather, Leonard. The Encyclopedia of Jazz in the Sixties. New York: Horizon Press, 1966.

²¹⁰ Spencer, Scott, and Scott Spencer. "Ornette Coleman: The Outsider." *Rolling Stone*. June 25, 2018. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.rollingstone.com/music/music-news/ornette-coleman-the-outsider-193373/.

Rollins was inspired enough by Coleman that he hired Billy Higgins and Don Cherry, and wanted Charlie Haden, for a tour in Europe after Coleman finished a run at the Village Gate in 1961. 211 Rollins album Our Man in Jazz was a result of the band he formed with Henry Grimes playing bass. Many bootlegs of this group survive. Rollins embraced the open harmony but chose to continue to use form and some of his usual repertoire, resulting in a unique group that was a result of Coleman's influence. Rollins thrived in this environment though he often maintained a tonal center and didn't modulate as freely as Coleman. He spoke highly of Don Cherry as an original voice, who suffered criticism for his technique but was in possession of a great musical mind. 212 Rollins always played with a controlled openness in his playing from this point forward in his career. The two titans famously reconvened in 2010 at a concert celebrating Rollins birthday at the Beacon theater with Christian McBride on bass and Roy Haynes on drums on Rollins "Sonnymoon for Two." Though Coleman's entry is delayed, once he enters, he kept the exchange going for fifteen minutes, Rollins openly responding to Coleman's singing lyricism and free modulation. 213 The New Yorker described the happy moment as Matisse and Picasso trying to agree on a line.²¹⁴

²¹¹ Haden, Woodard. *Conversations with Charlie Haden*, 23.

²¹² Guy, Jazz Video. "Sonny Rollins and Don Cherry." YouTube. December o6, 2013. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=srweoZllaoo.

²¹³ Dixiefeet. "Sonny Rollins & Ornette Coleman - Sonnymoon For Two (Live 2010)." YouTube. February 07, 2012. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WhXlwdkcLc4&t=58.

Charles Mingus was an innovator and experimenter in jazz in his own right, open to avant-garde jazz practice on his own terms. In October 1960 on his album Charles Mingus presents Charles Mingus on "What Love?" the music is borderline free playing with Coleman's friend Eric Dolphy on bass clarinet playing beyond conventional harmony into pure vocal expression of emotions not commonly expressed in jazz. Mingus had issues with Coleman's technique, but he couldn't deny that there was a necessary crossing of boundaries taking place. I again turn to Leonard Feather's Blindfold Test in Downbeat taken in April 1960. Feather didn't play Coleman, but Mingus wanted to speak about him anyway. The question remains, how much did Coleman influence the music he recorded that October with Dolphy?

You didn't play anything by Ornette Coleman. I'll comment on him anyway. Now, I don't care if he doesn't like me, but anyway, one-night Symphony Sid was playing a whole lot of stuff, and then he put on an Ornette Coleman record.

Now, he is really an old-fashioned alto player. He's not as modern as Bird. He plays in C and F and G and B Flat only; he does not play in all the keys. Basically, you can hit a pedal point C all the time, and it'll have some relationship to what he's playing.

Now aside from the fact that I doubt he can even play a C scale in whole notes—tied whole notes, a couple of bars apiece—in tune, the fact remains that his notes and lines are so fresh. So, when Symphony Sid played his record, it made everything else he was playing, even my own record that he played, sound terrible.

²¹⁴ Remnick, David, and David Remnick. "Ornette Coleman and a Joyful Funeral." *The New Yorker*. June 19, 2017. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.newyorker.com/culture/culture-desk/ornette-coleman-and-a-joyful-funeral.

I'm not saying everybody's going to have to play like Coleman. But they're going to have to stop copying Bird. Nobody can play Bird right yet but him. Now what would Fats Navarro and J.J. have played like if they'd never heard Bird? Or even Dizzy? Would he still play like Roy Eldridge? Anyway, when they put Coleman's record on, the only record they could have put on behind it would have been Bird.

It doesn't matter about the key he's playing in—he's got a percussion sound, like a cat on a whole lot of bongos. He's brought a thing in—it's not new. I won't say who started it, but whoever started it, people overlooked it. It's like not having anything to do with what's around you and being right in your own world. You can't put your finger on what he's doing.

It's like organized disorganization or playing wrong right. And it gets to you emotionally, like a drummer. That's what Coleman means to me.²¹⁵

A photo of Charles Mingus at his Newport Rebels festival shows Coleman on stage with Mingus, Kenny Dorham, and Max Roach. What were they playing? Available evidence is that Mingus and Coleman alternated sets, ²¹⁶ and that extended jam sessions took place with Mingus or Coleman taking the lead. ²¹⁷ The photo has them all playing together with Mingus looking at Coleman, but it remains another event where no recording exists as of 2019. Mingus was present at the Five Spot in a well-known story by Charlie Haden that he looked over at the bar while setting up, and Charlie Mingus, Ray Brown, Percy Heath, and Paul

²¹⁵ Blindfold Test | Charles Mingus: The Official Site." Charles Mingus The Official Site. Accessed February 11, 2019. http://mingusmingusmingus.com/mingus/blindfold-test.

²¹⁶ Monson, Ingrid Tolia. *Freedom Sounds: Civil Rights Call out to Jazz and Africa*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010, 184.

²¹⁷ Wein, George, and Nate Chinen. *Myself among Others:* Cambridge, MA: Da Capo Press, 2004, 195.

Chambers were all there waiting to hear how he approached Coleman's music.²¹⁸ Mingus wrote an article in Downbeat titled "An Open Letter to the Avant-Garde" though he didn't mention Coleman in the article, taking issues in general with free players who didn't have the skill to play chord changes, suggesting that an Avant-Grade album by Duke Ellington, Mingus, Clark Terry, and Thad Jones, players who could play chord changes playing free would be the most valid innovation.²¹⁹ Bern Nix told the author that while he was living with Coleman, Mingus called Coleman in the middle of the night to confront him on his trumpet playing saying "Mother Fucker- who told you could play the trumpet?"

Despite the negative criticism they received initiating the bebop revolution, both Dizzy Gillespie and Max Roach were initially very hostile towards Coleman, Roach going as far as violence. Both of them eventually came to accept Coleman with Roach embracing the avant-Garde in the extreme. Coleman told the author of an event where he and Gillespie were booked at the same venue. Coleman played the first set. During the intermission, tenor saxophonist James Moody approached Coleman for lessons, impressed with the music he heard. Gillespie overheard the interaction and intervened, forbidding him from studying with Coleman, and in front of him, told Moody that Coleman was a charlatan. A decade later however,

²¹⁸ "Charlie Haden on His First Time Playing at the Five Spot." NEA. June 15, 2015. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.arts.gov/audio/charlie-haden-his-first-time-playing-five-spot.

²¹⁹ Ideologic - Stephen O'Malley - News. Accessed February 11, 2019. http://www.ideologic.org/news/view/charles_open_letter_to_the_avant_garde.

Gillespie told Leonard Feather that he had played with Miles Davis quintet with Herbie Hancock and Tony Williams, and that it reminded him of Ornette Coleman. As ever with Gillespie, he just needed to hear the harmony.

It reminded me so much of Ornette Coleman. I never listened to him much at this point. But when Bernard Stollman gave me one of his Town Hall concerts, I was alone when I put on the record, and I could follow the chords he was playing. It was difficult stuff, very complex and highly enjoyable. And that's when I really started listening closely to what he was doing. ²²⁰

Roach initially walked of the bandstand when Coleman tried to sit in in Los Angeles.²²¹ Coleman told the author that Roach attacked him in the bathroom the Five Spot and punched him in the mouth. In 1960 in France during an interview and asked about the spirit of his music, without a piano, Roach said "We're trying to assimilate the talent of the individuals of the group, and from this try to evolve a style where we have something exclusive with ourselves."²²² Roach was also working without a piano and may have felt competitive about the idea of playing without it. Whatever hostility Roach may have had from Coleman's perceived threat to end his way of life, he ended up recording with Anthony Braxton, Archie

²²⁰ Feather, The Encyclopedia of Jazz in the Seventies, 33.

²²¹ Feather, Leonard. "Interview Ornette Coleman." *Downbeat*, July 1981, pp. 16–93.

²²² "Jazz Improvisers." *Katie Couric - You Can Watch #GenderRevolution Right Here*, www.facebook.com/JazzImprovisers/videos/1000392320071453/. Accessed 11 Feb. 2019.

Shepp, and Cecil Taylor, and even convinced Gillespie to record a record of them improvising freely!²²³

Albert Ayler admired Coleman's business practices, ²²⁴ though he didn't speak about his music. When the author asked Coleman about Ayler, he became visibly upset and said that if Ayler had come to study with him as they discussed, that Coleman would have straightened out everything, and in fact may have been able to save his life. We have previously discussed Eric Dolphy who also came to embrace and record with Coleman. When asked by the author about Dolphy and the album *Free Jazz*, Coleman said he told Dolphy to bring whatever horn he wanted, and Dolphy chose the bass clarinet. As previously discussed, Jackie McLean collaborated with Coleman playing trumpet on his album *New And Old Gospel*.

²²³ "Max Roach and Dizzy Gillespie - Max Dizzy, Paris (1990)." Something Else! December 28, 2016. Accessed February 25, 2019. http://somethingelsereviews.com/2007/07/30/max-roach-and-dizzy-gillespie-max-dizzy-paris-1990/.

²²⁴ ZOUMHANE, Fayçal. "Albert Ayler Interview -Sonny Rollins, Ornette Coleman Et John Coltrane." YouTube. May 24, 2011. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a6RWMHVwKhk.

13. Harmolodics

Coleman's identifying his philosophy with a term he devised first appeared in the liner notes to *Skies Of America* in 1972, as Coleman announced a book called The Harmolodic Theory. He doesn't mention that he's the author, or that he had been working on the book since his self-imposed exile from 1963-64. Today in 2019, the book remains unpublished, however Denardo Coleman has plans to have it edited and formally released. Three attempts have been made at translating Harmolodics on to the page to a degree. Michael Cogswell wrote his dissertation titled *Melodic Organization In Four Solos By Ornette Coleman* in 1989. Nathan A. Frink wrote his dissertation in 2012 titled *Dancing In His Head: The Evolution Of Ornette Coleman's Music and Compositional Philosophy.* Stephen Rush wrote a book titled *Free Jazz, Harmolodics, and Ornette Coleman*. All three seek evidence of rules, or laws that might define Harmolodics as a dialect that can be learned and spoken such as bebop, or George Russell's Lydian Chromatic Concept. Frink, for example, states that a tenet of Harmolodics includes the practice of polymodality,

²²⁵ As told to the author.

that a lead soloist could change the key of a piece. 226 Keys were not relevant to Coleman in composition or improvisation as a core function. The idea is what mattered. Cogswell got closer stating that while Coleman's principal innovation is the abandonment of a pre-determined harmonic progression as the scaffolding for a group improvisation, his melodic motives occasionally imply harmonic progressions or delineate cadential formulae.²²⁷ In analysis of Coleman's music he examined rhythm and pitch sequence, contour, repetition, and motivic chain association in an attempt to read his mind and diagnose his form of hearing. The effect is like performing exploratory brain surgery on a melody. The difficulty remains for all scholars interested in Coleman's work in that he did not seek validation. His goal was to prove himself on first his own scientific terms, and later to broaden his scope to examine the function of humanity. Harmolodics does have rules, but Coleman's goal in using and teaching it was not to create a separate dialect in jazz that separates a musician from the other dialects. His goal was to set musicians free to relate to music in what he saw as a more natural way. The idea's that Coleman define as part of his creed are those that allow a musician to find or create a pathway to himself. He has tried to explain this process hundreds of

_

²²⁶ Frink, Nathan A. "DANCING IN HIS HEAD: THE EVOLUTION OF ORNETTE COLEMAN'S MUSIC AND COMPOSITIONAL PHILOSOPHY." November 16, 2015. Accessed April 04, 2019. www.d-scholarship.pitt.edu/27686/1/NFdissfullPittrev2.pdf, 95.

²²⁷ Cogswell, Michael. "Melodic Organization in Four Solos by Ornette Coleman." Digital Library. March 09, 2015. Accessed April 09, 2019. https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc501207/, 15.

different ways over the years. Those who have applied his process to their own musical practice all have different interpretations, because they have all experienced different results, being different people.

I feel it best to begin with my own experience. The moment I met Coleman, he asked me to play. I played an improvisation of a piece I wrote that was an extension of his piece "Dancing In Your Head." What I didn't know was that in under thirty seconds, I had been diagnosed, with the result that Harmolodics could help me figure myself out. Coleman offered that I could return at any time for this exchange. I learned that no scheduling would be possible. If I felt it was time to go, I would, and if Coleman was home, then it was supposed to happen. I returned shortly after this and when the elevator door to his loft opened, he said "You got me!" The first day, or session was all conversation of philosophy for several hours. I leaned one of Coleman's favorite riddles, designed to help people view a new perspective. The question is "What's the tonic, or root note, of a chord in the key of F?" Most people try, the root, then the third, seventh, fifth, or flat fifth, before folding. The answer defines the entire concept:

You. You're the tonic.

To offer my own translation, this means that the feeling you have, and the sound that comes out of you is the root, or center of what's happening when you play music and improvise. As throughout Coleman's hundreds of ways to see what

he is pointing out, the challenge is to see music as a human act, more than something based on the intellect. It is assumed that the intellect is already understood. Once you know what the root is, you are not beholden to it. Playing this way calls for intuition, trust of yourself, and others, all very human things. Whatever rule that you present based in traditional musical theory, Coleman almost always had an alternate view.

In Western musical theory transposition, different instruments are pitched in different keys. Violins play in C concert, trumpets are in Bb, and alto saxophones are pitched in Eb. In this way, a C on Violin, is a D on trumpet, and an A on the alto saxophone. Coleman is quick to ask; how can a sound be classified as three different notes? By calling attention to the instability behind the theory, Coleman is asking to see notes as sounds before their classification. Human beings that listen to music respond to the sound and the feeling. In jazz, the audience is never informed of the key, progression, or form. Coleman took this idea a step further to offer me a harmolodic rule as a horn player, questioning where my Eb instrument was. It was during this period that I took up the alto clarinet. Coleman opened the door to a horn I was already very curious about. In practice however, we had conflict in that I had two Bb instruments. One day while playing music, he took my bass clarinet and placed it in another room and handed me my trumpet. He felt the trumpet was my natural voice. He held the instrument in high regard and pointed out the flaw of the saxophone: The saxophone is built like a scale, and thus leads the player directly into theory. The trumpet escapes the connotation and is pure melody.

In Coleman's next application of Harmolodics to my playing, I reached the apex of my experience with him, one that changed me forever. Bassist Charnett Moffett came over and we were improvising a duo when Coleman stopped us.

You didn't resolve your idea.

Moffett offered an example. For me, this was a huge confrontation, because at that time I was simply not aware of or concerned with idea of resolution.

Resolution could be as simple as ending with a major or minor third interval, or what might be a chord resolution from wherever I was at. The theory wasn't as important as that what I played was coherent on some level. It had to sound like it made musical sense, regardless of theory. I learned how idea resolution is really sourced in the way the human ear works. Idea resolution became the core issue between us, and he would stop me playing whenever I fell into this self-created trap. At one point, Coleman seemed agitated when I attempted a Johnny Hodges type glissando the length of a fifth. While I thought he would be impressed, the opposite result was achieved, and he asked, "How can have an idea if you don't speak with words?" Coleman stopped me a third time and said "I know what you sound like, and now you're playing like somebody else. Why would you play like someone that wasn't you?" This was a serious and unexpected problem to him, and

I offered no solution. I eventually understood the answer, which was that I was trying keep up with Moffett! Coleman may have offered a path away from conventional harmonic thinking, but he still expected musicians to use functional musical language. I soon had the epiphany that in Harmolodics, while harmony was no longer a prison of sorts, there were other aspects of music used in jazz that became even more important. Melody was elevated in status just as much as harmony was reduced. At this point, constructing harmonically free melodic ideas that resolved, became my core process and I spent several years developing it, checking in with Coleman. At one point I started playing all microtones and he said "I'm telling you that you've found a new way to play. Stop proving it and start using it."

A key part of Harmolodics is that musical relationships are human relationships first. Charlie Haden is the supreme example of this. Haden naturally adapted to Coleman's concept, and then resolved to support him in practice perhaps more than any other musician. Coleman trusted Haden, and together their shared intuition speaks to the kind of human understanding that can one can sense between, say, Billie Holiday and Lester Young. Coleman became emotional when I asked him about drummer Ed Blackwell and he explained that the problem I had wouldn't exist for him with Blackwell, because he could finish Coleman's phrases and even resolve his ideas. Throughout his life, Coleman sought to get bass players and drummers to abandon any role-playing responsibility, and to replace it with their human responsibility. I played a Charles Gayle trio record for

Coleman who said, "Well, he certainly wasn't waiting for anyone to tell him what to do."

Coleman's Harmolodic process also pushed the envelope in other more abstract areas. He observed: "I see you have a sexual relationship with your horn." Sex was a popular topic with Coleman, and he often would relate music to male and female dynamics. It was through discussions with him that I started a large ensemble of an equal amount of men and women seeking a new balance of energy. Coleman also had Greg Osby over for a pre-interview and immediately after sitting down, stated a belief and asked him a question at the same time.

The major is white, and the minor is black. Isn't that so? Do you agree?

Coleman attached philosophy and spiritual concepts more and more as he became older. In our last conversation by phone, I called him demoralized from having been forced into a foot-messenger job out of desperation. He quickly turned the conversation into looking at broad spiritual and musical concepts and said that sound, and the soul, are eternal.

I'll shift now to more evidence of the functions of Harmolodics through musicians that played with Coleman. In the earliest explorations of the process, Coleman himself wrote an essay in *Downbeat*, taking quite a scientific approach.

What is Harmolodics? Harmolodics is the use of the physical and mental of one's own logic made into an expression of sound to bring about the musical sensation of unison executed by a single person or with a group. Harmony, melody, speed, rhythm, time, and phrases all have equal position in the results

that come from the placing and spacing of ideas. This is the motive and action of Harmolodics.²²⁸

Coleman wrote an additional essay about Harmolodics for a book title *Free Spirits, The Insurgent Imagination*.

Harmolodics can used in almost any kind of expression. You can think Harmolodically, you can write fiction and poetry in Harmolodic. Harmolodics allows a person to use a multiplicity of elements to express more than one direction. The greatest freedom in Harmolodics is human instinct.²²⁹

Don Cherry is of course a vital source on Harmolodics as one of Coleman's closest and well-known collaborators.

Harmolodics is a profound system based on developing your ears along with your technical proficiency on your instrument. In the early days people felt that we didn't really know our instruments, that we were just playing anything. But Harmolodics is based on a system on notation. We have to know the chord structure perfectly, know all the possible intervals, and *then* play around it. The system gives you the freedom to phrase differently each time you play a song.²³⁰

Returning to electric bassist Jamaaladen Tacuma, he was asked about how Coleman approached harmony in Prime Time, providing another perspective and continuing to dispel the myth that chords were irrelevant in Harmolodics.

²²⁸ Coleman, Ornette. "Prime Time for Harmolodics." *Downbeat*, July 1983, 54-55.

²²⁹ "Harmolodic-Higher Instinct: Something to think about" Buhle, Paul. *Free Spirits: Annals of the Insurgent Imagination*. San Francisco: City Lights Books, 1982.

²³⁰ Silvert, Conrad. "Old and New Dreams." Downbeat, June 1980, 17-19.

There is a certain melody that is played. We might play it in harmony or individually. From the melody we go into compositional structure. We set up bridges constantly, and we actually go through the whole maze of chordal structure in music, period. Ornette might have one person play I-V, a C to a G, and have another person play C, Eb, and Bb, which can still hook up musically. He shows us different ways chords can hook up; it's incredible, he's like a wizard because he'll show you so many ways to combine chords. Ornette got me in a raw stage and what he did was just create a monster. He says I'm the master of the sequence ²³¹

In 1990, Howard Mandel spoke to three additional Prime Time members.

Keyboardist David Bryant, the great tabla player Badal Roy, and bassist Al

MacDowell about playing in a Harmolodic band.

Bryant: Ornette's not getting rid of the soloist, he's getting rid of the accompanist by elevating the role to the soloist's height.

Roy: Ornette wants me to never play the same thing more than four times. I can get a groove going, but he says, 'I'm always changing; keep playing so I can keep playing around you.' For Ornette, 30 seconds of the same thing is too long.

MacDowell (who started playing with Coleman right out of high school in 1975): Harmolodics is music *before* it's orchestrated. Jazz is live composing on the spot; Harmolodics is that, but even with a melody, it's not what you can play according to somebody else. If Ornette plays a C, he may be in C Major, but maybe C minor, or F; and he might be playing any of the three clefs. Harmolodics is my interpretation of what his playing possibilities are.²³²

Finally, I return to Coleman for more of his ideas concerning himself and Harmolodics. Howard Mandel had a unique connection with Coleman, and

²³¹ Tinder, Cliff. "Electric Bass in the Harmolodic Pocket." *Downbeat*, April 1982, 19-21.

²³² Mandel, Howard. "Ornette Coleman's Prime Time Primeval Update." *Downbeat*, November 1990, 30-31.

believed Coleman had two ideas as strong as commandments: the primacy of the individual, and the possibility of a perfect world modeled on musical rapport. He got unique responses from Coleman over the years.

The rhythm and sound are like a man and a woman, they have to get along with one another or else they'll start to fight.²³³

We can all play together, and if we all play with honesty, full attention, and freedom, the music will coalesce as it would.²³⁴

I always tell people I think of myself as a composer who plays.²³⁵

The melody can be the bass line, the modulation line, the melody, or the second or third part. That's how I see Harmolodics. You can take any melody, and use it as a bass line, or a second part, or as a lead, or as a rhythm. I do it in all the music I play. Melody is only unison, it's not melody. Melody is only unison, but there are as many unisons as there are stars in the sky.²³⁶

Coleman told Bill Kohlhasse.

I'm very scientific about the way I approach writing and playing. I'm always investigating different kinds of musical concepts, keys and ways to cue them, and usually my melodies, my unisons, come out of that. I've searched for those things

²³⁵ Ibid.

²³³ Mandel, Howard. "Ornette Coleman The Creator As Harmolodic Magician." *Downbeat*, October 78, 17-56.

²³⁴ Ibid.

²³⁶ Mandel, Howard. "The Color Of Music." Downbeat, August 1987, 17-19.

149

that you can't hear, that you have to know. That's one of the reasons that Harmolodics has been so useful in my way of dealing with musicians and music.²³⁷

Pianist and educator Dr. Lewis Porter held a workshop with Coleman for his

students at Brandeis University. Coleman had the following instructions for his

ensemble, which resulted in interesting results.²³⁸

Bass: play whole steps

Trumpet: play only 4ths

Alto: play only half steps

Piano: play only thirds

One day when I was studying with Ornette, it was just the two of us. He

played alto saxophone and I played alto clarinet. We played for about forty

minutes. On several occasions we were playing together, and both ended up

playing extended sound in the upper, very vocal ranges of the instruments. On two

or three moments we ended up holding out the same pitches, literal unisons.

Afterword's Coleman looked at me and said, "There's really nothing better than

that in life."

The unison.

²³⁷ Kohlhaase, Bill. "Coleman Classics." LA Weekly, July 1988.

238 As told to the author.

SECTION V: INTERVIEWS

14. Denardo Coleman

Denardo Coleman is of course Coleman's only son, first discussed in my chapter on Coleman and the drums. Besides being the living master of Harmolodic drums, he remains his father's number one supporter and the caretaker of his legacy since his death on June 11th, 2015. In the interview we speak about his currant activity teaching Harmolodics worldwide through connections he made between both of his parents. He still uses Ornette's loft in Chelsea to rehearse music and conduct business related to Ornette. While I was studying with Ornette, I never met Denardo. We first met at Sam Ash music where I worked during the day selling trumpets and saxophones after Ornette's death. When tenor saxophonist Joshua Redman left behind sheet music for a concert of Ornette's music from the soundtrack to Naked Lunch at the store on 34th St., management at Sam Ash music contacted me at Michiko Studios (where I currently work), not knowing who the music belonged to but believing that I would. I then called Bern Nix to acquire Denardo's telephone number to tell him I had the music, and Denardo and I agreed to meet. Shortly after this in May 2017, I discovered Nix in his room, also in Chelsea, dead from a heart attack. I immediately contacted Denardo who considered him a brother. A year later I reached out to Denardo for the interview, which then took place in May 2018 at Ornette's loft. This was the

same loft that I studied with Ornette in, and we were in the same music room, or laboratory that we had played in. Ornette's many paintings and library were exactly as I remembered, with the addition of the actual telephone from the cover of *Tone Dialing* placed nearby near where we sat.

Matt Lavelle: So, Bern talked about Ornette and Harmolodics a lot. And then of course, almost a year today we found out that Bern had moved on. Since then, I've started seeking more Harmolodics knowledge from different sources. I've been talking to Kenny Wessel about "Kathelin Gray." Kenny Wessel sent me his lead sheet from the rehearsals. Then I met Dave Bryant and he sent me his lead sheets. Then I found Pat Metheny had a real book and he had his version. There was an author named Steven Rush who did a book and he had another one. Plus, online a saxophone player named James Mahone did a transcription, So, now I had five different versions of it to try to put it together, and I'm still trying to put it together.

Denardo Coleman: Damn. Man. So, how different were the versions?

ML: They were all different. And some of the guys took hardcore positions about what certain things were. Some of them I agreed with, some of them I didn't. The key was in question. The more I investigated it, I think what I learned is that maybe Ornette intentionally created something elusive? Kenny said he would change the chords anyway. Finding out that he was dictating chords to the guys was something for me. I think a lot of people decided what they think

Ornette's music is, or what Harmolodics is, or they've decided to put a label or a style on it, but they don't really know what it is and it's misunderstood.

DC: So, the fact that he was dictating chords might not go along with?

ML: Yeah. Some musicians I've spoken with thought you could just play.

But I would really like to talk about your musical world.

DC: (Coleman spoke at length here without any questions) Yeah, yeah. But before we do that, just what you touched upon in terms of having those different versions of "Kathelin Gray," and none of them is not necessarily the definitive one or the one that's supposed to be right. Because if you listen to it, people will just say, "Okay. Well, it's a pretty understandable melody." But then you've hit on something that's so central, meaning you can't lock it into a key or just a chord progression or structure that easily fits into something. And which is an interesting thing when my father would write a song. And I remember another musician, they had been working together on something. My father wrote a song and the other person put some chords to it. So, he felt he was a co-writer with the song until my father really explained to him, "Well, those chords can change all the time. The next performance, we might change those chords." So, not coming at it from that place when you just lock into the formality of that, compared to the information of the idea. It's the idea. And that's the problem with the ... Well, not what we'll call a problem, but it's ... When you try to create a theory to match the information. If somebody puts some information, you create a theory, so you can teach this theory, and somehow become the authority on that information, creating work for

yourself and institutionalizing stuff. When that person that came up with the idea, they didn't say, "Well, okay. This is a sub-dominant of this and I'm going to move it to the this or that." No. Somebody came by later and fitted into their knowledge. And they may be limited. Their knowledge could be limited. But now you're bound by their limitations. That gets fossilized and passed around as if that's the thing. But then, somebody comes along and reveals that, "Well, that was just an idea. Your whole thing is just an idea." It's like somebody stepping outside the room and maybe figuring out they're not the only world. There're other worlds. And yet, like you're saying, when you were talking about how that B is a D, that just totally shifted this whole perception. Then you question everything at that point, because your thing is built on, "This is what it is." That's the beauty of my father and the way he just thinks. He doesn't come at it with a mindset of things stop, that where they stop is that absolute place where they can go. Because now, he's getting into the sound. He's just really getting into the properties of sound. Because obviously, around the world different cultures treat sounds in different ways.

DC: So, why is it for us in this fixed system and for these other folks, they can use it for a different purpose, and it doesn't involve any of the scales that we know or any ... It's sound, so sound, nobody can contain it. And nobody can contain how it activates you. It's energy. So, he's looking at it from going into the properties of it.

DC: And so now, if sound can energize and activate it, emotion, or if it can activate healing cells in the body, or has all these powers to it, why would you then try to regulate it to some container and then have everybody's ideas just come from that container? And so, I don't think he was trying to bring everybody's attention to the fact that there was a container.

DC: I think he was just his own thinker and was just thinking of beyond that anyway. And since his medium was jazz and saxophone, he was in that territory where it was contrast to what had been agreed upon. Then the idea that somebody's going against that became a focus. But he wasn't going against it. He was already outside and saw the other possibilities.

DC: And so, he was already passed it. But you could be out of sync then. The rest of the world as we know, they've all agreed on something. And you don't agree with ... It's not that you don't agree with what they agreed upon. You don't agree that it should even be an agreement. You know what I mean?

DC: So, you're just not participating in that whole line of thinking, because you realize there's this expansion of ideas and ways of thinking. And people have proven it, because whether you believe it works for you. If it was an absolute, that same thing would have to apply to everybody. But it doesn't apply to everybody.

DC: If you believe frogs are God, frogs are God. You know what I mean? If you believe frogs are not God ... But it works for you. If that believe, whatever your belief is, works for you, get you through, powers you, gives you energy, gives you that strength. And so, how are you to somebody else, "That doesn't exist?"

DC: How can you say what exists and what doesn't exist? What works, what doesn't work? And so, then you don't have those kinds of limitations, now you're exploring. So, that's really what it's about. You are exploring. And then, you're able to ... When you're open, you're able to make connections to other things that ... And it wasn't his music.

DC: This is just how he is. He would just put it on his plate. He would put different combinations of food together that you wouldn't normally think go together. So, that's why I'm saying that's just how he was in general. And that would create a new taste. And some things he would just like. He might, instead of when people mix iced tea and lemonade. That kind of thing.

DC: So, that was his thing. He would mix that kind of thing up. And that would be what he would dream, or something like that. And so, it's like the ... So, James Blood Ulmer. We put this Ornette tribute out that celebrated Ornette, and they had liner notes for different people.

DC: And so, Blood wrote a liner note. And really, what he was saying was, he was talking about Harmolodics. He said the title of it was, "To be a Harmolodic player you have to be a Harmolodic person." And that's really what it meant. It wasn't about a music thing. It's really about the openness of the universe and being open to the universe.

DC: And the fact that the universe is ... There's so much more to it. There's so much more there. And so, I'm sure when you talk about my father, you've got a lot of just that, the philosophy of ... And he had his own language. So, he made

what he saw was good music ... And when he talks about the unison, he's really talking about melody, what people call melody. But he calls it unison and things like that.

DC: And then, when we would rehearse, and we'd play something, he would pull the guys and say, "Okay. Well, what key was that in?" So, when you talk about the key, everybody had a different answer. But it wasn't because he wanted it to be elusive. It was revealing itself that there's many answers. It doesn't have to be one answer. That's the whole. It doesn't have to be one answer. It can be many answers. That's why it can be many versions. But now, what if you're playing all those keys? Now your ideas it's like wow. And all those clefs. So, now those clefs open up all those other sounds.

DC: That's why if you've got the four clefs and you run stuff through the different clefs, or you're thinking about it through a different clef and you're playing something else, it takes you. It's like a device that takes you out of having a set mindset. And you've now super imposed other things. And once you hear some super imposed ideas, that wakes another part of your senses up. And so, now your ideas are traveling in a different place. And so, I think Harmolodics in terms of musical theory, it's like a device to get a person into a different space so they can think in a more expanded way so that ... Because it's hard. It's hard if you think of scale and chords in a way. If it's lined up in a way. No, you can have great ideas and sound really great and all that. But now, if you don't line them up, if you don't line

them up then what can happen? But it's like, "How do you not line them up?" It's like if you get a plate of food and you warm it up, because that's automatic.

DC: It's like, "Alright, I've got to warm my food up." But now, okay. Well. What if somebody says, "Alright, you've got four things on your plate. Just warm two things up to this temperature. Warm these other things up and not at all. Then you get them back together, mix them together." Now you've got a whole totally different experience of what you think that is or what it isn't.

DC: But it changes your perceptions to a degree to maybe now you don't treat it as just a routine. Maybe you taste something else. Maybe that taste now takes you to like, "Oh, wow. You know what? I've got to look at food differently now." So, to me Harmolodic theory and Harmolodic. Like Kenny, like all of us. We've been just giving hundreds and hundreds, if not, thousands of lessons, how to get to all these places.

DC: And with him, he will play what he's talking about. But you've got to ... Like you're saying, it takes a while to really absorb it and for it to really line up, so you can translate it to yourself. Because, like I say, he's got his own language. He's so advanced in what he's figured out that sometimes when he's speaking, he's speaking from his perspective that he sees clear as day. Maybe the other person doesn't see it as clearly, so he'll try to demonstrate that. And so, yeah, it's interesting. So, I'm going to try to do what you're talking about, meaning I've got to, you know. So, he wanted to put this all together like in the book. And he's written that book, but he's written it 200 different times. So, we're going to try to

put that book together. But I think the way you went about it in terms like the "Kathelin Gray," is a really good way to talk to other musicians about it, because particularly like you said, the theory guys are guys who really are tuned into all the aspects of writing and listening. And they can analyze it. And then given the information of, "Okay. Well, look at it differently."

DC: If you're analyzing it not from that perspective but in a different way, what could you get out of it? And the thing is, it just makes sense no matter how you look at it. Meaning, it's just an idea. And now, if you boil it down to it being an idea, then you can accept it. It doesn't have to fit anything.

DC: You can accept it. It's an idea. So now, he would ... It's like Song X is a melody. But now, if you put that melody in front of somebody to play, it doesn't sound like a standard melody. It sounds like an idea. So, that's one of the reasons why he really, I think liked to play that song, because it clearly is an idea. But it's a melody.

DC: And that idea then when you get passed that melody should lead you to other ideas, because it's the ... The melody is just like the opening. And if you can make you improvisations sound stronger than that melody, that's what he's striving for. So, he'll play a song and play a melody. And again, he'll hear that melody in his improvisation.

DC: Not necessarily the notes to that melody, but how that idea of that melody relates to his ideas that came after that. And to me, that's where it's at. That's where it's at. That's all he ever talked about, were ideas. Now he was able if

he wanted to, to make the melody and the ideas, and let's just call it more conventional, he could do that. When he improvised, clearly, he was improvising in that direction. So, he could line it up that way if he chose to and make it clear. Or he'd go on a deeper level.

DC: The thing about the other musicians who can play complicated things, which is great and sounds really great, but his complicated things were more like he's just his own super computer. It wasn't complicated in a musicianship sort of way. Complicated in terms of ideas being super imposed over other idea, being super imposed over other ideas, and being able to do that in micro seconds.

DC: So, it's like, "Okay." So, that's why he's hard to figure out, because you can't. You can't. Because he wasn't following in any chord thing or something, you can't figure out his roadmap. But his roadmap is clear, but you just can't figure it out. But it's clear. And that's the good thing about it, because you're not thinking of it as a map anymore. You're not thinking of it as a map. You're thinking of it as, he's creating destinations as he goes. Creating destinations as you go. So, now you're not bound by the math, the environment, any structural thing in terms of what's already there. That's what makes it an idea. And now, you're taking that thing. But there's a lot in there, Matt. The things that you're trying to figure out are what kind of things?

ML: I feel like after the time I spent with Bern, I got closer and closer to trying to create in that space that you just described. And at the same time, at Rutgers I've gone through jazz history step by step. And in the beginning, for a

while I was a totally straight guy, but I really wasn't. I was just looking at the liner notes to Sound Museum and he was saying that the way that people use style is that it's like a punishment of free will. And I have, for most of my musical life, been a slave to stylistic perceptions. In the notes Ornette said, "Sound or music has been a slave to styles." And so, Harmolodics for me is basically, was freedom. The word you just said I really like, is unbound. Like it's okay for you to be who you really are. For me, that's beyond profound. It's like a spiritual thing. It's like letting people attach themselves to their own soul.

ML: And whatever that is, it's okay. But not only that. From Ornette I felt that's what he's asking you to do. He's not asking you to follow in a specific set of rules but come out and play who you are outside of that context. So, for me I'm coming around full circle to Harmolodics. People want to put styles on me, but I'm operating from a place where I'm just being who I am. But I don't think I would have got there if I didn't cross paths with him, for him to encourage that kind of thing. You know?

DC: Yeah. But now, why do you think it exists in a sense of it gets taught that way? The way it gets taught?

ML: And that could be institutionalization. Jazz education is such a big thing. It seems to have a need to self-validate and self-reinforce. I'm on the periphery though, new to it.

DC: So, do you think, is it more than one school of thought, or is it pretty much uniform at this point?

ML: It's so interesting because in seeing the video that you made, I'm starting to think that the whole thing is shifting on some levels. The video that you just made in Cuba to me is not just a subtle movement. It's like a real tectonic shift to bring those two worlds together. The musicians I cross paths with in their 20s, more and more of them that I'm encountering, is they're looking for a way out of the slave to style thing. It's hard for them because there's so much judgment that goes down. I mean, Jazz Lincoln Center has this thing called the Essentially Ellington competition that they do. That's not just surface or psychological, it is hard core judgment. They have set of laws. I've been dying to ask you what you thought about The jazz Lincoln Center Orchestra playing Ornette just a few days ago. As someone who's trying to be outside of styles, I really ... I had a hard time with it. I saw one set, and I kept thinking what Ornette would think about this. They said that they did it one time, and Ornette was there. Wynton told the audience that, "Well, Ornette said ..." Then he goes, "We can't tell you what Ornette said." He was about to say something that Ornette said, then he decided not to, so I don't know what it was. (Author's note: This ended up that Coleman told arranger Ted Nash that "You can transcribe a solo, but you can't transcribe an environment".)

ML: They were on this clinic vibe. To me, it was on stage in the process of trying to take Ornette and now put him into a box. They seemed to be suggesting that he was cool with their level of. But here they are trying to deliver a lecture explaining this is what Ornette's music was like, and then they have their

arrangements. To me, they did these long intricate arrangements, and then they would try to blow. To me, they were all missing. Everybody was missing the point They seemed to be in that place, this place where a lot of people go where they think that if you're in an open space that you can just go anywhere, say anything. You can just disregard everything and just play some random stuff. There was no search for ideas. There was no urgent need to come up with a new melodic idea. There was no search for that idea that's coming from you that you can really feel, that kind of in-the-moment urgent kind of thing.

DC: Yeah.

ML: I had heard about something like this before with when they did a concert with Wayne Shorter. I wasn't there, but someone that I know was there, and he said Wayne didn't look like he was into it because it seemed like they were literally putting him into the museum. They were literally taking him ... He's still alive, and they're trying to put his bust up on the shelf. What you just did in Cuba, this one of the things I wanted to talk to you about, I looked at your discography today, and I was checking it out. I mean, of course people associate you with Ornette of course, you're his son. You've been in his band for decades, but your mom, Jayne Cortez, I'm looking at your discography and the video, you did one of your mom's tunes, "I See Chano Pozo", and brought the Latin thing up. It all came together. You've got young people, you got a cross cultural thing going on. You got women involved ... there's a woman on percussion, there's a woman on flute ... dancers. Then the rapper comes out, and he's rapping in Spanish. The question I

wanted to ask you was he doing his own thing, or was he taking your mom's words and doing them in Spanish, or a combination of both?

DC: Well, what happened ... He was doing a take off her words. Originally, I was ... There's a good friend of my mother in Cuba who is the national poet of Cuba named Nancy Morejón ... a woman similar to my mother, and they're really close friends. I was going to have Nancy do the poem and the rapper responding to the poem. But then, kind of like how our weather was this winter where the winter was ... never went away ... it was unusually cold out in Cuba this winter. Everybody down there was sick this winter, so she got sick. We were rehearsing with her and brought the rapper in. She ended up not doing it because she got sick. By that time, we had been rehearsing and rehearsing, and he had it. He had the vibe ... you know what I mean. He was inside the poem. I said, "Let's just go with it." It wasn't those words, but it was the spirit of what she was talking about, in terms of just Cuba, Chano Pozo today and honoring the whole thing and going forward.

DC: That's what I'm saying, man. It was ... For me ... You're right, and you hear it, merging all that stuff, all my ... this who I am ... and try to keep going forward. That's what it's about.

ML: I mean, maybe what Ornette is calling for is inevitable. The boundaries between everybody ... maybe they must come down somehow, because in my group that's what it's all about. I've got everybody. I've got a rapper in there, and I've got big-time multi-generational ... I've got 19 to 65. Culture thing is mixed up, the sex thing is mixed up.

DC: Well, the thing is I don't think it's just about everybody playing their personal sound, because I think there's also progress when you are playing it, but you actually are delving in or chasing your own concept of what that is, which takes it away from this randomness. That's the things ... Some people think everybody can just play what they want and play together ... they just go this random freedom of sound. It's okay ... that's okay. But my father, day after day, is in there studying the properties and how those properties relate to one another ... those molecules, get into the DNA of it and really ... as a science. He's, every day, studying it, and you move this to there and how that affects this over here, you shift that around to there. He's constantly been writing new things. We come in and rehearse, he's got a whole new set of songs to play based on what he was doing the night before. We'll do that, we'll play. He'll listen to that, and he'll write something else the next day, but it's all in that study and search that he's going somewhere with it. It's not about just ... There's nothing wrong with freely playing, but that's not what he was doing. It sounded free because it wasn't the conventional. Because it wasn't conventional, it didn't sound like the conventional, so it sounded random. The fact that he let other people have the freedom to have their own voice made it sound even more random to those folks who were more conventional, but he was coming from his own concept.

DC: I think people should explore their own concepts. Then when they do that, you hear more depth to what they're doing because then it's ... like I said, those ideas. Ideas mean that there's something behind it. There's something

behind it. Using music for some purpose, it's for some purpose. That could be just to feel good or move and dance, or reflection. When you talk about something like rap and jazz and all that ... I mean, it's all one thing. To try to make it not, we get into the social aspect and the commercial aspects of it.

DC: Unfortunately, the state of black folks today is not very good, and that music reflects what that is today. In 1940s, that blues reflected what it was then. It's just a reflection of what it is. It's not a ... whether what it is has been imposed or whether that's closer. 1960s, black people ... It was ... The pride was able to emerge more. You had strong voices reflecting lots of different information and people being able to make their own statements more and more.

DC: Now, this is my own personal reflection. But by the time that became too powerful, then black society was inundated with crack. That is what we're living with today, because I can't think of anything more powerful than when a person starts killing their own parents for five dollars or whatever. When it turns you into that, and now the children, grandchildren of that, of course ... then added upon that, the institutions that promote that. Now everything got turned on its head.

DC: What you hear reflected in rap is that it glorifies you being in the gutter. The more gutter you are, the more glorified you are, in terms of what's commercially pushed. That is true. I mean, the reflection ... That's not a reflection of black people. That's a reflection of the condition they've been put in and psychologically contorted into, but that's what it is. It's really a matter of

conscious. Consciousness got too strong coming up 40, 50, 60 ... all the way back to the 70s, 80s. It got too strong and too threatening, and people get that conscious. Anything to crush that is what has happened since, and what gets promoted to the masses is that contorted image now.

ML: Yeah.

DC: Let's talk about that. I hate to say jazz is not that much further away from that. Jazz got so super advanced ... super advanced ... and that came from black culture and what it produced, in terms of how you had to survive. It's like soul food ... take the scraps and create incredible nourishment. You take the instruments, you take what you know, and you create something that's really advanced, never been here before. Now they call it jazz. Where it was in 1950 doesn't mean that's where it ... That was just how it was exploding. It was exploding all this time, then it got cut off. It got cut off because it was too advanced. What if it hadn't got cut off for these past 50 years? Well, it would have maybe outdated what they call classical music. It was a threat to all of that, so it got cut off. The growth was cut. Somebody else can now take ownership of it and use it how they want, in the same way that black culture can be destroyed on a certain level so other people can take ownership of it and use it how they want.

That's just consciousness. That's why I'm saying ... You were talking about my mother and other folks who are understanding that level. That's the level of the game. That's what I'm saying. But if you're bottled up into the limitations of the

prescribed thinking, you just can't see the bigger picture. The picture is just so much bigger than all of that.

DC: That's the thing. It goes ... Like you said, it goes so far back. When you get to people and talk to people who are really knowledgeable, they'll tell you something that's related so far back so you understand really close to what the genesis of the thinking and thought process is. Then you start to really understand the layers of it ... you're not just reacting on the surface. Even if that surface is 100 years ... I'm talking about 500 or 1,000 years ... People understand how the society formed, because the way the society formed is still how we are today.

Understanding how society formed and this move to that, then you start to understand really how we got where we are and who we are.

ML: I was also thinking about you and Bern in both groups, Prime Time and Fire-spitters, and both groups existing at the same time. I know you spoke about Bern a little bit. For a certain period of time, you were in both bands together. It's really the same energy, because it wasn't like ... It really wasn't like two different experiences. It was the same experience.

ML: Yeah.

DC: Yeah. I mean, the thing ... My mother, she really wanted that exact same thing. That's the thing about harmolodics and now having all of that territory over there to work with. That means your ideas can flow ... you're really breathing fire. That's exactly what she wanted.

ML: Would you say she was also Harmolodic?

DC: Oh, yeah.

DC: Well, I think the thing is there's a lot of people who are Harmolodic.

You are Harmolodic.

ML: Yeah. Thank you.

DC: Yeah. No, that's the thing about it. That person may not call themselves that, but those people who really are in expanded universe ... That's all it is. That's all harmolodics is, is expanded universe. You're harmolodic. I mean, that's how my father would explain what that energy is.

DC: There's lots of Harmolodic people. Cecil Taylor wouldn't call his music Harmolodic ... I would call it Harmolodic. We're just talking about from a philosophical point of view, it's not from a theoretical point of view. It's the fact that he's in an expanded place ... his universe is way expanded. He was able to get to ideas and play the way he played, which ... It's just him. It's him, but he knew exactly what he was doing. He could play something for hours. It wouldn't repeat itself, but he could play that same thing again if he wanted to. He had concept. He had his concept. The way he played, and the sound became a healing sound. I mean, I could see him as the leader of some community. When they needed to have certain things bring things to another level of understanding, they could have him play and that would happen.

DC: That's what my father would call that ... and my mother. That's the one thing about great artists, so to speak, is they're usually great because they've expanded things. They've somehow expanded how you can hear things or their

writing or their voice, their way of thinking. They keep expanding where we're at as people. He calls that energy Harmolodic.

DC: My mother is ... Then you have those types of people who are really looking to expand, they're on a mission to expand. That's one of the harder things to do as an artist, if you consider an abstract artist. You're on a hard mission.

DC: I mean, it's an easy mission and a hard one, easy in the sense that you're on your own mission, you're not trying to ... you're not worried about being judged by some other people's conditions, so that's good. But then you have to really challenge yourself. You have to really challenge yourself to ... so you can see that thing and you're able to manipulate that thing. It's very interesting.

ML: Man, I keep looking at your drums. I wanted to ask you about ... In realms of the drums themselves and harmolodics, were there certain things that Ornette ... Anything harmolodic or anything drum specific ... You have your own sound universe.

DC: Well, you know what, he brought me up in a totally Harmolodic way.

ML: Right.

DC: You know? So, I was interested in drums and always liked his drummers and always watched them. Took some drum lessons, but then we started playing together. He said, "Alright, you're another instrument. Don't worry about the role of the drums. You know ... We are equal soloists."

ML: Right.

DC: So, alright, I'm eight years old.

ML: Right.

DC: So that's how I approached it. You know, now, obviously, in terms of ... the drums having that rhythmic role, he said, "Yeah, the drums have that rhythmic role. But you can keep a pulse by what you're playing. You don't have to keep time to keep a pulse". That's the key right there.

ML: Yeah.

DC: You know, and you can still keep a pulse in terms of that aspect of the drums. You know? But you can do it by any ideas what you play, how you play it, your approach. It's different ways to do it, without it just being strictly a time thing. You know. Nothing wrong with being time as part of it. But you're not bound by that, where you have to ... You know what that's like. You're the train and that's the track you're on. You're just on that track, regardless. You know, you're not worried about ... You got to stay on that track. If you know where you're going, then you just know where you're going. You don't have to worry about the train being on the track. You know where you're going. And you can hear it, like when he plays, it's all there. I mean the tempo, swing, it's all there. You know. And if he wanted to break that up into something else, he would break it up into something else. And it had its own tempo and swing. You know, so. But just because that's the way I came up, I assumed that's how you're supposed to play the drums. You know. So yeah, for me, if I play with somebody, I'm naturally going to start playing with them. As opposed to maybe just holding the tempo, keeping

time. It's just how I hear it. And so, without really knowing it, I just came up in a harmolodic way- of learning the instrument.

DC: But then, I didn't work as hard as he worked. I mean, he worked so hard. So even though he's going into the properties of sound, you're going into that, but you're also a master of playing your instrument. because to me that it's an instrument. You know what I mean? Instrument meaning, it's a tool to get you some place. It's a tool you're using. You know what I mean? You always say don't let the instrument play you, you know? And so, that's what it is, it's an instrument. And so, you use that instrument to get to where you're trying to get to. So, the drums, they're just an instrument now.

DC: One thing nice about the drums though, because that's probably one of the most ancient musical devices. People used it for so many different things. It's like, going to Cuba. You know. The nice thing about it is, being in a really different culture. It's just a good thing to experience, being in a different culture. Seeing how the musicians respond in that video. It's like, you've given them ... Like we were saying, they now find themselves in the environment, and you're playing with them, and they can just be.

ML: And they seem to be really happy. The positivity is palpable in the video.

DC: You know? They're really happy to be there. To be in that situation.

ML: They're free of all that you have to do this, you have to do that.

172

DC: Yeah, yeah. I know. I think, you know, that's the reason why I had to be

there a lot. Because, if you don't experience that thing, there's no way for you to

know it.

ML: Yeah.

DC: You know. You've got to experience. Like, if you hadn't been in here

with my father, someone can tell you about it on paper, or you can read about it,

but when you experience it, it then is possible. Then that world that somebody's

talking about, you're in that world now all of a sudden. Or you're outside of your

normal thing, and your eyes are now more open, or your senses are more open to

things. And so, yeah that was good. Because, they were open to come on the

journey, so to speak. And it opened more and more as we played, so the more

open it became. You know. So that okay, they didn't have to stay locked in to

something, you know. And then we could now have conversations, and it can

move around the room, and we can come back. So, they absorbed it, you know.

They absorbed it, in terms of just the Harmolodic, you know, sort of, energy. So,

that's what I'm kind of, interested in doing with that. I'm going to go to some other

places, and just start Harmolodic bands.

ML: Yeah!

DC: You know? Cause ...

ML: Almost like an ambassador. You set up Harmolodics in different parts

of the world.

DC: Exactly. You got to get that energy. That energies got to go. And then, even Cuba, you know. It's not like, do that and then leave, I'm going to be going back and forth there, keeping it ongoing, you know. Ongoing. In the meanwhile, like I said, I'm trying to take this harmolodic, all these lessons, and put it into some sort of format. So that people can get into it, you know. And really, it's just a device, you know, to open the door and let you see that, you know, you're just in a room. It's just a device to get you out the room.

ML: Yeah.

DC: You know, it's not like you have to play like him, or sound like him, or be a jazz musician, you know. It's just a device to get you out the norm. But it's got lots of ways to try to get you out of that norm. It's hard to get out the norm you know.

ML: Yeah.

DC: But, you know, it's a way to maybe help find the door, to open the door.

And like, okay, that means there's something else. Just the fact that there's a door.

You know because, when you think this is the whole world, this is the whole world.

ML: Yeah.

DC: So, I'm going to try to provide something ...

ML: It really feels like it's the logical next step. Like, for, you know, for the philosophy, for it to open up and be spread out around the world.

DC: Yeah, yeah. Because it's just unlocking that energy. You know. And then where it goes is where it goes. You know. It's like, if everybody is now weighed down with the same thing, we got to start to unlock that thing, you know. And let that energy out, because jazz, I don't think it was meant to be what it has become.

ML: Yeah.

DC: You know. It was something that was just growing. I mean, that was where it was at that time, that person came with their energy, and they took that sound, and that way of doing things, and moved it. Then that person moved it. Then that person moved it. You know? So, it's moving. Wasn't meant to just get chopped, and then institutionalized. You know, it got chopped because it got too powerful. It was getting too powerful. You know, consciousness of black people in the USA got chopped because it was getting too powerful.

ML: It's like a friend of mine told me, whoever controls Africa, controls the world.

DC: Mm-hmm (affirmative)-

ML: Right? And, my wife is from Zimbabwe and I spent a few weeks in South Africa and Zimbabwe at the turn of the year. And, I saw a choice, like the South African segregation thing is so deep.

ML: And I wonder, I'm real curious now about the musicians that I met in ...

The African musicians that I've met, how much they'd be open to harmolodics.

DC: I have a way to find out. I'm going to Senegal.

ML: (laughing) Alright!

DC: I'm going to start band over there. I'm going to hit Senegal first,
Nigeria, Ghana, South Africa, Ethiopia. But we'll start with Senegal. Yeah, yeah.

ML: Cool.

DC: Yeah. And you know, I met some musicians. Because my mother has a house there.

ML: In Senegal?

DC: In Senegal. She has a house there. And so, I haven't been in a little while. But when I went ... You know, I met some musicians the last time, which was a few years ago. Then I played with some musicians over here who came for a program.

ML: In regard to your own craft, we only played together that one time at Bern's memorial.

DC: Yeah, yeah. Well. And that comes from my father's and my mother's energy.

Matt Lavelle: Yeah.

DC: Being just, those type of people. Where it was just, real.

ML: Yeah.

DC: You know, you know. And, in that way, so natural and free flowing. So, it's like, you know, you can be easy going, and intense at the same time.

ML: There was one time, I was a foot messenger, when I was studying with Ornette, and I got so demoralized. I was out on the streets, grinding. And it was

raining, I was just having the worst day... And I was like, "You know what, I got to find some way to ... I need to change direction because I'm going really dark. So, I just stopped, and I just called Ornette on the phone. I didn't even know what I was going to talk about. Right away, he got into deep spirituality and he said, "The soul is eternal".

DC: So, that was just his normal way of going, you know? And so, but as you reach for something, and you get there, that makes you want to keep going. That's the thing, you know, that's the push, you know. And that's a good thing. Yeah, because, you know, then you start having a conversation with yourself, and then that expands to other people, and you know, that's that movement, that's that movement.

15: Kenny Wessel

Kenny Wessel was previously mentioned in my discussion of the guitar in Harmolodics. Wessel teaches where I work at Michiko rehearsal studios in Times Square, New York City. Our conversations quickly became centered around Ornette after I told him I worked with Bern Nix and asked him about Coleman's great piece "Kathelin Gray." As I was closing the section on the guitar, he offered to discuss Harmolodics by phone. We had the interview on the evening of February 5th, 2018. Wessel was very generous with his perspective and took me deep into the laboratory with Coleman. Prime Time has been largely misunderstood, and Wessel shows how it was the most harmolodic of all of Coleman's projects.

Matt Lavelle: So Prime time collaborated with Pat Metheny?

Kenny Wessel: Yes, in 1988 at the Montreux Jazz Festival. Metheny was the guest artist at the festival so he was sitting in with different bands. It was after Song X. Metheny wanted to sit in with the band.

ML: How did you and Chris feel about Metheny sitting in?

KW: I'm a fan so I was cool with it. Metheny had a lot of equipment

ML: Did Prime Time have roadies?

KW: There were three guys that helped set up and run the show and work the monitors.

ML: So, you were with Ornette for 12 years 1988 to 2000. You guys performed *Skies of America* with Prime Time.

KW: Yes, We did that several times.

ML: I know of one bootleg of one of these performances. Prime Time played through the entire Symphony or interludes or?

KW: It was orchestrated. Ornette got together with John Giordano. A conductor from Texas with the Houston Symphony. They figured out how to have us play with the orchestra. There were times when we played ourselves, other times the Orchestra played by themselves, and sometimes the orchestra held out chords and we would be blowing over that. Ornette put some thought into it. It's a great piece. It was a lot of stuff from the original recording, but he worked in new material for Prime Time. Tunes like "Compute" and "Spelling the Alphabet."

ML: I was watching a prime-time concert in Lugano and in the third part there was an extremely fast tempo for you and Chris to play over. It sounded like it might have been very difficult to play lines at that speed.

KW: I would shed that Melody at home like crazy with the metronome. I would get it to where I think Ornette would want it. Then as soon as I got it in rehearsal, he would want it to be much faster.

ML: Beyond the metronome.

KW: I would try to execute the notes. Like Ornette or like the saxophone. I tried to play the pitches that he wrote, and Chris started doing these gestures, running his hands up the strings fast and down doing a gestural approximation of

what the line was. To be honest with you I think Chris got closer to the spirit of the song than I did. I was always way behind Ornette. He was always faster. Chris had the shape of it. It was sort of like hearing Don Cherry. The quartet with Don Cherry was playing while I was in Prime Time, where we did a couple of tunes with them and when we were on the same bill. I went to some rehearsals just to check out that quartet with Charlie and Billy and Don. I remember one-time Ornette had this new music, typical Ornette with fast sinewy lines. They were trying to pull it together as a new tune. Ornette said, "Hey Don, let me hear you play that melody by yourself." Don played it, and it sounded terrible. He was missing notes and flubbing. Ornette said, "Okay let's play it together again." They played it again and Don's chops were not in good shape. He had problems with drugs and his health and stuff. But the way he was playing, he was hitting all the right gestures at the right time. When they played together it sounded really great. It sounded like the old records, though by himself it didn't sound good at all. It was an interesting lesson for me. It wasn't always about the pitches and the right articulation, it was more about the feeling, the shape, and the gestures.

ML: Ornette didn't give him a hard time, interesting. In 70s Prime Time

Bern was the melody guy and Ellerbee was like a rock and disco guy. At the Prime

Time reunion Lincoln Center, it looked like Denardo booked the two different

Prime Times. The Bern version seemed to have a 70s vibe and you guys had an 80's

and 90's thing. Did you and Chris choose your own territory or did Ornette try to

steer you into different positions like Bern and Ellerbee?

KW: He did that occasionally. He would give one of us chords to play, or I want you to play this rhythmic figure, lock in with this person, and the other person he might give a countermelody, or he would play the melody with him. Chris was more the Rhythm guy and I was the Counterpoint Melody guy. After rehearsing with the 70s guys it really seems that they were coming from an R&B place. Our Prime Time was more jazz, more interaction and less funky. We were more abstract. it's just a feeling I had after hanging out with both Prime Times. Those guys are so funky.

ML: So, you and Badal Roy joined Prime Time on the same day.

Wessel: True, we started a band writing music together back then, and still play together. I was still playing straight-ahead jazz on the side too when Prime Time wasn't working. I would be running to a gig at the 55 bar after an 8-hour rehearsal with Ornette. I would say, okay that's the other side of the brain I have to access now.

ML: I heard about Marathon rehearsals with Ornette from Bern.

KW: 6 to 8 hours, but Al McDowell was in both Prime Times and he said what he did in the second Prime Time was nothing compared to what he did during the first. Ornette would hire a chef so that they wouldn't even have to leave. They wouldn't break, the chef would be cooking while they were playing. 12 or 13 hours was typical. I would be in the studio nine or ten hours. I would get there at 12 or 1 and we would finish at 10. The call would be for noon, and maybe one or two guys would get started. At least 7 hours was not unusual. The chef

happened with the old group. Those guys even lived together in Paris for 6 months, rehearing the whole time.

ML: When I was studying with Ornette, he told me to quit all the bands I was in and move in. That's when I blinked, and I couldn't do it. Those intensives that you guys experienced, I only experienced about six or seven of those.

KW: You got the vibe. The rehearsals were like classes, you're in school with Ornette. He might be talking about why a half-step is really a fifth. What is an A and B? You would say it's a whole step. He would say no, it's a flat fifth. What's the fifth of D? (A) What's the minor third of A-flat? (B) What's D and A flat? (flat five!)

KW: He would work these intervallic relationships. I wouldn't take him serious at first, but he kept doing that for years with us. He'd say what's E and F, you would say a half step, he would say no it's a sixth. At a certain point, I thought I would either lose my mind or figure out a way to understand this. I wanted to find some sense in this, he's serious about this. One of the things he would say, he would quote Buckminster Fuller, "If you think there's such a thing as up and down your living in the Dark Ages." A and B is a whole step, but A is also the fifth of D, A is also the seventh of B, the second of A. It also has all these properties and relationships. If you don't see those relationships, you just limit your understanding of A and B as a whole step, and you're losing some possible connections and information that you can use in your playing. Ornette heard this stuff and understood it intellectually, all these different references. When I hear A and B maybe I can use a D and A flat chord. It gives you other information and

other pathways. One of the things that I feel is important in understanding harmolodics is that Ornette was always trying to generate more information from the information that was there. More relationships from the simple relationships. He never spoke about anything more complicated than the intervals from 1 to 8. Major Minor triads, Seventh chords, Major scales. He never talked about altered scales or half whole diminished or a flat 13. He used simple pieces of things and put them together in very unusual ways. That's why he liked playing over Prime Time because there was so much information. there was so much information that we were presenting all the time with all of these people playing simultaneously, Ornette was just floating over the top synthesizing our lines into his own stuff.

One time I told Ornette that I really enjoyed a concert by the quartet, and he said, "yeah that's just tombstoning." The promoters wanted him to do stuff from the old days. Nobody liked Prime Time. We were expensive, We were a loud group, dissonant, the critics didn't like us, the promoters didn't like us. Some people did, but I think a lot of people preferred the acoustic quartet. He wanted to play with Prime Time, that was his concept. All that counter information happening at the same time. His ear was pretty incredible. He could hear stuff and generate lines based on what we were playing. I could always hear it. He just picked up that line or that motive.

ML: I heard Haden say he couldn't get Ornette away from Prime Time. Do You consider yourself Harmolodic today?

KW: Definitely. He opened my ears up. He opened my approach to music up. The way I write. The way I lead a band. The way I think and listen. He had a big impact on me. I'm grateful. He knocked me out of my comfort zone for a long time.

ML: Bern had this running joke about Harmolodics anonymous.

KW: Yeah, when we met, he said welcome to Harmolodics anonymous.

Bern had a complicated relationship with Prime Time.

ML: Bern Described a type of psychological warfare, that sometimes bordered on manipulation. So how did Prime Time reach a conclusion?

KW: I never really knew that it was over. We were touring like crazy in the beginning. Three weeks in Europe. Three weeks in the states. As time went on the tours became shorter. A long tour would be a week. He became more selective about what he was accepting. We were never finished, we just stopped working. We were still part of the family. I still feel like I'm part of this Harmolodic family.

ML: Do you have students in Harmolodics?

KW: Some. I've done a bunch of workshops, some in Europe. I'll force it on some of my straight-ahead students.

ML: I started my chapter on Ornette and the guitar with Blood.

KW: He made a Harmolodic guitar chart if I can find it.

ML: *Song X* is like bomb in the middle.

KW: I think it's a great record, Metheny was an Ornette fan. He had his triadic thing. One thing though, Pat said he wrote the chords, but they sound like

Ornette chords. I was around Ornette enough to know how he put chords together, and how he puts his tunes together. It's possible that he may have suggested a couple of things if Ornette was reading the chords off, but then I could have said the same thing. There were a couple times I would say hey Ornette how about a B-flat there? He wouldn't come in with the chords written. He would have a melody and compose a chord progression there, so I would imagine that's what happened on "Kathelin Gray."

ML: The live version of "Kathelin Gray" that I heard you guys play was totally different from any other version I've heard.

KW: He would change things and change chords from rehearsal to the next. He wasn't married to it.

ML: This has been extraordinarily helpful, I really appreciate this Kenny.

SECTION V: Conclusion

One of the goals in writing my thesis has been to challenge the idea that Ornette Coleman did not know what he was doing. Suspicious of the rules of Western harmony as a teenager, Coleman spent his entire life investigating how music and sound function from his perspective, the way he heard music. All evidence shows that Coleman may have spent more time playing in search of answers than any other jazz musician. The evidence also shows that he knew exactly what he was doing. He didn't find his voice and then speak it for the rest of his life. His entire life was a musical vision quest. He was never content to just find and then document the answers to his questions through music. There were always more questions to ask and answer, always new music to find and play, just around the corner. Composing was intrinsic to his process, and evidence shows he spent a great deal of time writing as well. Over and over, from recording to concert, he continually searched for the musically unknown. In his later years I witnessed him pick up the alto saxophone on several occasions and try to improvise something completely new with a great deal of conviction, as if he were on stage at the Five Spot with Miles Davis and John Coltrane in the front row. Ornette was still going for it after decades years of doing just that. When he wasn't playing music, the search into the unknown continued as he would endlessly

question and discuss the mysteries of life, constantly in awe of birth, death, love, and sex and how all of it related to music. His process came to be called Harmolodics as I have shown. In time Coleman's process became more and more a spiritual practice. His honesty, fearlessness, and humble dedication to his own identity changed the jazz world forever. Coleman didn't invent the term free jazz, but his arrival in New York and the attention he received opened the doors that countless musicians have gone through ever since. Today in 2019 there are hundreds, maybe thousands of serious musicians that are engaged in committed improvisation, especially in New York City. All of them exist by way of Coleman's successful mission as the great metaphysical inventor in jazz history. Coleman knew he would find things in his quest, and he knew how to look. Along the way he formed key alliances with musician's that became pillars in his story. Don Cherry, Charlie Haden, David Izenzon, Charnett Moffett, Jamaaladeen Tacuma, Billy Higgins, Ed Blackwell, Charles Moffett, Bern Nix, Kenny Wessel, and Denardo Coleman will forever be known for their part in Coleman's story. A story that didn't just change music but changed the world. Ornette Coleman's music will continue to change lives for centuries to come.

TRANSCRIPTIONS AND ANALYSIS

16. Kathelin Gray

"Kathelin Gray" was recorded on the album *Song X* released in December of 1985. It was recorded again by Ornette in 1995 with Prime Time on the album *Tone Dialing*. It's been recorded as many as nine times by others, as a type of Harmolodic ballad. Coleman doesn't solo but repeats the melody a second time for Pat Metheny to solo over. Kenny Wessel who played the piece with Coleman and provided insight, provided me with a copy of his personal lead sheet with chords dictated to him from Coleman, please see page 193. I also used Pat Metheny's transcription from his personal fakebook as well as a transcription I found online by James Mahone and a fourth transcription by Stephen Rush. I debated with Rush over the key of the piece. I transcribed Charlie Haden's bass line.

Key points that I discovered through analysis:

1- Coleman played his music based on knowledge of Western harmony and a simultaneous need to not be bound by established rules. He said that what he really wanted more than anything was to be able to play whatever he felt without having to worry about whether it was right or wrong.

- 2- Ornette does use conventional harmony to an extent, on his own terms. Sound and idea resolution are practiced, but proper voice leading is irrelevant.
- 4-He wants the music to be in a constant state of becoming and give the listener just enough to hold on to.
- 5- "Kathelin Gray" works based on the strength of the ideas delivered with emotional expression. Metheny and Haden are essential to this. I will discuss the use of chords throughout. Metheny and Haden used them, while Ornette and the melody were the core focus. Metheny adds chords, and Haden outlines chords using roots and 5ths. I have broken the piece down into four sections. Please see pages 192-195.

Section A (8 bars)

- 1- A 2-5-1 progression in A Major begins the piece and Ornette told Stephen Rush there was a 2-5-1 present. It is only a starting point. An A Maj chord returns in measure 6.
- 2- At the end of measure 5, Metheny adds a C Maj chord that Haden uses on both choruses.
- 3- The melody in measures 6 and 7 are direct outlines of minor chords. While Ornette told Kenny there was an A Maj at measure 7, both Metheny and

Haden play C#-, which is also in the melody. Kenny said that while these chords were the ones Ornette gave them, he would change them all the time and in 3 months they might be told 3 different chords.

4-. Kenny also said the piece is more about the movement of a 4th and section A measures 2, 4, 5, and 6 move up a 4th

Section B (8 bars)

- 1- In measure 7 Metheny plays F#-7b5 B7 and E- in place of Coleman's G-
- 2- Measures 2-4 have more 4th movement
- 3-In measures 1-4 Haden uses Coleman's chords and in measures 5-8 he uses the Metheny chords.
 - 3- Measures 2 and 3 are a whole step apart
- 4- Ornette frequently uses the third of the chord as the melody note. See measures 2,3, 4 and 5
 - 5- Section B is 3 ideas strung together

Section C (10 bars)

- 1- In measures 4-10 the melody is an outline of the Coleman chords
- 2-Measures 1-4 Haden plays both the Ornette and Metheny chords
- 3-In measures 9 and 10 Metheny adds rising 4th's (Eb7 and F) Is he trying to resolve the harmony to end the section?

Section D (7 bars)

- 1-In Measures 1 and 2 Haden uses the Metheny chords
- 2- In measures 5 and 6 Metheny adds chords to connect the melodic phrases using the melody note as a b5 in 5 and a +5 in 6.
 - 3- 4th movement continues in bars 1 3 and 4.
 - 4- Measures 5-7 use Chord function II V III V I
 - 5- the 33-bar piece that started in A ends in Ab

Previously discussed pianist and keyboardist Dave Bryant recorded a second version of "Kathelin Gray." He toured with Prime Time for five years before *Tone Dialing* was recorded in Harlem. Their collaboration on the piece began with Coleman handing him the lead sheet and telling him it was his feature. They

rehearsed the piece at Coleman's Rivington St studio in the Bowery, when writer Kathlin Gray herself arrived, who was in a relationship with Johnny Dolphin.

Bryant believes the reason Ornette chose to re-record the piece after the version with Pat Metheny on *Song X* was that Metheny was taking composer cocredit for adding the chords that he included in the Pat Metheny fakebook.

Coleman wrote out a new lead sheet and told Dave that he wanted to work out the changes, and they spent several days working on the composition as a duo before the full band rehearsal. By recording without Metheny present, Bryant believes

Coleman reclaimed the tune. He would change the chords at any given time, confirmed by Kenny Wessel and Bern Nix. Bryant's lead sheet contains the notes dictated to bassist Al MacDowell, encircled above the measures. Of further interest is that on the Coleman-Bryant lead sheet all three clefs are listed, including the Harmolodic clef. Bryant's lead sheet has all half notes with bar lines separating melodic episodes without rests, serving as a guide or blueprint to learn the tune by playing it. Bryant suggested that the guitar parts might have completely different rhythmic notation.

Gmail - (no subject)

 $\label{eq:proposed_$



Kathelin Gray A

Kathelin Gray A



Kathelin Gray B

Kathelin Gray B



Kathelin Gray C

Kathelin Gray C



Kathelin Gray D

Kathelin Gray D



Klactoveedsedstene

















BIBLIOGRAPHY

Al MacDowell." The City Boys Allstars. October 14, 2015. Accessed January 18, 2019. http://www.thecityboysallstars.com/the-musicians/al-macdowell/.

"Back from Exile." Time, January 22, 1965, 43.

"Big Jay McNeely - Nervous Man Nervous - Federal 1953." YouTube. August 02, 2015. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rlrFy6epHTs.

"Blindfold Test | Charles Mingus: The Official Site." Charles Mingus The Official Site. Accessed February 11, 2019. http://mingusmingusmingus.com/mingus/blindfold-test.

"Charlie Haden on His First Time Playing at the Five Spot." NEA. June 15, 2015. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.arts.gov/audio/charlie-haden-his-first-time-playing-five-spot.

"Dewey Redman." The Independent. October 23, 2011. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/obituaries/dewey-redman-414684.html.

"Factbox: Quotes by and about Saxophonist Ornette Coleman." Reuters. June 11, 2015. Accessed February 10, 2019. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-people-ornettecoleman-factbox/factbox-quotes-by-and-about-saxophonist-ornette-coleman-idUSKBNoOR23220150611.

"FIRESIDE CHAT WITH: RONALD SHANNON JACKSON." Interviews. Accessed January 22, 2019. https://www.jazzweekly.com/1999/03/fireside-chat-with-ronald-shannon-jackson/.

"For Bud Powell's 87th Birthday, A 2004 Bud Powell Homage in Jazziz." Today Is The Question: Ted Panken on Music, Politics and the Arts. June 16, 2014. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://tedpanken.wordpress.com/2011/09/27/for-bud-powells-87th-birthday-a-2004-bud-powell-homage-in-jazziz/.

"For The Love of Ornette." Atom. https://jamaaladeenmusic.com/album/36564/for-the-love-ofornette."Harmolodic-Higher Instinct:Something to think about"

"JAMES BLOOD ULMER." Miles Davis- The Electric Years- Perfect Sound Forever. Accessed January 28, 2019. https://www.furious.com/perfect/bloodulmer.html.

"Jazz Improvisers." Katie Couric - You Can Watch #GenderRevolution Right Here... Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.facebook.com/JazzImprovisers/videos/1000392320071453/.

"Lincoln Center Festival: Ornette Coleman's Chamber Music at Stanley H. Kaplan Penthouse." ZEALnyc. May 30, 2017. Accessed December 30, 2018. https://zealnyc.com/lincoln-center-festival-ornette-colemans-chamber-music-at-stanley-h-kaplan-penthouse/.

"Lyle Mays / Pat Metheny - Interviews With Lyle Mays And Pat Metheny." Discogs. January 01, 1986. Accessed February 04, 2019. https://www.discogs.com/Lyle-Mays-Pat-Metheny-Interviews-With-Lyle-Mays-And-Pat-Metheny/release/1545687.

"Max Roach and Dizzy Gillespie - Max Dizzy, Paris (1990)." Something Else! December 28, 2016. Accessed February 25, 2019. http://somethingelsereviews.com/2007/07/30/max-roach-and-dizzy-gillespie-max-dizzy-paris-1990/.

"My Father Was Deep by Denardo Coleman." Ornette Coleman. Accessed January 22, 2019. http://www.ornettecoleman.com/father-deep-denardo-coleman/.

"The Unwritten Theory: Guitar Harmolodic." Vimeo. January 27, 2019. Accessed January 28, 2019. https://vimeo.com/94781026.

"To Be A Harmolodic Player, You Have To Be A Harmolodic Person". Directed by Ulmer Blood James. Celebrate Ornette! CD Box Set. June 2016.

"Wilmer Wise: Be Sure Brain Is Engaged before Putting Mouthpiece in Gear. | Greenleaf Music by Dave Douglas." Greenleaf Music - Dave Douglas Jazz Blog and Store. January 04, 2010. https://greenleafmusic.com/wilmer-wise-be-sure-brain-is-engaged-before-putting-mouthpiece-in-gear/.

ACT Music - In the Spirit of Jazz. "Joachim Kühn." ACT Music. Accessed February 18, 2019. https://www.actmusic.com/en/Artists/Joachim-Kuehn/Melodic-

<u>Ornette-Coleman/Melodic-Ornette-Coleman-CD/Produkt-Info-Melodic-Ornette-Coleman.</u>

ArtistsHouseMusic. "Jazz Pianist Don Friedman on Playing With Ornette Coleman and Chet Baker." YouTube. September 13, 2011. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CZPbv5_qVeo.

Author unknown

Berry, Jason, Jonathan Foose, and Tad Jones. *Up from the Cradle of Jazz: New Orleans Music since World War II*. Lafayette: University of Louisiana at Lafayette Press, 2009.

Bourne, Michael. ""Ornette's Interview"." Downbeat, November 22, 1973.

Buhle, Paul, Charles Amirkhanian, and Peter Garland. *Free Spirits: Annals of the Insurgent Imagination*. San Francisco: City Lights Books, 1982.

Carroll, Christopher. "The Singular Sound of Sonny Rollins." The New York Review of Books. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://www.nybooks.com/daily/2012/08/10/sonny-rollins-singular-sound/.

Caylor, Garth W. Nineteen Conversations with Jazz Musicians, New York City, 1964 1965. New York, N.Y:: Garth W. Caylor Jr., 2014.

Cdbpdx. "FLYING HOME Part 1 & 2 by Illinois Jacquet JAZZ!!" YouTube. November 22, 2009. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=J4J-Tywm_Jg.

Cogswell, and Michael. "Melodic Organization in Four Solos by Ornette Coleman." Digital Library. March 09, 2015. Accessed April 09, 2019. https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc501207/.

Coleman, Ornette, Don Cherry, Walter Norris, Don Payne, and Billy Higgins, writers. *Something Else!!! the Music of Ornette Coleman*. Contemporary, 1991, CD.

Coleman, Ornette, performer. *Celebrate Ornette*. Recorded 2016. Denardo Coleman, 2016, Vinyl recording.

Coleman, Ornette. "Prime Time for Harmolodics." *Downbeat*, July 1983, 54-55.

Cook, Richard. The Penguin Guide to Jazz Recordings. Penguin Books, 1994.

Crouch, Stanley. "Tale of the Tenor." The Village Voice, April 16, 1986, 63.

Crownpropeller. "Ornette Coleman Prime Time Lugano 1991 (1/3)." YouTube. June 11, 2015. Accessed February 10, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dHYFIXftopw.

Crutchfield, Will. "Concert: Kronos Quartet at Weill Hall." *The New York Times*, January 18, 1987.

Davis, Francis. *Jazz and Its Discontents: A Francis David Reader*. Cambridge: Da Capo Press, 2004.

Davis, Miles, and Quincy Troupe. *Miles the Autobiography Miles Davis with Quincy Troupe*. Simon & Schuster Paperbacks, 1989.

DeVito, Chris, and John Coltrane. *Coltrane on Coltrane: The John Coltrane Interviews*. Chicago, IL: Chicago Review Press, 2012.

Dixiefeet. "Sonny Rollins & Ornette Coleman - Sonnymoon For Two (Live 2010)." YouTube. February 07, 2012. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WhXlwdkcLc4&t=5s.

Farrell, Charles, and Charles Farrell. "Playing With Ornette." The Concourse. June 16, 2015. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://theconcourse.deadspin.com/playing-with-ornette-1711507776.

Feather, Leonard, and Ira Gitler. *The Encyclopedia of Jazz in the Seventies*. Da Capo Press, 1987.

Feather, Leonard. "Interview Ornette Coleman." Downbeat, July 1981, 16.

Feather, Leonard. By Leonard Feather the Encyclopedia of Jazz in the Sixties. New York: Horizon Press, 1966.

Fordham, John. "Obituary: Billy Higgins." The Guardian. May 07, 2001. Accessed January 21, 2019.

https://www.theguardian.com/news/2001/may/07/guardianobituaries.johnfordham.

Frink, Nathan A. "DANCING IN HIS HEAD: THE EVOLUTION OF ORNETTE COLEMAN'S MUSIC AND COMPOSITIONAL PHILOSOPHY." November 16, 2015. Accessed April 04, 2019. www.d-scholarship.pitt.edu/27686/1/NFdissfullPittrev2.pdf, 95.

Ginell, Richard S. "Ornette Coleman." Variety. July 15, 1997. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://variety.com/1997/music/reviews/ornette-coleman-1200450526/.

Gioia, Ted. *West Coast Jazz: Modern Jazz in California*, 1945-1960. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1998.

Glendoras. "Trudy Coleman - Come Home, Baby." YouTube. January 22, 2015. Accessed September 24, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8rNla9Jo-vk&t=28.

Goldberg, Joe. *Jazz Masters of the Fifties*. New York (N.Y.): Da Capo Press, 1983.

Guy, Jazz Video. "Ornette Coleman Solo - Rare!" YouTube. November 28, 2015. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=czS2RlmsGY4&t=324s.

Guy, Jazz Video. "Sonny Rollins and Don Cherry." YouTube. December 06, 2013. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=srweoZllaoo.

Haden, Charlie, and Josef Woodard. *Conversations with Charlie Haden*. Los Angeles: Silman-James Press, 2016.

Heckman, Don. "Charlie Haden: Everything Man." JazzTimes. Accessed January 14, 2019. https://jazztimes.com/features/charlie-haden-everything-man/.

Heckman, Don. "Jimmy Garrison." Downbeat, March 9, 1967.

Himes, Geoffrey. "James "Blood" Ulmer and Vernon Reid: Harmolodic Blues." JazzTimes. Accessed January 28, 2019. https://jazztimes.com/features/james-blood-ulmer-and-vernon-reid-harmolodic-blues/.

Holland, Bernard. "JAZZ: ORNETTE COLEMAN AT WEILL HALL." The New York Times. March 18, 1987. Accessed December 30, 2018. https://www.nytimes.com/1987/03/18/arts/jazz-ornette-coleman-at-weill-hall.html.

Holloway, Keenan. "Wallace Roney - Biography." Wallace Roney: The Official Site About. http://www.wallaceroney.com/bio.php.

Jost, Ekkehard. Free Jazz. Da Capo Press, 1994.

Jurek, Thom. "At the "Golden Circle" Stockholm, Vol. 1 - Ornette Coleman Trio, Ornette Coleman | Songs, Reviews, Credits." AllMusic. Accessed January 14, 2019. https://www.allmusic.com/album/at-the-golden-circle-stockholm-vol-1-mwoooo216128.

Jurek, Thom. "Skies of America - Ornette Coleman | Songs, Reviews, Credits." AllMusic. https://www.allmusic.com/album/skies-of-america-mwooooo61385.

Kanzler, George. "Guitarist Enjots Untying Chords." *The Star-Ledger* (Newark), September 5, 1997.

Kohlhaase, Bill. "Coleman Classics." LA Weekly, July 1988.

LightningTrident. "Ornette Coleman - Dancing In Your Head (live)." YouTube. January 25, 2008. Accessed January 03, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=72SVNgsO4P4.

Litweiler, John. *Ornette Coleman: A Harmolodic Life*. New York: Da Capo Press, 1994.

Mandel, Howard, Bob Gluck, John Litweiler, and Howard Mandel. "Ornette Honored and Playing in Prospect Park June 2014." Jumper. March 09, 2015. Accessed January 21, 2019.

http://www.artsjournal.com/jazzbeyondjazz/2015/03/ornette-honored-and-playing-in-prospect-park-june-2014.html.

Mandel, Howard. "Ornette Coleman The Creator As Harmolodic Magician." *Downbeat*, October 5, 1978, 17.

Mandel, Howard. "Ornette Coleman The Creator As Harmolodic Magician." *Downbeat*, October 78, 17.

Mandel, Howard. "Ornette Coleman's Prime Time Primeval Update." *Downbeat*, November 1990, 30-31.

Mandel, Howard. "Reasons to Be Cheerful: Wynton Books Ornette." Jumper. April 28, 2011. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.artsjournal.com/jazzbeyondjazz/2009/03/reasons to be cheerful wynton.html.

Mandel, Howard. "The Color Of Music." Downbeat, August 1987, 17-19.

Mandel, Howard. *Miles, Ornette, Cecil: Jazz beyond Jazz*. London: Routledge, 2015.

Milkowski, Bill. "Tony Falanga & Al MacDowell, Ornette Coleman's Two-Bass Tandem." BassPlayer.com. December 01, 2010. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://www.bassplayer.com/artists/tony-falanga-amp-al-macdowell-ornette-colemans-two-bass-tandem.

Monson, Ingrid Tolia. *Freedom Sounds: Civil Rights Call out to Jazz and Africa*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010.

Music, We Should Share. "Ornette Coleman Rehearsal." YouTube. June 11, 2018. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=39CMByFGkas&t=9s.

NoteVerticali, Redazione. "Ornette Coleman Trio Performing The Soundtrack 1966 DVD Quality." YouTube. June 16, 2015. Accessed January 14, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GzoboHzKOGU.

NoteVerticali, Redazione. "Ornette Coleman Trio Performing The Soundtrack 1966 DVD Quality." YouTube. June 16, 2015. Accessed January 22, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GzoboHzKOGU&t=858s.

O'Haire, Robert. "BERN NIX Memorial 7-8-17 Korean Cultural Center, NYC." YouTube. July 11, 2017. Accessed January 30, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FD7b8pjaUoM&t=66s.

OnlyJazzHQ. "Arnett Cobb - Arnett Blows for 1300." YouTube. January 04, 2013. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3WxyItz5Hwk.

P3ximus. "Ornette Coleman - Rome, Music Inn 1975." YouTube. November 24, 2013. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FlY8puv3-tw.

Palmer, Robert. ""Charlie Haden's Creed"." Downbeat, July 20, 1972.

Palmer, Robert. "ORNETTE COLEMAN'S PROPHETIC JAZZ." The New York Times. March 14, 1982. Accessed January 30, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/1982/03/14/arts/ornette-coleman-s-prophetic-jazz.html.

Pareles, Jon. "JAZZ'S ODD COUPLE JOIN FORCES TO MAKE SPLENDID MELODY." The New York Times. April 20, 1986. Accessed February 04, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/1986/04/20/arts/jazz-s-odd-couple-join-forces-to-make-splendid-melody.html.

Paultunesmarsh. "Lynn Hope Shocking." YouTube. February 10, 2013. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pcJNJy1XnQg.

Phillips, Barre. "Ornette Coleman 1930–2015: Barre Phillips - The Wire." The Wire Magazine - Adventures In Modern Music. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://www.thewire.co.uk/in-writing/essays/ornette-coleman-1930-2015 barrephillips.

Porter, Lewis. "The "Blues Connotation" In Ornette Colrman's Music - And Some General Thoughts On The Relation Of Blues To Jazz." *Annual Review Of Jazz Studies* 1994-95 7 (March 01, 1996): 75-97.

Porter, Lewis. *John Coltrane: His Life and Music*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press, 2008.

Postmeback. "Ornette Coleman - Buddha Blues." YouTube. November 17, 2010. Accessed January 03, 2019.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BJePdnU bwc.

RAJintheUK. "Lynn Hope Quintet Tenderly 1950." YouTube. July 02, 2012. Accessed October 06, 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=X3NcArw6VjY.

Randall, Mac. "Charnett Moffett - On Loss, Love & Vibrational Healing." JazzTimes. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://iazztimes.com/departments/overdue-ovation/charnett-moffett-ovation/charnett-moffett-ovation/charnett-moffett-ovation/charnett-moffett-ovation/charnett-moffett-ovation/charnett-moffett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovation/charnett-ovat

https://jazztimes.com/departments/overdue-ovation/charnett-moffett-overdue-ovation/.

Ratliff, Ben. "A Three-Bass Happening at Carnegie Hall." The New York Times. June 19, 2006. Accessed January 20, 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/2006/06/19/arts/music/190rne.html.

Reich, Howard. "ORNETTE COLEMAN MAINSTREAM SENSATION: HOW TIMES HAVE CHANGED." Chicago Tribune. August 28, 2018. Accessed January 13, 2019. https://www.chicagotribune.com/news/ct-xpm-2000-06-05-0006060055-story.html.

Remnick, David, and David Remnick. "Ornette Coleman and a Joyful Funeral." The New Yorker. June 19, 2017. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.newyorker.com/culture/culture-desk/ornette-coleman-and-a-joyful-funeral.

Rockwell, John. All American Music Composition in the Late Twentieth Century. New York, NY: Da Capo Press, 1997.

Rogers, John. "My Friend, Ornette Coleman." NPR. June 15, 2015. Accessed January 21, 2019.

https://www.npr.org/sections/ablogsupreme/2015/06/15/414007418/my-friend-ornette-coleman.

Rush, Stephen. *Free Jazz, Harmolodics, and Ornette Coleman*. New York, NY: Routledge, 2017.

Russell, Ross. Bird Lives!: The High Life and Hard times of Charlie (Yardbird) Parker. New York: Da Capo Press, 1996.

Russonello, Giovanni. "Ornette Coleman's Innovations Are Celebrated at Lincoln Center." The New York Times. July 17, 2017. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/07/17/arts/music/ornette-coleman-lincoln-center.html.

Silsbee, Kirk. "Don Cherry Interview." *Cadence*, April 25, 1984, 5-11.

Silvert, Conrad. "Old and New Dreams." Downbeat, June 1980, 17-19.

Sobol, Aaron. "Ornette Coleman Discusses Alan Hovhaness and Miles Davis - 1991." YouTube. August 30, 2016. Accessed February 10, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=thHllg oqHw.

Spellman, A. B. Four Lives in the Bebop Business. New York: Limelight Editions, 1994.

Spencer, Scott, and Scott Spencer. "Ornette Coleman: The Outsider." Rolling Stone. June 25, 2018. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.rollingstone.com/music/music-news/ornette-coleman-the-outsider-193373/.

Stephans, Michael. *Experiencing Ornette Coleman*. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield, 2017.

Studies, NYU Steinhardt Jazz. "Conversations with Don Friedman." YouTube. September 23, 2016. Accessed January 13, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NRgSqW_VxOA&feature=youtu.be.

Taylor, Art. Notes and Tones: Musician-to-musician Interviews. New York: Da Capo Press, 1993.

Tinder, Cliff. "Electric Bass in the Harmolodic Pocket." *Downbeat*, April 1982, 19.

Tsioulcas, Anastasia. "Update: Suit Over Ornette Coleman's 'New Vocabulary' Dismissed." NPR. May 27, 2015. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.npr.org/sections/therecord/2015/05/27/410065414/ornette-coleman-sues-over-new-vocabulary.

UgEXPLODE. "Ornette Coleman - Germany 1978." YouTube. March 07, 2008. Accessed January 28, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gsT5J6TJIkk.

Videoservices, Gilaworks Internet- &. "Ornette Coleman Quartet - North Sea Jazz 2010 (part 4-5)." YouTube. July 05, 2011. Accessed January 18, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zSVMGoY-Dvs.

Videoservices, Gilaworks Internet- &. "Ornette Coleman Quartet - North Sea Jazz 2010 (part 3-5)." YouTube. July 05, 2011. Accessed January 18, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kaQHB3i3RzU.

Videoservices, Gilaworks Internet- &. "Ornette Coleman Quartet - North Sea Jazz 2010 (part 1-5)." YouTube. July 05, 2011. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IqAx1zXEIrw.

Warren, Mark. "Ornette Coleman: What I've Learned." Esquire. October 09, 2017. Accessed October 09, 2018. https://www.esquire.com/entertainment/interviews/a6766/ornette-coleman-interview-0110/.

Wein, George, and Nate Chinen. *Myself among Others*. Cambridge, MA: Da Capo Press, 2004.

Weiner, Natalie. "Wayne Shorter Remembers Ornette Coleman: 'One of My Favorite Astronauts'." Billboard. June 12, 2015. Accessed February 10, 2019. https://www.billboard.com/articles/news/6598047/wayne-shorter-ornette-coleman-obituary-memorial-remembers-homage.

Whitehead, Kevin. "Back On Earth." Downbeat, October 1990, 21-22.

Wilmer, Valerie. ""Alvin Batiste and Elvin Marsalis"." Coda, June 1980.

Wilmer, Valerie. As Serious as Your Life: John Coltrane and beyond. London: Serpents Tail, 1992.

Wilson, Peter Niklas. *Ornette Coleman: His Life and Music*. Berkeley Hills, 2000.

Woideck, Carl. The Charlie Parker Companion: Six Decades of Commentary. New York: Schirmer Books, 1998.

Yates, Jorge. "Ornette Coleman Chappaqua Suite (Full Album/Reissue)." YouTube. December 08, 2017. Accessed February 18, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NBKxSwPtyg4.

Zechberger, Paul. "Ornette Coleman in Concert Feat. James 'Blood' Ulmer." YouTube. April 23, 2014. Accessed January 28, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=x54nuTXSZEc.

ZOUMHANE, Fayçal. "Albert Ayler Interview -Sonny Rollins, Ornette Coleman Et John Coltrane." YouTube. May 24, 2011. Accessed February 11, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a6RWMHVwKhk.

JAZZINSTITUT DARMSTADT BIBLIOGRAPHY



Jazz Index - created on 18. September 2018

SCAN REGULATIONS / PLEASE READ CAREFULLY!

The following bibliographical information is drawn from periodicals and books present in the archive of the Jazzinstitut Darmstadt. Our extensive periodical collection comprises more than 55,000 issues of some 1,050 jazz periodicals. Close to two-thirds of the collection has been indexed.

Following the more recent entries are abbreviations denoting the nature of the material in the respective articles. These symbols are:

- [A] = analytical remarks
- [B] = extensive book review
- [BT] = blindfold test
- [C] = concert review
- [D] = discography
- [F] = feature article
- [I] = interview
- ['I''] = article written by the respective musician himself
- [N] = (very short) news item
- [O] = obituary
- [R] = extensive record review
- [T] = transcription

Scans and Copies:

If you need scans or copies of any of these articles, you should first try to contact a library near you. For scholars, journalists and serious researchers we offer both a paper and a virtual photocopy service - up to 5 articles per order. If you find the abbreviation "[digi.copy]" behind an entry that means that this article has already electronically archived by us. You can order up to 10 articles marked with "[digi.copy]". Please be aware that in a mixed order we will only accept 5 articles marked "[digi.copy]" and up to 5 articles not yet marked as scanned. You will receive your virtual copies in a secured PDF file which you can print but will not be able to edit.

For **scanned copies** of any articles listed in our Jazz Index we have to ask the municipal fee for any virtual - at the moment <u>0.50 Euro per page</u> (regardless of whether they already have been scanned or have to be scanned). There will be an additional <u>5.00 Euro service charge for every order of 5 / 10 articles (see above)</u>. All copies have to be ordered in writing, by fax or e-mail, giving your complete postal address, the exact bibliographical data: author, title, periodical, year/month, pages, annotations ("[digi.copy"]) and the scholarly or journalistic purpose of the order.

After payment we will send you the requested pages in a secured PDF-file. Should you need a (non-secured) high-resolution (Tiff) scan of specific pages we will charge you 10 Euro per page. An order of high-resolutions scans needs to be accompanied by a clear statement of the purpose of the order.

If you plan to visit the Jazzinstitut in person, we will be happy to make **xerox copies** for you, however, we generally will make such copies on demand only – so it's us who will press the button, and you will have to pay the municipal fee of 0,25 Euro per page for any xerox copies made during your visit. With most books we can arrange a short-time lending which allows you to use the public xerox machines in a copy shop across the street, however this option does not work with any of the items in our periodical collection. If you need copies for your research, we advise you bring a digital camera. You will be allowed to make "digital notes" for research reasons; we will charge a nominal fee of 5 Euro for the use of a camera per

research day. If you choose this option, please make sure to fill out the respective release form at the begin of your visit.

Please note: All texts in the virtual copies you ordered are subject to copyright. If you quote verbatim, make sure to state the original source. Using complete texts, whether in writing or as facsimile, requires the explicit approval of the copyright holder. The virtual copies we made for you are meant specifically for the research you indicated in your order. We ask you not to share the files with others.

If you visit the Jazzinstitut in person the copy costs will be cheaper (0,25 Euro per page) as you will collect the material yourself and replace it on the shelves after the copying process.

Alternative Online-Resources:

Please note that the journal "Jazz Forum" can be viewed free of charged on the following website: www.polishjazzarch.com (a cooperative project of the Jazzinstitut with the Zbigniew Seifert Foundation in Krakow). --- "The Record Changer" can also be read online: www.archive.org (a collection of online resources). --- The British National Jazz Archive (archive.nationaliazzarchive.co.uk) provides free online access to a number of historical periodicals, among them "Jazz News", "Crescendo", "Jazz News and Review", "Dance Band Diaries", "Jazz Illustrated", "Jazz UK", "Storyville", "Band Wagon", "British Songwriter & Dance Band Journal", "Discography", "Jazz Forum" (UK), "Jazz Junction Jive", "Jazz Music", "Jazz Tempo", "Jazz Times Bulletin", "Musical News and Dance Band", "Northern Society for Jazz Study", "Pickup Magazine", "Rhythm Record Review", "Swing Music", "Swing Music News", "The Official Magazine of the Ted Heath Club", "Universal Jazz". --- The former New Orleans Jazzmagazine "Wavelength" can be found online at http://scholarworks.uno.edu/wavelength/index.4.html. --- Gene Lees' Jazzletter can be found under http://www.donaldclarkemusicbox.com/jazzletter/.

Thus, you might not have to order any articles from these journals. You might also want to search the internet for entries originally published online before ordering them from us.

Should you want to obtain a full version of one of the **dissertations** listed in our Jazz Index, we recommend to search the ProQuest website (<u>disexpress.umi.com/dxweb</u>) and order it either as a PDF download or a print copy.

Open access scholarly theses can also be found under: https://core.ac.uk/, https://cure.libraries.rutgers.edu/search/, https://cure.libraries.rutgers.edu/search/, https://cure.ac.uk/, https://cure.ac.uk/, https://cure.libraries.rutgers.edu/search/, https://cure.libraries.edu/search/, https://cure.libraries.edu/search/, https://cure.libraries.edu/search/, https://cure.libraries.edu/search/, https://cure.libraries.edu/search/, https://cure.libraries.edu/search/, https://cure.l

The Jazz Index is a service of the...

Jazzinstitut Darmstadt, Bessunger Strasse 88d, D-64285 Darmstadt, Germany phone ++49 (6151) 963740, fax ++49 (6151) 963744

This bibliography has been compiled and mailed by ... Jazzinstitut Darmstadt, e-mail: jazz@jazzinstitut.de, Internet: www.jazzinstitut.de

Copy Order

For copy orders please fill out the attached MS-Word-file and send it back to us!

jazz@jazzinstitut.de

_Coleman, Ornette (as * b: 9.Mar.1930, Fort Worth/TX [New Grove; rororo; Reclam; Dictionnaire 1995; MusicHound] {alt.date: 19.Mar.1930, Fort Worth/TX [Feather 1960; Companion; Dictionnaire 1988; Rough Guide]} {alt.date: 19.Mar.1931, Fort Worth/TX [Litweiler 1992; Wulff: Diary of Jazz, 1996]}; d: 11.Jun.2015, New York; Lexikon: Feather [1960]; Companion [1987]; New Grove [1988,2001]; rororo [1988]; Reclam [1989]; Dictionnaire [1988,1995]; MusikHound [1999]; Rough Guide [1999]; vertical file: Ornette COLEMAN [1965,1992,1994-1995,1997-1998,2000-2001,2003-2004,2006])

**

Coleman, Ornette (b Fort Worth, 9 March 1930). American saxophonist and composer, father of Denardo Coleman. --- 1. Life. --- He began playing alto saxophone at the age of 14 but not long afterwards changed to the tenor instrument. His early professional work with a variety of southwestern rhythm-and-blues and carnival bands seems to have been in a traditional idiom, but in 1948 he began to develop a style predominantly influenced by Charlie Parker. Wherever he tried to introduce some of his more personal and innovative ideas he met with hostility, both from audiences and from musicians. While touring the Gulf Coast with a rhythm-and-blues group he played a radical solo at a dance and afterwards was assaulted; his tenor saxophone was destroyed and he then acquired an alto saxophone. In 1949 he spent six months in New Orleans and worked mostly at nonmusical jobs while rehearsing his original new style; at this time he met Ed Blackwell. Coleman then returned to Fort Worth, after which he went to Los Angeles with Pee Wee Crayton's rhythm-and-blues band (late 1949). While employed as an elevator operator in Los Angeles he studied (on his own) harmony and theory textbooks and gradually evolved a radically new concept and style, seemingly from a combination of musical intuition born of southwestern country blues and folk forms and his misreadings - or highly personal interpretations - of the theoretical texts. --- From 1951 Coleman was again associated with Blackwell, and in summer 1956 the two men formed the American Jazz Quintet with the saxophonist Harold Battiste, Alvin Batiste, and Ellis Marsalis. At the same time he rehearsed with two drummers (Blackwell and Billy Higgins) and with the Jazz Messiahs, a bop group including Higgins and Don Cherry, in August 1957, with James Clay as the group's saxophonist, the Jazz Messiahs performed some of Coleman's compositions in Vancouver. At some point after April 1958 Coleman and Cherry replaced Dave Pike in Paul Bley's group (with Charlie Haden and Higgins) at the Hillcrest Club in Los Angeles; a concert recording of that quintet exists from the autumn of that same year. Playing an as yet unacceptable form of free jazz, the group was fired soon thereafter. --- While working sporadically at the Hillcrest and elsewhere, Coleman eventually came to the attention of Red Mitchell and later Percy Heath of the Modern Jazz Quartet. His first studio recording (for Contemporary in 1958) reveals that his style and sound were, in essence, fully formed at that time. The following year Bley moved to New York and Coleman took over his group, thus forming the classic quartet with Cherry, Haden, and Higgins. At the instigation of John Lewis the quartet began, in Hollywood, a series of recordings for Atlantic, the first two of which were entitled "The Shape of Jazz to Come" (which included Coleman's compositions "Lonely Woman" and "Congeniality", May 1959) and "Change of the Century" (with "Ramblin" and "Free"; October 1959). These recordings, which occasioned worldwide controversy, revealed Coleman performing in a style freed from most of the conventions of modern jazz. In between the making of these first two albums for Atlantic, Lewis also arranged for Coleman (and his partner Cherry) to attend the Lenox (Massachusetts) School of Jazz in August 1959. There followed engagements with the quartet at the Five Spot nightclub in New York (from mid-November 1959, with Blackwell replacing Higgins in spring 1960) and further albums for Atlantic; "Free Jazz" (made on 21 December 1960) for double jazz quartet, a 37-minute sustained collective improvisation, was undoubtedly the single most important influence on avant-garde jazz in the ensuing decade. On another recording, "Jazz Abstractions" (made earlier the same week), Coleman is heard in a variety of more structured pieces, among them Gunther Schuller's serial work "Abstraction" for alto saxophone, string quartet, two double basses, guitar, and percussion. --- Touring and New York club dates continued through 1961, but with many changes in personnel: Haden gave way to Scott LaFaro (September 1960), Jimmy Garrison (by March 1961), and David Izenzon (October 1961, when Garrison joined John Coltrane), and Bobby Bradford and Charles Moffett replaced Cherry and Blackwell (mid-summer 1961); Bradford left soon afterwards, and the group continued as a trio. In 1962, after only occasional work, notably a concert he produced himself at Town Hall involving his trio, a blues group, and a string quartet (21 December 1962), Coleman retired temporarily from performing in public, primarily to teach himself trumpet and violin. His unorthodox

treatment of these instruments on his return to public life early in 1965 provoked even more controversy and led to numerous denunciations of his work by a number of influential American jazz musicians including Miles Davis and Charles Mingus. However, Coleman was well received in Europe during his first tour with the trio there in 1965, giving a major impetus to the burgeoning European avant-garde jazz movement. In the mid- and late 1960s he also became interested in extended, through-composed works for larger ensembles, and produced among other pieces "Forms and Sounds for Wind Quintet" (1965, recorded in England by the Virtuoso Ensemble, 1965, Pol. 623246-7) and "Skies of America", a 21movement suite for symphony orchestra (1972). --- A film of the trio, made in 1966, was released around 1988 as the video "David, Moffett, and Ornette". In 1967, with the addition of Haden, the group toured as a quartet incorporating two double bass players; Blackwell and then Higgins replaced Moffett in that quartet briefly in August 1967. Izenzon left the group around the beginning of 1968, to be replaced by Haden, and Dewey Redman joined during the same period, again making a quartet; from spring 1969 to 1973 Blackwell rejoined the quartet for touring and recording, though at times Coleman struggled for work in these years. By the early 1970s his influence had waned considerably, while John Coltrane's dominance of saxophone styles had correspondingly spread. As Coleman turned increasingly to more abstract and mechanical compositional techniques (as in "Skies of America"), his playing lost some of its earlier emotional intensity and rhythmic vitality. But a visit to Morocco in 1972 and the gradual influence (especially rhythmic) of certain popular rock, funk, and fusion styles seemed to have revitalized his ensemble performances, a direction clearly discernible in his powerful electric band Prime Time, founded in 1975. This group first recorded in France in the same year as a quintet, with two electric guitarists, an electric bass guitarist, and a drummer, but thereafter it usually worked as a sextet, with a second drummer, Haden joined on double bass for the group's performance at the Newport Jazz Festival New York in 1978, but not for its European tour later that year. In the 1980s the band performed and recorded as a septet with two guitarists, two bass guitarists, and two drummers, all amplified. Prime Time's repertory has drawn on the various musical styles that have influenced Coleman (including Moroccan music, jazz-rock, and free-jazz improvisation). Coleman's own playing, however, a fascinating and basically inimitable amalgam of blues and modal, atonal, and microtonal music, remains unchanged. -From the 1960s Coleman was often joined by his son, Denardo Coleman, in concerts and recordings. Although in the 1980s he performed in public only intermittently, the recording "Song X" (1985) and a tour (1986), both made with Pat Metheny, brought him and his music a degree of attention he had not enjoyed for some years. A film, "Ornette: Made in America", directed by Shirley Clarke and compiled from footage made in the 1960s and the early 1980s, was released in 1984, and two concerts entitled "Ornette Coleman Celebration" took place at the Weill Recital Hall at Carnegie Hall in 1987; the works performed were "Notes Talking", for solo mandolin (1986), "The Sacred Mind of Johnny Dolphin", for chamber ensemble (1984), "Time Design", for amplified string quartet and electric drum set (1983), "Trinity", for solo violin (1986), and "In Honor of NASA and Planetary Soloist", for oboe, english horn, mukhavīnā, and string quartet (1986). --- Prime Time remained active through the 1980s, and around 1989 Chris Rosenberg, who was classically trained, became one of its two electric guitarists; Coleman's student David Bryant, a keyboard player, replaced one of the two electric bass guitarists (setting the precedent for Coleman's use of piano in his future groups); and instead of utilizing two conventional drum sets, Coleman employed Badal Roy, on tabl&amac;, as the group's second percussionist. Prime Time continued with this instrumentation until 1995, at which point the leader reinstated the two bass guitarists. In 1987 Coleman participated in reunions of the American Jazz Quintet and his own quartet (with Cherry, Haden, and . Blackwell) at the Ed Blackwell Music Festival. That same year Prime Time and the free-jazz quartet (but with Higgins rather than Blackwell) took part in the recording of a double album, "In All Languages". The resulting tracks offer fascinating contrasts, as the radical electric group and the formerly radical acoustic quartet (now sounding in its own way "classic") interpret in their own distinctive ways a number of the same titles, composed by Coleman. This same quartet gave a concert in Los Angeles in September 1990. --- In 1994 Coleman formed his acoustic New Quartet, consisting of Geri Allen (piano), Charnett Moffett (double bass), and Denardo Coleman (drums). Following the practice heard on "In All Languages", and to underscore still further the importance of improvisation in Coleman's work, the New Quartet recorded two albums consisting mainly of the same collection of titles, but of course offering substantially different renderings ("Sound Museum: Hidden Man" and "Sound Museum: Three Women", both c1994). By this time Coleman had come to be widely recognized as one of the giants of jazz - not just through critical acclaim, which had been a factor for decades, but through the emergence of a widespread audience for his work. A five-year "genius" award from the MacArthur Foundation which he received in 1994 helped to support his unceasingly creative projects, and the North Sea Jazz Festival presented him with its

International Bird Award; this was a remarkable indicator, because the award had previously gone to players who were equally famous and deserving but stylistically rather more conventional. time Coleman founded his own record production company and label, Harmolodic. He recorded as a guest soloist with Yoch'ko Seffer (November 1995) and in duos with Allen (late 1995 or early 1996) and Rol Kühn (1997), and toured and recorded in a duo with Joachim Kühn (1996-7). In July 1997 the Lincoln Center played host to a series of concerts by Coleman: his "Skies of America", incorporating a symphony orchestra and Prime Time; a performance by a trio (with Haden and Higgins) and a quintet (with the addition of Wallace Roney and Kenny Barron); and a theatrical presentation in which Prime Time were supported by contortionists, fire-swallowers, dancers, and a video collage. In summer 1998 he appeared at the Umbria festival in Italy in a somewhat different quartet, comprising Lee Konitz, Haden, and Higgins. --- 2. Musical style. --- Coleman's music cannot be understood solely in terms of the concept that has generally prevailed since the late 1920s - that jazz is primarily a form of expression for a virtuoso soloist. It is conceived essentially as an ensemble music; founded on traditional roots, it makes consistent use of spontaneous collective interplay at the most intimate and intricate levels. This accounts for its extraordinary unpredictability, freedom, and flexibility. Coleman's improvisations are highly mobile in tonality, rhythmic continuity, and form; they liberated the jazz solo both from an adherence to predetermined harmonic "changes" and a subservience to melodic variation. They also abandon traditional chorus and phrase structure, reinterpreting jazz rhythm, beat, and swing along freer, nonsymmetrical lines. Although it appeared to many to be incoherent and atonal, Coleman's playing was (and remains) essentially modal in concept, rooted in older, simpler black folk idioms - in particular a raw blues feeling. His wailing saxophone sound (produced in his early years on a plastic instrument) is never far removed from the plaintive human voice of African-American musical folklore. This essentially lyric approach, best heard on Lonely Woman (1959) and Sex Spy (1977), is linked to his "horizontal" concept of improvisation, a tendency explored earlier by such players as Lester Young and Miles Davis (in his post-bop modal style). Released from a strict adherence to harmonic functions and conventional form and phrase patterns, Coleman's solos are intrinsically linear, evolving in a sometimes fragmented musical discourse (ex.1). His improvisations at fast tempos are marked by flurries of notes, or gliding, swooping, and at times bursting phrases, played with great intensity and conviction. Occasionally his work seems burdened by the overuse of sequential patterning. But it is the strength of conviction of his playing (especially when aided by like-minded colleagues such as Cherry, Haden, and Higgins) that produces a sense of the inevitable in Coleman's art. Technically Coleman plays as much "from his fingers" as by ear, an approach frequently resulting in nontempered intonation and unique tone-colors. These effects are even more noticeable in his less convincing performances on trumpet and violin, although even on these instruments Coleman can sometimes produce compelling improvisations by sheer instinct and musical energy. --- Coleman's style has changed little since the early 1960s. Whether he is working in Moroccan musical traditions, in atonal, classically oriented works or, indeed, in rock- or funk-influenced idioms, his playing seems, in both sound and substance, to be capable at once of dominating and being assimilated by its surroundings. --- From the mid-1970s Coleman has espoused a theory which he calls "harmolodic." It is apparently based on the reiteration in varied clefs and "keys" of the same musical materials (lines, themes, melodies), thus producing a simplistic organum-like "polyphony," principally in unrelieved parallel motion. It is not clear, however, how this theory functions in Coleman's own improvisatory style (see also Harmolodic theory). He is also noted for his use of obscure, often contradictory, epigrams. Some observers see in these the "philosophical" analogues to his musical theories and concepts. Similarly, his notation of his own compositions - of which he has written several hundred - is imprecise, gestural, and in a sense graphic, leaving the performer free to give individual and differing interpretations. --- Coleman opened up unprecedented musical vistas for jazz, the wider implications of which have been explored in detail by his many imitators. From the 1980s onwards his compositional style, his group sounds (in both the electric and the acoustic settings), and his highly personalized saxophone playing have been enormously influential. --- Oral history material in NjR. --- SELECTED RECORDINGS: --- "Something Else!!!! The Music of Ornette Coleman" (1958, Cont. 3551); "Tomorrow is the Question! The New Music of Ornette Coleman" (1959, Cont. 3569); "The Shape of Jazz to Come" (1959, Atl. 1317), incl. "Congeniality", *"Lonely Woman"; "Change of the Century" (1959, Atl. 1327), incl. *"Free", *"Ramblin "Twins" (1959-61, Atl. 1588), incl. "First Take": "This is our Music" (1960, Atl. 1353); "Free Jazz" (1960, Atl. 1364); "Jazz Abstractions" (1960, Atl. 1365); "Ornette!" (1961, Atl. 1378); "Ornette on Tenor2 (1961 Atl. 1394); "Town Hall, 1962" (1962, ESP 1006), incl. *"A Dedication to Poets and Writers"; "The Ornette Coleman Trio at the Golden Circle", i-ii (1965, BN 84224-5); "The Empty Foxhole" (1966, BN 84246); "Saints and Soldiers" (1967, RCA LSC2982); "Ornette at 12" (1968, Imp. 9178); "Crisis" (1969, Imp. 9187)

"Science Fiction" (1971, Col. KC31061); "Broken Shadows" (1971-2, Col. FC38029); "'Skies of America" (1972, Col. KC31562); "Dancing in your Head" (1975, A&M Hor. 722); "Body Meta" (1975, AH 1); "Soapsuds" (1977, AH 6), incl. *"Sex Spy" [duos with C. Haden]; "Of Human Feelings" (1979, Ant. 2001); "Ornette and Prime Time: Opening the Caravan of Dreams" (1985, Caravan of Dreams 85001); with P. Metheny: "Song X" (1985, Geffen 24096); "In All Languages" (1987, Caravan of Dreams 85008), incl. *"Cloning", *"Mother of the Veil", *"Peace Warriors", *"Space Church"; "Virgin Beauty" (1988, Portrait RK44301), incl. *"Honeymooners", "Sound Museum: Hidden Man" (c1994, Harmolodic 314-531657-2); "Sound Museum: Three Women" (c1994, Harmolodic 314-531914-2); "Tone Dialing" (c1995, Harmolodic 314-527483-2). --- [Gunther Schuller & Barry Kernfeld, in: The New Grove Dictionary of Jazz, 2nd edition, London 2001]

Coleman, Ornette (as, comp, Id, ts, tp, v), geb. 9.3.1930 Fort Worth, Texas. Ihm gehe es um die Umsetzung von Ideen im Verhältnis zu musikalischen Verläufen, so hat Ornette Coleman sein radikales improvisatorisches Konzept wiederholt erläutert, das 1959/60, als der Revolutionär mit seinem Plastiksaxophon die Szene betrat, äußerst kontroverse Diskussionen auslöste. Die Stellungnahmen reichten von totaler Verurteilung - des Instrumentalisten, weniger des Komponisten - aufgrund 'mangelnder Technik', "falscher Rhythmik, Harmonik, Intonation" etc. bis hin zu so eindeutigen Äußerungen wie: "das einzig wirklich Neue seit Charlie Parker, Dizzy Gillespie und Thelonious Monk" (John Lewis); "sein Spiel hat eine tiefe innere Logik" (Gunther Schuller); "er macht irgendetwas mit seinen Stücken, das einen nicht nur die Melodielinie, sondern gleichzeitig unzählige Durchführungsmöglichkeiten hören lässt" (Shelly Manne); "seine Musik klingt wie organisierte Unordnung oder wie falsch richtig spielen" (Charles Mingus). "Ein ausgesprochener Meister, ein Mann, der eine Tradition aufgenommen und die Musik stets mit Qualität und Klasse vorangetrieben hat", resümierte Kollege Phil Woods 1986 in einem Blindtest. Alexander von Schlippenbach bekannte 1981: "Heute weiß ich, dass die ersten Takte seines Albums >Free Jazz< all das schon enthielten, was als Free Jazz kommen sollte, sogar in seiner extremsten Form." Der Musikschriftsteller Ben Sidran meint: Coleman "wurde gewissermaßen gerade durch seinen zeitweiligen Abstand von der schwarzen Tradition zu einer ihrer überragenden Figuren", die dem Prinzip der Vokalisierung durch Forderungen wie "rhythmische Muster sollten sich am natürlichen Atem orientieren" oder "Ideen werden in Tonarten ausgedrückt, nicht Tonarten in Ideen" zu neuem Leben verholfen hätten. All diese Einschätzungen, die negativen wie die positiven, stimmen, und sie bestätigen Colemans Absicht, zwar ein Improvisator sein zu wollen, dabei aber nicht wie die Bop-Musiker von Tin Pan Alley-Strukturen abzuhängen. "Wenn ich einem Akkordschema folge, kann ich mein Solo auch gleich schreiben. [...] Lasst uns die Musik spielen, nicht den Back-ground", betonte der Saxophonist, der rhythmische, harmonische und melodische Gegebenheiten des Jazz nicht etwa wie John Coltrane von innen heraus gesprengt, sondern in seinem fragmentarischen "liedhaften Spiel" (Red Mitchell) gar nicht erst verwendet hat. Coleman - vor allem der Free Jazz-Pionier - denkt also von vornherein nicht in bausteinartigen Viertaktperioden, sondern lässt seine Stücke ihre eigene Form finden und spinnt dann volksliedhaft einfache Melodien tonartfrei oder locker auf ein tonales Zentrum bezogen in asymmetrischen, melodisch aber konsequenten, rhythmisch nicht determinierten, sondern determinierenden Phrasen fort. Seinen herb singenden Ton unterwirft er, der melodischen Charakteristik folgend, gewissen Schwankungen, die - über den gängigen Stilmittelkatalog hinaus - zum Viertelton-System tendieren und übrigens auch Karlheinz Stockhausens Bewunderung herausgefordert haben. 1972 taucht in den Liner Notes zu "Skies Of America" erstmals der Begriff "Harmolodics" auf, mit dem Coleman sein - allerdings zuvor schon im Wesentlichen ausgebildetes Konzept umschreibt. Da seine seit Jahren geplante Publikation zu diesem Thema noch nicht erschienen ist, kann nur aus der Musik selbst, aus seinen oft geheimnisvollen Äußerungen und Berichten von Mitmusikern erahnt werden, dass es sich dabei eher um eine Philosophie und Psychologie des Zusammenspiels denn um eine Musiktheorie handelt. Coleman: "Es ist eine Art Spraché über Sprachen, eine Farbe über Fabeln." Sein Sohn, der Schlagzeuger Denardo Coleman: "Man kann Dinge machen, die nach den Maßstäben der Musiktheorie merkwürdig sind, und doch kann das Ohr dabei dasselbe Gefühl von Auflösung und Ordnung haben." Eine entscheidende Rolle spielt dabei die Intervallik, die sich nicht auf eine Harmonik bezieht, sondern eine solche erzeugt und den Ausgangspunkt für eine homo- oder eine polyphon geführte Mehrstimmigkeit bildet. Coleman weist dazu beispielsweise darauf hin, "dass man jede Melodie nehmen und daraus eine Basslinie machen kann. Oder eine zweite Stimme. Oder eine Führungsstimme. Oder eine Rhythmusstimme." Peter Niklas Wilson, der in seinem Buch "Ornette Coleman" (Oreos, 1989) den Erkenntnisstand über das Mysterium Harmolodics festhält, warnt: "Die Kriterien europäischer Musiktheorie sind auf Colemans Musikdenken schwerlich anwendbar. Seine harmolodische Theorie bezieht ihre

Originalität gerade aus der Umdeutung und Neuordnung des Vokabulars und der Syntax europäischer Musik - und solche Umdeutung des Vorgefundenen ist ja ein Grundzug afroamerikanischer Kreativität, wie sie sich im Jazz seit seinen Anfängen ausdrückt." Ihren Zauber entfaltet Colemans Musik auch ohne Klärung des theoretischen Ansatzes. David Sanborn betonte, vor seinem inneren Auge tauchten texanische Landschaften auf, sobald er diese Musik höre, und Archie Shepp bescheinigt Colemans im Spannungsfeld zwischen melodischem Ausdruckswillen, Blues-Verwurzelung und Abstraktionsdrang angesiedelten Stükken "die Aura eines Volkstanzes, der durch den Lauf eines Maschinengewehrs angepeilt wird". Viele seiner Kompositionen, vor allem die Ballade "Lonely Woman" und schnelle Stücke, die der Altsaxophonist Anfang der sechziger Jahre, oft in atemberaubendem Unisono mit dem Trompeter Don Cherry, vorgestellt hat, sind Standards geworden. Pat Metheny sagt, Colemans Kompositionen weckten in ihm "den Wunsch, etwas anderes zu spielen als das, was ich normalerweise spiele - eine Qualität, die man nicht in vielen Stücken findet". Platten wie "The Shape Of Jazz To Come" (1959) oder vor allem "Free Jazz" (1960), auf der er sein Konzept im größeren Rahmen eines Doppelquartetts und unter stärkerer Hinwendung zur Kollektivimprovisation realisiert, markieren Meilensteine der jüngeren Jazzgeschichte. Colemans spätere Versuche mit Trompete oder Violine sind eher als Erweiterung der Klangwerkzeuge denn als eigenständige instrumentalistische Beiträge zu bewerten. Als "Vater auch des späteren Punk-Jazz" etikettiert, begann Ornette Coleman Ende der siebziger Jahre mit Partnern wie Shannon Jackson und "Blood" Ulmer sein Konzept in einen seitdem modifizierten Funk- Rock-Zusammenhang zu stellen, der sich neben klanglicher Sophistication vor allem durch eine Differenzierung und Aufbrechung starrer Rock-Jazz-Klischees auszeichnete. --- Als Vierzehnjähriger hatte er autodidaktisch Altsaxophon gelernt und zwei Jahre später das Tenor hinzugenommen. Nach Auftritten mit lokalen Rhythm & Blues-Gruppen in Fort Worth und einem kurzen Aufenthalt in New Orleans lebte Ornette Coleman von 1952 bis 1959 als Fahrstuhlführer in Los Angeles, trieb Privatstudien und experimentierte ab 1957 mit Don Cherry, Ed Blackwell und anderen avantgardistisch gesinnten Kollegen. Schon 1958 kam es zu ersten Aufnahmen, die aber später erst veröffentlicht wurden, darunter mit Red Mitchell, von und mit Paul Bley, dann "Something Else" mit Don Cherry und Walter Norris und "Tomorrow Is The Question" (1959). Der Durchbruch für Coleman und sein Quartett mit Don Cherry, Charlie Haden und Billy Higgins (bzw. später wieder Ed Blackwell) kam 1959 mit einem Vertrag von Atlantic Records und einem spektakulären Auftritt im New Yorker Five Spot. Es folgten Festival-Gastspiele und eine Reihe von Platten-einspielungen, darunter "The Shape Of Jazz To Come" - mit den Titeln "Congeniality" und "Lonely /"Woman, Change Of The Century" und "Ornette" mit Scott LaFaro, dann "Twins", "Art Of The Improvisors "This Is Our Music" sowie "Free Jazz". In der Folgezeit lebte Coleman dann - abgesehen von wenigen Auftritten wie einem Town Hall-Konzert (1962) - relativ zurückgezogen, verbesserte seine Technik, Iernte zudem auch Geige und Trompete und besuchte mehrmals Europa. David Izenzon (b) und Charles Moffett (dr) waren - später allerdings im Wechsel mit Charlie Haden, Ed Blackwell oder Ornette Colemans Sohn Denardo - die Mitglieder seines 1965 neu gegründeten Trios, das durch Dewey Redman zum Quartett erweitert wurde. Der Avantgardist machte nun wieder Schlagzeilen: 1965 Präsenz auf europäischen Festivals und Aufnahme eines "Bläserquintetts" in England, 1966 Jazzmusiker des Jahres im "Down Beat"- Poll und diverse andere Auszeichnungen, 1967 erster Jazzmusiker mit einem Kompositionsauftrag der Guggenheim- Stiftung und Konzertveranstalter auf eigenes Risiko in London mit Yoko Ono, 1969 Wahl in die "Down Beat"-Hall of Fame und Reunion mit Don Cherry. Platten dieser Phase, so "At The Golden Circle" (1965) und "The Empty Foxhole" (1966) oder 1968 "New York Is Now" und "Love Call" fanden ebenso hervorragende Aufnahme wie "Crisis" (1969) mit Don Cherry. In den siebziger Jahren schraubte Coleman seine Aktivitäten bis auf die kompositorischen wieder etwas zurück. 1970 erschien "Friends And Neighbours" mit Musikern, die der Saxophonist unterstützt hat; es folgten "O.C." und das Duett- Album "Closeness" mit Charlie Haden und dann erst fünf Jahre später die 1973 aufgenommene Platte "Dancing In Your Head", eine Afro-Rock-Collage. Als problematisch erwies sich die Aufführung seines sinfonischen Werkes "Skies Of America" 1972 mit dem London Symphony Orchestra; eine revidierte Aufführung folgte 1983 in Fort Worth. Trotz reduzierter Konzerttätigkeit war Coleman, der 1972 längere Zeit in Marokko weilte, auf europäischen Festivals und mehrmals auch beim Newport Festival präsent, so 1971, 1972 und 1978, als er sowohl mit früheren Partnern wie Don Cherry oder Dewey Redman als auch mit seiner neuen, Rock-orientierten Electric-Gruppe Prime Time mit zwei Gitarristen und zunächst Shannon Jackson sowie Denardo Coleman als Drummern auftrat. Daneben spielte er Ende der siebziger Jahre gelegentlich mit dem von ihm entdeckten Gitarristen "Blood" Ulmer und Fred Williams (b) und arbeitete an einer groß angelegten Komposition für 125 Musiker mit dem Titel "The Oldest Language". Mit Prime Time nahm Coleman 1980 das Digital-Album "Fashion Face" auf, gefolgt u.a. von 'Time Design" (1985), "Virgin Beauty" (1988) und "Tone Dialing" (1994) sowie - mit Prime Time und

Quartett - "In All Languages" (1987). Ende der siebziger Jahre waren auch einige Platten mit älterem Material erschienen, darunter "Soapsuds" mit 1977 aufgenommenen Duos mit Charlie Haden und "Body Meta" (1976, Paris). Coleman gab 1981 im New Yorker Public Theater die ersten Konzerte seit Jahren, trat mit dem inzwischen umbesetzten Doppel-Trio Prime Time beim Kool Festival und in der Folge auch bei zahlreichen weiteren Festivals auf, darunter Moers (1981), Los Angeles (1982), Northsea (1983), München (1984) und Hartford, England (1985). Sein 1979 aufgenommenes Album "Of Human Feelings" wurde beim "Down Beat"-Poll 1982 "Record of the Year". 1984 führte Mercer Ellington bei einem Tribute to Ellington-Konzert Kompositionen Ornette Colemans auf, 1986 lief der Film "Ornette: Made In America" eine Woche lang im Public Theater New York. Mit der 1985 aufgenommenen LP "Song X" mit Pat Metheny (g), Charlie Haden (b), Jack DeJohnette und Denardo Coleman (dr) stand Coleman 1986 inmitten eines dritten Comebacks. Der mit Preisen, Kompositionsaufträgen und Poll-Siegen überhäufte Neuerer arbeitete in den neunziger Jahren parallel mit der mehrfach umbesetzten Gruppe Prime Time und seinem Quartett, dem zeitweise Geri Allen (p) und zumeist Charnett Moffett (b) und Denardo Coleman (dr) angehörten, so auch auf der 1997 von den "Down Beat"-Kritikern zum Album des Jahres gekürten CD "Sound Museum Hidden Man". Kompositionen Colemans wurden u.a. vom Kronos Quartet und vom London Philharmonia Orchestra (1992 Filmmusik "Naked Lunch") aufgenommen. Hervorzuheben sind zudem die Musik zum Film "Philadelphia" und die Ballett-Komposition "Architecture In Motion". Auf der 1997 veröffentlichten CD "Colors: Live From Leipzig" ist Joachim Kühn sein Duo-Partner. Seit dem Jahr 2000 sind seine klassischen Alben und bislang unveröffentlichte Aufnahmen in Serien auf CD erschienen. 1997 stand der Pionier im Mittelpunkt von Konzerten im Lincoln Center, 1998 auch des Umbria Jazz Festival und 2000 von Konzerten anlässlich seines 70. Geburtstages in New York, Washington, Philadelphia und Boston. Neben den Biographien von Barry McRae und Peter Niklas Wilson erschien 1992 bei Quartet Books, London, "Ornette Coleman - The Harmolodic Life" von John Litweiler. --- [Martin Kunzler, in: ro-ro-ro Jazz Lexikon, Reinbek bei Hamburg 2001]

DISCOGRAPHY: a complete name discography can be compiled upon request (usual copy fees apply).

LITERATURE:

Martin Kunzler (compiler): Ornette Coleman, article collection for his entry in "ro ro ro Jazz Lexikon", 1950s to 1980s (F) [digi.copy]

Dan Morgenstern: Cats and Categories, in: Jazz Journal, 1958 (C: Coleman Hawkins, Ornette Coleman, Count Basie); reprint, in: Dan Morgenstern: Living with Jazz. A Reader, New York 2004 [book: Pantheon], p. 659-661 (C)

NN: Coleman Blows Something Elsel, in: GTJ & CR News [Good Time Records / Contemporary Records], 3/3 (Oct. 1958), p. 4 (short F/R)

John S. Wilson: The Collector's Jazz. Modern, New York 1959 [book: J.B. Lippincott], p. 71 (short F) Idiai.copyl

Martin Williams: A Letter from Lenox, Mass., in: Jazz Review, 2/9 (1959), p. 29-32

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman - The Shape of Jazz to Come, in: Martin Williams: Jazz in Its Time, New York 1989 [book], p. 211-216 (liner notes; Reprint von 1959)

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman: The Shape of Jazz to Come (Atlantic 1317), in: Tom Piazza: Setting the Tempo. Fifty Years of Great Jazz Liner Notes, New York 1996 [book], p. 166-170 (F; Reprint of liner notes from 1959)

Quincy Jones: Ornette Coleman - Something Else!!!, in: Jazz Review, 2/4 (1959), p. 29 (R)

Whitney Balliett: Introducing Ornette, in: Whitney Balliett: Collected Works. A Journal of Jazz 1954-2000, New York 2000 [book: St.Martin's Press], p. 97-98 (R; reprint from 1959)

Quincy Jones: Ornette Coleman - "Something Else!" (Contemporary C3551), in: The Jazz Review, 2/4 (May 1959), p. 29 (R) [digi.copy]

Art Farmer: Ornette Coleman - "Something Else!!!" (Contemporary 03551), in: The Jazz Review, 2/6 (Jul.1959), p. 18 (R) [digi.copy]

Art Farmer: Ornette Coleman – "Something Else!!!!" (Cotemporary 03551), in: The Jazz Review, 2/6 (Jul.1959), p. 18 (R) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman 2nd LP Released, in: GTJ & CR News [Good Time Records / Contemporary Records], 4/4 (Nov.1959), p. 1, 4 (short F)

NN: The Controversial Mr. Coleman, in: Down Beat, 26/24 (26.Nov.1959), p. 17 (short F/photos) [digi.copy]

John S. Wilson: Ornette Coleman - 'The Shape of Jazz to Come" (Atlantic 1317), in: Down Beat, 26/25 (10.Dec.1959), p. 43 (R: 4 stars) [digi.copy]

Don DeMichael: Ornette Coleman - "Tomorrow Is The Question" (Contemporary), in: Down Beat, 26/26 (24.Dec.1959), p. 39-40 (R) [digi.copy]

John Mehegan: Chords and Discords. The Question of Coleman, in: Down Beat, 26/26 (24.Dec.1959), p. 6 (letter) [digi.copy]

Charles Fox & Peter Gammond & Alun Morgan & Alexis Korner: Jazz on Record. A Critical Guide, London 1960 [book: Grey Arrow], p. 84-85 (F)

George Hoefer: Gunther Schuller, Circle in the Square, New York City, in: Down Beat, 27/18 (1960), op. 44 (C)

Leonard Feather: The Jazzman as Critic. The Blindfold Test. Reactions to Ornette Coleman, in: Leonard Feather: The Encyclopedia of Jazz, New York 1960 [book: Bonanza Books], p. 479 (F/I with Zoot Sims, Herbie Mann, Ruby Braff, Jon Hendricks, Art Farmer, Ornette Coleman)

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman - Free Jazz, in: Martin Williams: Jazz in Its Time, New York 1989 [book], p. 217-221 (liner notes; Reprint von 1960)

S. Neal: Chords and Discords: R.J.G. and Ornette, in: Down Beat, 27/21 (1960), p. 6-7

Whitney Balliett: Historic, in: Whitney Balliett: Dinosaurs in the Morning. 41 Pieces on Jazz, London 1965 [book], p. 91-98 (F/C/I; reprint from 1960); Reprint, in: Whitney Balliett. Collected Works. A Journal of Jazz 1954-2000, New York 2000 [book: St. Martin's Press], p. 114-117 (F/C/I)

 $\hbox{Eric T. Vogel: "The Shape of Jazz to Come" (Atlantic), in: Jazz Podium, 9/1 (Jan.1960), p. 22 (R) [digi.copy] }$

Eric T. Vogel: Ornette Coleman im Five Spot Cafe. Jazz Sensation in New York, in: Jazz Podium, 9/1 (Jan.1960), p. 6 (F/C) [digi.copy]

George Hoefer: Caught in the Act. Ornette Coleman Quartet, Five Spot Cafe, New York City, in: Down Beat, 27/1 (7.Jan.1960), p. 40-41 (C) [digi.copy]

Leonard Feather: Blindfold Test. Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 27/1 (7.Jan.1960), p. 39-40 (BT: Zoot Sims & Al Cohn: "Broadway"; Miles Davis: "All Blues"; Bud Shank & Bob Cooper: "Love Nest"; Mercer Ellington: "Maroon"; Yusef Lateef: "Sounds of Nature"; Charles Mingus: "Bird Calls"; Jesse Powell: "Livingstone, I Presume") [digi.copy]; excerpted reprint, in: Down Beat, 71/7 (Jul.2004), p. 114 (BT) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman. Celui que les américains appellent: The Shape of Jazz to Come, in: Jazz Magazine, 6/55 (Jan.1960), p. 26-29 (F) [digi.copy]

Ralph J. Gleason: Perspectives, in: Down Beat, 27/2 (21.Jan.1960), p. 44 (short F) [digi.copy]

Gunther Schuller: The Scope of Jazz, in: [radio broadcast: WBAI], 7.Feb.1960 (I with Ornette Coleman, Don Cherry) [digi.copy] {only as sound file}

Eric T. Vogel: Jazzgeschichte in der Town Hall, in: Jazz Podium, 9/2 (Feb.1960), p. 30-31 (C: Ornette Coleman, Benny Golson Jazztet, Thelonious Monk, Ernestine Anderson, John Coltrane, Lee Konitz, Count Basie)

John Tynan: Take 5, in: Down Beat, 27/3 (4.Feb.1960), p. 34-35 (F) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman's 2^{nd} CR Album Creates New Furor, in: GTJ & CR News [Good Time Records / Contemporary Records], 5/1 (Feb.1960), p. 4 (F/R)

Eric T. Vogel: New Yorker Jazz-Chronik. Ornette Coleman im Five Spot, in: Jazz Podium, 9/3 (Mar.1960), p. 55 (C)

J. Craddock: Ornette Coleman at the Five Spot, in: Jazz Journal, 13/4 (Apr.1960), p. 25, 40 (C)

NN: News, in: Jazzer, #2 (Apr.1960), p. 18 (N: jazz of tomorrow) [digi.copy]

Julian Adderley: Cannonball Looks at Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 27/11 (26.May 1960), p. 20-21 (F); reprint, in: Frank Alkyer & Ed Enright (eds.): Down Beat. The Great Jazz Interviews. A 75th Anniversary Anthology, New York 2009 [book: Hal Leonard Books], p. 76-77 (F); response, by Joe Vecchi, in: Down Beat, 27/13 (23.Jun.1960), p. 8 (letter) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Leonard Feather: Another View of Coleman, in: Down Beat, 27/11 (26.May 1960), p. 21 (F/I with Charles Mingus); reprint, in: Frank Alkyer & Ed Enright (eds.): Down Beat. The Great Jazz Interviews. A 75th Anniversary Anthology, New York 2009 [book: Hal Leonard Books], p. 77-78 (F) [digi.copy]

George Russell & Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman and Tonality, in: The Jazz Review, 3/5 (Jun.1960), p. 6-10 (F/I with George Russell) [digi.copy]

K.-G. Mühle: Quo Vadis? Das Beispiel Ornette Colemans, in: Jazz Podium, 9/6 (Jun.1960), p. 136-137

Ted E. White: Ornette Coleman. Too Much Too Soon? Review in Depth, in: Metronome, 77/6 (Jun.1960), p. 41-42 (F/R: "The Shape of Jazz to Come") [digi.copy]

Alfredo Luciano Catalani: Ornette Coleman - "Tomorrow Is the Question" (Contemporary), in: Jazz di ieri e di oggi, 2/7 (Jul/Aug.1960),p. 56 (R)

Hans-Jürgen Hartmann: Podium Jam Session. Thema: Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Podium, 9/7 (Jul.1960), p. 156 (letter: dislikes Coleman's music) [digi.copy]

J.-J. Hartmann: Podium Jam Session. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Podium, 9/7 (Jul.1960), p. 156 (letter)

Jeff Gollin & E.L. Martin & Tony Bowden: Chords and Discords. The Storm Blows Hot and Cold, in: Down Beat, 27/15 (21.Jul.1960), p. 8, 10 (letters)

John Tynan: Ornette. The First Beginning, in: Down Beat, 27/15 (21.Jul.1960), p. 32-33, 58 (F/I)

John Tynan: Ornette. The First Beginning, in: Down Beat: 60 Years of Jazz, Milwaukee 1995 (Hal Leonard Corp.) [book], p. 112-114 (F/I mit Lester Koenig; Reprint aus DB, 21.Jul.1960)

Burt Korall: Coleman Finally Wins Through. Ornette chases freedom, in: Melody Maker, 6.Aug.1960, p. 13 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Ralph J. Gleason: Ornette Coleman - "Change of the Century" (Atlantic), in: Down Beat, 27/17 (18.Aug.1960), p. 25 (R); responses, by Harvey Pekar & Stephen Neal: Chords and Discords. R.J.G. and Ornette, in: Down Beat, 27/21 (13.Oct.1960), p. 6-7 (letters) [digi.copy]

John McLellan: The Jazz Scene. Time To Give Bird The Bird, in: [unknown source, Boston newspaper?], 13.Sep.1960 (F/short I with Ornette Coleman) [digi.copy] {Rutgers papers "Charlie Parker", p. 71}

NN: Triple Play, in: Metronome, 77/9 (Sep.1960), p. 38-40 (R)

Ornette Coleman: Voice of Broadway, in: Schenectady Gazette, 1.Sep.1960, p. 26 ("I": about jazz, its history and aesthetics) [digi.copy]

T. White: In Person. Ornette and Jimmy (at Five Spot), in: Metronome, 77/9 (Sep.1960), p. 44 (C)

Diverse Autoren: Podium Jam Session. Ornette Coleman - Musikalischer Anarchist oder Genie der Jazzmusik?, in: Jazz Podium, 9/10 (Oct.1960), p. 219 (letters)

Jean-Robert Masson: Alors faut-il le mettre au poteau ou sur un piedestal ce fameux Ornette Coleman?, in: Jazz Magazine, #64 (Nov.1960), p. 26-29 (F/I with Daniel Humair, Guy Lafitte, Claude Luter, Pierre Michelot, Martial Solal, Sonny Stitt. Cannonball Adderley, Charles Mingus); reprint, in: Les Années Jazz Magazine 1954-2000, Turin 2000 [book: Filipacchi], p. 100-103 (F/I)

Hartmut Schweitzer: Ornette Coleman - ein neuer Parker?, in: Jazzer, #9 (Dec.1960), p. 16 (F)

NN: news..., in: Jazz Podium, 9/12 (Dec.1960), p. 259 (N: Scott LaFaro replaces Charlie Haden) [digi.copy]

Dan Morgenstern: Ornette Coleman at the Five Spot, in: Down Beat, 1961 (C); reprint, in: Dan Morgenstern: Living with Jazz. A Reader, New York 2004 [book: Pantheon], p. 467-468 (C) [digi.copy]

Gunther Schuller: A Collection of the Compositions of Ornette Coleman, New York 1961 [sheet music: MJQ Music Inc.] (F/T: "Bird Food"; "Chronology"; "Face of the Bass"; "Focus on Sanity"; "Forerunner"; "Free"; "Lonely Woman"; Peace"; "Una Muy Bonita") [digi.copy]

Gunther Schuller: Ornette Coleman's Compositions, in: Gunther Schuller: Musings. The Musical Worlds of Gunther Schuller, New York 1986 [book], p. 80-85 (F; Reprint aus: A Collection of Compositions of Ornette Coleman, 1961)

Leonard Feather: Blindfold Test. André Previn, part 2, in: Down Beat, 28/23 (1961), p. 37

Nat Hentoff: Ornette Coleman, in: Nat Hentoff: The Jazz Life, New York 1978 [book; Reprint, O: New York 1961], p. 222-248 (F)

Ornette Coleman: "Beaty Is a Rare Thing" / "Bird Food", in: [lead sheet], 1961 (T: lead sheets) [digi.copy]

Ornette Coleman: "Beauty Is a Rare Thing", in: [lead sheet], 1961 (T) [digi.copy]

Ornette Coleman: "Bird Foods", in: [lead sheet], 1961 (T) [digi.copy]

Siegfried Schmidt-Joos: Ornette Coleman - Völlige Freiheit des Ausdrucks, in: Siegfried Schmidt-Joos: Jazz. Gesicht einer Musik, Gütersloh 1961 [book], p. 69-73 (F)

Whitney Balliett: Abstract, in: Whitney Balliett: Dinosaurs in the Morning. 41 Pieces on Jazz, London 1965 [book], p. 167-177 (F; reprint from 1961); Reprint, in: Whitney Balliett: Collected Works. A Journal of Jazz 1954-2000, New York 2000 [book: St. Martin's Press], p. 147-152 (F) [digi.copy]

Al Close: Ornette and Feeling, in: Jazz Monthly, 6/11 (Jan.1961), p. 9 (A) [digi.copy]

NN: Op de omslag. Ornette Coleman, in: Rhythme. Nederlands enige Jazz-Periodiek, 12/136 (Jan.1961), p. 3, cover (short F/cover)

NN: Ornette Coleman - "Change of the Century" (London LTZ-K 15199), in: Rhythme. Nederlands enige Jazz-Periodiek, 12/136 (Jan.1961), p. 22 (R)

John Clement: Ornette's Change. A Short Story, in: Jazz Monthly, 6/12 (Feb.1961), p. 17 (F: short story) [digi.copy]

Lars Werner: The Music of Ornette Coleman: - "Something Else" (Contemporary), in: Orkester Journalen, 29/2 (Feb.1961), p. 21-22 (R: 5 stars)

Dan Morgenstern: Ornette Meets Dizzy. Two Great Horns Make History, in: Metronome, 78/3 (Mar.1961), p. 24-25 (C) [digi.copy]

H. Danska: Two Views of Ornette Coleman (at Village Vanguard), in: Metronome, 78/3 (Mar.1961), p. 39 (Zeichnung)

Lars Werner: Ornette Coleman Quartet - "This Is Our Music" (Atlantic), in: Orkester Journalen, 29/4 (Apr.1961), p. 22 (R: 3 stars)

NN: Met of zonder kommentaar. 'Laat Ornette met Rust!', in: Rhythme. Nederlands enige Jazz-Periodiek, 12/139 (Apr.1961), p. 12 (short F)

NN: Ornette Coleman - "Tomorrow Is the Question" (Contemporary M 3569), in: Rhythme. Nederlands enige Jazz-Periodiek, 12/139 (Apr.1961), p. 26 (R)

Don DeMichael: Ornette Coleman - "This is Our Music" (Atlantic), in: Down Beat, 28/10 (11. May 1961), p. 25 (R); responses, by Bill Danks, Joe Burke, in: Down Beat, 28/13 (22. Jun. 1961), p. 6 (letters); response, by Virgil Matthews, in: Down Beat, 28/14 (6. Jul. 1961), p. 6, 8 (letter); response, by Bill Grauss, in: Down Beat, 28/16 (3. Aug. 1961), p. 6, 8 (letter) [digi. copy] [digi. copy] [digi. copy]

Jozef Vander Straeten: Onpersoonlijkheid en melodie voor Ornette Coleman, in: Rhythme. Nederlands enige Jazz-Periodiek, 12/140 (May 1961), p. 26-27 (F)

NN: Dateline U.S.A. New Ornette Coleman Group..., in: Melody Maker, 29.Jul.1961, p. 9 (N: at Five Spot) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman Sets British Trip, in: Melody Maker, 19.Aug.1961, p. 5 (short F) [digi.copy]

Bob Dawbarn: Ornette Still Struggling. "This Is Our Music", in: Melody Maker, 14.Oct.1961, p. 6 (R) [digi.copy]

Martin Williams: Reheasing with Ornette, in: Metronome, 78/12 (Dec.1961), p. 19, 39-40 (F); Reprint, in: Martin Williams: Jazz Masters in Transition, 1957-1969, New York 1970 [book], p. 54-57 (F; Reprint aus: Metronome, Dec.1961); Reprint, in: Martin Williams: Jazz Heritage, New York 1985 [book], p. 99-103 (F)

B. Quersin: L'homme au plastique entre les dents, in: Jazz Magazine, #89 (1962), p. 48-49

Frank Tenor: Crazeology, in: Jazz Magazine, 8/80 (1962), p. 19

James Poling (ed.): Esquire's World of Jazz, London 1962 [book: Arthur Baker], p. 202-207 (F: chapter "A new sound - or just a bigger noise?")

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman. The Musician and the Music, in: Martin Williams: Jazz Changes, New York 1992 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 98-106 (F/I; Reprint von 1962/1969)

Ornette Coleman. Chords & Discords. Lovely Words from Ornette, in: Down Beat, 29/2 (1962), p. 6 (letter); reprint, in: Down Beat, 72/1 (Jan.2005), 10 (letter) [digi.copy]

Pete Welding & John Tynan: Double View of a Double Quartet. Ornette Coleman - "Free Jazz" (Atlantic 1364), in: Down Beat, 29/2 (18.Jan.1962), p. 28 (R: 5 stars; 1 star); Reprint, in: Robert Walser (ed.): Keeping Time. Readings in Jazz History, New York 1999 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 253-255 (R); reprint, in: Down Beat, 72/1 (Jan.2005), p. 78 (R) [digi.copy]

Richard B. Hadlock: Ornette Coleman - Ornette!, in: Down Beat, 29/11 (1962), p. 30, 32 (R)

Lars Resberg: En jazzmatch - utan spelregler. Ornette Coleman Double Quartet - "Free Jazz. A Collective Improvisation" (Atlantic LP 1364), in: Estrad, 24/1 (Jan.1962), p. 12 (R)

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman. A New Kind of Jazz Improvising, in: International Musician, Jan.1962, p. 20, 34 (F/I) [digi.copy]

NN: news..., in: Jazz Podium, 11/2 (Feb.1962), p. 32 (N: German tour planned) [digi.copy]

Steve Voce: ...and all that jazz. Food Ole Coleman!, in: Jazz Journal, 15/2 (Feb.1962), p. 17 (F) [digi.copy]

Richard B. Hadlock: Ornette Coleman - "Ornette!" (Atlantic 1378), in: Down Beat, 29/11 (24.May 1962), p. 30, 32 (R: 41/2 stars)

Benny Green: A Matter of Form, in: Jazz Journal, 15/6 (Jun.1962), p. 11-12 (F) [digi.copy]

Steve Voce: ...and all that jazz. No, No Ornette, in: Jazz Journal, 15/8 (Aug.1962), p. 15 (F) [digi.copy]

Burt Korall: I've Talked Enough, Just Tell Them to Listen... All-Star Special. 'Rollins has daring ... he takes all sorts of chances' / 'Coleman is only at home playing his own music', in: Melody Maker, 15.Sep.1962, p. 8-9 (F/I with Sonny Rollins, Ornette Coleman) [digi.copy]

Rainer Blome: Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Podium, 11/9 (Sep.1962), p. 207-208 (F) [digi.copy]

Harvey Pekar: Tomorrow Is the Question, in: Jazz Journal, 15/11 (Nov.1962), p. 8-10 (F) [digi.copy]

Benoit Quersin: Les ages d'Ornette. L'homme au plastique entre les dents, in: Jazz Magazine, #443 (Dec.1994), p. 46 (F; Reprint aus: Jazz Magazine, Dec.1962)

Steve Voce: ...and all that jazz. Ornette's Nest, in: Jazz Journal, 15/12 (Dec.1962), p. 22 (F) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette to Premiere String Quartet, R&B Trio, in: Down Beat, 30/1 (3.Jan.1963), p. 11-12 (short F/I)

Dan Morgenstern: Ornette's Concert, in: Jazz [USA], 2/2 (Feb.1963), p. 14-15 (C: with David Izenzon, Charles Moffett) [digi.copy]

Don Heckman: Ornette Coleman - "Ornette on Tenor" (Atlantic 1394), in: Jazz [USA], 2/2 (Feb.1963), p. 17 (R) [digi.copy]

NN: They All Read Jazz, in: Jazz [USA], 2/2 (Feb.1963), p. 26 (N/photo with Charles Mingus: advertisement for "Jazz") [digi.copy]

Stanley Dance: Lightly & Politely. Ornette Ennobled, in: Jazz Journal, 16/2 (Feb.1963), p. 22-24 (F) [digi.copy]

T. Leyh: Kritisches Mosaik. Free Jazz, in: Jazz Podium, 12/4 (Apr.1963), p. 81

Martin Williams: Ornette, le coupable no. 1?, in: Jazz Hot, #193 (Dec.1963), p. 39-41 (F)

Francis Paudras: Nouvelle dimension. Ornette, in: Jazz Hot, 30/205 (1964), p. 16-23

Joe Goldberg: The Symposium, in: Martin Williams (Hg.): Jazz Panorama. From the Pages of Jazz Review, New York 2/1967 [book, O: New York 1/1964], p. 292-298 (F)

Quincy Jones & Martin Williams & Hsio Wen Shih: Ornette Coleman, in: Martin Williams (Hg.): Jazz Panorama. From the Pages of Jazz Review, New York 2/1967 [book, O: New York 1/1964], p. 284-291 (F/R)

Wilfrid Mellers: From art back to jazz. Modern jazz and the composing improviser. Thelonious Monk and Charlie Parker, Ornette Coleman and John Coltrane, in: Wilfrid Mellers: Music in a New Found Land. Themes and Developments in the History of American Music, London 1964 [book], p. 331-350 (F/A) [digi.copy]

NN: 1. lament. For Parker & 2. hope. For Coleman, in: Jazz Monthly, 9/11 (Jan.1964), p. 6 (poems) [digi.copy]

T.E. Martin: Notes on The New Wave, in: Jazz Monthly, 9/11 (Jan.1964), p. 18-19 (F) [digi.copy]

T.E. Martin: The Pastic Muse. Three Ornette Coleman LPs. Part Two. "This Is Our Music" (London LTZ-K15228), in: Jazz Monthly, 10/4 (Jun.1964), p. 14-15, 17 (F) [digi.copy]

Don DeMichael & Pete Welding: Jazz Basics. Ornette Coleman - "Ornette!" (Atlantic), in: Down Beat, 31/22 (30.Jul.1964), p. 25-26, 40 (R) [digi.copy]

Don Heckman: Ornette and the Sixties, in: Down Beat, 31/20 (2.Jul.1964), p. 58-62, 99-100 (F); response, by Charles Preston, in: Down Beat, 31/23 (13.Aug.1964), p. 5 (letter) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

T.E. Martin: The Plastic Muse. Three Ornette Coleman LPs. Part 3: "Ornette!", in: Jazz Monthly, 10/6 (Aug.1964), p. 20-21 (F/R) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Chin Mei Kao: Chords & Discords. Ornette Ineligible for Poll?, in: Down Beat, 31/27 (8.Oct.1964), p. 8 (letter) [digi.copy]

LeRoi Jones: Apple Cores. Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 31/32 (17.Dec.1964), p. 40 (short F) [digi.copy]

Richard P. Drabik: Chords & Discords. What's With Ornette, in: Down Beat, 31/32 (17.Dec.1964), p. 8 (letter) [digi.copy]

Don Heckman: Ornette '65. The Ornette Coleman Trio, The Village Vanguard, New York City, in: Jazz, 4/3 (1965), p. 24 (C) [digi.copy]

Joe Goldberg: Ornette Coleman, in: Joe Goldberg: Jazz Masters of the 50s, New York 1965 [book], p. 228-246 (F/I)

Whitney Balliett: The New Thing, in: Whitney Balliett: Such Sweet Thunder. 49 Pieces on Jazz, Indianapolis 1966 [book: Bobbs-Merrill], p. 228-236 (F: Ornette Coleman, Giuseppe Logan, Cecil Taylor; reprint from 1965); Reprint, in: Whitney Balliett: Collected Works. A Journal of Jazz 1954-2000, New York 2000 [book: St. Martin's Press], p. 231-235 (F)

Francis Paudras: Nouvelle Dimenson: Ornette, in: Jazz Hot, #205 (Jan.1965), p. 16-23 (F/I) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman Back - On Violin (at Village Vanguard), in: Melody Maker, 23. Jan. 1965, p. 12 (C)

Dan Morgenstern: Caught in the Act. Ornette Coleman, Village Vanguard, New York City, in: Down Beat, 32/5 (25.Feb.1965), p. 15 (C) [digi.copy]; reprint, in: Dan Morgenstern: Living with Jazz. A Reader, New York 2004 [book: Pantheon], p. 469-471 (C) [digi.copy]

Jean-Louis Comolli & Martial Solal & Jean Wagner: Le disque dont on parle. "Free Jazz", par Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #115 (Feb.1965) (F/R); Reprint, in: Jazz Magazine, #504 (May 2000), p. 40-41 (F/R)

Frank Smith: Chords & Discords. Nonpareil Cecil Taylor, in: Down Beat, 32/7 (25.Mar.1965), p. 10 (letter) [digi.copy]

Dan Morgenstern: Ornette Coleman. From the Heart, in: Down Beat, 32/8 (8.Apr.1965), p. 16-18 (F/I) [digi.copy]; Reprint, in: Down Beat, 66/7 (Jul.1999), p. 38-39 (F/I); reprint, in: Dan Morgenstern: Living with Jazz. A Reader, New York 2004 [book: Pantheon], p. 258-264 (F/I) [digi.copy]; responses, by Ben Caldwell, John Benson Brooks: Chords & Discords. Beautiful Ornette / J.B. Brooks on Ornette C., in: Down Beat, 32/11 (20.May 1965), p. 8 (letter) [digi.copy]

Jean-Pierre Binchet: Honnéte Ornette, in: Jazz Magazine, #119 (Jun.1965), p. 20-23 (F) [digi.copy]

Jim Paulus: Chords & Discords. May Peace Reign, in: Down Beat, 32/13 (17.Jun.1965), p. 10 (letter) [digi.copy]

NN: It's Back to the Studio for O. Coleman and O. Moore, in: Down Beat, 32/15 (15.Jul.1965), p. 10 (short F) [digi.copy]

Bob Dawbarn: Coleman. It's All Still Over the Ridge, in: Melody Maker, 14.Aug.1965, p. 6 (F/I) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman to Play Alto, Trumpet and Violin at Croydon, in: Melody Maker, 21.Aug.1965, p. 4 (C)

NN: Ornette's Trio Now Complete. Drummer Moffett Flies In, in: Melody Maker, 28. Aug. 1965, p. 5

B. Houston: Ornette. Justification for the Faithful (London), in: Melody Maker, 4.Sep.1965, p. 6

Don Heckman: Inside Ornette Coleman. Part I of an Analysis of the recources of Ornette Coleman's music, in: Down Beat, 32/19 (9.Sep.1965), p. 13-15 (F/A/T) [digi.copy]; part 2: Sounds and Silences, in: Down Beat, 32/26 (16.Dec.1965), p. 20-21 (F/A/T: "Tomorrow Is the Question"; "Tears Inside"; "C&D"; "Compassion"; "Lorraine", "Folk Tale"; "Poise") [digi.copy] [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette in London, Plans Extended Stay Out of U.S., in: Down Beat, 32/20 (23.Sep.1965), p. 17 (F)

Barry McRae: Ornette Coleman - Live, in: Jazz Journal, 18/10 (Oct.1965), p. 8-9 (C)

Dan Morgenstern: Caught in the Act. Festival of the Avant Garde '65, Judson Hall, New York City, in: Down Beat, 32/22 (21.Oct.1965), p. 32, 34 (C) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette for Ronnie's?, in: Melody Maker, 30.Oct.1965, p. 1

Philippe Nahman: En Angleterre, premier triomphe européen pour Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Hot, #213 (Oct. 1965), p. 7-8 (C)

Alan Bates: Caught in the Act. Ornette Sparks Lagging Lugano Festival, in: Down Beat, 32/24 (18.Nov.1965), p. 14, 34 (C) [digi.copy]

Rüdiger Wettley: Ornette Coleman. Die wiedergefundene Form, in: Jazz Podium, 14/11 (Nov.1965), p. 288 (F) [digi.copy]

W.G. Doherty: One sweet letter from you. Coleman Concert, in: Jazz Journal, 18/11 (Nov.1965), p. 38 (letter) [digi.copy]

Mike Hennessey: Where Is Jazz Going? Ornette. There Is No Bad Music, Only Bad Musicians, in: Melody Maker, 18.Dec.1965, p. 8 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Melvin Van Peebles: Tète à tête avec Ornette, in: Jazz Magazine, #125 (1965), p. 26-31 (I) [digi.copy]

NN: 26 jazzmen nouveaux à la question, in: Jazz Magazine, #125 (1965), p. 39-69 (F/I with Albert Ayler, Karl Berger, Carla Bley, Paul Bley, Jean-Louis Chautemps, Bill Dixon, Don Ellis, Don Friedman, Jimmy Giuffre, Eddie Gomez, Milford Graves, Don Heckman, David Izenzon, Bob James, Steve Lacy, Guiseppi Logan, Jimmy Lyons, Mike Mantler, Steve Marcus, Sunny Murray, Gary Peacock, Barre Phillips, Roswell Rudd, John Tchicai, Charles Tyler, Bernard Vitet, Lewis Worrell) [digi.copy]

A.B. Spellman: Ornette Coleman, in: A.B. Spellman: Black Music - Four Lives, New York 1976 [book: Schocken Books; Reprint, O: New York 1966: Pantheon as "Four Lives in the Bebop Business"; reprint, as "Four Jazz Lives", Ann Arbor/MI 2004, University of Michigan Press], p. 77-150 (F/I); review, by Bill Quinn, in: Down Beat, 33/25 (15.Dec.1966), p. 40 (B) [digi.copy]

Daniel Berger & Alain Corneau: Ornette Coleman parle, in: Les Cahiers du Jazz, #14 (1966), p. 69-67 (I) [digi.copy]

Diverse Autoren: Le 5 mars à la mutualité. Consécration d'Ornette, in: Jazz Hot, 32/219 (1966), p. 5-6

Frank Smith: Music and Internal Activities, Contacting Greatness in Art and the Music of Ornette Coleman, part 1, in: Jazz, 5/4 (1966), p. 13-15 (F) [digi.copy]

Frank Smith: Music and Internal Activities, Contacting Greatness in Art and the Music of Ornette Coleman, part 2, in: Jazz, 5/5 (1966), p. 22-23, 30 (F) [digi.copy]

Frank Smith: Music and Internal Activities, Contacting Greatness in Art and the Music of Ornette Coleman, part 3, in: Jazz, 5/6 (1966), p. 18-20 (F) [digi.copy]

Martin Williams: Eight Recorded Solos. Lonely Woman, by Ornette Coleman, in: Martin Williams: Where's the Melody? A Listener's Introduction to Jazz, New York 1966 [book], p. 47-50 (F)

Whitney Balliett: His Lordship, in: Whitney Balliett: Such Sweet Thunder. 49 Pieces on Jazz, Indianapolis 1966 [book: Bobbs-Merrill], p. 43 (C)

Larry Rutter:Pete Welding: Ornette Coleman - "At Town Hall" (ESP 1006), in: Down Beat, 33/2 (27.Jan.1966), p. 30 (R: 4 stars) [digi.copy]

Mike Hennessey: Ornette Coleman in Paris, in: Melody Maker, 26.Feb.1966, p. 23 (C)

Bill Mathieu: Ornette Coleman - "At the Golden Circle, Stockholm, Vol. 1" (Blue Note), in: Down Beat, 33/6 (24.Mar.1966), p. 31 (R) [digi.copy]

B. Houston: Ornette. The New Wave, Resident in London, in: Melody Maker, 16.Apr.1966, p. 6

Henry Woodfin: The New Jazz. 2. The Breakthrough, in: Sounds & Fury, Apr.1966, p. 16, 18 (F) [digi.copy]

Michel Delorme & Daniel Berger & Guy Kopelowicz & Jean-Pierre Leloir & Yves Buin & Philippe Nahman: Le 5 Mars à la Mutualité. Consécration d'Ornette, in: Jazz Hot, #219 (Apr.1966), p. 5-6 (C)

Serge Daney: Les ages d'Ornette. Ornette à la Mutualité, in: Jazz Magazine, #443 (Dec.1994), p. 46, 48 (C; Reprint aus: Jazz Magazine, Apr.1966)

NN: Seven Steps to Jazz, in: Melody Maker, 7.May 1966, p. 8 (Kurzbiographie) [digi.copy]

B. Houston: Nothing That Should Daunt an Enthusiast, in: Melody Maker, 7. May 1966, p. 12 (R: At the Golden Circle, Stockholm, Vol.2)

Diverse Autoren: Ornette. Noise Or Music - The Controversy Continues, in: Melody Maker, 7. May 1966, p. 6

NN: Ornette's "Forms" Gets manchester Exclusive, in: Melody Maker, 14.May 1966, p. 5

Valerie Wilmer: Ornette Coleman Talks, in: Jazz Monthly, 12/3 (May 1966), p. 13-15 (I) [digi.copy]

Barry McRae: The Ornette Coleman Trio at Ronnie Scott's Club, in: Jazz Journal, 19/6 (Jun.1966), p. 9 (C)

Dan Morgenstern: Ornette Coleman - "At the Golden Circle, Stockholm, Vol. II" (Blue Note), in: Down Beat, 33/13 (30.Jun.1966), p. 28-29 (R); response, by Al Gecis, in: Down Beat, 33/16 (11.Aug.1966), p. 8, 10 (letter) [digi.copy]

Martin Williams: Bystander. No Work in U.S. for Ornette?, in: Down Beat, 33/13 (30.Jun.1966), p. 12 (F)

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman in Stockholm, in: Martin Williams: Jazz Masters in Transition, 1957-1969, New York 1970 [book], p. 203-205 (R; Reprint aus: Saturday Review, 11.Jun.1966)

Max Harrison: Coleman and the Consequences. Six ESP Discs Reviewed, in: Jazz Monthly, 12/4 (Jun.1966), p. 10-15 (F/R: Ornette Coleman, Byron Allen, Sun Ra, Bob James, Giuseppe Logan, Paul Bley) [digi.copy]

Jack Cooke: Ornette Coleman Revisited, in: Jazz Monthly, 12/5 (Jul.1966), p. 9-11 (C)

Victor Schonfield: Caught in the Act. Ornette Coleman, Fairfield Hall, Croydon, Surrey, England, in: Down Beat, 33/14 (14.Jul.1966), p. 31, 52 (C)

Charles Fero & Dave Kaufmann & Edward A. Spring: "... raw power without the depth to be art" / "... good things to come, perhaps on volume 2..." / "... fresh aspects of Colemans composing...". Ornette Coleman – "The Ornette Coleman Trio at the Golden Circle, Stockholm" (Blue Note 4224), in: Sounds & Fury, Aug. 1966, p. 46-47 (R) [digi.copy]

NN: Potpourri. Ornette Coleman Trio in Los Angeles, in: Down Beat, 33/17 (25.Aug.1966), p. 14 (N) [digi.copy]

Bob Dawbarn: Ornette. A Chance to Recap, in: Melody Maker, 8.Oct.1966, p. 15 (R: The Shape of Jazz to Come)

Michel Delorme: Ornette prophète en son pays?, in: Jazz Hot, #224 (Oct.1966), p. 3 (F)

Martin Williams: Coleman, Coltrane Up to Date, in: Jazz Journal, 19/11 (Nov.1966), p. 4-5 (F) [digi.copy]

Daniel Berger: Ornette Speaks. (Auszüge aus einem Interview, das der französische Journalist Daniel Berger 1966 mit Ornette Coleman in Paris gemacht hat, und das in "Nouvelles Litteraires" und in den "Cahiers du Jazz" veröffentlicht wurde), in: Sounds, #1 (Winter 1966/1967), p. 15 (I) [digi.copy]

Horst Weber: Ornette Coleman Trio - "At the Golden Circle Stockholm" (Blue Note 84224 / 84225), in: Sounds, #1 (Winter 1966/1967), p. 46-47 (R) [digi.copy]

Barry McRae: Ornette Coleman, in: Barry McRae: The Jazz Cataclysm, South Brunswick 1967 [book], p. 122-133 (F)

Dan Morgenstern: Ornette Coleman, Philadelphia Woodwind Quintet, Village Theatre, New York City, in: Down Beat, 34/10 (1967), p. 24 (C)

NN: Ornette Gets Grant, in: Down Beat, 34/10 (1967), p. 13

Whitney Balliett: All Work and No Play, in: Whitney Balliett: Collected Works. A Journal of Jazz 1954-2000, New York 2000 [book: St. Martin's Press], p. 282-283 (C; reprint from 1967)

Ornette Coleman: To Whom It May Concern, in: Down Beat, 34/11 (1.Jun.1967), p. 19 ("I"); reprint, in: Down Beat, 61/7 (Jul.1994), p. 72 ("I")

Ken Crawford: One sweet letter from you. Antiornette, in: Jazz Journal, 20/3 (Mar.1967), p. 41 (letter) [digi.copy]

Alain Gerber: Les ages d'Ornette. Chappaqua Suite, in: Jazz Magazine, #443 (Dec.1994), p. 48 (R; Reprint aus: Jazz Magazine, Apr.1967)

Philippe Carles: Les ages d'Ornette. Tomorrow Is the Question, in: Jazz Magazine, #443 (Dec.1994), p. 38 (R; Reprint aus: Jazz Magazine, Apr.1967)

B. Houston: Ornette at the Peak ("Chappaqua Suite"), in: Melody Maker, 2.Sep.1967, p. 10

Rainer Blome: Ein Sommer in New York, in: Sounds, #4 (Fall 1967), p. 4-7; especially p. 6 (C) [digi.copy]

Ornette Coleman & Pete Welding & Shelly Manne & Cannonball Adderley: 'Round the Empty Foxhole. Opinion by Ornette Coleman, Pete Welding, Shelly Manne & Cannonball Adderley, in: Down Beat, 34/22 (2.Nov.1967), p. 16-17 ("I"/F/R: Ornette Coleman's "The Empty Foxhole") [digi.copy]

B. Mathieu: Ornette Coleman - The Music of Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 35/23 (1968), p. 21 (R)

Don Heckman: Le style d'Ornette Coleman, in: Les Cahiers du Jazz, #16/17 (1968), p. 69-84 (F/A/T: excertps from "Ramblin", "Tomorrow Is the Question", "Tears Inside", "C&D", "Compassion", "Lorraine", "Folk Tale", "Poise") [digi.copy]

Valerie Wilmer: Ornette Coleman, Royal Albert Hall, London, England, in: Down Beat, 35/9 (1968), p. 32-33 (C)

NN: Coleman, Manne Help Los Angeles Festival, in: Down Beat, 35/2 (25.Jan.1968), p. 12 (short F)

B. Houston: Ornette, and the Legend of Croydon, in: Melody Maker, 3.Feb.1968, p. 14 (R)

NN: Ornette Coleman in London Concert ("Emotion Modulation"), in: Melody Maker, 24.Feb.1968, p. 2

B. Houston: The Concert (in London), in: Melody Maker, 9. Mar. 1968, p. 10 (C)

Bob Dawbarn: Ornette in London. The Controversy - Jazz or Concert Artist, in: Melody Maker, 9.Mar.1968, p. 10

Bob Dawbarn: Ornette Stirs It Up Again, in: Melody Maker, 2.Mar.1968, p. 10

NN: Potpourri. Ornette Coleman Quartet at Royal Albert Hall, London, in: Down Beat, 35/7 (4.Apr.1968), p. 14 (N) [digi.copy]

Barry McRae: Emotion Modulation. ornette Coleman in Concert, in: Jazz Journal, 21/4 (Apr.1968), p. 5 (C)

Brian Priestley: In Person. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Monthly, #158 (Apr.1968), p. 28 (C)

NN: The Essential Ornette Coleman (part two), in: Crescendo International, 6/10 (May 1968), p. 14-15 (I) [digi.copy]

Valerie Wilmer: Caught in the Act. Ornette Coleman, Royal Albert Hall, London, England, in: Down Beat, 35/9 (2.May 1968), p. 32-33 (C) [digi.copy]

Owen Peterson: 3rd Thoughts on the New Thing, in: Jazz Monthly, #160 (Jun.1968), p. 2, 4-6 (F)

Manfred Miller: Ornette Coleman - Chappaqua Suite, in: Sounds, #7 (Jul.1968), p. 22 (F/R)

Michael Cuscuna: Ornette Coleman Quartet, Town Hall, Philadelphia, in: Down Beat, 35/18 (5.Sep.1968), p. 30 (C)

NN: Streiflichter. Ornette Coleman Film, in: Sounds, #8 (Sep.1968),p. 24 (N) [digi.copy]

David C. Hunt: Coleman, Coltrane and Shepp. The Need for an Educated Audience, in: Jazz & Pop, 7/10 (Oct. 1968), p. 18-21 (F/I) [digi.copy]

David C. Hunt: Coleman, Coltrane, and Shepp. The Need for an Educated Audience, in: Pauline Rivelli & Robert Levin (Hgg.): Giants of Black Music, New York 1979 [book; Reprint, O: New York 1970 (The Black Giants)], p. 89-94 (F; Reprint aus: Jazz and Pop, Oct.1968)

Bill Mathieu: Ornette Coleman - 'The Music of Ornette Coleman" (RCA Victor LSC 2982), in: Down Beat, 35/23 (14.Nov.1968), p. 21 (R) [digi.copy]

David Amram: Chords & Discords. Mathieu Unfair to Coleman, in: Down Beat, 35/26 (26.Dec.1968), p. 8 (letter) [digi.copy]

H. Lecomte: Ornette à Bilzen/Belgique), in: Jazz Magazine, #171 (1969), p. 12-13 (C)

L. Kart: Ornette Coleman - Ornette at 12, in: Down Beat, 36/12 (1969), p. 21 (R)

Martin Williams: Concert with High Moments, in: Martin Williams: Jazz Changes, New York 1992 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 286-288 (C; Reprint von 1969)

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman Quintet, Loeb Student Center, New York University, in: Down Beat, 36/10 (1969), p. 30 (C)

NN: Good News. Coleman, Don Cherry Reunite, in: Down Beat, 36/6 (1969), p. 14

B. Houston: "All Star" Idea That Misfired, in: Melody Maker, 25. Jan. 1969, p. 15 (R: New York Is Now)

John Litweiler: Ornette Coleman - "New York Is Now!" (Blue Note), in: Down Beat, 36/2 (23.Jan.1969), p. 21-22 (R); response, by Stanley Dance, in: Down Beat, 36/6 (20.Mar.1969), p. 10 (letter)

Martin Williams: Coleman's Raw Emotion, in: Martin Williams: Jazz Masters in Transition, 1957-1969, New York 1970 [book], p. 277-278 (R: New York Is Now!; Reprint aus: New York Times, 23.Feb.1969)

Max Harrison: Two Pieces on Ornette Coleman, in: Max Harrison: A Jazz Retrospect, London 1991 [book; Reprint, O: 1976], p. 107-115 (F; Reprint aus: Jazz Monthly, Jun.1966; Jazz Monthly, Feb.1969)

NN: Jazz News, in: Jazz Podium, 18/2 (Feb.1969), p. 41 (N: signs contract with Impulse) [digi.copy]

NN: Platte des Monats. Ornette Coleman - "New York Is Now!" (Blue Note BST 84287), in: Jazz Podium, 18/2 (Feb.1969), p. 59 (R) [digi.copy]

NN: Potpourri. Ornette Coleman signs with ABC, in: Down Beat, 36/3 (6.Feb.1969), p. 13 (N)

NN: Good News: Coleman, Don Cherry Reunite, in: Down Beat, 36/6 (20.Mar.1969), p. 14 (short F)

Jim McNeely: Ornette Coleman - "Round Trip", in: Down Beat, 36/11 (29.May 1969), p. 39-40 (T)

Martin Williams: Caught in the Act. Ornette Coleman Quintet, Loeb Student Center, New York University, in: Down Beat, 36/10 (15.May 1969), p. 30 (C)

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman in Concert, in: Martin Williams: Jazz Masters in Transition, 1957-1969, New York 1970 [book], p. 282-283 (C; Reprint aus: Down Beat, 15.May 1969)

Lawrence Kart: Ornette Coleman - "Ornette at 12" (Impulse), in: Down Beat, 36/12 (12.Jun.1969), p. 21 (R)

B. Houston: Ornette Coleman - Ornette at 12, in: Melody Maker, 19.Jul.1969, p.19 (R)

Valerie Wilmer: Second Opinion. Ornette Coleman, in: Melody Maker, 27.Sep.1969, p. 14 (F) [digi.copy]

Pierre Cressant: Ornette Coleman. Le 20 septembre à Pleyel, in: Jazz Hot, 35/254 (1969), p. 6-7 (C) [digi.copy]

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman. Ten Years After, in: Down Beat, 36/26 (25.Dec.1969), p. 24-25 (F); part 2, in: Down Beat, 37/1 (8.Jan.1970), p. 9, 33-34 (F) [digi.copy]

Gene Santoro: Ornette Coleman, in: Fachblatt Musik Magazin, ca. 1970s, p. 10-12, 14-15 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Ekkehard Jost: Zur Musik Ornette Colemans, in: Jazzforschung/jazz research, #2 (1970), p. 105-124 (F/A/T: excerpts from 'Tears Inside''; "Free Jazz"; "Forerunner"; "Mind and Time"; "Congeniality"; "The Riddle")

Jimmy Stewart: A Consideration of The Art of Ornette Coleman, in: The Cricket, #4 (ca.1970), p. 16-18 (F) [digi.copy]

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman. Innovation from the Source, in: Martin Williams: The Jazz Tradition, New York 2/1983 [book; New York 1/1970], p. 235-248 (F)

NN: And... What's Happenin'. Ornette with an Audience of Friends and Neighbours, in: Jazz & Pop, 9/5 (1970), p. 11 (N) [digi.copy]

Yves Buin, D. Caux, Jean-Louis Chautemps, André Hodeir & Lucien Malson: Sur quelques ouvres contemporaines. II. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #176/Les Cahiers du Jazz, #18 (1970), p. xxii-xxiii (F) [digi.copy]

Harvey Pekar: Ornette Coleman - "Friends and Neighbors" (Flying Dutchman FDS-123), in: Down Beat, 37/21 (29.Oct.1970), p. 22-23 (R: 3 1/2 stars) [digi.copy]

Frank Kofsky: Ornette Coleman. "Jazz" Musician, in: Jazz & Pop, 9/11 (Nov.1970), p. 34-35 (F) [digi.copy]

Sammy Mitchell: Caught in the Act. Ornette Coleman, Mandrake's, Berkeley, Calif., in: Down Beat, 37/22 (12.Nov.1970), p. 34 (C) [digi.copy]

Tom Heaney; Chords & Discords. Check List?, in: Down Beat, 27/25 (10.Dec.1970), p. 7 (letter: about Harvey Pekar's review from Down Beat, 29.Oct.1970) [digi.copy]

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman - Twins, in: Martin Williams: Jazz in Its Time, New York 1989 [book], p. 222-225 (liner notes; Reprint von 1971)

Martin Williams: Ornette Coleman's Crisis, in: Martin Williams: Jazz Changes, New York 1992 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 219-222 (R; Reprint: liner notes, 1971)

Bob Palmer: Ornette Coleman - "The Art of the Improvisers" (Atlantic SD 1572), in: Jazz & Pop, 10/1 (Jan.1971), p. 50-52 (R) [digi.copy]

John Norris: Heard and Seen. Ornette Coleman, Town Tavern, Toronto, in: Coda, 9/11 (Jan/Feb.1971), p. 41-42 (C)

Bill Cole: Caught in the Act. Ornette Coleman, Wesleyan University, Middletown, Conn., in: Down Beat, 38/4 (18.Feb.1971), p. 31 (C) [digi.copy]

John Litweiler: Ornette Coleman - "The Art of the Improvisers" (Atlantic 1572), in: Down Beat, 38/4 (18.Feb.1971), p. 21, 24 (R: 5 stars)

R. Williams: Love Call from a Forgotten Man, in: Melody Maker, 27.Mar.1971, p. 27 (R: Love Call / The Art of the Improvisors)

Bill Cole: Ornette Coleman - "Love Call" (Blue Note BST-84356), in: Down Beat, 38/12 (10.Jun.1971), p. 16 (R: 4 stars) [digi.copy]

Estelle Langton & S.R. Hamburg: Chords & Discords. Cole Pro... and Con, in: Down Beat, 38/12 (10.Jun.1971), p. 4 (letters: about reviews by Bill Cole, re: McCoy Tyner, Andrew Cyrille, Pharoah Sanders; Ornette Coleman) [digi.copy]

NN: Coleman Cuts for CBS with Old & New Friends, in: Down Beat, 38/18 (28.Oct.1971), p. 9 (short F)

NN: Potpourri. Ornette Coleman signed by Columbia Records, in: Down Beat, 38/17 (14.Oct.1971), p. 12 (N)

Valerie Wilmer: The Art of Insecurity, in: Melody Maker, 30.Oct.1971, p. 18 (F/I) [digi.copy]; part 2, in: Melody Maker, 6.Nov.1971, p. 12 (F/I) [digi.copy]

C. Welch: Ornette Coleman (at the New Victoria, London), in: Melody Maker, 20.Nov.1971, p. 25 (C)

John Fordham: Shooting from the Hip. Changing Tunes in Jazz, London 1996 [book: Kyle Cathie Limited], p. 25-26, chapter "Ornette" (F; Reprint, from: Time Out, Nov.1971); p. 90-91, chapter "Social Insecurity" (F/I; Reprint, from: The Guardian, Jun.1981); p. 158-159, chapter "Song X" (R; Reprint, from: The Guardian, Jun.1986); p. 266-267, chapte "Don't Shoot the Pianist Any More" (C; Reprint, from: The Guardian, May 1992)

Martha Sanders Gilmore: Newport '71. Festival Misfortune, in: Jazz Journal, 24/11 (Nov.1971), p. 7 (F)

Barry McRae: Basics No. 60. Ornette Coleman. A Column for the Newcomer to Jazz, in: Jazz Journal, 24/12 (Dec.1971), p. 7 (F)

Gary Giddins: Ornette Coleman, Continued, in: Gary Giddins: Riding On a Blue Note. Jazz & American Pop, New York 1981 [book]; reprint, New York 2000 [book: Da Capo Press], p. 179-189 (F; Reprint aus: Village Voice, 1972-1979)

- H.J. Klee: Ornette Coleman Science Fiction, in: Down Beat, 39/8 (1972), p. 17-18 (R)
- S. Davis: Ornette Coleman Science Fiction, in: Rolling Stone, #104 (1972), p. 60, 62 (R)
- W. Smith: Ornette Coleman Twins, in: Down Beat, 39/10 (1972), p. 18, 21 (R)
- W.P.: Ornette Coleman Science Fiction, in: Sounds, #6 (1972), p. 34 (R)
- R. Williams: Ornette in Europe, in: Melody Maker, 11. Mar. 1972, p. 32 (R: In Europe, Vol. 1/2)
- NN: Big Jazz premiere. 86-Piece Orchestra at London's Royal Albert Hall, in: Melody Maker, 8.Apr.1972, p. 1

Richard Williams: Ornette in the Studio, in: Melody Maker, 22.Apr.1972, p. 21 (F/I) [digi.copy]

NN: Potpourri. Ornette Coleman "Skies of America" recorded, in: Down Beat, 39/11 (8.Jun.1972), p. 11 (N)

Don Heckman: Coleman's 'Skies of America' in Debut, in: in: New York Times, 5.Jul.1972, p. 31 (C) [digi.copv]

R. Williams: Ornette Cuts the Barriers, in: Melody Maker, 22.Jul.1972, p. 44 (R: Twins / Crisis / Science Fiction)

Gary Giddins: Impressive Preview of Coleman's Magnum Opus, in: Down Beat, 39/14 (17.Aug.1972), p. 10-11 (C)

NN: Mewport Jazz Festival New York, in: Jazz Hot, #278 (Dec.1971), p. 4-12 (C: Sonny Rollins Quintet; Budd Johnson; Cecil Taylor; Byard Lancaster; Lee Konitz; Woody Herman; Freddie Hubbard; Ornette Coleman, Dewey Redman, Charlie Haden, Ed Blackwell; Milford Graves & Frank Lowe; Earl Cross Ninetet; Frank Foster Big Band; Sam Rivers; Gunter Hampel & Jeanne Lee & Anthony Braxton; Noah Howard; Weather Report; Archie Shepp; Ken McIntyre; Dewey Redman Quartet; Leon Thomas; Thad Jones / Mel Lewis Big Band) [digi.copy]

Robert Palmer: Ornette Coleman and the Circle with a Hole in the Middle. "He lives in a world of clear, endlessly permutating images, of global musics, folk and classical and jazz, that interpenetrate", in: The Atlantic Monthly, Dec.1972 (F/I) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Gary Giddins: Ornette Coleman - Skies of America, in: Down Beat, 40/1 (1973), p. 20, 22 (R)

Hildred Roach: Ornette Coleman, in: Hildred Roach: Black American Music. Past and Present, Boston 1973 [book], p. 142 (F)

Philippe Carles: Ornette. Muqie non temperée, in: Jazz Magazine, #212 (1973), p. 16-17

- T. Martin: Ornette Coleman Crisis, in: Down Beat, 40/3 (1973), p. 20 (R)
- W.P.: Ornette Coleman Skies of America, in: Sounds, #3 (1973), p. 42 (R)

Francis Marmande: Les ages d'Ornette. Retour sur Ornette. A propos de la reédition de "Free Jazz", in: Jazz Magazine, #443 (Dec.1994), p. 48-49 (F; Reprint aus: Jazz Magazine, Jan.1973)

Michael James: Some interesting Contemporaries, in: Jazz & Blues Monthly, 2/10 (Jan.1973), p. 8-14 (F: Art Pepper, Elmo Hope, Ornette Coleman, Shelly Manne) [digi.copy]

Joe Klee: Caught in the Act. Ornette Coleman, Artist's House, New York City, in: Down Beat, 40/2 (1.Feb.1973), p. 30 (C) [digi.copy]

Barry McRae: Avant Courier No.12. Kaleidoscope, in: Jazz Journal, 26/2 (Feb.1973), p. 10 (F)

NN: Potpourri. Ornette Coleman gave lectures at Queensborough Community College, in: Down Beat, 40/5 (15.Mar.1973), p. 14 (N)

Richard Williams: Ornette and the Pipes of Joujouka, in: Melody Maker, 17.Mar.1973, p. 22-23 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Philippe Carles: Ornette Coleman. Non temperée, in: Jazz Magazine, Jun.1973, p. 16-17 (I) [digi.copy]; reprint, in: Jazz Magazine, #443 (Dec.1994), p. 49 (I)

J. Atterton: Jazz (Newly-Formed Septet with Vocalist Webster Armstrong / Concert with the Lark Woodwind Quintet at Carnegie Hall), in: Melody Maker, 15. Sep. 1973, p. 25 (C)

NN: Potpourri, in: Down Beat, 40/15 (13.Sep.1973), p. 10 (N: Carnegie Hall concert) [digi.copy]

Charles Suber: The First Chorus, in: Down Beat, 40/19 (22.Nov.1973), p. 6 (F: Ornette Coleman as composer / improviser)

Michael Bourne: Ornette's Inner View. "I've had people come up and spit in my face and try to beat me up", in: Down Beat, 40/19 (22.Nov.1973), p. 16-17 (I) [digi.copy]; response, by Keith Williams, in: Down Beat, 41/6 (28.Mar.1964), p. 8 (letter)

Vladimir Simosko & Barry Tepperman: Eric Dolphy. A Musical Biography & Discography, Washington/DC 1974 [book: Smithsonian Institution Press]; reprint, New York 1979 [book: Da Capo], passim (F) [digi.copy]

Leigh Borstein & Mark Rath: Chords and Discords. Plugging Away, in: Down Beat, 41/5 (14.Mar.1974), p. 8 (letters)

R. Chapman: Ornette Coleman (Quartet in Bern), in: Melody Maker, 18.May 1974, p. 58

NN: Potpourri. Ornette Coleman receives Guggenheim Fellowship, in: Down Beat, 41/11 (6.Jun.1974), p. 10 (N) [digi.copy]

Bobby Bradford: O.C., in: Jazz Magazine, #443 (Dec.1994), p. 49 (F; Reprint aus: Jazz Magazine, Jun.1974)

Johannes Anders: Ornette<Coleman in der Schweiz, in: Jazz Podium, 23/7 (Jul.1974), p. 13-14 (C)

Steve Lake: Stirring Up Ornette's Nest. Ornette Coleman engages a confused Steve Lake in a battle of wits in New York, in: Melody Maker, 17. Aug.1974, p. 24 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Hans Kumpf: Ornette Coleman. Skies of America, in: Jazz Podium, 23/11 (Nov.1974), p. 18-19, 28 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Duck Baker: Heard and Seen. Ornette Coleman, Keystone Corner, San Francisco, in: Coda, #134 (Dec.1974), p. 36 (C)

Franco Fayenz: Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, Dec. 1974, p. 43-44, 64 (I) [digi.copy]

Ekkehard Jost: Ornette Coleman, in: Ekkehard Jost: Free Jazz. Stilkritische Untersuchungen zum Jazz der 60er Jahre, Mainz 1975 [book], p. 50-75 (A/T); 2nd edition, Hofheim 2002 [book: Wolke], p. 45-54 (A/T); French translation as "Free Jazz. Une étude critique et stylistique du jazz des années 1960", Paris 2002 [book: Outre Mesure], p. 53-76 (A/T) [digi.copy]

Graham Collier: Ornette Coleman, in: Graham Collier: Jazz. A Student's and Teacher's Guide, London 1975 [book: Cambridge University Press], p. 69-76 (F)

S. Davis: The Master Musicians of Jajouka, in: Rolling Stone, #181 (1975), p. 54-55 (R)

Giuseppe Candalino: Ornette Coleman anno 1965. A metà segli anni Sessanta il grande sassofonista compi un deciso passo in avanti verso una maggior compiuzetta espressiva: compose delle opere che si inscrivono nelle richeche musicali post-schönberghiane ed esplorò a fondo le possibilità offertegli dal trio che aveva appena costitutio, in: Musica Jazz, 31/1 (Jan.1975), p. 18-20 (F)

NN: New Album on Own Air Label "Front Page", in: Melody Maker, 1.Feb.1975, p. 20

Barry McRae: Avant Courier. The Ornette Coleman Atlantics, in: Jazz Journal, 28/4 (Apr.1975), p. 14-16, 49 (F) [digi.copy]

NN: Les faces d'Ornette. Inventaire discographique, in: Jazz Magazine, #250 (1976), p. 20-22

Laurent Goddet: La deuxième voix, in: Jazz Hot, #323 (Jan.1976), p. 6-7, 27 (F) [digi.copy]

Philippe Carles: Jazz en direct. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #240 (Jan.1976), p. 10 (C) [digi.copy]

Alain-René Hardy: Deux avant-gardes, in: Jazz Magazine, #241 (Feb.1976), p. 20-21, 36 (F: Phillip Glass, Ornette Coleman)

Steve Lake: Coleman - Free Jazz, in: Melody Maker, 7.Aug.1976, p. 20 (R)

Art Taylor: Ornette Coleman. I Was a B Flat Man, in: Arthur Taylor: Notes and Tones, Liège 1977 [book: Arthur Taylor], p. 31-40 (I)

Bob Blumenthal: Ornette. An Experimental Music That Has Aged Gracefully, in: Jazz (Magazine) [USA], 1/3 (Spring 1977), p. 39-42 (F) [digi.copy]

Bob Blumenthal: Ornette. An Experimental Music That Has Aged Gracefully, in: Jazz Magazine (USA), 1/3 (Spring 1977), p. 39-42 (F)

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman - Dancing In Your Head, in: Down Beat, 44/16 (1977), p. 24 (R)

Keith Raether. Ornette. Bobby Bradford's Portrait of an Emerging Giant, in: Jazz (Magazine) [USA], 1/3 (Spring 1977), p. 43-46 (F/I with Bobby Bradford about Ornette Coleman) [digi.copy]

Lawrence Kart: Paul Bley, Ornette Coleman - "Live at the Hillcrest Club, 1958" (Inner City), in: Jazz (Magazine) [USA], 1/3 (Spring 1977), p. 51 (R) [digi.copy]

NN: Lost and Found, in: Jazz (Magazine) [USA], 1/4 (Summer 1977), p. 16 (N: trumpet lost and recovered) [digi.copy]

Valerie Wilmer: Ornette Coleman - The Art of the Improviser, in: Valerie Wilmer. As Serious As Your Life. The Story of the New Jazz, London 1977 [book: Allison & Busby Ltd.; German translation, as: "Coltrane und die jungen Wilden. Die Entstehung des New Jazz", Höfen/Austria 2001 (Hannibal)], p. 60-74 (F/I)

Gilmore: Ornette Coleman - Coleman Classics Vol. 1, in: Down Beat, 45/11 (1978), p. 24 (R)

Gunther Schuller: Ornette Coleman: Ornettel (Atlantic 1378), in: Tom Piazza: Setting the Tempo. Fifty Years of Great Jazz Liner Notes, New York 1996 [book], p. 360-365 (F; reprint of liner notes from 1978)

James Lincoln Collier: Cecil, Ornette, and the Revolutionaries, in: James Lincoln Collier: The Making of Jazz. A Comprehensive History, London 1978 [book], p. 454-477 (F)

Mark Gridley: Ornette Coleman, in: Mark Gridley: Jazz Styles, Englewood Cliffs 1978 [book], p. 195-204 (F)

Chip Stern: Newport. Ornette Coleman's Prime Time / Cecil Taylor Unit, Carnegie Hall, in: Down Beat, 45/15 (7.Sep.1978), p. 23, 56 (C) [digi.copy]

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman. The Creator as Harmolodic Magician, in: Down Beat, 45/16 (5.Oct.1978), p. 17-19, 53-56 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Kitty Grime: Jazz at Ronnie Scott's, London 1979 [book], p. 75-76, 135, 162, 178-179, 184 (short I) [digi.copy]

Alan Rich (ed.): The Simon & Schuster Listener's Guide to Jazz, New York 1980 [book: Simon & Schuster], p. 112-115 (F)

Gudrun Endress: Ornette Coleman. Glauben an das, was man fühlt und hört, in: Gudrun Endress: Jazz Podium. Musiker über sich selbst, Stuttgart 1980 [book], p. 184-189 (I) [digi.copy]

Harry Meidema: Dee-Dee. Ornette Coleman's Alto Sax, in: Down Beat Music '80 (1980), p. 54-56 (T) [digi.copy]

Yves Thébault: Jazz en direct. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, # 287 (Jun.1980), p. 18 (C)

Arrigo Polillo: Ornette Coleman, in: Arrigo Polillo: Jazz. Geschichte und Persönlichkeiten, München 1981 [book: Herbig], p. 611-624 (F); reprint, in: Arrigo Polillo (ed. Hans-Jürgen Schaal): Jazz. Die neue Enzyklopädie, München 2003 [book: Herbig], p. 649-662 (F)

B. Gullman: Ornette Alone (at Kool Festival), in: Musician, #36 (1981), p. 86 (C)

B. Quinn: Ornette Coleman. Avant Guardian, in: Jazz Times, #2 (1981), p. 10-12

Hans Kumpf: Ornette Coleman [p. 26-27 (F)]; Werkstattgespräch mit Ornette Coleman [p. 28-29 (I)], in: Hans Kumpf: Postserielle Musik und Free Jazz. Wechselwirkungen und Parallelen, Rohrdorf 2/1981 [book]

Joachim Ernst Berendt: John Coltrane und Ornette Coleman, in: Joachim Ernst Berendt: Das große Jazzbuch. Von New Orleans bis Jazz Rock, Frankfurt/Main 1981 [book], p. 126-143 (F)

Joachim Ernst Berendt: Ornette und danach, in: Joachim Ernst Berendt: Das große Jazzbuch. Von New Orleans bis Jazz Rock, Frankfurt/Main 1981 [book], p. 425-426 (F)

R. Zabor: Nights at Picasso (at Public Theatre), in: Musician, #36 (1981), p. 88, 90 (C)

Art Lange: Ornette Coleman - "Soapsuds, Soapsuds" (Artists House 6), in: Coda, #177 (Feb.1981), p. 23 (R) [digi.copy]

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman - "Soapsuds, Soapsuds" (Artists House AH 6); "Body Meta" (Artists House AH 1), in: Down Beat, 48/5 (May 1981), p. 31-32 (R: 5 stars; 3 1/2 stars) [digi.copy]

Gustav Brand: Free Jazz zum Tanzen. Ornette Coleman auf dem Festival in Moers, in: Darmstädter Echo, 11.Jun.1981 (C) [digi.copy]

Leonard Feather: Ornette Coleman. Harmolodic Master Explores the Perils of Self-Expression, in: Down Beat, 48/7 (Jul.1981), p. 16-19, 62-63 (I); response by John Koenig & Ornette Coleman: Chords & Discords. Dis-harmonodics, in: Down Beat, 48/10 (Oct.1981), p. 9 (letter) [digi.copy]

Serge Loupien & Gérard Rouy: Ornette au net. Honnête Ornette: ainsi, il y a seize ans, Jean-Pierre Binchet définissait-il l'altiste pour les lecteurs de Jazzmag. Aujourd'hui, après diverses éclipses, le compositeur Ornette Coleman, toujours saxophoniste, violiniste, trompettiste et, surtout initiateur de plusieurs tendances musicales aux effets décisifs, est de retour: avec un nouveau groupe, la promesse d'un disque, désormais à ses côtés un manager attentif et, déjà enregistrée, la musique d'un film, in: Jazz Magazine, # 299 (Jul/Aug.1981), p. 56-57 (I) [digi.copy]

John B. Litweiler: Ornette Coleman 1958-1979. A Discography by Michael Cuscuna, in: Down Beat, 48/8 (Aug.1981), p. 64 (B)

Quincy Troupe: Ornette Coleman. Going Beyond Outside, in: Mark Rowland & Tony Scherman (Hgg.): The Jazz Musician. 15 Years if Interviews. The Best of Musician Magazine, New York 1994 [book], p. 25-46 (I; Reprint aus: Musician, Nov.1981)

André Francis: Jazz (nouvelle édition), Malesherbes 1982 [book: Microcosme / Seuil], p. 202-205 (F)

Charles Fox: Seven Steps to Jazz. Benny Carter, Johnny Hodges, Charlie Parker, Lee Konitz, Ornette Coleman, Eric Dolphy, Anthony Braxton, in: The Wire, #2 (Winter 1982/1983), p. 12-14 (F) [digi.copy]

R. Zabor: Ornette Coleman - Broken Shadows, in: Musician, #49 (1982), p. 93-94 (R)

Ron Brown: Jazz in Britain. The Ornette Coleman Quartet, in: Jazz Journal, 25/1 (Jan.1972), p. 16 (C)

P. Kostakis: Ornette Coleman - Of Human feelings, in: Down Beat, 49/7 (Jul. 1982), p. 32-33 (R)

D. Wild: Ornette Coleman and Prime Time, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, in: Down Beat, 49/8 (Aug. 1982), p. 56 (C)

Bresnick & Russell Fine: Ornette Coleman Interview, in: Cadence, 8/9 (Sep.1982), p. 5-7, 51 (I) [digi.copy]

C. Radel: Ornette Coleman - "Broken Shadows" (Columbia FC 38029), in: Down Beat, 49/12 (Dec.1982), p. 40 (R: 4 stars) [digi.copy]

Cliff Radel: Ornette Coleman - "Broken Shadows" (Columbia), in: Down Beat, 49/12 (Dec.1982), p. 40 (R) [digi.copy]

John Rockwell: Ornette Coleman. Free Jazz, Body Music & Symphonic Dreams, in: John Rockwell: All American Music. Composition in the Late Twentieth Century, New York 1983 [book], p. 185-197 (F)

Vittorio Castelli & Luca Cerchiari: Jazz su disco, Milano 1983 [book: Oscar Mondadori], p. 191-193 (R: "Something Else!", Contemporary; "The Shape of Jazz to Come", Atlantic; Free Jazz", Atlantic; "Crisis", Impulse)

Whitney Balliett: Ornette, in: Whitney Balliett: Jelly Roll, Jabbo & Fats. 19 Portraits in Jazz, New York 1983 [book], p. 187-197 (F/I); Reprint, in: Whitney Balliett: American Musicians. 56 Portraits in Jazz, New York 1986 [book], p. 401-408 (F/I); Reprint, in: Whitney Balliett: American Musicians II. Seventy-One Portraits in Jazz, New York 1997 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 507-513 (F/I)

Joël Pailhe: Les saisons d'Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Hot, #402 (Jul/Aug.1983), p. 16-17 (F); part 2, in: Jazz Hot, #403 (Sep.1983), p. 10-11 (F); part 3, in: Jazz Hot, #404 (Oct.1983), p. 20-21 (F)

Ornette Coleman: Pro Session. Prime Time for Harmolodics, in: Down Beat, 50/7 (Jul.1983), p. 54-55 ("I") [digi.copy]

Chris Sheridan: Ornette Coleman - "Who's Crazy" (Atlantic), in: Down Beat, 50/9 (Sep. 1983), p. 27 (R)

Denis Constant: Ornette Coleman (Septet), Paris, Tmp/Chatelet, in: Jazz Magazine, #334 (1984), p. 19 (C)

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman. Return of the Native in his Prime / Caravan of Dreams' Cowtown Debut, in: Musician, #64 (1984), p. 28, 30, 32

John Litweiler: Ornette Coleman. The Birth of Freedom, in: John Litweiler: The Freedom Principle. Jazz After 1958, New York 1984 [book: W. Morrow], p. 31-58 (F); German translation as: "Das Prinzip Freiheit. Jazz nach 1958", Schaftlach 1988 [book: Oreos]

Michael Point: Caught. Ornette Coleman, Fort Worth, in: Down Beat, 51/1 (Jan.1984) p. 50 (C) [digi.copy]

David Aronson: Ornette Coleman. Un futuriste primitif, in: Jazz Hot, #414 (Oct.1984), p. 16-21, 66 (I) [digi.copy]

C.S.: Ornette Coleman Prime Time, Milano, Cineteatro Ciak, in: Musica Jazz, 40/12 (Dec.1984), p. 11 (C)

T. Fitterling: Ornette Colemans Prime Time, Kultfigur, Asket, Hexenmeister, in: Jazz Podium, 33/12 (Dec.1984), p. 17

D. Aronson: Ornette Coleman. En tiennyt, että niin ei saa tehdä, in: Rytmi, 2/1985, p. 26-31

F. Lagerwerff: Gehoord & Gewogen. Ornette Coleman - Broken Shadows, in: Muziek & Dans, #4 (1985), p. 35 (R)

Gary Giddins: Harmolodic Hoedown, in: Gary Giddins: Rhythm-A-Ning. Jazz Tradition and Innovation in the 80's, New York 1985 [book], p. 235-249 (F)

NN: Ornette, in: Rytmi, 4/1985, p. 22-23 (D)

Kees Stevens: Ornette Coleman and Prime Time, Meervaart Amsterdan, in: Jazz Freak, 12/3 (15.Jan.1985), p. 86 (C)

Renze de Vries: Gehoord & Gezien. Concert - Ornette Coleman & Prime Time, in: Jazz Nu, 7/75 (Jan.1985), p. 139-140 (C)

"M.P.": Dentro le note. Jazz al microscopio. I ritornelli irregilari di Ornette, in: Musica Jazz, Feb.1988, p. 61 (A)

Marcello Piras: I ritornelli irregolari di Ornette ("Bird Food"), in: Musica Jazz, 41/6 (Jun.1985), p. 61

Francis Davis: Ornette's Permanent Revolution. A jazzman breaks all the boundaries, in: The Atlantic Monthly, Sep.1985 (F) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Francis Davis: There's No Success Like Failure and Failure's No Success at All. Ornette Coleman's Permanent Revolution, in: Francis Davis: In the Moment. Jazz in the 1980s, New York 1986 [book], p. 133-146 (F/I; originally published in Nov.1984, Sep.1985); reprint, in: Francis Davis: Jazz and Its Discontents. A Francis Davis Reader, New York 2004 [book: Da Capo Press], p. 15-25 (F/I)

Joe Cohen: Riffs. Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 52/10 (Oct.1985), p. 14 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Vernon Frazer: Ornette Coleman Festival, Hartford, Connecticut, in: Coda, #204 (Oct/Nov.1985), p. 19 (C)

Anthony Revo: Facs and Places (For Ornette Coleman), in: Chris Parker (Hg.): B Flat, Bebop, Scat. Jazz Short Stories & Poems, London 1986 [book], p. 111 (poem)

Gunther Schuller: Ornette Coleman, in: Gunther Schuller: Musings. The Musical Worlds of Gunther Schuller, New York 1986 [book], p. 76-79 (F; Reprint aus: New Grove Dictionary of American Music)

Henry Martin: Ornette Coleman [p. 133-136 (A)]; Ornette Coleman - "Lonely Woman" [p. 245-246 (A/T)], in: Henry Martin: Enjoying Jazz, New York 1986 [book] [digi.copy]

Michel-Claude Jalard: Ornette Coleman, John Coltrane, Eric Dolphy, in: Michel-Claude Jalard: Le Jazz. Est-il encore possible?, Marseilles 1986 [book], p. 89-112 (F)

Richard Cook: Ornette Coleman and Prime Time. Opening the Caravan of Dreams, in: The Wire, #23 (Jan.1986), p. 41-42 (R)

NN: Dålig film im Coleman, Göteborg Filmfestival, in: Orkester Journalen, 54/3 (Mar.1986), p. 14 (Film-R: "Made in America")

Michael Point: Caught. Endangered Species. Caravan of Dreams, in: Down Beat, 53/4 (Apr.1986), p. 52 (C)

T. Szachowski: Pat Metheny/Ornette Coleman - Song X, in: Jazz Forum, #102 (May 1986), p. 48-49 (R)

Art Lange: Ornette Coleman & Pat Metheny. Songs of Innocence and Experience, in: Down Beat, 53/6 (Jun.1986), 16-19, 53 (I with Ornette Coleman and Pat Metheny); reprint, in: Frank Alkyer & Ed Enright (eds.): Down Beat. The Great Jazz Interviews. A 75th Anniversary Anthology, New York 2009 [book: Hal Leonard Books], p. 242-246 (I); responses, by Kenneth J. McCarthy, Michael Paumgardhen, in: Down Beat, 53/8 (Aug.1986), p. 8 (letters)

Art Lange: Ornette Coleman & Pat Metheny. Songs of Innocence and Experience, in: Down Beat, 53/6 (Jun.1986), p. 16ff.; reprint, in: Down Beat: 60 Years of Jazz, Milwaukee 1995 (Hal Leonard Corp.) [book], p. 208-211 (I)

Eric Snider: Ornette, in: Jazziz, 3/4 (Jun/Jul.1986), p. 12, 33 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Richard Cook: Ornette Coleman & Pat Metheny - Song X, in: The Wire, #28 (Jun.1986), p. 33-34 (R)

S. Foster: Ornette Coleman's Solo on "Love Words", in: Down Beat, 53/6 (Jun.1986), p. 56 (T)

Scott Foster: Pro Session. Ornette Coleman's Solo on "Love Words". An Alto Saxophone Transcription, in: Down Beat, 53/6 (Jun.1986), p. 56-57 (A/T)

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman/Pat Metheny - Song X, in: Down Beat, 53/8 (Aug.1986), p. 29 (R)

Howard Mandel: Pat Metheny & Ornette Coleman - "Song X" (Geffen), in: Down Beat, 53/8 (Aug.1986), p. 29 (R)

Peter Rüedi: Stolen Moments. 1522 Jazzkolumnen, Basel 2013 [book: Echtzeit Verlag], p. 148-149 (R: chapter "Eine Liebeserklärung. Song X. Pat Metheny, Ornette Coleman (Geffen)")

Roger Riggins & David Lee: Metheny (Song X) Coleman, in: Coda, #209 (Aug/Sep.1986), p. 14-15 (F/R)

 $Mark\ Sinker:\ Ornette\ Coleman\ -\ Something\ Else!!!,\ in:\ The\ Wire,\ \#32\ (Oct.1986),\ p.\ 49-50\ (R)$

P. Bradshaw: Ornette Coleman's Prime Time, Tokyo, in: The Wire, #33 (Nov.1986), p. 14 (C)

Sergi Jordà: La nueva Fusion de los ochenta. Los harmolódicos: El maestro (I), in: Quartica Jazz, #18 (Apr.1987), p. 22-24 (F/I) [digi.copy]; part 2, in: Quartica Jazz, #19 (May/Jun.1987), p. 28-31 (F: James Blood Ulmer) [digi.copy]

Bill Shoemaker: Ornette Coleman - "Opening the Caravan of Dreams"; "Ornette" (Atlantic Jazzlore); "Prime Design/Time Design" (Caravan of Dreams), in: Down Beat, 54/6 (Jun.1987), p. 37-38 (R)

Bill Shoemaker: Ornette Coleman - Opening the Caravan of Dreams / Ornette / Prime Design-Time Design, in: Down Beat, 54/6 (Jun.1987), p. 37-38 (R)

Marcos Ordónez: El retorno de Ornette Coleman, in: Quartica Jazz, #20 (Jul/Aug.1987), p. 14-15, 18-19 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Peter Watrous: John Coltrane. A Life Supreme, in: Mark Rowland & Tony Scherman (Hgg.): The Jazz Musician. 15 Years if Interviews. The Best of Musician Magazine, New York 1994 [book], p. 165-190 (F/kurzes I; Reprint aus: Musician, Jul.1987)

Ed Hazell: Ornette in All Languages. Ornette Coleman in Concert with Prime Time and the Original Quartet, in: Coda, #215 (Aug/Sep.1987), p. 12-13 (C)

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman. The Color of Music, in: Down Beat, 54/8 (Aug.1987), p. 16-19 (I); Reprint, in: Down Beat, 61/2 (Feb.1994), p. 44 (I) [digi.copy]

Paul Herruer: Composities van Ornette Coleman - een bijverschijnsel, in: Jazz Nu, 10/107 (Sep.1987), p. 456-457 (F)

Bill Shoemaker: Ornette Coleman - "In All Languages" (Caravan of Dreams), in: Down Beat, 54/10 (Oct.1987), p. 27 (R)

Peter Rüedi: Stolen Moments. 1522 Jazzkolumnen, Basel 2013 [book: Echtzeit Verlag], p. 196-197 (R: chapter "In allen Sprachen. In All Languages - The Original Quartet & Prime Time. Ornette Coleman (Caravan of Dreams Productions)")

Pino Candini: Ornette gran protagonista nell' universo delle musiche nere, in: Musica Jazz, 43/12 (Dec.1987), p. 13-16 (F)

Barry McRae: Ornette Coleman, London 1988 [book]

Graham Lock: Forces in Motion. Anthony Braxton and the Meta-Reality of Creative Music, London 1988 [book], p. 70-71, 87-88 (F)

Franco Fayenz: "È difficile scrivere e ragionare sui suoni..." In questa intervista Coleman conferma di non amare le riflessioni sistematiche sulla propria musica, ma le sue idee scorrono in mille rivoli tumultuosi e affascinanti, in: Musica Jazz, Jan.1988, p. 20-22 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Maurizio Franco: I temi, i contibuti, le opinioni: Piccola antologia della critica, in: Musica Jazz, Jan.1988, p. 18-20 (F) [digi.copy]

"M.P.": Dentro le note. Jazz al microscopio. Un caso di libertà vigilata, in: Musica Jazz, Feb.1988, p. 55-57 (F/A) [digi.copy]

Barry McRae: Jazz Live! Ornette Coleman & The Philharmonic Orchestra, in: Jazz Journal, 41/8 (Aug.1988), p. 19 (C)

Hank Bordowitz: Ornette Coleman, in: Jazziz, 5/5 (Aug/Sep.1988), p. 55 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Peter Rüedi: Stolen Moments. 1522 Jazzkolumnen, Basel 2013 [book: Echtzeit Verlag], p. 230-231 (R: chapter "Neues von Ornette. Virgin Beauty. Ornette Coleman and Prime Time (CBS Portrait)")

Kevin Whitehead: Ornette Coleman and Prime Time, in: Down Beat, 55/10 (Oct.1988), p. 29 (R)

Michael Cogswell: Melodic organization in four solos by Ornette Coleman, Denton 1989 [PhD thesis: University of North Texas], passim (A/T: "Ramblin"; "Lonely Woman"; "Congeniality"; "Free") [digi.copy]

Peter Niklas Wilson: Ornette Coleman. Sein Leben, seine Musik, seine Schallplatten, Schaftlach 1989 [book]; review, by Bill Shoemaker, in: Jazz Times, 30/1 (Feb. 2000), p. 77 (B); review, by Alan Cummings, in: The Wire, #194 (Apr. 2000), p. 77 (B); review, by Barry McRae, in: Jazz Journal, 53/12 (Dec. 2000), p. 19 (B)

Steve Lake: Backgrounds + Reviews. Ornette Coleman, in: Day In day Out, 1 (1989), p. 7-8 (F/I), p. 80 (F/I)

Steve Lake: Ornette Coleman, in: Day In Day Out, #1 (1989), p. 7-8, 80 (F) [digi.copy]

Kevin Whitehead: Success, Failure and Hard Work - Who's Crazy, in: Down Beat, 56/3 (Mar.1989), p. 40 (R)

Bill Shoemaker/John Tynan: Ornette Coleman - "Free Jazz", in: Down Beat, 56/9 (Sep.1989),p. 72, 74 (R)

Michael J. Budds: Jazz in the Sixties. The Expansion of Musical Resources and Techniques, Iowa City 1990 [book: Iowa Press], passim (F)

Peter Niklas Wilson: 'Harmolodics'. Theorie, Wahnsystem, Worthülse? Versuch zur Syntax und Ästhetik der Musik Ornette Colemans, in: Ekkehard Jost (Hg.): Darmstädter Jazzforum 89, Hofheim 1990 [book], p. 207-224 (A/T)

Kees Polling: Componist en improvisator Ornette Coleman - 'Melodie blijft altijd aanwezig, zelfs in de allernelste passages', in: Jazz Nu, #142 (Sep.1990), p. 521-523, 525 (F/I)

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman's Prime Time. Primeval Update, in: Down Beat, 57/11 (Nov.1990), p. 30-31 (F/I)

Josef Woodard: Caught. Ornette Coleman, Orpheum Theater, L.A., in: Down Beat, 57/12 (Dec.1990), p. 58 (C)

Ekkehard Jost: Free Jazz. Ornette Coleman - 'The Shape of Jazz to Come" (Atlantic 1317-2); "Free Jazz" (Atlantic 1364-2), in: Barry Kernfeld (ed.): The Blackwell Guide to Recorded Jazz, Cambridge/MA 1991 [book: Basil Blackwell], p. 386-390 (R)

Susanne Gläß: Ornette Coleman in "Fuzz, Feast, Breakout, European Echoes, Alone and the Arrest", in: Susanne Gläß: Die Rolle der Geige im Jazz, Bern 1991 [book], p. 137-143 (A)

Sergio Benoni: Ornette e la sardegna cronaca di un amore, in: Musica Jazz, 47/1 (Jan.1991), p. 18-19 (F)

Howard Mandel: Caught. Ornette Coleman, JVC Jazz Festival, Carnegie Hall, New York, in: Down Beat, 58/9 (Sep.1991), p. 52-53 (C)

David H. Rosenthal: Hard Bop. Jazz & Black Music 1955-1965, New York 1992 [book], passim (F)

Graham Lock: Doctor Free Jazz. Was Albert Ayler Right? Is music the healing force of the universe? Hello Central, says Graham Lock, give me Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz. The Magazine, #12 (1992), p. 18-20 (F/I)

John Litweiler: Ornette Coleman. The Harmolodic Life, London 1992 [book] (F/I/D)

Ruud Kuyper: Jazz in stijl. Handboek voor musici en liefhebbers, Rijswijk 1992 [book: Uitgeverij Elmar], p. 110-112 (F: biographical entry)

Ted Gioia: Something Else! The Shape of Jazz to Come, in: Ted Gioia: West Coast Jazz. Modern Jazz in California, 1945-1960, New York 1992 [book], p. 348-359 (F)

Tom Reed: Ornette Coleman, in: Tom Reed: The Black Music History of Los Angeles. Its Roots, Los Angeles 1992 [book], p. 223 (F)

Charlie Haden: The Making of "Free Jazz", in: Down Beat, 59/1 (Jan.1992), p. 29-30 (F) [digi.copy]; Reprint, in: Robert Walser (ed.): Keeping Time. Readings in Jazz History, New York 1999 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 395-397 (F)

John Litweiler: 30 Years of Free Jazz. Thank You, Ornettel, in: Down Beat, 59/1 (Jan.1992), p. 31 (F); Reprint, in: Robert Walser (ed.): Keeping Time. Readings in Jazz History, New York 1999 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 399-400 (F)

John McDonough: 30 Years of Free Jazz. Failed Experiment, in: Down Beat, 59/1 (Jan.1992), p. 30-31 (F); Reprint, in: Robert Walser (ed.): Keeping Time. Readings in Jazz History, New York 1999 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 397-399 (F)

Fara C.: Ornette père et fils, in: Jazz Magazine, #413 (Mar.1992), p. 46-47 (I) [orig. + vert.file]

Claudio Sessa: Milano. Il Festival Ritrova (Stanco) Ornette, in: Musica Jazz, 48/6 (Jun.1992), p. 14 (C)

Juan A. García de Cubas: Ornette Coleman Prime Time, in: Cuadernos de Jazz, #11 (Jul/Aug.1992), p. 13 (C)

Jean-Louis Comolli: Out to lunch. Quelque chose autre, in: Jazz Magazine, #419 (Oct.1992), p. 39-40 (F)

Josef Woodard: Q: What Do William Burroughs, Ornette Coleman and David Cronenberg Have in Common?, in: Option, #47 (Nov/Dec.1992), p. 70-73 (F: Naked Lunch)

Arthur Taylor: Notes and Tones. Musician-to-Musician Interviews. Expanded Edition, New York 1993 [book: Da Capo Press], p. 32-41 (I: chapter "Ornette Coleman. "I was a B-flat man")

Dan Morgenstern: Some Modern Masters, in: Dan Morgenstern & Ole Brask: Jazz People, New York 1976 [book: Harry N. Abrams], p. 223-227 (F)

David G. Such: Avant-Garde Jazz Musicians Performing 'Out There', Iowa City 1993 [book: University of Iowa Press], p. 53-55, passim (F/A: "Free Jazz")

Frank Tirro: Free Jazz - Ornette Coleman [p. 373-383 (F)]; Ornette Coleman [p. 407-410 (F/A)]; Ornette Coleman Quartet - Change of the Century [Anhang, p. 49-50 (A/T)], in: Frank Tirro: Jazz History, New York 2/1993 [book]

Lewis Porter & Michael Ullman: Ornette Coleman [p. 320-335 (F/A/T: Lonely Woman / Ramblin' / Congeniality)]; Embraceable You [p. 458-459 (A/T)], in: Lewis Porter & Michael Ullman: Jazz. From Its Origins to the Present, Englewood Cliffs/NJ 1993 [book] [digi.copy]

Mark Gridley: Ornette Coleman, in: Mark C. Gridley: Jazz Styles. History and Analysis, Englewood Cliffs 51993 [book], p. 274-277 (F)

Steven Block: Organized Sound. Pitch-Class Relations in the Music of Ornette Coleman, in: Annual Reviews of Jazz Studies, 6 (1993), p. 229-252 (A/T) [digi.copy]

Gamall Awad: Ornette Coleman and Prime Time. Out There, in: California Jazz Now, 2/11 (Apr.1993), p. 22-23 (C)

Ugo Sbisà: Ornette illumina l'autunno di Pescara, in: Musica Jazz, 49/12 (Dec.1993), p. 14-17 (C)

Gene Santoro: Dancing In Your Head, in: Gene Santoro: Dancing In Your Head. Jazz, Blues, Rock, and Beyond, New York 1994 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 131-138 (F)

Jacques Derrida: Play - The First Name. 1 July 1997, in: Genre, 36/2 (summer 2004), p. 331-340 (F) [digi.copy]

Jacques Derrida: The Other's Language. Jacques Derrida Interviews Ornette Coleman, 23 June 1997, in: Genre, 36/2 (summer 2004), p. 319-329 (I) [digi.copy]

Jean-Louis Chautemps, Alain Gerber, Lucien Malson & Michel Portal: La musique d'Ornette Coleman, in: Les Cahiers du Jazz, #2 (1994), p. 3-28 (F)

John Fordham: Jazz. Geschichte / Instrumente / Musiker / Aufnahmen, München 1994 [book: Christian Verlag], p. 122 (F)

Kees Polling: Gezien. Ornette Coleman Quartet, in: Jazz Nu, #179 (Jan.1994), p. 34 (C)

Phillipe Méziat: Le versant satanique d'Ornette Coleman. Les années Atlantic du saxophoniste: une intégrale à écouter, et méditer, in: Jazz Magazine, #433 (Jan.1994), p. 36-37 (F/R)

William Stephenson: The Hole with a Circle Around It, in: Jazziz, 11/1 (Jan.1994), p. 60-62, 64, 68, 99 (F/I) [orig. + vert.file]

Stéphane Ollivier: En direct. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #435 (Mar.1994), p. 12 (C)

Claudio Sessa: La rara belezza di un "antistile", in: Musica Jazz, 50/4 (Apr.1994), p. 28-29 (F/R: Complete Atlantic Recordings)

David Ayers: Ornettian Abstract. When Ornette Coleman's Fifties group appeared in New York pebbles were thrown..., in: Jazz on CD, 1/6 (Jun.1994), p. 39-41 (F)

Aaron Cohen: Ornette at the Movies, in: Coda, #257 (Sep/Oct.1994), p. 7 (Film-R)

Francois-René Simon: En direct. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #440 (Sep.1994), p. 8-9 (C)

Jacinto Zwiers: Ornette Coleman. Complete Atlantic Recordings, 1959-1961. Een zoektocht naar emotieen schoonheid, in: Jazz Nu, 16/186 (Sep.1994), p. 14-15, 17 (F/R)

John Corbett: Ornette Coleman. Beauty Is a Rare Thing. The Complete Atlantic Recordings, in: Coda, #257 (Sep/Oct.1994), p. 4-6 (F/R)

Thierry Quénum: Deux nouvelles voix d'Ornette, in: Jazz Magazine, #440 (Sep.1994), p. 30-32 (I mit Geri Allen, Charnett Moffett)

Franco Fayenz: Ornette Coleman in Italia, in: Jazz (Italy), 1/4 (Oct/Nov.1994), p. 58, 60 (C)

Larry Blumenfeld: Riffs. Verve to Imprint Harmolodics, in: Down Beat, 61/10 (Oct.1994), p. 11 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Libero Farné: Il futuro di Ornette ha un suono antico, in: Musica Jazz, 50/11 (Nov.1994), p. 14-16 (F)

Benoît Quersin & Francis Marmande & Ornette Coleman & Bobby Bradford & Philippe Carles: Les Âges d'Ornette. Des bandes sonores de film qui finalement s'en passèrent à d'autres rendezvous manqués, des lendemains en question au jazz libre de toujours, quelques grandes heures d'Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #443 (Dec.1994), p. 46-49 (F: excerpts from previously published artiucles and interviews between 1962 and 1974) [digi.copy]

Pino Maffei: Ecco Ornette, ecco "Trane" e la polemica s'infiamma, in: Musica Jazz, 50/12 (Dec.1994), p. 26-27 (F)

Barry Kernfeld: What to Listen for in Jazz, New Haven 1995 [book: Yale University Press], p. 71-72 (A: form in "Honeymooners")

Bert Noglik: Ornette Coleman & Prime Time, in: Jazzfest Berlin '95, Berlin 1995 [program], p. 6-7, 9 (F)

Bettina Schwalowsky: Ornette Coleman. Von der Freiheit eines Jazz-Menschen, in: Rondo, 6/1995, p. 18 (I)

François & Yves Billard: Histoires du Saxophone: Castelnau-le-Lez/France 1995 [book: Climats], p. 366-369 (F)

James D. Butler: Tomorrow is the Question. Ideas about the Early Years of Ornette Coleman's Career, in: Jazz Research Papers, 15 (1995), p. 10-23 (F/T: "Congeniality")

Howard Mandel: Bites. Ornette Coleman, in: The Wire, #131 (Jan.1995), p. 10 (C/I) [orig. + vert.file]

Jésus Moreno: Ornette Coleman, in: Jazzology, #7 (Jan.1995), p. 15 (F)

Christian Gauffre: Ornette. L'harmonodie au fil de l'air, in: Jazz Magazine, #446 (Mar.1995), p. 16-128 (I)

Louis Jérome: O.C. en CD, in: Jazz Magazine, #446 (Mar.1995), p. 19 (D)

Mario Bensa: La última polémica de Ornette Coleman, in: Cuadernos de Jazz, #27 (Mar/Apr.1995), p. 10 (F)

Alexandre Pierrepont: En direct. Ornette Coleman Quartet/Prime Time, Banlieues Bleues, in: Jazz Magazine, #449 (Jun.1995), p. 8 (C)

Doug Ramsey: 25 Who Mattered. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Times, 25/7 (Sep.1995), p. 61 (F)

Howard Mandell: Ornette Coleman. Driven to Abstraction, in: The Wire, #140 (Oct. 1995), p. 36-40 (F/I)

Konrad Heidkamp: Ein Schweben, als treibe man unter Wasser. Vorm harmolodischen Traum des Jazzmusikers Ornette Coleman - Zu seinem Auftritt - und zum Tode von Don Cherry, in: Die Zeit, 27.Oct.1995, p. 65 (F/I/C)

Michael Jarrett: Ornette Coleman Interview, in: Cadence, Oct.1995, p. 5-9 (I) [digi.copy]

Stéphane Ollivier: Ornette Coleman. Old and New Dreams, in: Jazz Magazine, #452 (Oct.1995), p. 37 (R: Chappaqua Suite / Tone Dialing)

Bert Noglik: Ornette Coleman. Hoch-Zeit für Prime Time, in: Jazz Thing, #11 (Nov/Jan.1995/96), p. 18-19 (F/I)

Christian Broecking: Ornette Coleman. The Return of a Godfather, in: Jazzthetik, 9/11 (Nov.1995), p. 12-16 (I) [digi.copy]

Gudrun Endress: Ornette Coleman. Die Bekenntnisse des Harmolodikers, in: Jazz Podium, 44/11 (Nov.1995), p. 3-4, 6 (I) [digi.copy]

Howard Mandel: Harmolodic Convergence. Everyone's favorite Texan iconoclast-turned-icon, Ornette Coleman is back with his first album in seven years and a new record label. Guess who's in charge, in: Pulse, Nov.1995, p. 36-38, 40, 43-45, 120 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Jean-Yves Le Bec: Prime Time. Une autre fois, in: Jazz Magazine, #453 (Nov.1995), p. 35-36 (I mit Kenneth Wessel, Chris Walker, Badal Roy, Chris Rosenberg)

José Ma García Martínez: Ornette Coleman, in: Cuadernos de Jazz, #31 (Nov/Dec.1995), p. 31-34 (F/I)

Luigi Onori: Il ritorno di Ornette, in: Musica Jazz, 51/11 (Nov.1995), p. 14-16 (F/I)

Michael Jarrett: Womanizing. Ornette Coleman's best-known tune, "Lonely Woman", gets around, in: Pulse, Nov.1995, p. 39 (F)

Philippe Carles & Frédéric Goaty: Tous les sens d'Ornette, in: Jazz Magazine, #453 (Nov.1995), p. 32-34 (I)

Wolf Kampmann: Ornette Coleman und die Summa Harmolodica, in: Jazzthetik, 9/11 (Nov.1995), p. 6-11 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Bill Shoemaker: Dialing Up Ornette, in: Jazz Times, 25/10 (Dec.1995), p. 42-44, 94-95 (F/I)

NN: Don Cherry par les siens, in: Jazz Magazine, #454 (Dec.1995), p. 18-21 (F/O/I mit Coleman u.a.)

T:S. Hoeg: Ornette Coleman. En brækdel af fremtiden, in: Jazz Special, #25 (Dec/Jan.1995/96), p. 26-27 (F)

Viktor Frölke: Ornette Coleman - Soms lijken geen regels te gelden, in: Jazz Nu, #200 (Dec.1995), p. 18-19, 21 (F/I)

Chip Deffaa: Ornette Coleman, in: Chip Deffaa: Jazz Veterans. A Portrait Gallery, Fort Bragg/CA 1996 [book: Cypress House], p. 228-230 (F)

Dave Oliphant: The Cowtown Vanguard. Ornette Coleman, in: Dave Oliphant: Texan Jazz, Austin 1996 [book], p. 306-341 (F)

David Perry: Coleman, Marsalis and Jarrett, in: David Perry: Jazz Greats, London 1996 [book: Phaidon], p. 221-30 (F)

James Dorsey: Theme and Improvisation in a Composition by Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Research Papers, 16 (1996), p. 48-54 (F/A)

Lewis Porter: The "Blues Connotation" in Ornette Coleman's Music - And Some General Thoughts on the Relation of Blues to Jazz, in: Annual Review of Jazz Studies, #7 (1994/95), p. 75-99 (A/T: excerpts from "Turnaround"; "Ramblin"; "Blues Connotation"; "Broadway Blues"; "Free Music"; "Lonely Woman") [digi.copy]

Michael Cogswell: Melodic Organization in Two Solos by Ornette Coleman, in: Annual Review of Jazz Studies, #7 (1994/95), p. 101-144 (A/T: excerpts from "Lonely Woman", "Free") [digi.copy]

Ornette Coleman: Change of the Century (Atlantic 1327), in: Tom Piazza: Setting the Tempo. Fifty Years of Great Jazz Liner Notes, New York 1996 [book], p. 366-369 ("I"; Reprint of original liner notes)

Philippe Richard & Yves Sportis: Discographie de Ornette Coleman, 1958-1995, in: Jazz Hot, #special (1996), p. 33-347 (D)

Franco Fayenz: Ornette Coleman. Armolodia: soltanto un sogno?, in: Jazz (Italy), 3/14 (Jan/Feb.1996), p. 6-9 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Josef Woodard: Ornette Coleman. Change of the Century, in: Jazziz, 13/2 (Jan/Feb.1996), p. 46-54 (F/I)

Larry Blumenfeld: Cross Generational Inspiration, in: Down Beat, 63/2 (Feb.1996), p. 24 (F/I mit Ornette Coleman, Geri Allen, James Blood Ulmer, Dewey Redman, Wynton Marsalis)

Steve Dollar: The Lightning Rod. Some call him genius. Others, fraud..., in: Down Beat, 63/2 (Feb.1996), p. 22-24 (F/I)

NN: Ornette Coleman Award, in: Crescendo Jazz, 33/3 (Jun/Jul.1996), p. 16 (F)

Ssirus W. Pakzad & Christian Stolberg: Könner an der Kanne, in: WOM Journal, Aug.1996, p. 40-41 (short F)

Vittorio Franchini: En direct. Kühn/Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #462 (Sep.1996), p. 14 (C)

Larry Blumenfeld: Auditions. Ornette Coleman - Sound Museum, in: Jazziz, 13/10 (Oct.1996), p. 64 (R)

Anthony Barnett: Malcolm Goldstein Solo Section, in: Fable Bulletin, #9 (1997), p. 49-60 (F/T: "Sounding the Fragility of Line"; "Trinity", by Ornette Coleman)

Carl Morten Iversen: Kongsberg 1997. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Nytt, 3/1997, p. 27 (C)

Cezary Lerski: Ornette Coleman. Today Is Yesterday of Tomorrow, in: Jazz Forum (Poland), #180 (1997), p. 19 (C)

Eric Charry: Freedom and Form in Ornette Coleman's Early Atlantic Recordings, in: Annual Review of Jazz Studies, #9 (1997/1998), p. 261-294 (A/T: excerpts from "Peace"; "Congeniality")

Eric Nisenson: Blue. The Murder of Jazz, New York 1997 [book: St. Martin's Press], passim (F)

Francis Marmande: Ornette Coleman, Jacques Derrida. Politiques de l'amitié, in: Atlantiques, 3 (Autumn 1997), p. 187-192 (F)

Gene Santoro: Harmolodic Philosopher. Ornette Coleman, in: Gene Santoro: Stir It Up. Musical Mixes from Roots to Jazz, New York 1997 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 91-98 (F/I)

Michael Titlebaum: Ramblin' A Gateway to the Music of Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Research Proceedings Yearbook, #17 (1997), p. 165-174 (A/T)

Philippe Adler & Pierre de Chocqueuse: Passeport pour le jazz. Les grands CD du jazz moderne 1944-1997, Paris 1997 [book: Balland], p. 147-150 (F/R: "The Shape of Jazz to Come"; "Free Jazz"; "Chappaqua Suite")

Bertrand Ravalard: Incontournable. Ornette Coleman - And Now for Something Completely Different!, in: So What, #14 (Feb.1997), p. 6-7 (F)

Enrico Vita: Jazz Live. Taormina - Ornette Coleman & The Master Musicians of Jajouka, in: Musica Jazz, 53/2 (Feb.1997), p. 11-12 (C)

Howard Mandel: In All Languages. Formed in 1962 by an Esperanto-speaking New York City lawyer, the ESP-Disk label created a parallel universe where underground counterculture icons mixed with the

revolutionary cosmic jazz of Frank Lowe, Milford Grawes, Albert Ayler, Pharoah Sanders, Ornette Coleman and Sun Ra, in: The Wire, #157 (Mar.1997), p. 42-47 (F/I with Bernard Stollman, Marzette Watts, Milford Graves, Frank Lowe, Ornette Coleman)

Alberto Bazzurro: Jazz Live. Genova - Ornette Coleman, Italian Instabile Orchestra, in: Musica Jazz, 53/6 (Jun.1997), p. 14 (C)

Alex Dutilh: Grande halte à La Villette. Ornette Coleman: "Je ne suis pas un prophète", in: Jazzman, #27 (Jul/Aug.1997), p. 8-10 (I)

Gérald Arnaud: Pur et doux. Ornette Coleman, l'ange du bizarre, in: Jazzman, #27 (Jul/Aug.1997), p. 6-7 (F)

Jordan Meijas: Barfuß im Jazzpark. Zu Tode umarmt. Ornette Coleman empfängt Kurt Masur und einen Schwertschlucker, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 26.Jul.1997, p. 29 (C)

Philippe Carles: Conversation en bichromie. Ornette Coleman - "J'essaie seulement d'illuminer les sens" / Joachim Kühn - "Plus libre que jamais", in: Jazz Magazine, #472 (Jul/Aug.1997), p. 17-20 (F/I)

Jacques Oger: Ornette à la Villette, in: ImproJazz, #38 (Aug/Sep.1997), p. 13-14 (C)

Wolfgang Sandner: Die Muse aus Plastik. Live aus Leipzig: Ornette Coleman und Joachim Kühns souveränes Klangfarbenspiel, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 26. Aug. 1997, p. 33 (C) [vert.file]

Christian Gauffre: Le musicien, le philosophe et les fanatiques. Ornette Coleman / Jacques Derrida, in: Jazz Magazine, #473 (Sep.1997), p. 26-28 (I)

Howard Mandel: On Location. Ornette Coleman - Civilization?, Lincoln Center, in: The Wire, #163 (Sep.1997), p. 72-73 (C)

Ulrich Stock: CD Kompakt. Ornette Coleman - "In All Languages", in: Die Zeit, 12.Sep.1997, p. 87 (F/R) [vert.file]

David Yaffe: Caught. Postmodern Pastiche, Ornette-Style, in: Down Beat, 64/10 (Oct.1997), p. 66 (C)

Bertrand Serra: Ornette Coleman & Joachim Kühn - Colors, in: ImproJazz, #40 (Nov/Dec.1997), p. 43-44 (R)

Francis Davis: ?Ornette, in: Fi, Nov.1997 (F); Reprint, in: Francis Davis: Like Young. Jazz, Pop, Youth, and Middle Age, New York 2001 [book: DaCapo], p. 134-140 (F)

David Ake: Re-Masculating Jazz. Ornette Coleman, "Lonely Woman," and the New York Jazz Scene in the Late 1950s, in: American Music, 16/1 (Spring 1998), p. 25-44 (F)

David Andrew Ake: Being Jazz. Identities and Images, Los Angeles 1998 [PhD thesis: University of California], p. 74-109 (F: chapter "Re-Masculating Jazz. Ornette Coleman, "Lonely Woman", and the New York Jazz Scene in the Late 1950s") [digi.copy]

David Andrew Ake: Being Jazz. Identities and Images, Los Angeles 1998 [PhD thesis: University of California], p. 74-109 (F: chapter "Re-Masculating Jazz. Ornette Coleman, 'Lonely Woman,' and the New York Jazz Scene in the Late 1950s") [digi.copy]

Gary Giddins: Visions of Jazz. The First Century, New York 1998 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 467-476 (F: chapter "Ornette Coleman. This Is Our Music")

Giampiero Cane: Canto Nero. Il free jazz degli anni sessanta, Bologna 1998 [book: Clueb], p. 75-100 (F: chapter "Rivolutionario è il jazz in sé, il fatto che il jazz esiste")

Steve Day: A New Ornette. Entering the Sound Museum, in: Steve Day: Two Full Ears. Listening to Improvised Music, Chelmsford/GB 1998 [book: Soundworld], p. 36-42 (F)

Steve Day: An Old Ornette. Science Fiction Facts, in: Steve Day: Two Full Ears. Listening to Improvised Music, Chelmsford/GB 1998 [book: Soundworld], p. 43-50 (F)

Steve Day: Kronos Quartet. As Long as a Piece of String. Kronos Quartet to Ornettes Violin, in: Avant, #8 (Summer 1998), p. 6-8 (F)

Stuart Nicholson: Jazz-Rock. A History, Edinburgh 1998 [book: Canongate], passim (F)

Vittorio Franchini: Taccuino. Conversazione con Ornette Coleman, in: Ritmo, #724 (Apr.1998), p. 11-12 (F/I)

Aldo Gianolio: Ornette Coleman. Io non suono con musicisti suono con esseri umani, in: Musica Jazz, 55/5 (May 1998), p. 23-24 (I) [digi.copy]

Claudio Sessa: Ornette profeta negli anni settanta, in: Musica Jazz, 55/5 (May 1998), p. 25 (F)

Tim Owen: Epiphanies. Tim Owen asks himself whether the pleasures of live harmolodics can compensate for being ejected from the brotherhood of Heavy Metal, in: The Wire, #172 (Jun.1998), p. 90 (F)

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman. Down Beat Jazz Artist of the Year, in: Down Beat, 65/8 (Aug.1998), p. 46-48 (F/I)

Ulrich Olshausen: Nachsaison als Hauptsaison. Rustikale Archaik im Bündnis mit dem rauhen Jazz: Sardinien feiert sich mit Ornette Coleman, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 14.Sep.1998, p. 53 (C) [vert.file]

Ugo Sbisà: Ornette "globale" e i suoi antipodi. Il sassofonista è stato un protagonista, ma la varietà di Umbria Jazz metteva in luce anche Tony Bennett e diversi ospiti "latini", in: Musica Jazz, 54/10 (Oct. 1998), p. 12-13 (C)

Coen de Jonge: Voor de krappe beurs. Ornette Coleman op Atlantic, in: Jazz Nu, #233 (Dec.1998), p. 58 (F/R)

Christian Broecking: Viel Lärm um große Worte. Auch fiese Sätze können swingen. Wynton Marsalis und die Verbalisierung des Jazz in den 90er Jahren, in: Wolfram Knauer (ed.): Jazz und Sprache, Sprache und Jazz, Hofheim 1999 [book: Wolke Verlag], p. 165-178 (F/I with Amiri Baraka, Stanley Crouch, Albert Murray, Branford Marsalis, Wynton Marsalis, Ornette Coleman, Betty Carter)

Mark Clague: Ornette Coleman, in: Samuel A. Floyd Jr.: International Dictionary of Black Composers, Chicago 1999 [book: Fitzroy Dearborn Publishers], p. 252-268 (F/A: "Lonely Woman"; "Free"; "Free Jazz"; "Skies of America"; work list) [digi.copy]

Paul Bley & David Lee: Stopping Time. Paul Bley and the Transformation of Jazz, Canada 1999 [book: Véhicule Press], passim (F)

Vincent Cotro: Chants libres. Le free jazz en France, 1960-1975, Paris 1999 [book: Outre Mesure], passim, p. 25 (T: "Bird Food"), p. 29 (T: "The Disguise"), p. 30 (T: "Free"), p. 32 (T: "The Blessing"), p. 37 (T: "Free Jazz")

Barry Witherden & Tony Herrington: The Primer. Ornette Coleman, in: The Wire, #181 (Mar.1999), p. 46-51 (F/R)

llse Storb: Fruchtbare Wechselbeziehungen zwischen Klassik - Spiritual, Blues und Jazz, in: Jazz Podium, 48/3 (Mar.1999), p. 3-6 (F: "Skies of America") [digi.copy]

Clara Gibson Maxwell: Ornette Coleman Conversation, in: Cadence, 25/11 (Nov.1999), p. 5-13 (I)

Alyn Shipton: Ornette Coleman, in: Dave Gelly (ed.): Masters of Jazz Saxophone. The Story of the Players and Their Music, London 2000 [book: Balafon Books], p. 138-145 (F)

David J. Schmalenberger: Stylistic Evolution of Jazz Drummer Ed Blackwell. The Cultural Intersection of New Orleans and Africa, Morganton/WV 2000 [PhD thesis: West Virginia University], p. 32-54 (F/A: chapter "Ornette Coleman and 'Free Jazz"") [digi.copy]

Geoffrey C. Ward & Ken Burns: Jazz. A History of America's Music, New York 2000 [book: Alfred A. Knopf; German translation as: "Jazz. Eine Musik und ihre Geschichte", München 2001 (Econ)], p. 412-4417 (F: chapter "Like Being Born Again")

James Dorsey: "Free" Jazz? Control in Three Solos of Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Research Proceedings Yearbook, #20 (2000), p. 23-230 (A: "Free"; "Congeniality"; "Love Words")

Janna K. Saslaw: Far Out. Intentionality and Image Schema in the Reception of Early Works by Ornette Coleman, in: Current Musicology, #69 (Spring 2000), p. 97-117 (F) [digi.copy]

Janna K. Saslaw: Far Out. Intentionality and Image Schema in the Reception of Early Works by Ornette Coleman, in: Current Musicology, #69 (spring 2000), p. 97-117 (A)

John F. Szwed: Jazz 101. A Complete Guide to Learning and Loving Jazz, New York 2000 [book: Hyperion], p. 219-222, 265-268 (F)

Mark C. Gridley: Jazz Styles. History and Analysis, Upper Saddle River/NJ 7/2000 [book: Prentice Hall], p. 284-287 (F/A)

Michele Mannucci: Ornette Coleman. Dal Blues al Jazz dell'avvenire, Roma 2000 [book: Nuovi Equilibri] (F)

Robert Dean Hodson: Interaction and Improvisation. Group Interplay in Jazz Performance, Madison/WI 2000 [PhD thesis: University of Wisconsin], p. 248-261 (A: chapter "Ornette Coleman's 'Chronology") [digi.copy]

Robert Hodson: Breaking Down the Barrirs. Steps Toward Free Jazz, in: Jazz Research Proceedings Yearbook, #20 (2000), p. 102-110 (F/short A: Bill Evans: "Autumn Leaves"; Miles Davis: "Flamenco Sketches"; Ornette Coleman: "Chronology")

Steve Day: Ornette Coleman at 70!. Music Always - Music All Ways, in: Avant, #15 (Spring 2000), p. 6-10 (F)

Steve Day: Ornette Coleman. Music Always, Chelmsford 2000 [book: Soundworld] (F); review, by Barry Witherden, in: Jazz Review, #12 (Sep.2000), p. 47 (B)

Howard Mandel: Best CDs of the 90s. Ornette Coleman - 'Tone Dialing'. World at Our Fingertips, in: Down Beat, 67/1 (Jan.2000), p. 26 (F)

Alyn Shipton: Ornette Coleman. Freedom Principle. He's one of the most controversial ever jazz musucians, a saxophonist who redefined jazz in the 60s and has cut a singular path ever since. Alyn Shipton helps him celebrate 70 this month, in: Jazzwise, #30 (Mar.2000), p. 16-19 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Alyn Shipton: Ornette Coleman. Freedom Principle, in: Jazzwise Magazine, #30 (Mar.2000), p. 16-19 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Berthold Klostermann: Ornette Coleman. Der Harmolodiker, in: Fono Forum, Mar. 2000, p. 86-88 (F)

Peter Niklas Wilson: Revolutionär wider Willen. Zum 70 Geburtstag von Ornette Coleman - musikalische Grüsse von Joachim Kühn, in: Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 9.Mar.2000 (F) [ver.file]

Reinhard Köchl: Konträre Gemeinsamkeiten. Tommy Flanagan und Ornette Coleman werden 70, in: Jazz Zeitung, 25/3 (Mar. 2000), p. 5 (F)

Gary Giddisn: Freed Jazz - Bell One (Ornette Coleman), in: Village Voice, 6.Jun.2000 (F); reprint, in: Gary Giddins: Weather Bird. Jazz at the Dawn of Its Second Century, New York 2004 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 251-255 (F)

Larry Blumenfeld: Prelude. Harmolody at 70, in: Jazziz, 17/6 (Jun.2000), p. 13 (C)

John Corbett (& John McDonough & Jim Macnie & John Ephland): Ornette Coleman - "Skies of America" (Columbia), in: Down Beat, 67/8 (Aug.2000), p. 66, 68 (R)

Andy Hamilton: "Ornette Coleman. Music Always" by Steve Day, in: The Wire, #199 (Sep.2000), p. 71 (B)

Bill Milkowski: Ornette Coleman - "Skies of America" (Columbia); "The Complete Science Fiction Sessions" (Columbia); "Dancing In Your Head" (Verve), in: Jazz Times, 39/7 (Sep.2000), p. 91-92 (R) [digi.copy]

Egbert de Bloeme: Uit het foto-archief. Uit het plakboek van Nedly Elstak, in: NJA Bulletin, #37 (Sep.2000), p. 16 (short F/photo)

Philip Clark: Ornette Coleman. Dancing in his head. Philip Clark reconsiders the work of a great American maverick, in: Jazz Review, #12 (Sep.2000), p. 16-19 (F)

James Hale: Ornette Coleman - "The Complete Science Fiction Sessions" (Columbia/Legacy), in: Down Beat, 67/10 (Oct.2000), p. 69-70 (R)

Bn Watson: On Location. Ornette Coleman Plays Naked Lunch, in: The Wire, #202 (Dec.2000), p. 78 (C)

Steve Dollar: Howard Shore & Ornette Coleman & London Philharmonic Orchestra - "Naked Lunch" (Milan), in: Jazziz, 17/12 (Dec.2000), p. 69, 71 (R)

Christopher G. Bakriges: African American Musical Avant-Gardism, North York/Ontario 2001 [PhD thesis: York University], passim; especially p. 56-68 (F: chapter "New and Old Gospel. Ornette Coleman") [digi.copy]

Hans-Jürgen Schaal (ed.): Jazz-Standards. Das Lexikon, Kassel 2001 [book: Bärenreiter], p. 286-287 (F: "Lonely Woman")

Henry Martin & Keith Waters: Jazz. The First 100 Years, Belmont/CA 2001 [book: Wadsworth/Schirmer], p. 249-250 (A: "Street Woman")

llse Storb: Jazz und Neue Musik im Unterricht, Münster 2001 [book: LIT Verlag], p. 111-112 (F/A: "Skies of America")

Jacques Aboucaya & Jean-Pierre Peyrebelle: Du Be-Bop au Free Jazz. Formes et techniques d'improvisation chez C. Parker, M. Davis et O. Coleman, Toulouse 2001 [book: Presses Universitaires du Mirail] (F/A)

Nicholas Gebhardt: Ornette Coleman. The Virtuosity of Illusion, in: Nicholas Gebhardt: Going for Jazz. Musical Practices and American Ideology, Chicago 2001 [book: University of Chicago Press], p. 123-166 (F)

Richard Cook: Blue Note Records. The Biography, London 2001 [book: Secker & Warburg]; German translation, as "Blue Note. Die Biographie", Berlin 2004 [book: Argon], passim (F)

Thomas A. Newsome: It's After the End of the World! Don't You Know That Yet? Black Creative Musicians in Chicago (1946-1976), Chapel Hill/NC 2001 [PhD thesis: University of North Carolina], p. 128-131 (F: chapter "The Struggle for Freedom in New York. Ornette Coleman") [digi.copy]

Enrico Bettinello: "Ornette Coleman. Dal Blues al jazz dell'avvenire", by Michele Mannucci, in: Jazzit, 3/2 (Jan/Feb.2001), p. 100-101 (B)

John Morthland: Un-Sentimental Journey, in: Texas Monthly, Jan.2001 (F/I) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Ben Watson: Mixed Messages. If jazz is the teacher, Ornette Coleman is the guru of the avant garde who set the timeliness to the future with his democratic harmolodic anti-system and soundtrack to William Burroughs's 'Naked Lunch', in: The Wire, #205 (Mar.2001), p. 34-40 (F/I)

NN: Ornette Goes Naked, in: Jazzwise, #40 (Mar.2001), p. 4 (short F) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Michele Mannucci: Protesta con stile. Ornette Coleman. La politica, gli studi, la vita, la voce umana, in: Ritmo, #757 (Apr.2001), p. 27 (F)

Alyn Shipton: Ornette Coleman, Barbican, London, in: Jazzwise Magazine, #42 (May 2001), p. 62 (C) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Daniel Soutif: Something Else. Qualcosa d'altro, in: Musica Jazz, 57/7 (Jul.2001), p. 46-47 (F)

Filippo Bianchi: Ornette Coleman e la libertà di pensare il jazz, in: Musica Jazz, 57/7 (Jul.2001), p. 4 (F)

Adam Budofsky: Ornette Coleman - 'The Shape of Jazz to Come'', in: Modern Drummer, 25/10 (Oct.2001), p. 160 (R) [digi.copy]

Alain Gerber: Un homme qui ne couche pas avec les rêves des autres. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #520 (Nov.2001), p. 21 (B) [digi.copy]

Philippe Carles & Jérôme Plasseraud: Ornette & Portal. Deux idées de la musique?, in: Jazz Magazine, #520 (Nov.2001), p. 18-21 (I) [digi.copy]

David Ake: Jazz Cultures, Berkeley 2002 [book: University of California Press], p. 62-82 (F: chapter "Regendering Jazz. Ornette Coleman and the New York Scene in the Late 1950s")

Dekel Bor: Student's Viewpoint. The Ornette Coleman Experience, in: Jazz & Contemporary Music Program Newsletter (New School University), spring/summer 2002, p. 2-3 (F)

Jari Perkiomäki: Lennie and Ornette. Searching for Freedom in Improvisation. Observations on the Music of Lennie Tristano and Ornette Coleman, Helsinki 2002 [PhD thesis: Sibelius Academy], passim; especially p. 8-29 (F/A: "Invisible"; "Lonely Woman"; "Joy Of a Toy";) [digi.copy]

Paolo Vitolo: Guida al jazz. Gli autori e le musiche dal bebop alla creative music, Milano 2002 [book: Bruno Mondadori], p. 43-51 (F)

Perry Robinson & Florence Wetzel: The Traveler, San Jose 2002 [book: Writers Club Press/iUniverse], passim (F)

Scott Currie: Ornette Coleman. Sunrise, in: Glendora. African Quarterly on the Arts, 3/3-4 (2002), p. 40-46 (F) [digi.copy]

Selwyn Harris: Jazz on Film. Blow Your Mind. Ornette Coleman's searing solos on Howard Shore's score met their match in the writings of William S. Burroughs when the writer's 'Naked Lunch' was turned into a film, in: Jazzwise, #53 (May 2002), p. 19 (F) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Mátyás Kis: Ornettes starke Combo. Der Nachfolger des Quartetts sorgte für Verdichtung, in: Jazz Zeitung, 27/11 (Nov.2002), p. 16 (F)

Norman Meehan: Woodshed. Ornette Coleman's Alto Sax Solo on 'The Gardens of Souls', in: Down Beat, 69/12 (Dec.2002), p. 92-93 (A/T)

Stanley Crouch: Jazz Alone. Avant-Garde Roots Music. For all Ornette Coleman's abstractions, he's like a blues singer, stretching from tender whispers to exhultant shouts, in: Jazz Times, 32/10 (Dec.2002), p. 30 (F)

David Peter Witzling: Everybody's America. Thomas Pynchon, Race, and the Cultures of Postmodernism, Los Angeles 2003 [PhD thesis: University of California], passim (F) [digi.copy]

Finn Slumstrup: Gyldendals bog om jazz, Copenhagen 2003 [book: Gyldendal], p. 240 (F: short biography)

George Wein & Nate Chinen: Myself Among Others. A Life in Music, New York 2003 [book: Da Capo], passim (F)

Marc Sarrazy: Joachim Kühn. Une histoire du jazz moderne, Paris 2003 [book: Éditions Syllepse], passim (F)

NN: Clic! Clac! Un monde a commencé avec Ornette Coleman. Ce monde de cronopes ne s'achève pas à chaque coin de rue. Il s'agit de danse, d'énormes morceaux d'étoiles pour le bonheut des dels d'argent. Quatre saxophonistes à l'écoute d'Ornette regardent, in: Les Allumés du Jazz, #9 (2003), p. 7 (F/I with Michael Lewis, Daunik Lazro, Joe McPhee, Guillaume Orti)

Sundar Viswanathan: An Analysis of the Jazz Improvisation and Composition in Selected Works from the Blue Note Records Period of Tenor Saxophonist Joe Henderson from 1963-1966, New York 2003 [PhD thesis: New York University], p. 108-116 (F: chapter "Important Contributions to Jazz Music. Ornette Coleman")

Tom Zlabinger: Dymaxion Jazz. Ornette Colemans Use of Buckminster Fuller's Theories for Inspiration and Validation, in: Research Proceedings Yearbook, 2003, p. 175-178 (F)

Josef Woodard: Ornette Coleman, San Francisco Jazz Festival, Davies Symphony Hall, San Francisco, in: Jazz Times, 33/2 (Mar. 2003), p. 21 (C)

Geraldine Wyckoff: Jazzin'. Jazz & Street Beats. The Influence of Ornette, in: OffBeat, May 2003, p. 34, 37, 39, 53 (F/I with Harold Battiste, Kidd Jordan, Ed Peterson, Tim Green)

Keith O'Brien: The Jazz Genius, in: New Orleans Times-Picayune, 4.May 2003 (F/C/I with Ellis Marsalis, Alvin Batiste, Kidd Jordan) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Brian Blauser: Refrain. Father Figure, in: Jazziz, 20/6 (Jun.2003), p. 82 (short F/photo)

Josef Woodard: Something Else, Continued. Charlie Haden on Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Times, 33/5 (Jun.2003), JVC Jazz Festival supplement, p. 16 (F/I with Charlie Haden)

Howard Reich: Let Freedom Swing. Collected Writings on Jazz, Blues, and Gospel, Evanston/IL 2010 [book: Northwestern University Press], p. 329-335 (F/I: chapter "Ornette Coleman Still Blazing a Musical Trail. Critics praise or skewer his musical theories"; originally published in Chicago Tribune, 21.Sep.2003)

Dan Ouellette: Ornette, Denardo Open Studio to Public, in: Down Beat, 70/9 (Sep.2003), p. 18 (short F/I) [digi.copy]

Christian Broecking: Wie wichtig ist der Image-Faktor beim Jazz?, in: Jazz Thing, #51 (Nov.2003/Jan.2004), p. 14 (F/short I with Jason Moran, Richard Bona, Archie Shepp, Ornette Coleman, Sonny Rollins, Bill Dixon, Albert Murray)

Christian Broecking: Respekt!, Berlin 2004 [book: Verbrecher Verlag], p. 63-73 (F/I: chapter "Interview mit Ornette Coleman"); reprint, in: Christian Broecking: Respekt! Die Geschichte der Fire Music, Berlin 2011 [book: Verbrecher Verlag], p. 77-88 (I: chapter "Interview mit Ornette Coleman")

Lucas Aaron Henry: Freedom Now! Four Hard Bop and Avant-garde Jazz Musicians' Musical Commentary on the Civil Rights Movement, 1958-1964, Johnson City/TN 2004 [MA thesis: East Tennessee State University], p. 53-76 (F: chapter "Music Is Classless, But Races, Knowledge, and Life-Conditions Are Not". Ornette Coleman's 'Free Jazz' as a Metaphor for the Ambitions of the Civil Rights Movement") [digi.copy]

Roger Kurt Green: Toward an Ethical Aesthetics. A Study of Levinas, Mid Twentieth-Century Avant-Garde Jazz and Poetry, Denver 2004 [MA thesis: University of Colorado], passim; especially p. 22-27 (F: chapter "Form and Continuity"); p. 27-32 (F: chapter "Evolution, Community, and Ethics") [digi.copy]

Sam Prestianni: Outside/In. Eye of the Storm, in: Jazziz, 21/1 (Jan.2004), p. 30-31 (F)

Ben Ratliff: Saluting Ornette Coleman By Making More of Less, in: New York Times, 21.Feb.2004 (F/C: Lincoln Center Jazz Orchestra Tribute to Ornette Coleman) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

John Ephland: Caught. Ornette Makes Michigan Stop, in: Down Beat, 71/6 (Jun.2004), p. 27 (C)

Ettore Ulivelli: Free opinions per Ornette ieri, in: Ritmo, #790 (Jul/Aug.2004), p. 48-50 (F)

Ted Panken: Jane Ira Bloom on Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 71/7 (Jul.2004), p. 22 (F) [digi.copy]

Vittorio Franchini: La Milanesiana. Free nations per Ornette oggi, in: Ritmo, #790 (Jul/Aug.2004), p. 45-47 (F/I; originally published in 1974)

François-René Simon: Nettement Ornette. Ornette Coleman Quartet, Paris, Festival Bleu sur Seine, in: Jazz Magazine, 551 (Sep.2004), p. 45 (C)

Ted Panken: Caught. Show Merges Ornette, Dixieland, in: Down Beat, 71/9 (Sep.2004), p. 25 (C: tribute concert organized by Phil Schaap, with Wynton Marsalis, Roswell Rudd, Scott Robinson, Greg Cohen, Herlin Riley) [digi.copy]

Joe Viera: Von Verehrung bis Nichtbeachtung. Neues über Nelson Riddle und Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Zeitung, 29/12-30/1 (Dec/Jan.2004/2005), p. 16 (B: "Ornette Coleman. Music Always", by Steve Day)

Hans-Jürgen Schaal: "Spiel mehr dich selbst!" 1996 lud der Altsaxophonist Ornette Coleman, geboren 1930 in Fort Worth, den Pianisten Joachim Kühn, geboren 1944 in Leipzig, zu einer Reihe von Duo-Konzerten ein. Ihr Leipziger Konzert erschien auf der gemeinsamen CD "Colors". Es ist bis heute Ornette Colemans letzte Veröffentlichung, in: Fono Forum, Mar. 2005, p. 102 (F/I with Joachim Kühn)

Hans-Jürgen Schaal: Die Öffnung des Denkens. Der Vater des Free Jazz gehört längst zu den offiziellen Ikonen der amerikanischen Kunstszene. Selbst ein Wynton Marsalis, sonst nicht gerade bekannt für freie Töne, kommt an dieser Tatsache nicht mehr vorbei: Im letzten Jahr präsentierte er mit dem Lincoln Center

Jazz Orchestra ein ganzes Programm mit der Musik von Ornette Coleman, in: Fono Forum, Mar.2005, p. 100-101 (F)

Joachim-Ernst Berendt (& Günther Huesmann): Das Jazzbuch. Von New Orleans bis ins 21. Jahrhundert, Frankfurt am Main 2005 [book: S. Fischer], p. 171-193 (F)

Michael Segell: The Devil's Horn. The Story of the Saxophone, from Noisy Novelty to King of Cool, New York 2005 [book: Farrar, Straus and Giroux], passim (F)

Mike Heffley: Northern Sun / Southern Moon. Europe's Reinvention of Jazz, New Haven 2005 [book: Yale University Press], passim; especially p. 43-54 (F: chapters "Ornette's More-than-Blues" / "From Bach to Coleman" / "Ornette Coleman and Joachim Kühn: Colors. Live from Leipzig")

Peter Niklas Wilson: Ornette Coleman, in: Peter Niklas Wilson (ed.): Jazz Klassiker, Stuttgart 2005 [book: Reclam], p. 496-505 (F)

Ralf Dombrowski: Basis-Diskothek Jazz, Stuttgart 2005 [book: Reclam], p. 43-47 (R: "Free Jazz", Atlantic; "In All Languages", Harmolodic); reprint, in: Ralf Dombrowski: Basis-Diskothek Jazz, Stuttgart 4/2011 [book: Reclam], p. 48-53 (R)

Tim Wingate: An Analysis and Transcription of "Peace" by Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Research Proceedings Yearbook, 2005, p. 165-178 (A/T) [digi.copy]

Josef Woodard: Ornette Coleman at the Walt Disney Concert Hall, in: Jazz Hot, #617 (Feb.2005), p. 5 (C)

John Janowiak: Stars Allign. 25 Great Moments in Jazz Festival History. Ornette Coleman, Painted Statement, San Francisco Jazz Festival, 1964, in: Down Beat, 72/5 (May 2005), p. 98 (F) [digi.copy]

Keith Moliné: On Location. Ornette Coleman Quartet, London Barbican Hall, in: The Wire, #256 (Jun.2005), p. 82-83 (C)

Andy Hamilton: A question of scale. Enlightening and mystifying by turns, Ornette Coleman's controversial theory of harmolodics - underpinning his music since 1972 - continues to lay siege to the Western harmonic system of fixed tones. In this rare backstage interview, Andy Hamilton cracks a chink in the harmolodic wall, in: The Wire, #257 (Jul.2005), p. 22-25 (F/I)

Jean Rochard: Événement. Dansez dans votre tête, in: Jazz Magazine, #561 (Jul/Aug.2005), p. 6 (C)

Geoffrey Himes; 50 LPs from 35 Years of Jazz Times. Ornette Coleman - "In All Languages" (Caravan of Dreams, 1987), in: Jazz Times, 35/7 (Sep.2005), p. 54 (R)

Michael Fagien: requisite. Ornette Coleman - "Free Jazz" (Atlantic), in: Jazziz, 22/9 (Sep. 2005), p. 15 (R)

Hans-Jürgen Linke: Das freundliche Gesicht der Freiheit. Bloß nicht geradeaus. Ornette Coleman und sein Quartett gaben ihr einziges Europa-Konzert des Jahres in Ludwigshafen, in: Frankfurter Rundschau, 17.Oct.2005 (C) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

David Rubien: It took a while, but jazz world finally caught up with saxist Ornette Coleman's unique genius, in: San Francisco Chronicle, 4.Nov.2005 (F/short I with Denardo Coleman, Greg Cohen) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Jim Macnie (& John Corbett & John McDonough & Paul de Barros): Pat Metheny & Ornette Coleman - "Song X. Twentieth Anniversary" (Nonesuch 79918), in: Down Beat, 72/11 (Nov.2005), p. 67, 69 (R: 5 stars; 4 stars; 5 stars; 4 1/2 stars) [digi.copy]

Konrad Heidkamp: Ich habe nie falsch gespielt. Der 75-jährige Saxofonist und Komponist Ornette Coleman wird mit einem Konzert und einer Wiederveröffentlichung zum Jazzereignis des Jahres, in: Die Zeit, 10.Nov.2005 (F/C) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Maxi Sickert: Für die einsamen Frauen. Der Schriftsteller Jonathan Safran Foer erwähnt auf einer überfüllten Lesung in Berlin den Namen eines großen Saxophonisten - und im nächsten Moment begegnen wir Ornette Coleman in einer Garderobe in Ludwigshafen, wo er lustlos im Essen stochert, in: Die Zeit (online), 10.Dec.2005 (F) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Robin James: Personal Grammar. Ornette Coleman expands his harmolodic theories, and goes on a trip through his storied past, in: Down Beat, 72/12 (Dec.2005), p. 40-42, 44-45 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Thomas Conrad: Pat Metheny & Ornette Coleman - "Song X. Twentieth Anniversary" (Nonesuch), in: Jazz Times, 35/10 (Dec. 2005), p. 91 (R)

Ulrich Kriest: Ornette Coleman Quartet, Ludwigshafen, in: Jazzthetik, 19/12 (Dec.2005), p. 94 (C)

Anthony Shadduck: Charlie Haden, Scott LaFaro, and Harmolodics. Bass Styles in Ornette Coleman's 'Free Jazz', Moraga/CA 2006 [MA thesis: Saint Mary's College of California], passim (F/A) [digi.copy]

Ashley Kahn: The House That Trane Built. The Story of Impulse Records, New York 2006 [book: Norton; German translation as "Impulse! Das Label, das Coltrane erschuf", Berlin 2007: Rogner & Bernhard], passim (F)

David Lee: The Battle of the Five Spot. Ornette Coleman and the New York Jazz Field, Toronto 2006 [book: The Mercury Press], passim (F)

John Gennari: Blowin' Hot and Cool. Jazz and Its Critics, Chicago 2006 [book: University of Chicago Press], passim (F: and the critics)

Mark Burford: Ornette. Coleman. Congeniality, in: Columbia Jazz Resources <www.music.columbia.edu>, 2006 (F/A) [digi.copy]

Martial Solal: Trois textes sur Ornette Coleman, in: Les cahiers du jazz, #3 (2006), p. 61-63 (F)

Niko Higgins: Ornette Coleman. Lonely Woman, in: Columbia Jazz Resources <www.music.columbia.edu>, 2006 (F/A) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman. Free Jazz, in: Columbia Jazz Resources <www.music.columbia.edu>, 2006 (F/A) [digi.copy]

Pannonica de Koenigswarter: Les Musiciens de jazz et leurs trois voeux, Paris 2006 [book: Buchet/Chastel; German translation as: "Die Jazzmusiker und ihre drei Wünsche", Stuttgart 2007: Reclam; English translation (original language) as: "Three Wishes. An Intimate Look at Jazz Greats", New York 2008: Abrams Imagel, p. 61, 65 (short l/photo)

Roberto Pollillo & Arrigo Polillo: Swing, Bop & Free. Il jazz degli anni '60, Milano 2006 [book: Polillo Editore], p. 20-24 (short F/photos)

Stanley Crouch: Considering Genius. Writings on Jazz, New York 2006 [book: Basic Civitas Books], p. 108-110 (F: chapter "Blues for the Space Age. Ornette Coleman")

David Lee: Ornette Coleman. Onstage in a Jazz Mecca. Ornette Coleman Quartet, Massey Hall, Toronto, in: Coda, #325 (Jan.2006), p. 10 (C)

Marc Chenard: Le retour d'une légende. Ornette Coleman, Toronto Massey Hall, in: ImproJazz, #122 (Feb.2006), p. 30 (C)

Nate Chinen: The Gig. Dancing in Ornette's Headspace. Like Ornette Coleman, the Bad Plus' energetic avant-gardism is grounded, at times, obliquely, in melody and pulse, in: Jazz Times, 36/2 (Mar.2006), p. 14 (F)

Brian Glasser: Turning Point. Everything must change. Bassist Hugh Hopper on the album that changed his life, Ornette Coleman's 'Change of the Century', in: Jazzwise, #96 (Apr.2006), p. 34 (F) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Christian Broecking: Diese Mischung aus Vergessen und Anerkennung, in: Berliner Zeitung, 5. May 2006 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Thierry Lepin: Généalogie. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazzman, #126 (Jul/Aug.2006), p. 13 (F)

Ben Ratliff: Listening with Ornette Coleman. Seeking the Mystical Inside the Music, in: New York Times, 22.Sep.2006 (F/I) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Christian Broecking: Zwischen den Rillen. Ornette Coleman beginnt sein Alterswerk. "Sound Grammar" ist das erste Album des Soundrevolutionärs seit zehn Jahren: weise, bezaubernd, radikal, in: die tageszeitung (TAZ), 15.Sep.2006, p. 16 (F) [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Clovis Nicolas: "Ornette mon père", par Denardo Coleman, in: Jazzman, #127 (Sep.2006), p. 28-30 (F/I with Denardo Coleman)

Dimitry Ekshtut: Ornette Coleman. Live at Carnegie Hall. JVC New York Jazz Festival, in: Jazz Improv, 2/3 (Sep.2006), p. 13 (C) [digi.copy]

Philippe Carles: La compactoteque. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #573 (Sep.2006), p. 47 (F/D)

Wolf Kampmann: Ornette Coleman. Einer für alle, in: Jazz Thing, #65 (Sep/Oct.2006), p. 44-46 (F/I)

Dan Ouellette: The Question Is ... What did Ornette Coleman's music tell you when you first heard it?, in: Down Beat, 73/10 (Oct.2006), p. 21 (F/short I with Helen Sung, Liberty Ellman, Mark Whitfield, Hank Jones) [digi.copy]

Peter Kemper: Tabula rasa. Neues vom Jazz-Pionier Ornette Coleman, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 14. Oct. 2006, p. 44 (F/R: "Sound Grammar") [vert.file] [digi.copy]

Phil Freeman: Auditions. Ornette's Independence, in: Jazziz, 23/10 (Oct.2006), p. 52 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Tad Hendrickson: Ornette Coleman - "Sound Grammar" (Sound Grammar), in: Jazziz, 23/10 (Oct.2006), p. 53 (R) [digi.copy]

David R. Adler: Ornette Coleman - "Sound Grammar" (Sound Grammar), in: Jazz Times, 36/9 (Nov.2006), p. 92 (R)

Gary Giddins: Cadenza. Ornette!!!! Render onto pop its quick-fix pleasures, but render unto art the rewards of effort and empathy, in: Jazz Times, 36/9 (Nov.2006), p. 24 (F)

Nate Chinen: In His Own Language. The more things change, the more Ornette Coleman stays the same: audacious, exploratory and enigmatic, in: Jazz Times, 36/9 (Nov.2006), p. 46-51, 130 (F/I)

Paul de Barros (& John McDonough & John Corbett & Jim Macnie): Ornette Coleman - "Sound Grammar" (Sound Grammar 11593), in: Down Beat, 73/11 (Nov.2006), p. 78-79 (R: 5 stars; 4 1/2 stars; 4 1/2 stars; 4 stars)

Kevin Le Gendre: Oceans of Sound. One of the most surprising releases of the year has just slipped out on the run up to Christmans. A live album by Ornette Coleman, 'Sound Grammar', marks the first album by the great saxophonist and composer in 10 years..., in: Jazzwise, #104 (Dec.2006/Jan.2007), p. 24-28 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Andy Hamilton: Lee Konitz. Conversations on the Improviser's Art, Ann Arbor 2007 [book: University of Michigan Press], p. 152-155 (F/I)

Dave Oliphant: Jazz Mavericks of the Lone Star State, Austin/TX 2007 [book: University of Texas Press], passim; especially p. 121-134 (F: chapters "Ornette Coleman's Harmolodic Life" / "A Jazz Master's Diamond Jubilee")

Diana Gibson: Performing Gender. The Darlings of Rhythm, Ornette Coleman and the International Sweethears of Rhythm. Challenging Normative Conceptions of Race, Gender, and Sexuality, in: Stephanie Y. Evans (ed.): Discussions in Jazz History. Research Methods, Themes & Locations, Gainesville 2007 [Student Papers: University of Florida; privately published], p. 37-43 (F) [digi.copy]

Eddy Determeyer: Een halve eeuw in de voorhoede. Ornette Coleman, vader van de free jazz, in: Jazz Nu, 30/2 (Spring 2007), p. 46-49 (F)

Koren Heather Pinson: Behind the Image. A Study of the Social and Cultural Identity of Jazz, Athens/OH 2007 [PhD thesis: Ohio University], p. 206-240 (F: chapter "The Image of Avant-garde Jazz. Image through Persona: Ornette Coleman") [digi.copy]

Clifford Allen: Ornette Coleman. A Sound Catalyst, in: All About Jazz, #57 (Jan. 2007), p. 9 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Charles Gans: A Jazz Visionary - Ornette Coleman, in: San Francisco Chronicle, 7.Feb.2007 (F/I) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman - universeller Dilettant, in: Hannoversche Allgemeine, 15.Feb.2007 (C) [digi.copy]

Christian Broecking: Ornette Coleman in der Essener Philharmonie. Ornette Coleman gab am Mittwoch sein einziges Deutschlandkonzert, in: Berliner Zeitung, 16.Feb.2007 (C) [digi.copy]

Guido Fischer: Joachim Kühn / Ornette Coleman. Kunstanspruch des Jazz, in: Frankfurter Rundschau, 16.Feb.2007 (C) [digi.copy]

Ludwig Jurgeit: Klangdringlich. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Podium, 56/2 (Feb.2007), p. 23 (F)

Philip Clark: Grappling With Infinity. Philip Clark goes to Ornette Coleman's New York home and talks harmolodics, blues and human nature with one of the last living legends of jazz, in: Jazz Review, #80 (Feb.2007), p. 14-18 (F/I)

Kevin Le Gendre: Oceaner af lyd. Et af årets spaendende udgivelser er kommet. Et live-album fra Ornette Coleman, 'Sound Grammar' markerer første album i ti år fra den store saxofonist og komponist..., in: Jazz Special, #95 (Mar/Apr.2007), p. 44-79 (F/I)

Antje Grajetzky: Eigensinn oder Starrsinn. Joachim Kühn und Ornette Coleman in der Philharmonie Essen, in: Jazz Zeitung, 32/2 (Apr/May 2007), p. 4 (C)

Hans-Jürgen von Osterhausen: Ornette Coleman. Neuer Grammy-Star begeistert in Essen, in: Jazz Podium, 56/4 (Apr.2007), p. 43 (C) [digi.copy]

Hillel Italie: Pulitzers for McCarthy, Coleman, in: Washington Post, 16.Apr.2007 (F) [digi.copy]

Jake Coyle: Ornette Coleman Awarded Pulitzer Prize, in: San Francisco Chronicle, 16.Apr.2007 (F) [digi.copy]

Joachim Wels: Essen. Ornette Coleman Quartet & Joachim Kühn, in: Jazzthetik, 21/4 (Apr.2007), p. 90 (C)

Andrew Scott: "The Battle of the Five Spot. Ornette Coleman and the New York Jazz Field", by David Lee, in: Coda, #333 (May/Jun.2007), p. 28 (B)

Greg Osby: 'If You Don't Create It, It Won't Exist'. Ornette Coleman's Live Verbal Improvisation, in: Down Beat, 74/5 (May 2007), p. 34-36 (F/I) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

José María García Martínez: Ornette Coleman & Joachim Kühn. Philharmonie Essen, 14 de febrero de 2007, in: Cuadernos de Jazz, #100 (May/Jun.2007), p. 8-10, 12 (F/I/C)

Andrew Purcell: Free radical. Ornette Coleman didn't just move jazz on - he took it on a wild journey some will never forgive him for. He talks to Andrew Purcell about liberating sound, his theory of 'harmolodics', and being beaten up for playing his sax out of tune, in: Guardian, 29.Jun.2007 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Howard Mandel: Ornette Wins the Pulitzer, in: Jazz Notes, 18/2 (Jun.2007), p. 12 (F) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman hospitalized after Bonnaroo collapse, in: Washington Post, 18.Jun.2007 (N) [digi.copy]

Peter Margasak: 55th Annual Critics Poll, What Makes Ornette ... Ornette? Jazz Artist, Jazz Album (Sound Grammar) & Alto Saxophonist of the Year, in: Down Beat, 74/8 (Aug.2007), p. 38-40, 42-43 (F; short I with Bobby Hutcherson, John Hollenberg, Dave Holland, Greg Cohen, Joe Henry, Vijay Iyer, Jenny Scheinman, Jeremy Pelt) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Thor Christensen: Jazz pioneer Ornette Coleman finally reaps recognition. Late in life, Ornette Coleman reaps recognition, if not widespread fame, for following his music wherever it leads, in: Dallas Morning News, 12.Aug.2007 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Daniel McClure: Spontaneous and Passionate Invention. Ornette Coleman's free jazz was an American variant on the means and methods of Europe's Situationists, in: Pop Matters, 27.Sep.2007 (F) [digi.copy]

Duncan Heining: Cecil Taylor and Anthony Braxton / Ornette Coleman, Royal Festival Hall, London, in: Jazzwise, #112 (Sep.2007), p. 70 (C) [digi.copy]

Edwin Puncey: On Location. Ornette Coleman Quartet, Royal Festival Hall, London, UK, in: The Wire, #283 (Sep.2007), p. 80 (C)

Michael Tucker: "The Battle of the Five Spot. Ornette Coleman and the New York Jazz Field", by David Lee, in: Jazz Journal, 60/11 (Nov.2007), p. 20 (B)

Ben Ratliff: The Jazz Ear. Conversations Over Music, New York 2008 [book: Times Books], p. 54-69 (F/I: chapter "I Know Who You Are. Ornette Coleman")

George E. Lewis: A Power Stronger Than Itself. The AACM and American Experimental Music, Chicago 2008 [book: University of Chicago Press], passim (F)

Howard Mandel: Miles, Ornette, Cecil. Jazz Beyond Jazz, New York 2008 [book: Routledge], p. 109-202 (F: chapter "Ornette Coleman, Questions and Conjectures")

Wynton Marsalis & Geoffrey C. Ward: Moving to Higher Ground. How Jazz Can Change Your Life, New York 2008 [book: Random House; German translation as: "Jazz, mein Leben. Von der Kraft der Improvisation", München 2010: Siedler Verlag], p. 119-122 (F: chapter "Lessons from the Masters. Ornette Coleman")

Antoine Martin: Ornette Coleman 5tet, ete 2007, in: ImproJazz, #141 (Jan.2008), p. 43-44 (C)

Bob Weinberg: Traditions. Ornette Coleman. No right way, in: Jazziz, 25/2 (Mar.2008), p. 20-21 (F)

Nate Chinen: Music Review. Ornette Coleman. Clear-Cut Case of the Blues, in a Bebop Mode, in: New York Times, 31.Mar.2008 (C) [digi.copy]

Martin Gansinger: Ornette Coleman. Let's play the music, not the background!, in: JazzZeit, #72 (May/Jun.2008), p. 18-19 (F)

Paul de Barros: Caught. Coleman, Taylor Lead Avant Charge at Portland Fest, in: Down Beat, 75/5 (May 2008), p. 22 (C) [digi.copy]

Whitney Balliett: Ornette, in: Jazz Special, #103 (Jun/Jul.2008), p. 58-65 (F)

Christian Buß: Freejazzer Ornette Coleman. Märtyrer für die Weltformel, in: Spiegel Online, 7.Jul.2008 (F/C: Salzau, Germany) [digi.copy]

Jens Balzer: Mach es mit mir zusammen. Erfinder des Free Jazz. Ornette Coleman gab bei der JazzBaltica ein atemberaubendes Konzert, in: Berliner Zeitung, 8.Jul.2008 (C) [vert.file]

Christian Broecking: Der Revolutionär auf dem rotten Sofa. Zu Besuch beim jazzpionier Ornette Coleman. Am 2. Oktober wird er in Mannheim auftreten, in: die tageszeitung, 23. Sep. 2008 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Ethan Iverson: Ornette. Forms and Sounds, in: <www.dothemath.typepad.com>, 24.Oct.2010 (F) [digi.copy]

Bill Shoemaker: Ornette Coleman - "Town Hall, 1962" (ESP 1006), in: Down Beat, 75/10 (Oct.2008), p. 81 (R: 5 stars) [digi.copy]

Georg Spindler: Freie Rede im Tonfall des Blues. Enjoy Jazz: Beim Festivalauftakt brilliert das Ornette Coleman Quartett in der Heidelberger Stadthalle als Improvisationskollektiv, in: Mannheimer Morgen, 4.Oct.2008 (C) [digi.copy]

Hans-Jürgen Linke: Jazz. Der Geist der Alchemie, in: Frankfurter Rundschau, 4.Oct.2008 (C) [digi.copy]

Ralf Dombrowski: Ornette Coleman in Heidelberg. Opas sanfte Jazz-Revolution, in: Spiegel Online, 3.Oct.2008 (C) [digi.copy]

Volker Doberstein: Ornette Coleman. Der Mythos des Unverständlichen, in: Jazz Podium, 57/11 (Nov.2008), p. 20 (F/I) [digi.copy]

John Corbett: Doing Is Believing. Ornette Coleman Establishes Contact With Life, in: Down Beat, 75/12 (Dec. 2008), p. 46-53 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Arrigo Cappelletti: Paul Bley. The Logic of Chance, Montreal 2009 [book: Véhicule Press], passim (F/A)

Fred Kaplan: 1959. The Year Everything Changed, Hoboken, New Jersey 2009 [book: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.], p. 198-211 (F: chapter "The Shape of Jazz to Come")

Gary Giddins & Scott DeVeaux: Jazz, New York 2009 [book: W.W. Norton], p. 449-456 (F/A: chapter "Ornette Coleman: 'Lonely Woman'")

Graham Collier: The Jazz Composer. Moving Music Off the Paper, London 2009 [book: Northway Publications], p. 136-139 (F: chapter Infinitie Possibilities. The Revolutionary Decade. Ornette and Mingus")

Guerino Mazzola & Paul B. Cherlin: Flow, Gesture, and Spaces in Free Jazz. Towards a Theory of Collaboration, Berlin 2009 [book: Springer], p. 44-48 (A: chapter "Ornette Coleman's Melodic Spaces in 'Free Jazz")

Helene LaFaro-Fernandez: Jade Visions. The Life and Music of Scott LaFaro, Denton/TX 2009 [book: University of North Texas Press], passim (F)

Jari Perkiömäki: Lennie and Ornette. Searching for Freedom in Improvisation. Obersvations on the Music of Lennie Tristano and Ornette Coleman, Helsinki 2009 [book: Sibelius Academy Jazz Publications], passim (A/T: "Invisible"; "Lonely Woman"; "Ramblin"; "Joy Of A Toy")

Maxi Sickert: Clarinet Bird. Rolf Kühn. Jazzgespräche, Berlin 2009 [book: Christian Broecking Verlag], p. 144-146 (F)

Eddie Michel Azoulay: Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Special, #107 (Feb/Mar.2009), p. 57-63 (F/I)

Martin Johnson: Bluesy and Achingly Beautiful. Coleman's 'The Shape of Jazz to Come' lived up to its title, in: The Wall Street Journal, 18.Apr.2009 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Gary Moskowitz: Ornette Coleman Has a 'Meltdown', in: New York Times, 11.Jun.2009 (F: Ornette Coleman curates his own festival in London) [digi.copy]

Phil Freeman: Faith healer. Half a century after he boldly predicted the shape of jazz to come, and now in his 80th year, master musician Ornette Coleman is once more entering a phase of high activity, as curator of London's Meltdown Festival and running his current group with son Denardo. Here he dispenses his egalitarian philosophy of universal language and sound grammar, the logic behind his stop-start work rate, and his belief that music is a healing force, in: The Wire, #304 (Jun.2009), p. 47 (F/I)

Christian Broecking: Ich möchte wissen, was Ewigkeit bedeutet. Free-Jazz-Pionier Ornette Coleman über die Erziehung durch Frauen und seine Anfänge am Plastik-Saxofon, in: Berlienr Zeitung, 1.Jul.2009 (I) [digi.copy]

Brian Galsser: Turning Point. Future Shock. Bassist Dave Green on the album that changed his life, "Tomorrow Is The Queston" by Ornette Coleman, in: Jazzwise, #132 (Jul.2009), p. 32 (F) [digi.copy]

Giuseppe Piacentino: Ornette Coleman. 1959. "The shape of jazz to come". L'inizio del futuro, in: Musica Jazz, 65/8-9 speciale (Aug/Sep.2009), p. 25-28, 30, 32-34, 36 (F)

Stephen Graham & Kevin LeGendre: Ornette Coleman / Charlie Haden Liberation Music Orchestra, Meltdown, Royal Festival Hall, London, in: Jazzwise, #133 (Aug. 2009), p. 58 (C) [digi.copy]

Tony Herrington: on Location. Ornette Coleman's Meltdown, Southbank Centre, London, in: The Wire, #306 (Aug.2009), p. 78 (C)

Nate Chinen: Music Review. Ornette Coleman, Starring as Himself, in: new York Times, 28.Sep.2009 (C) [digi.copy]

Christian Broecking: Ornette Coleman. Klang der Freiheit. Interviews, Berlin 2010 [book: Broecking Verlag], passim (F/I with Ornette Coleman, Don Cherry, Charlie Haden)

Duncan Heining: George Russell. The Story of an American Composer, Lanham/MD 2010 [book: Scarecrow], passim (F)

Eddy Determeyer: Ornette Coleman. Her vrije leven volgens, in: Jazz Nu, 33/3 (Summer 2010), p. 53 (F/I)

John Kruth: Sound is Nobody's Enemy. Ornette Coleman in conversation, in: Extempore, 5 (2010), p. 117-120 (I) [digi.copy]

Ornette Coleman: Albert Ayler, in: Franck Médioni (ed.): Albert Ayler. Témoignages sur un Holy Ghost, Marseille 2010 [book: Le Mot et le Reste], p. 97 (short "I")

Pierre Hemptinne: Reprise et revenance. Ornette Coleman revu par John Zorn, in: Volume!, 7/2 (2010), p. 143-147 (F) [digi.copy]

Ralf Dombrowski: Portrait Saxofon. Kultur, Praxis, Repertoire, Interpreten, Kassel 2010 [book: Bärenreiter], p. 4546 (F: chapter "Mit Plastik-Sax und System. Ornette Coleman"); p. 95-96 (F: chapter "Ornette Coleman. Free Jazz")

Howard Mandel: Caught. Ornette Coleman Remains Unpredictable in Jazz at Lincoln Center Debut, in: Down Beat, 77/1 (Jan.2010), p. 20 (C) [digi.copy]

Seb Rochford: Ornette Coleman, jazz revolutionary. Seb Rochford of Polar Bear on the horn player who freaked everyone out, in: The Observer, 24.Jan.2010 (F) [digi.copy]

Chris Vaughn: Lessons in music appreciation from Ornette Coleman, in: (Fort Worth) Star-Telegram, 27.Feb.2010 (F: four favorite records: "The Shape of Jazz to Come"; "At the Golden Circle Vol 1/Vol. 2"; "Sound Grammar") [digi.copy]

Christian Broecking: Ornette @ 80. Am 9. März 2010 wird Ornette Coleman 80 Jahre alt / Wie Ornette Coleman die Welt veränderte. Eine O-Ton-Collage, in: Jazz Thing, #82 (Feb/Mar.2010), p. 54-62 (F/I with Ornette Coleman, Chadlie Haden, Pat Metheny, Bruce Lundvall, Jason Moran, Greg Osby, Geri Allen, Michael Cuscuna, Joshua Redman, Vijay Iyer, Terence Blanchard, Dave Holland, David Sanborn, Hank Jones, Curtis Fuller, Philip Glass, Manfred Eicher, Barre Phillips, Evan Parker, David Murray, Butch Morris, Anthony Braxton, George Lewis, Henry Threadgill)

Guenter Hottmann: Die Harmolodics-Zenrtifuge. Ornette Coleman's Meltdown, in: Jazz Thing, #82 (Feb/Mar.2010), p. 63 (C)

Georg Spindler: Kein Platz für Hierarchien. Jubiläum: Jazz-Innovator Ornette Coleman wird 80 jahre alt, in: Mannheimer Morgen, 8.Mar.2010 (F) [digi.copy]

Ulrich Olshausen: Ornette Coleman. Die strukturierte Raserei höchster Lebenslust. Respekt und Eiegnsinn: Der Saxophonist definierte den Free Jazz, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 8.Mar.2010, p. 32 (F) [digi.copy]

Christian Buss: Der Mann mit der Plastikkanne. Der Jazz-Musiker und Harmonie-Revolutionär Ornette Coleman wird achtzig Jahre alt, in: Berliner Zeitung, 9. Mar. 2010 (F) [digi.copy]

Corey Kilgannon: Jazzman turns 80, Ponderung Music's Metaphysics, in: New York Times, 9.Mar.2010 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Franziska Buhre: Ornette Coleman - aus dem Stegreif, in: die tageszeitung, 9.Mar.2010, p. 17 (F) [digi.copy]

 $\label{lem:michael Pilz: Freiheit, Gleichheit. Ornette Coleman zum 80., in: Welt Online, 9. Mar. 2010 (F) \ [digi. copy]$

Preston Jones: Pioneer jazz legend Ornette Coleman turns 80 and is as unconventional as ever, in: Dallas Morning News, 9.Mar.2010 (F) [digi.copy]

Christian Broecking: Klang der Freiheit. 80 Jahre Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Podium, 59/4 (Apr.2010), p. 14-15 (I; book excerpt)

Horst Ebner: old and new dreams. Unaufhörliche Suche nach dem Prinzip Freiheit. Ornette Coleman wurde Anfang März 80, in: skug. Journal für Musik, #82 (Apr/Jun.2010), p. 65 (B: "Ornette Coleman. Klang der Freiheit", by Christian Broecking)

Ralf Dombrowski: Freiheit ist Haltung. Ornette Coleman zum 80. Geburtstag, in: Jazz Zeitung, 35/2 (Apr/May 2010), p. 22-23 (F)

Reiner Kobe: Mich als Mensch wahrnehmen. Eine Neuerscheinung zum 80. Geburtstag von Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Zeitung, 35/2 (Apr/May 2010), p. 17 (B: "Ornette Coleman - Klang der Freiheit", von Christian Broecking)

Günter Buhles: Was uns die Musik verraten kann. Über Subtexte im Jazz, in: Jazz Podium, 59/7-8 (Jul/Aug.2010), p. 3-7 (F: Duke Ellington, Thelonious Monk, Miles Davis, Bill Evans, John Coltrane, Ornette Coleman)

John Fordham: Great moments in jazz. Ornette Coleman defines the Shape of Jazz to Come. Initially regarded as a fraud or a fool, his playing influenced half a century of jazz - and this album defines his greatness more than any other, in: The Guardian, 23.Jul.2010 (F) [digi.copy]

George Schuller: Need a date: Schuller interviews Ornette, in: [jazz research mailing list], 25.Aug.2010 (F: dating the Feb 7, 1960 show) [digi.copy] {confidential, internal use only}

Ethan Iverson: Ornette. This Is Our Mystic, in: <www.dothemath.typepad.com>, 19.Sep.2010 (F/A) [digi.copy]

Bob Lee: LAist Interview. Ornette Coleman, in: <www.LAist.com>, 1.Nov.2010 (I) [digi.copy]

Enzo Pavoni: Ornette Coleman. Commistioni jazzistico-sinfoniche. Skies of America 1972, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 73-75 (F)

Enzo Pavoni: Ornette Coleman. Dalla svolte elettrica i Prime Time, 1976-1987, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 76-81 (F)

Gianni Morelenbaum Gualberto: Ornette Coleman, Freedom Now!, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 51-54 (F)

Gianni Morelenbaum Gualberto: Ornette Coleman. Il jazz a venire, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 55-60 (F)

Giorgio Rimondi: Ornette Coleman. Costruzione dell'immagine. Velerie e Ornette, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 84-89 (F)

Lucianno Vanni: Ornette Coleman. Tody is the Answer! 1984-2010, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 82-83 (F)

Luciano Vanni: Ornette Coleman. Gli orizzonti possibili, 1967-1971, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 64-67 (F)

Luciano Vanni: Ornette Coleman. In trio, 1962-1966, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 61-63 (F)

Luciano Vanni: Ornette Coleman. La nascita di uno stile, 1958-1961, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 48-50 (F)

Michele Mannucci: Ornette Coleman. Composizioni cameristiche, 1962-1986, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 68-72 (F)

NN: Ornette Coleman. Discografia essenziale da leader, 1958-2007, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 90-91 (D)

Sergio Pasquandrea: Ornette Coleman. Gli esordi, 1930-1958, in: Jazzit, #61 (Nov/Dec.2010), p. 46-47 (F)

John Szwed: Epiphanies. In the week Ornette Coleman received the keys to the city of Hartford, Connecticut, Sun Ra biographer John Szwed discovered another meaning of harmolodics, in: The Wire, #322 (Dec.2010), p. 90 (F) [digi.copy]

Ted Panken: Caught. Sounds, Images Honor Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 77/12 (Dec.2010), p. 19 (C: tribute festival, New York) [digi.copy]

Amy C. Beal: Carla Bley, Urbana/IL 2011 [book: University of Illinois Press], passim (F)

Christian Broecking: Der Marsalis-Komplex. Studien zur gesellschaftlichen Relevanz des afroamerikanischen Jazz zwischen 1992 und 2007, Berlin 2011 [PhD thesis: Technische Universität Berlin], passim (F/I) [digi.copy]

Jacques Réda: Autobiographie du Jazz, Paris 2011 [book: Climats], p. 315-318 (F)

Kevin Whitehead: Why Jazz? A Concise Guide, New York, 2011 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 88-89 (F: chapter "Did Ornette Coleman's free jazz dispense with chord changes?")

Ralf Dombrowski: Basis-Diskothek Jazz, Stuttgart 4/2011 [book: Reclam], p. 53-55 (R: "Sound Grammar", Phrase Text Inc. / Abeille Music)

Ted Gioia: The History of Jazz, New York 2011 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 309-325 (F: mentioned in chapter "Free Jazz")

NN: 40 Jahre Moers. Sternstunde mit Ornette Coleman. Free-Jazz-Pionier Ornette Coleman hat beim 40. Jubiläum des Festivals für improvisierte Musik in Moers als Überraschungsgast, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 13.Jun.2011 (C) [digi.copy] {filed under "Deutschland/Moers"}

Will Layman: Ornette Coleman - "Something Else", in: <www.popmatters.com>, 9.Sep.2011 (F/R)

Ben Allison: Artist's Choice. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Times, 41/7 (Sep.2011), p. 30-31 (F)

Miguel Martinez & Johan Plomp: Reisverhaal. What's the Tonic? In New York. Aan de deur bij Ornette, in: (NJA) Jazz Bulletin, #80 (Sep.2011), p. 34-35 (F)

John Fordham: 50 great moments in jazz. Ornette Coleman at Meltdown 2009. To close the series, here is an inspired performance from an iconoclast who reaffirms the joy of being a jazz fan, in: The Guardian, 24.Oct 2011 (F) [digi.copy]

Kevin LeGendre: love in a Time of Crisis. Ornette Coleman changed jazz by challenging the notion of what it is as music, and as life. Now 18, he talks to Kevin Le Gendre prior to arriving in London in November for a rare concert to close this year's London Jazz Festival, in: Jazzwise, #158 (Nov.2011), p. 18-21 (F/I) [digi.copy] [digi.copy]

Jason Weiss: Always in Trouble. An Oral History of ESP-Disk, the Most Outrageous Record Label in America, Middletown/CT 2012 [book: Wesleyan University Press], passim (F/I with Bernard Stollman and others)

NN: The Oldest Living Jazz Musicians. Ornette Coleman, in: The Jassman, 6/6 (2012),p. 34 (F: short biography) [digi.copy]

Stefano Zenno: Storia del Jazz. Una prospettiva globale, Viterbo 2012 [book: Stampa Alternativa], p. 421-428 (F: chapter "The new thing. Ornette Coleman")

Stephen Cottrell: The Saxophone, New Haven 2012 [book: Yale University Press], p. 222-227 (F)

Richard Brody: Ornette Coleman's Big Adventure, in: <www.newyorker.com>, 29.Aug.2012 (F: film 'Ornette. Made in America'') [digi.copy]

Nate Chinen: Freewheeling Musician Gets Free-Form Tribute. Ornette Coleman Profile "Ornette - Made in America", in. New York Times, 30.Aug.2012 (Film-R) [digi.copy]

Stuart Broomer: Ornette Coleman, in: Rui Neves & José Pinto & Bruno Sequeira (eds.): Arrivals / Departures. New Horizons in Jazz, Lisbon 2013 [book: Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation], p. 45-49 (F)

Trevor E. Hudson: From Dadaism to Free Jazz. The Cultural Developments of a New Aesthetic, Newark 2013 [MA thesis: Rutgers University], p. 84-87 (F: chapter "The Early Development of Ornette Coleman"); p. 99-111 (F/A: chapter "Process Analysis. An Approach to Avant-Garde Analysis" =) analysis of recording "Free Jazz")

Bruno Fern: Le tour du jazz en 80 écrivains. Ornette Coleman - "Free Jazz" (Atlantic, 1961), in: ImproJazz, #197 (Jul/Aug.2013), p. 19-20 (F)

Lukas Foerster & Richard Brody: "Ornette. Made in America", in: [film info], Filme im Schloss, Schloss Biebrich, 30.Aug.2013 (F: film info) [digi.copy]

Jacques Réda: Ornette Coleman - "Change of the Century" (Atlantic), in: Jazz Magazine, #652 (Aug.2013), p. 72-73 (F/R; reprint from Jazz Magazine, #97, Aug.1963) [digi.copy]

Georgia Mancio: Interview / preview. Tony Kofi tells the story of working with Ornette Coleman - "Singing Ornette" ReVoice!, in: London jazz News, 13.Sep.2015 (F/I with Tony Kofi) [digi.copy]

Jimi Durso: Woodshed. Solo. Ornette Coleman's 'Free'-Leaning Alto Sax Solo on 'Ramblin", in: Down Beat, 80/10 (Oct.2013), p. 166-167 (A/T) [digi.copy]

Kevin Whitehead: Warum Jazz? 111 gute Gründe, Stuttgart 2014 [book: Reclam], p. 120-122 (F: chapter "Schaffte Ornette Coleman bei seiner Variante des Free Jazz Akkordwechsel ab?")

Maxi Sickert: Clarinet Bird. Rolf Kühn. Ein Leben mit Jazz, Berlin 2014 [book: jazzgorillaz / german jazz], p. 144-146 (I)

Stuart Baker (ed.): Black Fire! New Spirits! Images of a Revolution. Radical Jazz in the USA 1960-75, London 2014 [book: Soul Jazz Records], p. 42-43, 78-79, 92-93 (short F/photos) [digi.copy]

Kurt Gottschalk: New York at Night. Celebrating Ornette, in: New York City Jazz Record, #147 (Jul.2014), p. 4 (C) [digi.copy]

Thomas Staudter: The 80 Coolest Things in Jazz Today. The Living Masters. Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 81/7 (Jul.2014), p. 29 (short F) [digi.copy]

Howard Mandel: Celebrating Ornettel The Music of Ornette Coleman featuring Denardo Coleman. A celebration of Ornette Coleman in Brooklyn is a three hour affirmation of the power of spontaneous music making, in: The Wire, #366 (Aug.2014), p. 78 (C) [digi.copy]

Jacques Derrida: Philosopher Jacques Derrida Interviews Jazz Legend Ornette Coleman. Talk Improvisation, Language & Racism (1997), in: www.openculture.com, 26.Sep.2014 (F/I) [digi.copy]

Bill Milkowski: All-Star Cast Celebrates Ornette Coleman at Free Brooklyn Concert, in: Down Beat, 81/9 (Sep.2014), p. 13-14 (C) [digi.copy]

Bill Milkowski: Notes from New York. Ornette honored, in: Jazz Thing, #105 (Sep/Oct.2014), p. 15 (C: tribute concert to Coleman) [digi.copy]

John Menaghan. En Route. You no longer need a map in order to get lost - Ornette Coleman, in: Brilliant Corners, 19/1 (Winter 2014), p. 28-32 (poem)

A.B. Spellman: Ornette Coleman. "Ornette on Tenor" (1961), in: Brilliant Corners, 20/1 (Winter 2015), p. 30-33 (F/I; original liner notes from 1961)

Barbara Frenz: Music to Silence to Music. A Biography of Henry Grimes, London 2015 [book: Northway Publications], passim (F)

Jason C. Bivins: Spirits Rejoice! Jazz and American Religion, New York 2015 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 222-230 (F: chapter "Other Planes of There. Jazz Cosmologies and Metaphysics. 'Space Church': Ornette Coleman and Harmolodics")

Marcello Piras: Dentro le note. Il jazz al microscopio, Roma 2015 [book: Lit Edizione], p. 125-130 (A: chapter "Ornette Coleman. Peace") [digi.copy]

Martin Johnson: Completely New Yet Pleasantly Familiar. Ornette Coleman's 'New Vocabulary' is his first studio album since 1996, in: Wall Street Journal, 7. Jan. 2015 (F/R: Martin Johnson reports about a new Ornette Coleman album released with little advance publicity, "New Vocabulary", recorded in 2009, with the trumpeter Jordan McLean whom Coleman had heard in the musical "Fela!" and two of his musicians) [digi.copy]

Wolf Kampmann: Ornette Coleman. Das Phänomen. No Destiny - drei grosse Missverständnisse und ein kleiner Irrtum um Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz 'n' More, Mar/Apr.2015, p. 18-20 (F) [digi.copy]

Bradley Bambarger: Ornette Coleman / Howard Shore - "Naked Lunch. Complete Original Soundtrack Remastered" (Howe Records); Ornette Coleman / Jordan McLean / Amir Ziv - "New Vocabulary" (System Dialing 009), in: Down Beat, 82/4 (Apr.2015), p. 57 (R: 5 stars; 3 stars) [digi.copy]

Daniel Kreps: Ornette Coleman Files Lawsuit Over Alleged Unauthorized Album. Legendary saxophonist claims that 2014's 'New Vocabulary' was released without permission by Amir Ziv and Antibalas' Jordan McLean, in: Rolling Stone, 27.May 2015 (F: Daniel Kreps reports that saxophonist Ornette Coleman files a lawsuit claiming that 2014's "New Vocabulary" was released without his "consent or knowledge" (Rolling Stone). The trumpeter Jordan McLean and the drummer Amir Ziv had come to Coleman's New York loft for some teaching sessions in 2009 which they recorded and subsequently released even though Coleman denied their request for doing so) [digi.copy]

Joe Lynch: Ornette Coleman Lawsuit Against Antibalas' Jordan McLean. Both Sides Weigh In, in: Billboard, 29.May 2015 (F) [digi.copy]

Coen de Jonge: Een emmer ijswater van Ornette Coleman. Heruitgave van een magistrale box, in: Jazzism, May/Jun.2015, p. 114-115 (F/R)

Ben Ratliff: Ornette Coleman, Jazz Innovator, Dies at 85, in: New York Times, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Ben Ratliff: Ornette Coleman's Greatest Hits, in: new York Times, 11. Jun. 2015 (F) [digi.copy]

Christoph Irrgeher: Nachruf. Ein Vorkämpfer der Freiheit. Die Free-Jazz-Ikone Ornette Coleman ist 85-jährig gestorben, in: Wiener Zeitung, 11. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi. copy]

Don Heckman: Ornette Coleman, jazz innovator ând disruptor, dies at 85, in: Los Angeles Times, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Elysa Gardner: Jazz great Ornette Coleman dies, in: USA Today, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Howard Reich: Ornette Coleman liberated jazz, in: Chicago Tribune, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Jens Balzer: Nachruf auf Ornette Coleman. Er war der Vater des Free Jazz. Und ein Lehrer für alle Menschen, ein prophet der Zärtlichkeit. Zum Tod des großen Saxofonisten Ornette Coleman, in: Berliner Zeitung, 11. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

John Fordham: Ornette Coleman obituary. Saxophonist and composer whose music revolutionised the language of jazz, in: The Guardian, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Marc Myers: Ornette Coleman Dies at 85. Saxophonist pioneered free-form jazz, influencing John Coltrane, Miles Davis, in: Wall Street Journal, 11. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Matt Schudel: Ornette Coleman, innovative force in jazz and modern music, dies at 85, in: Washington Post, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Matthew Kassel: Jazz Musicians Tell Their Ornette Coleman Stories, in: Observer, 11. Jun. 2015 (F/O: short I with James Carney, Josh Sinton, Ohad Talmor, Nels Cline, Fred Hersch, Calvin Weston, Kenny Wessel, Jesse Stacken, Sonny Rollins, Peter Epstein, Joe Lovano, Gilad Hekselman, Vijay Iyer, Roy Nathanson, Jamaaladeen Tacuma, Greg Osby, Ezra Weiss, Greg Cohen, Ralph Alessi, Josh Roseman) [digi.copy]

Michael J. West: Ornette Coleman's music polarized jazz, then became part of its DNA, in: Washington Post, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Michael Pilz: Ornette Coleman. Der Vater des Free Jazz ist tot. Kein Musiker wurde sein Leben lang so gründlich missverstanden. Ornette Coleman hat den Free Jazz erfunden und das harmolodische System. Aber das war nie so gemeint. Nun ist er mit 85 Jahren gestorben, in: Die Welt, 11. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

NN (The Associated Press): Jazz Great Ornette Coleman Remembered as Visionary, in: New York Times, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Stefan Hentz: Ornette Coleman. Schönheit ist ein seltenes Gut. Ornette Coleman interessierte sich nicht für Regeln. Das machte ihn erst zum großen Außenseiter - und dann zu einer ganz großen Figur des Jazzgeschichte. Ein Nachruf, in: Zeit Online, 11. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Steve Wallace: Ornette, in: <www.wallacebass.com>, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Tobi Müller: Freie Völkermusik. Jazz-Revolutionär Ornette Coleman. Der Saxofonist Ornette Coleman ist tot. Ausgerechnet der Pionier des Free Jazz bewies, dass diese Gattung zwar angenehm komplex, aber auch sanft und direkt sein kann, in: Spiegel Online, 11. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Ueli Bernays: Zum Tod von Ornette Coleman. Der verspielte Prophet. Der Jazzsaxofonist Ornette Coleman ist am Donnerstag im Alter von 85 Jahren in New York an Herzstillstand gestorben. Er zählte zu den umstrittensten Innovatoren in der Geschichte des Jazz, in: Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 11.Jun.2015 (F/O) [didi.copv]

Ulrich Kriest: Ornette Coleman. Der Pionier des Free Jazz, in: Stuttgarter Zeitung, 11. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

David Fricke: Ornette Coleman. The Man Who Set Jazz Free. Ornette Coleman broke all the rules and inspired musicians from Coltrane to Sonic Youth, in: Rolling Stone, 12.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Franziska Buhre: Nachruf auf Ornette Coleman. Solo für eine einsame Frau. Der afroamerikanische Saxofonist Ornette Coleman befreite den Jazz vom Zwang zur Repräsentation. Und leitete 1958 eine neue Zeit ein, in: die tageszeitung (TAZ), 12.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Hans-Jürgen Linke: Zum Tod von ornette Coleman. Ornette Coleman, Komponist, Saxophonist und Impulsgeber der Jazz-Geschichte, ist mit 85 Jahren in New York gestorben. Dabei hätte es ewig so weitergehen können und sollen, in: Frankfurter Rundschau, 12.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Joachim Mischke: Trauer. Ornette Coleman - der freie Radikale. Der Saxofonist Ornette Coleman, dem der Jazz die Wende zum Free Jazz verdankt, ist im Alter von 85 Jahren in New York gestorben, in: Hamburger Abendblatt, 12.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

John Payne: Ornette Coleman Pissed Off the Jazz Establishment - And They Will Miss Him, in: L.A. Weekly, 12.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Kai Müller: Schmerz der Freiheit. Der Erfinder des Free Jazz: Zum Tod des Saxophonisten Ornette Coleman, in: Der Tagesspiegel, 12. Jun. 2015, p. 22 (F/O) [digi.copy]

NN: Ornette Coleman ist tot. Der letzte Ton ist verklungen. Der Saxophonspieler und Altmeister des Free Jazz, Ornette Coleman, ist tot. Er galt als Innovator des Genres - und seine Spielweise zunächst als chaotisch, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 12. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Richard Williams: Ornette Coleman 1930-2015, in: The Blue Moment <www.thebluemoment.com>, 12.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Dirk Schümer: Freies Spiel der schrägen Kräfte. Ornette Coleman ist tot. Er war der letzte wandernde Bluesman und der erste intellektuelle Freiheitsapostel des Jazz, in: Die Welt, 13. Jun. 2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Allan Chase: Ornette Coleman, R.I.P., in: [jazz research mailing list], 14. Jun. 2015 (F/A: report about a student transcription seminar and the analytical findings regarding form, harmony, melody, chord changes) [digi.copy] {confidential; internal use only}

Marc Myers: Cultural Commentary. The Father of Free Jazz. Ornette Coleman stayed true to his controversial artistic vision his entire life, in: Wall Street Journal, 15.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Ericka Schiche: Ornette Coleman's Hidden Connections to Houston's Jazz Scene, in: Houston Press, 19.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Dan Ouellette: With Comtrary Wisdom, Free Radical Alto Saxophonist / Philosopher Ornette Coleman First Showeed the World What the Shape of Jazz Would Sound Like After Bop, in: <www.zealNYC.com>, 23.Jun.2015 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Ethan Iverson: Gunther Schuller's Contribution and a Few More Thoughts About Ornette, in: <www.dothemath.typepad.com>, 23.Jun.2015 (F) [digi.copy] [filed under "Gunther SCHULLER"]

Andrew R. Chow: Remembering What Made Ornette Coleman a Jazz Visionary, in: New York Times, 27.Jun.2015 (F/O: funeral celebration) [digi.copy]

Steve Bloom: Jazz Legend Ornette Coleman Remembered by Fellow Musicians at Funeral, in: Billboard, 28.Jun.2015 (F/O: funeral celebration) [digi.copy]

Reiner Michalke: Ornette Coleman, in: <www.moers-festival-blog.net>, 30.Jun.2015 (F/O: Reiner Michalke attended the funeral and reflects about his own memories of Coleman performing in Cologne and in Moers, Germany) [digi.copy]

Christian Rose: arrêt sur image. Hommage Leçon d'Ornette, in: Jazz Magazine, #674 (Jul.2015), p. 6-7 (O/photo)

Joe McPhee: The Loneliest Woman, in: ImproJazz, #217 (Jul/Aug.2015), p. 4 (poem)

Jon Newey: Ornette Coleman 1930-2015, in: Jazzwise, #198 (Jul.2015), p. 5 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Kevin Le Gendre: Ornette Coleman (9 March 1930 - 11 June 2015), in: Jazzwise, #198 (Jul.2015), p. 16 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Pascal Anquetil: Souvenirs. Sonny Rollins & Ornette Coleman, Salle de la Mutualité, Paris, 4 novembre 1965 (21 heures), in: Jazz Magazine, #674 (Jul.2015), supplement "Le magic du live", p. 20-21 (F/photos)

Wolf Kampmann: Ornette Coleman. Free at last, in: Jazzthetik, 15/7-8 (Jul/Aug.2015), p. 20-21 (F/O) [digi.copy]

A.B. Spellman: ornette Coleman, 9 March 1930 - 11 June 2015. In New York in the 1960s, writer and poet AB Spellman, author of the groundbreaking "Four Lives in the Bebop Business" (1966) became firm friends with the late saxophonist. But he only got his music once he stopped trying to understand it, in: The Wire, #378 (Aug.2015), p. 20-21 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Alan Courtis: Letters. Argentine tango, in: The Wire, #378 (Aug.2015), p. 8 (letter: O) [digi.copy]

Alan Luff: Anec-dotage. Alan Luff makes suggestions for readers as yet unmoved by Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Journal, 68/8 (Aug. 2015), p. 40 (F/O)

Alex W. Rodriguez: Harmolodig Pedagogy and the Challenge of Omni-Musicality, in: Jazz Perspectives, 9/2 (Aug.2015), p. 173-192 (F) [digi.copy]

Andrey Henkin: In Memoriam. Ornette Coleman, in: New York City Jazz Record, #160 (Aug.2015), p. 12 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Barry Witherden: Obituaries. Ornette Coleman, free-jazz pioneer eventually recognized by the establishment, in: Jazz Journal, 68/8 (Aug.2015), p. 18 (F/O)

Bern Nix & Charnett Moffet & Joachim Kühn & Al MacDowell & Tony Falanga & Greg Cohen & Kenny Wessel & G. Calvin Weston & Denardo Coleman & Geri Allen & Jamaaladeen Tacuma & Charles Ellerbe: Ornette Coleman, 1930-2015, in: New York City Jazz Record, #160 (Aug.2015), p. 14-15 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Bill Milkowski: First Take. True Revolutionary, in: Down Beat, 82/8 (Aug.2015), p. 8 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Eddie Michel Azoulay: De sidste kor. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Special, #146 (Aug/Sep.2015), p. 36-41 (F/I from 2008)

Howard Mandel: Ornette Coleman died on 11 June, more than one thousand mourners attended his funeral in New York, and turned it into a celebration of the harmolodic life, in: The Wire, #378 (Aug.2015), p. 80-81 (F/O/C: funeral celebration) [digi.copy]

Martin Schuster: Lasst uns die Musik spielen, nicht den Background. Zum Tod von Ornette Coleman, in: Concerto, Aug/Sep.2015, p. 34 (F/O)

Olaf Maikopf: Inspirierende Zusammenkünfte. Der Altsaxofonist und Jazz-Innovator Ornette Coleman lieferte kurz vor seinem Tod eine musikalische Sensation, in: Melodie und Rhythmus, Jul/Aug.2015, p. 13 (F/I with Joran McLean)

Tilman Urbach: "Niemand muss buchstabieren lernen, um zu sprechen." Er war anders als alle anderen. Und er war der Gott des Free Jazz. Ornette Coleman stand für eine neue Art des Spielens, Hörens,

Steve Dalachinsky: this is our music - for Ornette Coleman, in: ImproJazz, #218 (Sep. 2015), p. 4-6 (poem)

Volker Doberstein: Free Ornette Coleman, 1930-2015, in: Jazz Podium, 64/9 (Sep. 2015), p. 3-4, 6 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Aidan Levy: Lessons From Ornette. Cornetist Kirk Knuffke on jamming with the free-jazz giant, coming up in Colorado and the joys of first takes, in: Jazz Times, 45/8 (Oct.2015), p. 16-17 (F/I with Kirk Knuffke)

Dan Morgenstern: Chords & Discords. Sense of Fairness, in: Down Beat, 82/10 (Oct.2015), p. 10 (letter) [digi.copy]

Patrick Hinely: Passing Glances. Ornette Coleman, in: Cadence, 41/4 (Oct/Dec.2015), p. 52-53 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Jamaladeen Tacuma: Podium Jam Session. Thema: Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Podium, 64/11 (Nov.2015), p. 50 (letter: O) [digi.copy]

Neneh Cherry: Ornette Coleman remembered by Neneh Cherry. The singer-songwriter recalls the 'quiet intensity' if the American saxophonist who with her stepfather, Don Cherry, took jazz in wild new directions, in: The Guardian, 27.Dec.2015 (F: The singer Neneh Cherry remembers her meetings with the late saxophonist Ornette Coleman whom she met through her stepfather, the trumpeter Don Cherry, and reveals that it took her a long while until she felt she could cover a song by Coleman) [digi.copy]

Albert Stolz: In Memoriam. Ornette Coleman. The Shape of Jazz to Come, in: Swissjazzorama Jazzletter, #34 (Dec.2015), p. 15 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Brent Hayes Edwards & Katherine Whatley: "Ornette at Prince Street". A Glimpse from the Archives, in: <www.pointofdeparture.org>, Dec.2015 (F: Brent Hayes Edwards and Katherine Whatley focus on 131 Prince Street in New York, Ornette Coleman's legendary loft which he had acquired in 1968, reprinting an article by the Japanese journalist Kiyoshi Koyama, originally published in the Japanese Swing Journal magazine, and researching concerts as well as informal jam sessions which eventually took place until around summer 1974 in a more formal concert space and art gallery on the ground floor of that building) [digi.copy]

David Cristol: Dossier Ornette Coleman. Dix disques essentiels, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 56-57 (F) [digi.copy]

Franck Bergerot: Dossier Ornette Coleman. Ornette en 45 dates, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 50-52 (F: chronology) [digi.copy]

François-René Simon: Dossier Ornette Coleman. Au cœur de la pensée. Il avait un son unique, composait ou improvisait des mélodies parfois simples comme bonjour ou complexes comme une symphonie. Ornette Coleman, penseur du cœur et lyrique de la tête, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 43-45 (F) [digi.copy]

Jonathan Glusman: Dossier Ornette Coleman. Entre haine et amour. Génie pour certains imposteur pour d'autres, Ornette Coleman trouva ses plus virulents détracteurs parmi les musiciens. Qui finirent au fil des années par l'accepter comme l'un des leurs, voire l'un des meilleurs, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 48-50 (F) [digi.copy]

Pascal Rozat: Dossier Ornette Coleman. Libérez "Free Jazz"! Source d'âpres controverses dès sa parution en 1961, l'album culte d'Ornette Coleman a vite été dépassé par sa portée symbolique. Et si le temps était venu de réécouter cette musique pour ce qu'elle est?, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 46-47 (F) [digi.copy]

Pat Metheny: Dossier Ornette Coleman. La chanson d'Ornette, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 40-42 (F) [digi.copy]

überhaupt für eine neue Musikauffassung - nicht nur innerhalb des Jazz. Legendär seine Aufnahme "Free Jazz - A Collective Improvisation", die 1961 einer ganzen Stilrichtung ihren Namen hab. Tilman Urbach erinnert an den großen Saxophonisten, in: Fono Forum, Aug.2015, p. 84-87 (F/O) [digi.copy]

TS Høeg: De sidste kor. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Special, #146 (Aug/Sep.2015), p. 28-35 (F/O)

Val Wilmer & Alyn Shipton: ornette Coleman Remembered. Jazzwise writers Val Wilmer and Alyn Shipton both spent significant time with Ornette Coleman and here pay personal tribute to the visionary saxophonist who passed away in June, in: Jazzwise, #199 (Aug.2015), p. 16 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Arne Reimer: Drei späte Begegnungen. Erinnerungen, in: Jazz Thing, #110 (Sep/Oct.2015), pö. 52 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Bill Milkowski: "Entlasst die Lieder aus Eurem Inneren!", in: Jazz Thing, #110 (Sep/Oct.2015), p. 53 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Bill Milkowski: Remembering Ornette Coleman, in: Down Beat, 82/9 (Sep.2015), p. 24-29 (F/O; excerpts from reviews, interviews with Ornette Coleman, Cannonball Adderley, Charles Mingus, Shelly Manne, Thad Jones, Pat Metheny, Jenny Scheinman, Bobby Hutcherson, Charlie Haden) [digi.copy]

Christian Broecking: Die Suche nach Wahrhaftigkeit. Zum Tod von Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Thing, #110 (Sep/Oct.2015), p. 48-51 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Evan Haga: Departed Saint of Soul. Ornette Coleman is eulogized, and humanized, in New York City, in: Jazz Times, 45/7 (Sep.2015), p. 10, 12 (F/C: funeral celebration)

Hannes Schweiger: Let's Play the Music, Not the Background. Ornette Coleman (1930-2015), in: freiStil, #62 (Sep/Oct.2015), p. 12-13 (F/O)

Jean Michel van Schouwburg: Ornette dans le texte. Un compositeur atypique et une voix extraordinaire du saxophone qui a ouvert une fois pour toutes les portes de jazz libre, in: ImproJazz, #218 (Sep.2015), p. 12-14 (F)

Larry Blumenfeld: Coda. Ornette Passes, in: Jazziz, 32/9 (Sep.2015), p. 130 (F/O) [digi.copy]

Luc Bouquet: Mes trois soirees avec Ornette, in: ImproJazz, #218 (Sep.2015), p. 20 (F/O)

Marc Sarrazy & Joachim Kühn: Ornette Coleman, in: ImproJazz, #218 (Sep.2015), p. 18-19 (F/O)

Michael J. West: "Do Everything You Wanna Do." Four of Ornette Coleman's colleagues and admirers remember his wisdom, in: Jazz Times, 45/7 (Sep.2015), p. 28-29 (F/O; short I with Paul Bley, Joe Lovano, Charnett Moffett, David Murray)

Misha Andriessen: Ornette Coleman. Afscheid van een liefdevol vernieuwer, in: Jazzism, Sep.2015, p. 62-65 (F/O)

Nate Chinen: Free For All. Reflections on Ornette Colemanm Empathic Genius of the Jazz Avant-Garde, in: Jazz Times, 45/7 (Sep.2015), p. 26-29 (F/O)

NN: Farewells. Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Times, 45/7 (Sep.2015), p. 19 (O)

Raphael Imbert: le Blues et la mélodie comme manifeste! Plus encore, Ornette ne serrait pas Ornette sans le blues!, in: ImproJazz, #218 (Sep. 2015), p. 15-17 (F)

Serge Perrot & Gérard Rouy & Robert Wyatt & Daunik Lazro & Jac Berrocal & Jean-Yves Bériou: Ornette Coleman, 1930-2015, in: ImproJazz, #218 (Sep.2015), p. 7-11 (F/O)

Philippe Carles: Dossier Ornette Coleman. L'affaire Chappaqua. En 1965, Ornette Colemnan enregistre la musique d'un film de Conrad Rooks, "Chappaqua". Quoique refusée par le cinéaste, elle sortira finalement en 33-tours. Retour sur une mésaventure audiovisuelle, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 64-65 (F) [digi.copy]

Raphaël Imbert. La leçon. Masterolass. "Law Years". Un solo d'Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 130 (A/T)

Raphaërl Imbert: La leçon. Ornette Coleman. L'Harmolodie, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 128-129 (A)

Thierry Quénum: Ornette va piano? Dans les années 1990, le piano fait un retour inattendu dans l'univers d'Ornette Coleman, qui convie Geri Allen et Joachim Kühn à jouer à ses côtés. La pianiste de Detroit et son confrère de Leipzig se souviennent, in: Jazz Magazine, #679 (Dec/Jan.2015/2016), p. 62-63 (F/I with Geri Allen, Joachim Kühn) [digi.copy]

Arne Reimer: American Jazz Heroes, Volume 2. Besuche bei 50 Jazz-Legenden, Köln 2016 [book: Jazz Thing Verlag], p. 192-195 (F/I: chapter "Ornette Coleman. Menschen leben doch auch auf multiplen Ebenen, und das reflektiere ich in meiner Musik") [digi.copy]

Benjamin Bierman: Listening to Jazz, New York 2016 [book: Oxford University Press], p. 242-244 (F/A: "Congeniality")

Krin Gabbard: Better Git It In Your Soul. An Interpretive Biography of Charles Mingus, Oakland 2016 [book: University of California Press], passim (F)

J. Hoberman: 'Who's Crazy?', an Obscure Avant-Garde Film Project, Is Reborn, in: New York Times, 23.Mar.2016 (F: J. Hoberman tells the story of the experimental film "Who's Crazy?" by film director Thomas White, first shown at the 1965 Locarno film festival in Switzerland and only now having its belated New York premiere, and how Ornette Coleman came to record the soundtrack for the film with his trio) [didi.copy]

Michael Jarrett: John Snyder & The Meaning of Production. An excerpt from Michael Jarrett's "Pressed for All Time", in: Jazz Times, 46/10 (Dec.2016), p. 46-50 (I: about Freddie Hubbard: "Red Clay"; Charlie Haden: "Closeness"; Ornette Coleman: "Dancing In Your Head", "Soapsuds, Soapsuds"; Chet Baker: "You Can't Go Home Again"; James Blood Ulmer: "Tales of Captain Black")

Robert Gibb: The Ornette Coleman Trio at the "Golden Circle" Stockholm. Photo by Francis Wolff, in: Brilliant Corners, 21/1 (Winter 2016), p. 16 (poem)

Guillaume Belhomme: Jazz en 150 Figures, Paris 2017 [book: Editions du Layeur], p. 236-239 (F)

Ildefonso Rodríguez: La tanière vide, in: ImproJazz, #231 (Jan.2017), p. 20-23 (poem)

Barry Lytton: Sherman's man's film finds appreciation 50 years later, in: <www.newstimes.com>, 11.Mar.2017 (Film-R: "Who's Crazy" with music by Ornette Coleman) [digi.copy]

Evan Haga: Various Artists - "Celebrate Ornette" (Song X), in: Jazz Times, 47/3 (Apr.2017), p. 62 (R)

Phil Freeman: Lavish Box Set Salutes Ornette, in: Down Beat, 84/4 (Apr.2017), p. 13 (F/I with Denardo Coleman) [digi.copy]

Bob Weinberg: Prelude. Nothin' But 'Nette. A new box celebtares the legacy of Ornette Coleman, in: Jazziz, 34/6 (Jun.2017), p. 28-29 (F) [digi.copy]

Philip Clark: "Free Jazz, Harmolodics and Ornette Coleman", by Stephen Rush, in: The Wire, #400 (Jun.2017), p. 86 (B) [digi.copy]

Steve Dollar: Ornette Coleman. A Jazz Visionary Ready for Prime Time, in: <www.nbcnews.com>, 7.Jul.2017 (F/I with Denardo Coleman about tribute concert to Ornette Coleman) [digi.copy]

Giovanni Russonello: Ornette Coleman's Innovations Are Celebrated at Lincoln Center, in: New York Times, 17.Jul.2017 (C; I with Denardo Coleman) [digi.copy]

Shaun Brady: Ready for Prime Time. Lincoln Center lifts up the less-celebrated work of Ornette Coleman, in: Jazz Times, 47/7 (Sep.2017), p. 19 (C: "Naked Lunch")

Steve Khan: Essential Solos. 40 Improvisations You Need to Know. Soloist: Ornette Coleman, "Chronology". Ornette Coleman, The Shape of Jazz to Come (Atlantic, 1959), in: Jazz Times, 47/8 (Oct. 2017), p. 26 (short F)

Christian Broecking: Respekt! Die Geschichte der Fire Music. Jazz: Perspektiven und Kontroversen, Band II, Berlin 2018 [Broecking Verlag], p. 67-74 (I: chapter "Interview mit Ornette Coleman")

Tony Mostrom: Musical Revolutionary Ornette Coleman Unleashed Free Jazz in 1950s L.A., in: LA Weekly, 21.Feb.2018 (F: Tony Mostrom recalls Ornette Coleman's musical beginnings in Los Angeles where he first visited accompanying a blues singer, then worked as an elevator operator and at other jobs in town, and experienced musical rejection from many of his colleagues when he sat in at jam sessions. Relying on texts by John Litweiler, Amiri Baraka and Whitney Balliett, Mostrom concludes that "Ornette Coleman and his generation of freedom-pushing musicians need to be heard by Americans of all colors, hues and creeds (by any means necessary), today") [digi.copy]

Nadah El Shazly: Epiphanies. The free spirit of early 20th century Arabic music transports Nadah El Shazly into the harmolodic world of Ornette Coleman, in: The Wire, #408 (Feb.2018), p. 90 (F) [digi.copy]

Bert Vuijsje: My Back Pages. 1968, eerste kwartaal. Meester Ornette, in: NJA Jazz Bulletin, #106 (Mar.2018), p. 28-29 (F)

Franck Médioni: Looking for Ornette. Jacques Goldstein: "Ornette Coleman, avec tous autres les musiciens de cette scène free, a montré un chemin possible vers la liberté, vers l'émancipation. Improvisezez-vous, cherchez, trouvez, perdez-vous..." Rencontre avec le réalisateur Jacques Goldstein, auteur du film "Looking for Ornette" (La Huit Édition), in: ImproJazz, #244 (Apr.2018), p. 13-16 (I)

Geoffrey Himes: Ornette, for the Kids. "Experiencing Ornette Coleman. A Listener's Companion", by Michael Stephans, in: Down Beat, 85/4 (Apr.2018), p. 66 (B) [digi.copy]

Alex James: "Free Jazz, Harmolodics and Ornette Coleman", by Stephen Rush, in: Popular Music, 37/2 (May 2018), p. 316-318 (B)

Derek Ansell: Ornette Coleman. Melody man. As Warners issue a grand 10-LP box of Ornette Coleman's Atlantic recordings, Derek Ansell tracks the emergence of the saxophonist's singular music, in: Jazz Journal, 71/6 (Jun.2018), p. 40 (F) [digi.copy]

J.D. Considine: Vinyl. Coleman's Revolution, in: Down Beat, 85/6 (Jun.2018), p. 18 (F/R) [digi.copy]

Gudrun Endress: Ornette Coleman. Musik als Ausdrucksform der Gegenwart, in: Jazz Podium, 67/7-8 (Jul-Aug.2018), p.28-29 (I from 1978) [digi.copy]

DISCOGRAPHY: COMMERCIAL ALBUMS

Something Else!!!! (Contemporary, 1958)

Tomorrow Is the Question! (Contemporary, 1959)

The Shape of Jazz to Come (Atlantic, 1959)

Change of the Century (Atlantic, 1959)

This Is Our Music (Atlantic, 1960)

Free Jazz (Atlantic, 1960)

Ornette! (Atlantic, 1961)

Ornette on Tenor (Atlantic, 1961)

The Art of the Improvisers (Atlantic, 1959-61 [1970])

Twins (Atlantic, 1961 [1971])

To Whom Who Keeps a Record (Atlantic, 1959-60 [1975])

Town Hall, 1962 (ESP Disk, released 1965)

Chappaqua Suite (Columbia, 1965)

An Evening with Ornette Coleman (Polydor International, 1965)

Who's Crazy Vol. 1 & 2 (1965)

The Paris Concert (1965)

Live at the Tivoli (1965)

At the "Golden Circle" Vol. 1 & 2 (Blue Note, 1965)

The Empty Foxhole (Blue Note, 1966)

The Music of Ornette Coleman - Forms & Sounds (1967)

The Unprecedented Music of Ornette Coleman (1968)

Live in Milano 1968 (1968)

New York Is Now! (Blue Note, 1968)

Love Call (Blue Note, 1968)

Ornette at 12 (Impulse! 1968)

Crisis (Impulse! 1969)

Friends and Neighbors: Live at Prince Street (Flying Dutchman, 1970)

Broken Shadows (Columbia, 1971)

Science Fiction (Columbia, 1971)

European Concert (1971)

The Belgrade Concert (1971)

Skies of America (Columbia, 1972)

Dancing in Your Head (A&M, 1976)

Body Meta (Artists House, 1976)

Soapsuds, Soapsuds (Artists House, 1977)

Of Human Feelings (Antilles, 1982)

Opening the Caravan of Dreams (Caravan of Dreams, 1983)

Prime Design/Time Design (Caravan of Dreams, 1983)

Song X (Geffen, 1986)

In All Languages (Caravan of Dreams, 1987)

Live at Jazzbuehne Berlin (1988)

Virgin Beauty (Portrait, 1988)

Naked Lunch (Milan, 1991)

Tone Dialing (Harmolodic/Verve, 1995)

Sound Museum: Hidden Man (Harmolodic/Verve, 1996)

Sound Museum: Three Women (Harmolodic/Verve, 1996)

Colors: Live from Leipzig (Harmolodic/Verve, 1997)

Sound Grammar (Sound Grammar, 2006)

Croydon Concert (Free Factory, 2008)

Live in Paris 1971 (Jazz Row, 2008)

The 1987 Hamburg Concert (Ais, 2011)